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LIST OF APPENDICES—DECEMBER-APRIL SESSION, 1926-27

No. 1.—Select Standing Committee on Railways and Shipping, owned, operated
and controlled by the Government,—Recommending in their third and final
report that their proceedings together with the evidence adduced before
the Committee, be printed as an appendix to the Journals of the House.
Printed. See Journals at pages 480-481, 483.

No. 2.—Special Committees of the Senate and of the House of Commons, meet-
ing in joint session, to inquire into the claims of the Allied Indian Tribes
of British Columbia, as set forth in their Petition presented to Parliament
in June, 1926,—Recommending in their second and final report that this
report together with the evidence, be printed as an appendix to the Jour-
nals of the House, and also in Blue Book form to the number of one thou-
sand (1,000) copies. Printed. See Journals at pages 509-522, 527.
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MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

W. T. Goopisox, Chairman

Messieurs:
Bex~err, Hon. R. B. JELLFF, L. H.
CanTLE?, T. JBNKINS, R. H.
CuaprLIN, Hon. J. D. JoNEs, Hon. G. B.
Durr, W. McLEeaNn, M. (Melfort).
DunnNiNg, Hon. C. A. MiNg, R.
Fiser, Sir Eugene. Power, C. G.
Harris, J. H. SteEVENS, Hon. H. H.

H. D. DEWAR,
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

House or Commons,
Froay, February 18, 1927.

Resolved,—That Rule 10 of the House of Commons relating to the appoint-
ment of the Select Standing Committees of the House be amended by adding
to the Select Standing Committees of the House for the present session a Select
Standing Committee on Railways and Shipping, owned, operated, and controlled
by the Government, to which will be referred the estimates of the Canadian
National Railways and the Canadian Merchant Marine for the present session,
for consideration and for report to the House, provided, however, that nothing
in this resolution shall be construed to curtail in any way the full right of dis-
cussion in Committee of Supply; and that the said Committee consist of Messrs.
Bennett, Cantley, Chaplin, Duff, Dunning, Fiset, Goodison, Harris, Jelliff,
Jenkins, Jones, McLean (Melfort), Milne, Power, and Stevens.

Attest.
ARTHUR BEAUCHESNE,
Clerk of the House.

Frmay, February 25, 1927.

Ordered,—That the said Committee be given leave to print their Minutes
of proceedings and the evidence taken by them, from day to day, for the use of
the members of the Committee and of the House, and that Rule 74 be suspended
in relation thereto.

Attest.
ARTHUR BEAUCHESNE,
Clerk of the House.

Frmay, February 25, 1927.

Ordered,—That the Estimates 1927-28, respecting Loans to Canadian
National Railway Company and Canadian Government Merchant Marine,
Limited, be referred to the said Committee.

Attest.

ARTHUR BEAUCHESNE,
Clerk of the House.

Tukspay, March 29, 1927.

Ordered,—That the said Committee be given leave to sit while the House
i3 in session.

Attest.
ARTHUR BEAUCHESNE,
Clerk of the House.
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REPORTS OF THE COMMITTEE
FIRST REPORT

Frmay, February 25, 1927.

The Select Standing Committee on Railways and Shipping, owned, operated
and controlled by the Government, beg leave to present the following as their
First Report:—

Your Committee recommend that they be given leave to print their minutes
of proceedings and the evidence taken by them, from day to day, for the use
of the members of the Committee and of the House, and that Rule 74 be sus-
pended in relation thereto.

All which is respectfully submitted.

W. T. GOODISON,
Chairman.

SECOND REPORT

Tuespay, March 29, 1927.

The Select Standing Committee on Railways and Shipping, owned, operated
and controlled by the Government, beg leave to present the following as their
Second Report:—

Your Committee recommend that they be given leave to sit while the
House is in session.

All which is respectfully submitted.

W. T. GOODISON,
Chairman.

THIRD AND FINAL REPORT

Fripay, April 8, 1927.

The Select Standing Committee on Railways and Shipping, owned, operated
and controlled by the Government, beg leave to present the following as their
Third and Final Report:—

Your Committee to which was referred for consideration and for report
to the House the Estimates of the Canadian National Railways and the Cana-
dian Government Merchant Marine, Limited, held five meetings, in the course
of which it examined sundry witnesses, including:— -

Sir Henry Thornton, K.BE., President and Chairman of the Boards,
Canadian National Railways.

S. J. Hungerford, Vice-President, Operation and Construction Depart-
ments, C.N.R.

W. D. Robb, Vice-President, Departments of Land, Colonization, Develop-
ment, Insurance and General Matters, C.N.R.

R. A. C. Henry, Director, Bureau of Economics, C.N.R.

T. H. Cooper, General Auditor, C.N.R.

R. B. Teakle, General Manager, Canadian Government Merchant Marine,
Limited.

J. P. Doherty, Traffic Manager, Canadian Government Merchant Marine,
Limited.

F. Davidson, Auditor, Canadian Government Merchant Marine, Limited.
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CANADIAN NATIONAL RAILWAYS

Your Committee has had under consideration Item 408 of the Estimates
which provides for loans or guarantees of $22,500,000 to the Canadian Nationai
Railway Company for the fiscal year ending March 31, 1928, and has in the
course of its deliberations examined the operating statements of the company
for the year ending December 31, 1926.

Your Committee notes that the results of the operations of the Canadian
National Railway System, which includes for the first time -the operations of
the Central Vermont Railway, show a substantial improvement in the volume
of business handled and a continued improvement in operating methods, result-
ing in an increase of $21,861,000 in Operating Revenue accompanied by an
increase of only $7,079,000 in Operating Expenses.

While not providing for interest charges due the Government on capital
advances your Committee notes with considerable satisfaction that for the
first time, the net earnings of the railway for the year are more than sufficient
to pay all fixed charges due to the public.

Your Committee is led to believe that the properties embraced in the
system have been maintained to a standard commensurate with the traffic
requirements.

Your Committee agrees that the estimate of $22,500,000 (being a reduction
of $8,500,000 from the amount asked for last year) is necesary for the purpose
of the company during the coming year, and should be voted by the House.

CANADIAN GOVERNMENT MERCHANT MARINE

Your Committee has also had under consideration Item 409 of the Esti-
mates, which provides for a loan of $18,500 to the Canadian Government Mer-
chant Marine, Limited, and has in the course of its deliberations examined
the operating statements of the company for the year ending December 31,
1926. Your Committee notes with considerable satisfaction that the operating
deficit has been reduced to $90,159, an improvement over the previous year of
$858,893, and it is recalled that the improvement in 1925 in comparison with
1924 was $492,826.

T'rom the evidence given, it appears that there has been an improvement
in the earnings on the business handled in the case of practically all the routes
operated and that this improvement has been accomplished at a relatively
small expense. The increase in operating revenue was $1,114,735, while the
operating expenses only increased $256,841.

Your Committee draws attention to the fact that the amount of the
appropriation for last year on account of the Canadian Government Merchant
Marine, Limited, was $600,000, whereas for the coming year, the sum of $18,500
is asked. Your Committee is of the opinion that this amount is necessary for
the purpose of the company during the coming year and should be voted by the
House.

Your Committee notes with satisfaction that the Canadian National Rail-
ways continues to hold the confidence and goodwill of the public through the
excellence of the service rendered and the courtesy extended to patrons.

Your Committee further desires to express its appreciation of the manner
in which the President of the Canadian National Railways and the Officers
assisting him gave their evidence to the Committee.

A copy is attached hereto of the Minutes of the Proceedings and Evidence
of the attending officers.

Your Committee further recommends that its proceedings and the evidence
adduced before the Committee be printed as an appendix to the Journals of
the House and that Rule 74 in respect hereto be suspended.

All which is respectfully submitted.

W. T. GOODISON,

Chairman.

Note—For concurrence by the House of these three reports, see Journals at pages 167,
422 and 483.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

House or Commons,
Fripay, February 25, 1927.

The following Members were present: Messieurs Cantley, Duff, Dunning,
Fiset (Sir Eugene), Goodison, Jelliff, Jones, McLean (Melfort), and Milne—9.
The Select Standing Committee on Railways and Shipping, owned, operated
and controlled by the Government, met, pursuant to Notice, at eleven o’clock a.m.

It was moved by Mr. Duff and seconded by Sir Eugene Fiset that Mr.
Goodison be the Chairman of the Committee—The Motion was declared carried.

Mr. Goodison took the Chair; thanked the Members for the honour accorded
him and assured them that with their codperation the matters referred to the
Committee would be given every consideration.

Mr. Dunning informed the Committee that the financial statement of the
National Railways and the Government Merchant Marine would very soon
be available, and that if the usual procedure were followed, Sir Henry Thornton
would be available for examination regarding his Estimates. Mr. Dunning
suggested that the Committee might obtain leave to print their minutes of pro-
ceedings and the evidence taken.

The Committee upon the Chairman’s suggestion also considered the advisa-
bility of obtaining leave to sit while the House was in session.

Upon the question of the day and hour of meetings, Mr. Jelliff expressed the
hope that such would not conflict with those of other important committees and
instanced more particularly that of the Committee on Railways, Canals and Tele-
graph Lines.

After further consideration, it was moved by Sir Eugene Fiset, that leave
be obtained to print the Committee’s proceedings and the evidence,—Motion
carried.

The Committee then adjourned until the call of the Chair.

Turspay, March 29, 1927.

The meeting came to order at 11 a.m., Mr. Goodison, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Bennett, Cantley, Duff, Dunning, Fiset, Goodi-
son, Jelliff, McLean (Melfort), Milne, Stevens—10.

Sir Henry Thornton, president, R. A. C. Henry, bureau of economics, T. H.
Cooper, general auditor, and several other officials of the railway staff were
present.

Sir Henry Thornton made a general statement and answered questions
relating to the operation of the Canadian National Railway and to the Annual
Report of the Canadian National System for the year ending December 31st,
1926. An analysis of 1926 operating expenses as compared with 1925 to which
he referred during his remarks was ordered printed in the evidence.
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The Chairman stated that he believed it was understood that they were to
take up the report of the Canadian National Railways, which was before the
" Committee, and if agreeable to the Committee they would start at page 16,
“ Railway Operating Revenues and Expenses ”.

Ttems 101 to 112 inclusive, 114, 115, 116, 131, 132, 133, 134 and 135 were
considered and disposed of.

On motion by Mr. Bennett, seconded by Mr. Fiset, the Chairman was
instructed to present a report to the House asking leave to sit while the House
is sitting.

Motion carried

The Clerk reported to the Chairman that there was not a quorum, and on
motion of Mr. Jelliff the Committee adjourned until the call of the Chair.

TaurspAy, March 31st, 1927.

The meeting came to order at 3 p.m., Mr. Goodison presiding.

Members present:—Messrs, Cantley, Duff, Dunning, Fiset, Goodison, Jelliff,
Jenkins, McLean (Melfort), Milne.—9.

Sir Henry Thornton, K.B.E., president, Mr. S. J. Hungerford, vice-president,
Mr. W. D. Robb, vice-president, Mr. R. A. C. Henry, director of bureau of
economics, Mr. T. H. Cooper, general auditor, and several other officials of the
railway staff were present.

Items, 136, 137, 138, 139, 141, 142, 143, 151 and 152 on page 16 of the Annual
Report were considered and disposed of.

Ttems under the heading of Railway Operating Expenses, were taken up and
considered by the Committee.

After discussion it was moved by Mr. Duff and seconded by Mr. Fiset that
“The Annual Report of the Canadian National Railways for the year ending
the 31st December, 1926, be received and adopted.”

Motion carried.

The Committee then proceeded to a consideration of Vote 408 of the Esti-
mates and after discussion, it was moved by Mr. Fiset seconded by Mr. Cantley,
that, “ Vote 408 of the Railway Estimates, $22,500,000, be recommended to the
House.”

Motion carried.

The Chairman stated that Mr. MacLaren, M.P., was present and would
like to ask a question of Sir Henry Thornton if the Committee would grant
permission. In accordance therewith Mr. Duff moved, seconded by Mr. Cantley,
that Mr. MacLaren be heard.

Motion carried.

Mr. MacLaren desired information as to the practice of issuing passes to
employees of the railway in the Maritime Provinces.

On motion of Mr. Fiset the Committee adjourned until the call of the Chair.
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WepNEsDAY, April 6th, 1927.

The meeting came to order at 3 p.m., Mr. Goodison, presiding.

Members present—Messrs. Cantley, Duff, Dunning, Fiset, Goodison, J elliff,
Jenkins, McLean (Melfort), Milne, Power—10.

Sir Henry Thornton, K.B.E., president, D. E. Galloway, vice-president,
C.G.M.M., R. B. Teakle, general manager, C.G.M.M,, J. P. Doherty, traffic
manager, C.G.M.M., F. Davidson, auditor, C.G.M.M. and several other officials
of the staff were present.

Mr. Jenkins, M.P., asked for certain information from Sir Hery Thornton in
connection with railway matters in Prince Edward Island. Information to be
furnished.

The Chairman stated that the report of the Canadian Government Merchant
Marine, Limited, was before the Committee.

Sir Henry Thornton made a general statement and answered questions in
respect to the operation and finances of the Merchant Marine.

After discussion it was moved by Mr. Duff seconded by Mr. Cantley that,
“The Annual Report of the Canadian Government Merchant Marine, Limited for
the year ending 31st December, 1926 be received and adopted.”

Motion carried. :

The Committee then proceeded to a consideration of Vote 409 of the Esti-
mates and after discussion, it was moved by Mr. Fiset, seconded by Mr. Jelliff,
that Vote 409, which provides for a loan of $18,500 to the Canadian Government
Merchant Marine, Limited, be recommended to the House.

Motion carried.

The Committee adjourned until the call of the Chair.

THURSDAY, April 7th, 1927.

The meeting came to order at 4 p.m., Mr. Goodison presiding.
Members present: Messrs. Cantley, Duff, Goodison, Harris, Jelliff, Jenkins,
MecLean (Melfort), Power.—8.

It was ordered that a memorandum prepared by Sir Henry Thornton in
reply to certain questions asked by Mr. Jenkins, M.P., at a previous meeting
be printed in the evidence. (See p. 45 herein.)

The Chairman submitted a draft of the final report for the consideration
of the Committec.

On motion of Mr. Duff, seconded by Mr. Harris, the Third and Final
Report of the Committee was adopted unanimously.

The Chairman was thereupon instructed to present the said Report to the
House, forthwith.

The Committee adjourned.

42324—2



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

ComMmrrTeE Room 425,
House or Commons,
Turespay, March 29th, 1927.

The Select Standing Committee on Railways and Shipping met at 11 A.M.,
the Chairman, Mr. Goodison, presiding.

The CHamRMAN: Gentlemen, we have a quorum, and if you will come to
order we will open our meeting. I do not think it is necessary for me to ex-
plain to any member of this committee the object of our meeting; it is well known
that this is the medium between the Dominion government and the Canadian
National Railways. I am not going to make any remarks just now. It has been
the custom in the past, for Sir Henry Thornton to give us a review of the
business carried on by the railway during the past year, and we have all been
pleased to hear from him. If that is your pleasure now, we will be glad to hear
from Sir Henry along these lines.

Sir HeNrY THORNTON: Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, the annual report
of the company’s affairs, which you already have, explains in much detail how
those affairs have been conducted during the past year. I think perhaps the best
way for me to proceed would be to give you a résumé of an analysis which has
been prepared, comparing the expenses for 1926 with those of 1925. It con-
tains a good deal of information and covers all of the essential points without
confusing detail, detail which, in many cases, would only be appreciated or under-
stood by those who are experienced in railway accounting.

CANADIAN NATIONAL RAILWAYS SYSTEM

Analysis of 1926 operating Expenses as Compared With 1925

The accounts of the Central Vermont Railway have been included with those
of the Canadian National Railways for the first time, hence the comparisons
enumerated hereunder should be understood as including the Central Vermont as
part of the Canadian National Railway System.

The operating expenses of the Canadian National Railways are classified in
accordance with the accounting rules of the Dominion Bureau of Statistics, and
are divided into 140 primary expense accounts, these being grouped under 7
main heads, with self-descriptive heads as follows:—

(1) Maintenance of Way and Structures.............oeeeenenenrnn... 40 primary accounts
(2) Maintenance of Equipment 24 o -

[F i v PRSI S i D 8

(4) Transportation.............. 50

W REROBLIRRBOR < T o i e e e S e 5

12

1

“« «

“« «
« «
@ “«
“ «@

B Qeneralsy. & oo b s e ol AR I R R R s

4 B0 e S Bl e el e L R e i 140 - i
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The comparison of expenses under these heads for the years 1925-1926
follows:—
Decrease or

Ttem 1926 1925 Increase
Maintenance of W. & S................. $ 48,536,503  § 44,753,310 Inc. $3,783,193
Maintenance of Equipment............. 51,211,821 49,324,911 Inc. 1,886,910
Tealhic. . ... .. e R S e 7,026,004 6,902, 502 Inec. 123,502
Transporbation .. i et a0z v, St 111,393,758 110, 386,975 Inc. 1,006,783
Miscellshioous. . il ovians s rvi secierns 2,336,041 2,272,918 Inec. 63,123
Goneral o o libug, Ji b iy 7,881,496 7,520,303 Inec. 361,193
Transportation for Investment, Cr. .... 1,040,343 895,443 Inc. 144,900

Eotal . e $227, 345,280 $220, 265,476 Inc.$ 7,079,804

The expenses may be further divided, for purposes of comparison, into
Employees’ Compensation and Other Expenses. This comparison follows:—

Employees’ Compensation Wages Decrease or
Item 1926 1925 Increase

Maintenance of W. & S................. $ 27,181,100 $ 24,708,160 Inc.$ 2,472,940

Maintenance of Equipment............. 27,621,589 27,587,866 Ine. a3,

e b ST SR B R E A (RS UL e S L 3,303,451 3,089,203 inc. 214,248

EYBRSPOTEAION . (biivid sualnwisirehs wife g 71,653,991 69, 542,027 Inc. 2,111,964

MiSesllaHeoNR. - . vty sas 1,169,144 1,161,850 Inc. 29

Generals:! ae ool S0M L TR 5,061,032 5,073,150 Deec. 12,’ 118
FTotals oo i e e $135, 990, 307 $131,162, 256 Inc.$ 4,828,051
Material and Miscellaneous Decrease or
Item 1926 1925 Increase

Maintenanceof W. & S.........0....0.. $ 21,355,403 $ 20,045,150 Inc.$ 1,310,253
Maintenance of Equipment............. 23,590, 232 21,737,045 Inc. 1,853,187
by sty oS S i e 3,722,554 3,813,298 Inc. 90,744
Transportation. . 39,739,767 40,844,948 Dec. 1,105,181
Miscellaneous. . . ..oz it didam: savsnd os 1,166,897 1,111,068 Inc. 55,829
o e e 2,820,464 2,447,154 Inc. 373,310
Transportation for Investment, Cr..... 1,040,343 895,443 Inc. 144,900
Betal e 2oe L b kg $ 91,354,974 $ 89,103,220 Inc.$ 2,251,754

The expenses under the 7 general accounts may be further analyzed into the
primary accounts, which are to be found in detail on Pages 17 to 20, inclusive,
of the Annual Report.

Some of the larger factors causing the variation in expense in 1926 as
compared with 1925 may be briefly enumerated under the general accounts, the
factors taken into consideration being: Variations in Traffic; Prices of Material;
Wages; and Other Conditions; each of which would naturally be expected to have
an influence upon the expenses necessarily incurred in the carrying on of the
operations of the railway.

It will be seen that from the standpoint of gross revenue, the traffic has in-
creased during the year 1926 to the extent of 8.62 per cent over 1925.

MAINTENANCE oF WAY AND STRUCTURES—

Maintenance of Way and Structures Expense, 1926...........cccovivenin.... $48, 536,503
o “ “ qQOR S e e 44,753,310
HereREe I 1028000 il S i S st e e N S e e e ok $ 3,783,193
PrigeipglTncreases: Mioar o0 e iglir coe i s i e $ 1,388,614
Bollaat oo s 43 226,349

Tracklaving and Surfaelng. .. o.00 000, vt suey 1,580, 289

Station and Office Buildings........................ 226,747

Removing Snow, Sandand Iece..................... 624,836

Principal Decreases: Roadway Maintenance................ccoovvvnue.n. $ 100,337
Bridges, Trestles and Culverts.................... 470, 250

Bhopsand Fhgine houses ... i s wradeail done i 49,855

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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The increase in ties was due to the fact that there were over 1,000,000
additional ties installed in 1926, compared with 1925.

The increase in ballast was due principally to the fact that a program
involving the provision of rock ballast on the main line has been commenced.

The increase in track laying and surfacing was due to the installation of the
additional ties, the rock ballast and a larger program of relaying of rail during
the year.

3”I‘he increase in Station and Office Building was caused by the necessity for
heavy repairs to sheds and piers at Halifax, renovating immigration quarters
st Winnipeg, alterations to Annex Building, Main St., Winnipeg, and repairs to
salmon shed, Prince Rupert.

The increase in the cost of removing snow, ice, and sand, was caused by the
extreme weather conditions in the early months of 1926 on the Atlantic Region.

The reduction in the amount of roadway maintenance; bridge, trestles, and
culverts; and shops and engine houses, was because of the occurrence of several
items involving large expense in 1925 not recurring in 1926.

The effect of the various factors are summarized as follows:—

Changes due to Price of Materials—

4t R L S TR P IR F CEM S T i SRR S S Dec. $ 226,700
Rails Dec. 297,600
Other MBESTIAL. .. cvoovssivins Sninvos imsnisni sosmnsasods i Inc. 153,695

DOOTeRee. s .. quoinbie s inbi il MR T $ 371,000

Changes due to Variation in Quantities of Material Used—

it R DR S D S e SR SR R e Inc. $ 1,832,000
e e e e e o S L b Inc. 84,000
Other Material ‘ 57,000
Tracklaying and Surfacing..............ooooiiiiiin.n. Inc. 1,191,000
TRCRORESE. s 4 e s A S AR et oo g saiaotn Shova vl ETatiats $ 3,050,000
Changes due to Weather. ...........ooviiiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiaiiiine. Inc. 625,000
L O A DOV L e i s nie Uite b B o Mo diem st iR SRS ST o Inc. $3,304,000
Rularvo of PReiBRen ... L. i5s e o e e T SR 8 e Sl R T AR 479,000
TothlTtioreane. . | o VSt les Sanh AT o T $3,783,000
Serviceable " Serviceable Improve-
1926 1925 ment
Brolght Care.. ol i vii - ons 93-70% 92-91%, 0-79%
LOROMNONIVEE. o e e b o 88-90% 88-20% 0-70%

The improved condition of the Company’s equipment, both freight cars and
locomotives, has been attained, having regard to the increase in traffic, with
decreased maintenance of equipment expenses relative to 1925.

Maintenance of Equipment Expenses, 1926.. ...t $51,211,821
b XS v 192D ool G s aiv e SRS 49,324,911
U M e e I e e S SR O B S $ 1,886,910
Principal Increases: Superintendence......... ... 117,562
Freight Train Car Repairs................. 2,459,446

Phasenger Car ROPRIET it 10. oo ov s vipaienbiss oo o 278,698

Pass. Train Car Retirements............... 121,430

Motor Car Equipment Repairs 118,200

Principal Decreases: Steam Locomotive Retirements................... $ 854,157
Freight Train Car Retirements 389, 629

Work Equipment Retirements..................... 153,072

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Summarizing factors affecting maintenance of equipment, expenses, broadly,
we have the following:—

Changes due to Price of Materials.......................... Inc. $ 664,836
Changes due to Wages......................... Inc. 408,490
Changes due to Operation of Reservesin 1925............... Inc. 1,095,893
Relative decrease in expenses after correction for above factors.... 282,000
An increase in traffic of 8-62% might have been expected to increase
the Maintenance of Equipment expenses by................... 2,950,000
TRAFFIC—
Leafhn Banenes, A998, L o e e R $ 7,026,005
o s 1925 6,902, 502
T e e e e e s 8 123,503

Principal Increases: Superintendence...................ooovoeeeeeennn. ..
Outside Agencies
ANGIIRIRING. i e e e e e

TRANSPORTATION—

Transportation Expenses, 1926 $111,393,758
e # 1925 110,386,975
e R e T TR T e I $ 1,006,783

Principal Increases: Train Enginemen. ..........................oi. .. $ 615,070
Yardmasters and Yard Clerks..................... 178,110

Yard Conductors and Brakemen................... 420,111

XNare BOpmesnon. .. ot s e 397,798
Trainmen 550,028

Train Supplies and Expenses 268, 564

Principal Decreases: Fuel for Yard Locomotives........................ $ 102,791
Fuel for Train Locomotives....................... 1,115,270

Engine House Expenses—Train 171,251

Loss and Damage—Freight....................... 112,166

The transportation expenses are subject to the following corrections, due
to the undermentioned factors:—

Eneredse in Retedol Bad 00 {1000 s L0 HL b i s shibans Lo $ 721,000
Bivnne BiPTIoe ok BERLeBRL - . I il ve s bier s s d i e 2 750,000

‘Total Piokeaien: 7.\ 52k SRS T TG G To - Gl i e $ 1,471,000
Doeptase e Priceof Conl...- .. 30 i s L e i i $ 2,366,000
Deetehan in Aopidenta .. 0 o R B e aed MGl T 132,000

Rotel Boareanels & 25 Lo TR e e $ 2,498,000
Fxcess Decreases Ovor INCTERSE8. . ... ... ivh . o ie s s $ 1,027,000
Relative increase in expenses after correction for above fagtars .- C . . $ 2,034,00—0

The increase in transportation expenses which might have been expected due
to the increase in traffic was $7,900,000; so that there has been an actual de-
crease in Transportation expenses, due to increased efficiency and improvements

in roadway and equipment, of approximately $6,000,000.
[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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MISCELLANEOUS—
Miscellaneous Expenses, 1926, .. .......oitiniiinniieaninrenenrenaranaeanies $ 2,336,041
i3 = R T R RS s R R 2,272,918
Rl ok s as D g e Mol B b 4 S8 e s $ 63,123

Practically the whole of this increase is due to dining and buffet service.

GENERAL—
General Expenses, 1926. .........covuiiuerneneenirniiniiiirietiniaiiionn en $ 7,881,496
5 o b LRl RS Ct LB L e e A S L 7,520,303
TRDLPRBE. )l mi v s s w5 SR F b R ket v o BT P S $ 361,193

This is practically entirely due to an increase in Account No. 457—Pensions.
There was an increase in pensioners from 1,326 to 1,417, involving an increase in
expense of $76,000. The Intercolonial Railway and Prince Edward Island Rail-
way Provident Fund being unable to meet their expenses, it was necessary for the
railway to implement the fund to meet current obligations to the extent of
$308,000 in 1926, as against $46,000 in 1925, involving an increase of $262,000.

Transportation for Investment, Cr., 1926.............c.ooiiiiiiiiaiinn. $ 1,040,343
& i b L | L S e e B e R T S 895,444
o el et B e R e e e e $ 144,900

This simply means that during the year 1926 there was more construction
work carried on by the Company’s forces than in 1925.

Sir Henry THorNTON: Mr. Chairman, and gentlemen, I have only given
the high spots of this analysis.

I might venture the suggestion that we take each one of these 140 primary
accounts and discuss each one in detail. That was the practice which was
followed the first time that this Committee met. As the years went by rather
less and less attention was paid to the detail of these expenses and last year,
I think I am fairly safe in saying, they were only given a rather cursory ex-
amination. I think that more effective work would be done if, instead of taking
each one of these 140 items of primary account, as shown in the Annual Report,
we take this analysis and use it as a basis of discussion. This analysis shows
all the fundamental and essential information but it avoids confusing details.
But that is obviously a matter for the Committee to decide, and I only make
that suggestion for what you may think it is worth. I have nothing further
to add, Mr. Chairman.

Hon. Mr. Bexxerr:  All the figures that you gave are found in this report
on pages 16 and 17?

Sir HeENRY THORNTON: Yes.
Hon. Mr. Dux~inG: The totals of pages 16 and 17.
Hon. Mr. BENNETT: Yes.

Qir HENrRY THORNTON: Mr. Bennett will easily see that there is a great
deal of detail. We have always tried to give the utmost detail in the Annual
Report, but there are a lot of small items that represent increases of from one
to five thousand dollars which do not amount to very much, and it is just a
question whether you would like to devote your attention to that detail or
whether you would prefer to deal with the essentials as I have tried to give
them to you. All of the different figures given in the analysis, will be found
in the Annual Report.

[Sir Henry Thornton.}
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Hon. Mr. Benxerr: Perhaps you would bring one of the Interstate Com-
merce forms with you such as you make to the Interstate Commerce Commis-
sion in connection with the American lines. There is one variation in the
form there.

Sir HeNry THorNTON: This report, Mr. Bennett, follows the accounting
rules of the Interstate Commerce Commission. I might say that we do that
because the Interstate Commerce Commission requires rather more detail than
is required in Canada, and by conforming to their regulations we meet also
the requirements of the Dominion Government and save the preparation of
two sets of accounts.

There is one exception, to which Mr. Bennett calls attention, and that is
account No. 279, Depreciation. That will also be found in Item No. 337.

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: It is not No. 337, it is right under it.

Sir HENRY THoRNTON: It will be found on pages 17 and 18, and it is noted
as “Depreciation, United States Lines Only” on both sheets. That is the only
exception to the Interstate Commerce system of accounting. What would you
like us to do, Mr. Bennett?

Hon. Mr. Bennrrr: 1 said that the form was the same as the Interstate
Commerce, with one exception, and that one exception is the item to which
you have directed attention.

Sir Henry THorntON: You are right.

Hon. Mr. BENNETT: And the depreciation account, as I understand it, in
the United States is fixed by certain rules of the Commission. I was rather
curious to know what would happen if the same rules were applied to Canadian
property.

Sir HENrRY THORNTON: I cannot tell you that offhand, but I can tell you,
as bearing on that question, that the rules of the Interstate Commerce Commis-
sion require the American railroads to write off a certain arbitrary percentage;
when I said arbitrary, I mean a certain statutory percentage which is fixed.
Mr. Cooper, you understand that better than I, and perhaps you could ex-
plain it.

Mr. Cooprr: The present accounting rules of the Interstate Commerce
Commission require a certain depreciation for rolling stock equipment, but there
is no rate fixed. The question, as I understand it, is: What would be the effect
on our accounts if we adopted the Commission’s regulations.

Hon. Mr. Ben~nerr: Perhaps I can put the question a little clearer. What
would be the effect on our accounts if you applied the same principles of depre-
ciation to the whole system as are applied to the American lines? That is, you
applied last year $1,318,369.56 for depreciation on U.S. lines only, and I was
curious to know what the effect would be if you applied the same principle to
the entire system. I do not expect that vou will be able to do that now.

Hon. Mr. Dun~ing: This American depreciation only applies to equip-
ment, does it?

Sir HeNry THorNTON: Yes. I cannot answer that just offhand, Mr.
Bennett.

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: I did not expect that you would be able to do so.

Mr. Cooper, you are familiar with the keeping of your accounts for the
Grand Trunk Western and Vermont Central; therefore you know exactly what
I have in mind. The rate of depreciation that you set up for your report to
the Interstate Commerce Commission involves the writing off of $1,318,000, and
if it is not too much trouble perhaps you might let the Committee know how
that is done and what would be the result if you applied this principle to the
Canadian system.

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Hon. Mr. Dux~ing: We can tell you what the application of that prin-
ciple would be to our accounts.

Hon. Mr. BeExnerr: And you might give the percentages you apply to
_the various items to which they are referrable.

Sir Eveene Fiser: You do that for your Merchant Marine?
Sir HeNry THORNTON: Yes.

Hon. Mr. Dun~ixg: Mr. Cooper, what difference is there in the United
States system, between the manner in which equipment is financed; what I
mean is this, your equipment is financed by equipment bonds and they are
serial in nature; I understand the principal payments are made as operating
charges.

Mr. Cooprer: No.

Hon. Mr. DuxNing: Not as operating charges? So that would make no
difference to this question of depreciation?

Mr. Coorer: No.

Sir EveenNe Fiser: Such a report, to be understandable, would have to
give the details of the articles on which depreciation is charged.

Hon. Mr. Bex~err: And the rates.

Hon. Mr. DunNiNg: Do our other Canadian railroads apply the American
system of depreciation at all, Mr. Cooper?

Mr. Cooper: I do not believe the Canadian Pacific do.

Sir Eveene Fiser: I thought we did.

Mr. Cooper: They do not follow the Interstate Commerce Commission.

Hon. Mr. DunNiNGg: Do I understand you to say that in the United States
there is not a fixed percentage?

Mr. Cooper: Yes.

ngon. Mr. Dun~iNG: That is, written-off for the depreciation of equip-
ment?

Mr. Coorer: On equipment only.

Hon. Mr. Dux~ing: And the rate is not fixed at all?

Mr. Cooper: Yes, sir. I might say that under a new order of the Com-
mission, which comes into effect on January first next, all steam railroad car-
riers will be obligated to a depreciation on fixed property as well as on rolling
stock property.

Hon. Mr. Dux~inG: It goes into effect next year?

Mr. CoorEr: Yes, sir.

Hon. Mr. BExNETT: Some roads have been doing that already?

Mr. Coorer: A few of them, yes.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: What has generally happened in the past, and
before this became a matter of regulation, the railroads generally determined
their depreciation by the extent of their operations. For instance, if they had
a good year it was obviously good business to charge off as much depreciation
as possible. If they had a bad year they tempered the wind to the shorn lamb.
That was open to both praise and criticism. It had its good points, because if
you got rid of a large amount of depreciation in a certain year it meant that
you could continue with your purchases of rolling stock and supplies, and so on,
in a lean year on a more or less generous scale, and there was a tendency to
balance hard times against good times.

Mr. McLean (Melfort): The stronger roads financially would charge off

more than the weaker ones?
*Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Sir HeENry THorRNTON: They would undoubtedly follow good, sound busi-
ness principles and try to get rid of as much of the charges which might
accumulate in a good year as they possibly could.

Mr. McLean (Melfort): And the roads doing more business, their
depreciation would run out faster than the other ones? <

Sir HeNry THOrRNTON: Principally, yes.

Hon. Mr. BENNETT: It does not work out that way.

Mr. Durr: Sir Henry has given a synopsis of the expenditures; what about
a synopsis with regard to receipts? ;

Sir Henry THorNTON: That is not often a contentious subject, especially
if it happens to show an increase. Our gross revenue for the year 1926 was
$275,570,310.28; in 1925 the gross revenue was $253,708,774.19. I might say, as
is explained in the report, that this year our Annual Report includes, both in
the various items of revenue and expense, the operations of the Central Vermont
Railway, so that you have before you the operations of all the transportation
lines of the Canadian National Railways. These figures represent an increase
of $21,861,000. That increase is divided as follows; an increase of $19,400,000
in freight; an increase of $1,464,000 in passenger revenue; a decrease of $5,290
in mail; and an increase of $1,009,000 in miscellaneous revenue. The explanation
of that, I would ascribe to the improved business condition throughout the
territory served by the Canadian National Railway; there was more business
and consequently larger gross earnings.

Hon. Mr. BeEnNerr: That, of course, includes the earnings from Chicago
to Portland, all the American lines as well as including the Vermont Central?

Sir Henry THorRNTON: Precisely. It will, perhaps, be of interest to the
Committee to know that last year the gross revenue acecruing to the Canadian
National Railroads on what might be described as purely American business,
that is to say, traffic which originated at some point in the United States and
was carried to another point in the United States—

Hon. Mr. Dux~NiNg: Through Canada? :

Sir Henry THORNTON: It may have gone through Canada or it may not;
I do not know how much of it passed through Canada.

Hon. Mr. Dunx~Ning: Purely United States business?

Sir Hexry THorNTON: Purely United States business, which, as I say,
originated at some point in the United States and was carried to another point
in the United States, was represented by $45,000,000.

Mr. CantLEY: Of profits?

Sir HeEnry THorNTON: No, that is gross. v

Hon. Mr. Du~x~NiNGg: That is the business we did for the people of the
United States exclusively.

Sir HENrRY THORNTON: There is no way, without very expensive account-
ing and a long investigation, to segregate that, but if you would apply, and
we are very conservative in doing so, 20 per cent of that as profit, it would
represent, a profit of $9,000,000. Our whole operating ratio was eighty-two
and a fraction per cent. This is lucrative business because it is carried over
parts of the line where operating conditions are favourable. I should say
that the net profit on that was accurately $9,000,000, but to get at it precisely
would involve a lot of accounting expense and considerable time.

Mr. Cantrey: Why the decrease in the mail receipts with an increase of
business? Was there a reduction in rates?

Hon. Mr. Dunxn~ing: That statement does not include any international

business, it just includes the business which was done for the people of the
United States?

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Sir HENry THorRNTON: Yes. Now, if you added to that the business
that crosses the border, either from the United States to Canada or from
Canada to the United States, that is $42,000,000, so that the total business
done is $87,000,000, either from points in the States to other points in the
States or back and forward across the border. It represents a very large
proportion of our total revenue.

Mr. MiLNE: Was the increase in business about the same in the States and
Canada, or have you any way of determining that?

Sir Henry THorNTON: Well, it is a little difficult to get at that, but I
should say that there was not very much difference in the general business.
If anything, I think probably we had a little the best of it. Of course, a good
deal of our American revenue depends on the condition of the automobile
trade, because we serve all of the important automobile manufacturing centres
in Michigan. A depression in the automobile trade probably has a greater
effect on our United States revenue than any other single thing. Fortunately,
the thirst for automobiles in the States seems insatiable.

Regarding the mail revenue, there was a decrease of $5,000, which was
due entirely to reduced train service in Ontario; that is, we took off certain
unremunerative passenger train mileage and, of course, the mail business went
along with it. : " . !

Mr. CantLEY: There was no change in the remuneration received for
mail service?

Sir Hexry THorNTON: No, the rates were the same.

The Cuamrman: If you will refer to page 16 in the Report we will take
up Items of Revenue there. We cannot do anything to-day with the expenses
until we get the detailed report. Take Item No. 101, Freight Receipts,
$207,157,000 for 1926 as compared with $187,763,000 in 1925. Are there
questions to be asked on that?

Hon. Mr. Ben~nerT: Could you give us the receipts for that traffic west
of the Lakes; a general indication of how much of that $207,000,000 originated
west of the Lakes?

Sir Henry TraorNTON: How much of our total freight revenue accrued
on traffic originating west of the Lakes?

Hon. Mr. BENNETT: Yes.

Sir HeNrRy THORNTON: In answering a question of that sort, Mr. Bennett,
I can only give you figures which I am convinced, and which the accounting
department are convinced, are sufficiently accurate for your purpose. The
answer to your question is; $60,700,000. i

Hon. Mr. Dun~iNG: How mueh did you say was American business?

Hon. Mr. BenxerT: $45,000,000 and $42,000,000.

Sir Henry TrOrRNTON: That represents the gross earnings from freight on
the western region, and I would take it that that probably is an accurate answer
to your question. z

Hon. Mr. BENNETT: As nearly as you can get it?

Sir Hexry THORNTON: Even if you put a corps of accountants on you might
find a variation of a million dollars, or something like that, but it would be
within a small percentage of accuracy.

Mr. JeLLirr: You could not subdivide that and give us the earnings on
grain?

Sir Henry THORNTON: Yes, I think perhaps we can do that. T think we
can get that for you by to-morrow, but it will involve further éxamination than

we can do here at the table. ‘
[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Hon. Mr. BeEn~erT: Would it be possible to differentiate between eastbound
and westbound traffic?

Sir HeENry THORNTON: That would be practically impossible.
Hon. Mr. Bex~NETT: I just wanted to know if possibly you had it.

Hon. Mr. Dux~NiNG: You spoke of $60,000,000 as being the revenue from
freight for the western region. You would require to add to that total the
$45,000,000 of international United States business, I suppose?

Sir Henry THORNTON: Noj; that represents the gross total of the western
region. There might be a lot of different kinds of traffic in that; that might
involve a certain number of shipments from Winnipeg to Minneapolis, for
instance, or Chicago.

The CuAlRMAN: You mean Western Canada?

Sir HeNry THorNTON: I mean that part of the Canadian National Rail-
ways which lies west of the head of the Lakes.

Hon. Mr. Dun~inG: Let us get the picture for each region in order to have
it complete; $60,000,000 for the Western Region, how much for the Central
Region? That is the Central Region apart from United States lines?

ISir Hexry TaorNTON: No, that includes the lines from Winnipeg to
Duluth.

Hon. Mr. Dux~ing: But your Central Region does not include United
States lines?

Sir Hexry THoOrRNTON: No, that is right.

: Hgn. Mr. DunniNg: The figures for the Central Region would be Canadian
gures?

Sir Hexry TuorNTON: The Central Region; $93,500,000. The Atlantic
Region, $13,575,000.

Hon. Mr. Dun~ing: And the United States lines?

Sir HENRY THorNTON: The Grand Trunk Western line; $30,132,000 for
the Western Region, which includes the D. W. and P., that is, from Winnipeg
to Duluth, $62,780,000; Central Vermont, $7,153,000.

Hon. Mr. DunNiNG: For the information of the members of the committee,
on the map in the back of the report the lines in each region are differently
coloured, so that the members of the committee will know what the regions
are, .
Sir HENrY THORNTON: Please add this to the report, that the D. W. and P.
gross earnings were $2,088,000. I gave you the western region of $62,780,000
so that if you subtract that $2,000,000, you will have the previous figure of
$60,000,000 which I gave you as representing the gross freight earnings for the
western region.

Hon. Mr. Dun~iNGg: To complete the picture, there is also the Central
Vermont.

Sir HeENry THORNTON: Yes, $7,153,000.

Hon. Mr. Bennerr: Of course, these freight revenues include the col-
lection of freight for all the freight traffic carried, but when you segregate
these between the various regions, how do you arrange that?

Sir HENrY THORNTON: You might have a shipment, we will say, moving
from Vancouver to Moncton. That would pass over the three regions; it is on
a mileage basis.

Hon. Mr. BexNErT: Ton mileage?

Sir HeENry THOrRNTON: No, mileage hauled. We apportion the revenue

to each region passed over on the basis of mileage used in that region; it may
[Sir Henry Thornton.]



RAILWAYS AND SHIPPING 1

not be quite an accurate way of gettting it, but it is accurate enough, and to
get it any more accurately would involve a great deal of unnecessary expense.

Horn. Mr. BeEx~NerT: That is what I wanted the committee to understand;
for instance, grain shipments originating in the west and moving to the head of
the lakes, would be considered as sole western region traffic, but if, in the
winter season, it moved farther east, the other regions would get a correspond-
ing credit on a mileage basis.

Mr. Hexry: But the rates break at the head of the lakes. In the case
of traffic going between that region and the central region, the rate would be
a combination of the two rates. .

Hon. Mr. Ben~NeTT: But still applied on a mileage basis.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: Generally speaking, yes.

Sir Evcene Fiser: What is the Atlantic region again?

Sir Hexry TmornTON: $13,575,000.

Hon. Mr. Dunx~NiNGg: That is from Riviere du Loup east.

Sir HeENry THORNTON: Right.

The CuARMAN: The next item is Number 102 “Passenger’—$39,427,264.87
as compared with $37,963,479.53.

Hon. Mr. DUNNING: An increase of $1,400,000 roughly.

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: That is not profitable traffie, Sir Henry.

Sir Henry THorNTON: No, it is not, Mr. Bennett. As a matter of fact,
curiously enough, passenger traffic generally on trunk line railways is not
regarded as profitable, and it only becomes profitable where you are dealing
with large suburban traffic in metropolitan districts like London and New
York, but it is a thing that obviously has to be done.

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: Would your accounting system indicate what your
losses might be in passenger traffic last year? Was it not something like
$9,000,000?

Sir Henry THORNTON: We estimate that the loss on our passenger traffic
last year was $6,500,000.

Hon. Mr. Ben~nerr: That included the whole system?

Sir Hexry THORNTON: Yes.

Hon. Mr. Duxning: Does that include the other items in operating
revenue which are creditable to traffic carried on passenger trains?

Sir Henry THorNTON: That occurred as the result of the instrumentality
of passenger trains. Of course, in allocating the expenses charged against
passenger traffic there is no precise formula for doing that; you cannot deter-
mine precisely how much maintenance expense is caused by a freight train of
fifty cars, and a passenger train of ten cars, and you must apply a percentage.
That is the usual practice in the railway world, so that the allocation of
expenses as between freight and passenger is not precise.

Hon. Mr. Bennerr: Does that include the United States lines?

Sir Henry THorNTON: That includes the whole system.

‘I;Ion. Mr. BeENNETT: Some of the United States lines are operated profit-
ably?

Sir Hexry THorNTON: That is true.

Mr. Miung: Generally speaking, are the losses greater on the trans-
continental trains or on local traffic?

Sir Henry THorNTON: I would say they would probably be greater on
the transcontinental. Your most. profitable business is generally the suburban
business, because no expensive equipment is required; the trains are usually

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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filled in the morning toward the cities, and filled in the evening returning from
the cities. On the transcontinental passenger trains, you have to haul day
coaches, tourist cars, dining cars, sleeping cars and observation cars, and a
service is provided which is necessarily more expensive per passenger than the
facilities which you provide for suburban traffic.

Hon. Mr. DunxeNag: The only places where we have considered suburban
traffic are Montreal and Toronto.

Sir HEnry THorNTON: That is right.

Hon. Mr. Benyerr: And Detroit and Chicago in the United States.

Sir HENry THOrRNTON: Of course.

Sir EveEne Fiser: You have a tremendous traffic between Lévis and
Quebee.

Sir HeNry THORNTON: I would not call that suburban traffic. I would
describe suburban traffic as the movements in and out of cities within a radius
of thirty miles—men who live in one place, go to their offices in the morning,
and return in the evening.

Mr. JeLuirr: Has there been any way discovered to lessen the losses on
passenger traffic?

Sir HENry THorNTON: Nobody has yet discovered it.

Mr. JELLirr: What about the electrification?

Sir Henry THorNTON: Electrification is a greatly misunderstood thing.
It is only profitable where your density of traffic exceeds the capacity of a
steam operated railway. It is extremely expensive and has only been employed
successfully and economically in serving suburban areas where there is a great
density of traffic or where perhaps it is necessary to employ electricity in a
long tunnel or on very heavy grades, or for some reason of that character.

Mr. JeLnirr: Does the service pay in a congested city like New York?

Sir Henry THorNTON: Well, if you ask the suburban railways serving
New York, they will tell you no, that it does not pay at all. The only
experience I have had with suburban traffic was on the Great Eastern Railway
in England. We handled in and out of the Liverpool Street Station an average
of 225,000 passengers per day; they all came in in the morning and they all
went back in the evening. We made money out of it; we made a lot of money,
and it was profitable business, but it was only profitable because of the great
density of traffic and the further fact that the equipment which was provided
was not luxurious and was not expensive.

Hon. Mr. Bex~err: And they went longer distances.

Sir HENry THORNTON: Yes, they would go longer distances than you would
find on this side of ¢he Atlantie.

Mr. CantrEy: And the great density of traffie—

Sir HENry THorRNTON: It was the great density of traffic which “brought
home the bacon”.

Mr. CantLEY: What success are you having with the Diesel engine?

Sir Henry THorNTON: That is, to some extent, in an experimental stage.
We have been giving an intensive study to the development of the Diesel
electric engine, and we are convinced, from the result of our experience, that the
Diesel electric engine represents generally the best type of motor self-propelled
vehicle of which we know. How far that may be extended to through passenger
services, we do mot know. There are two large units in existence of which we
know, and which we have examined; when I say “Large units” I mean Diesel
electric locomotives which would compare in capacity to our 6,000 type loco-
motive. One of these is in Germany and the other in Russia; both were built
in Germany. The great difficulty with the Diesel locomotive—I do not want

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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to get into a technical discussion of this unless the committee want to hear
it—

Several MemBERs: Go ahead. ;

Sir Henry THorNTON: The great difficulty is with the transmission. No
one has yet solved the problem of satisfactory direct transmission, although this
last locomotive which has been built in Germany offers some promise toward
the solution of that problem. Consequently, we are obliged to employ in the
Diesel electric locomotive, electrical transmission. That is the trouble with the
Diesel electric locomotives to-day, but some time—perhaps within the next two
years—some one will solve that problem, but that is the difficulty with the
Diesel electric locomotive as applied to large units. Our experts have examined
both of these locomotives. The one in Russia is faulty because it cannot be run
faster than 30 miles an hour without overheating. There is something radically
wrong with the cooling apparatus. I think that the Diesel electric locomotive
is ultimately going to have a considerable effect on transportation. We ran one
of our small units from Montreal to Vancouver without stopping the engine.
The result was highly satisfactory; it made better time than our through’
continental trains. Some day somebody will develop a big unit which may
perhaps have a large effect on transportation, but it is all yet in the experimental
stage. The engineers of all railroads all over the world are working on it and
studying it.

Mr. JeLuirr: How expensive was that trip as compared with a steam trip?

Sir HENry THORNTON: If you could get a large Diesel locomotive built at
a price which would not exceed two or three times the cost of the steam loco-
motive, it would undoubtedly be profitable. 1In the first place, there is no engine
house attention; for instance, if we had a large Diesel unit we could start a
train at Montreal, hauled by such an engine, and run it directly through to
Vancouver, just changing crews when necessary. You do not have to put it
on the ashpit; there is no coal; fuel oil is much cheaper than coal; no engine
house or ashpit attention at all, and you get a better mileage out of it. Theoretic-
ally, it is a much more economical unit than the steam unit.

Mr. JeLuirr: Can you carry fuel enough to make a trip like that?

Sir Henry THorNTON: No; you would have to stop at appropriate points
to put in more oil, but that is only a matter of ten or fifteen minutes.

The CuHAIRMAN: Item 103 “ Excess Baggage "—$242,890.44 as compared with
$238,443.05—a gain of $4,000 roughly.

Sir HENry THORNTON: That is a small percentage, probably resulting from
increased traffic.

Mr. CantLey: I assume that passenger rates are considerably higher now
than they were before the war; apparently they are not high enough yet.

Sir Henry THOrNTON: I should not dispute that.

Mr. CanTLEY: Seriously speaking, the rates are higher than they were before
the war?

Sir HeNrY THORNTON: Yes.

Mr. CaxtrLEY: And you still have a deficit of about $6,000,000?

Sir HENRY THORNTON: That is right.

Mr. CanTLEY: So there is no likelihood of much reduction?

Sir HENry THORNTON: Quite irrespective of what we would like to charge
for passengers, there is a limit beyond which one cannot go.

Mr, Cantrey: There is not much likelihood of a reduction in passenger
rates—in view of these figures?

Sir Hexry THOrNTON: I should hope not.
Y [Sir Hen.ry Thornton.]
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The Cmamman: Item 104—“ Sleeping Cars "— $2,204,070.53 as com-
pared with $1,952,221.20. —

Sir Henry THorNTON: That is an increase of about $252,000 and can
be accounted for by increased travel.

Hon. Mr. Bexnert: I was going te ask you about the sleeping cars. To
‘what extent does the system own its own sleeping cars?

Sir Henry THoOrNTON: * We operate our sleeping cars over all the Canadian
lines, and Pullman cars only where we run into the United States.

Hon. Mr. Benngrr: All of your trains in Canada carry your own sleep-
ing cars?

Sir Henry THoOrNTON: Yes.

Hon. Mr. BexxerT: Ana the only Pullman cars are the cars that run
into the United States, to Portland, Chicago, ete.?

Sir Henry TwHornNTON: That is right.

: Mr. Cantrey: You have some sleeping cars in the east that you cannot
sleep in.

Sir Hexry TrHorNTON: Then you would enjoy the beauties of the scenery.

Mr. Cantrry: No, you would not, because it is at night.

Sir Henry THORNTON: Sometimes people sit up all night and find it
more profitable to stay up and play bridge than to sleep.

Mr. Canteey: I am not referring to that at all. You have some old
equip;nent in the east which is a disgrace. When are you going to remove
them?

Sir Henxry TmorNTON: Most of them will disappear this year; we have
provided for additional sleeping cars and practically all of the old equipment
to which you refer will come out this year.

Hon. Mr. Dux~inGg: The sleeping car business is not profitable, is it?

Sir Hexry TaornToN: I think the sleeping car business is profitable, if
you get enough of it. Perhaps the best illustration of that is the success of the
Pullman company in the States. They have made a good deal of money, and
it is profitable.

Mr. CantLeY: When do you expect to take them off?

Sir Henry THORNTON: By the middle of summer or the early autumn.

Hon. Mr. BennerT: Do you keep a separate account in your system, as the
Pullman company does, for each car?

Sir HENry THORNTON: Yes.

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: You take its cost and the cost of maintenance and
equipment and everything, and then its revenue, and you charge the haulage
as well?

Sir Hexry THorNTON: That is right.

Hon. Mr. Bennerr: So that you know what you are doing with your
sleeping cars with very great exactness?

Mr. Cooprer: The cost of haulage would not be kept separate.

Hon. Mr. Bennerr: No? You charge it all up?

Mr. Coorer: No.

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: You get a profit without regard to haulage?

Mr. Cooper: Yes; Account 403 shows the cost of operating sleeping cars.

Hon. Mr. BenxErr: But that does not include, in any event, the haulage?

Mr. Cooper: No.

Sir Henry THOrRNTON: That is for porters, linen, and things like that.
[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Hon. Mr. BENNETT: Quite so; some of your cars are very good cars.

The CHAIRMAN: Item 106— Mail "—$3,688,356.86, as compared with
$3,693,646.75.
© Sir Hexry TrorxTON: I have just explained that.
v The CrAmMAN: Item 107 ¢ Express "—$13,954,167.88, as compared with
$13,504,380.15. :
Sir Henry THORNTON: That is an increase of $450,000, roughly, and repre-
sents increased traffic.

Hon. Mr. Bexxerr: Where do you charge your equipment for express?
Mzr. Coorer: The upkeep of the cars?

Hon. Mr. Bennerr: No, you have your express cars; they are built, and
whatever ordinary appropriations you have for equipment—do you segregate
the business of the express with respect to the items of the cost of cars and all
that sort of thing from the other accounts?

Mr. Cooper: No, I do not think so; it would go into passenger train cars.

Hon. Mr. Bennerr: That is what I want to make clear, because the item
of what you get out of express shows you got more money out of it, and it
formerly was a very profitable business. I do not know whether it is now or
not, or has been in recent years.

Mr. MiLNE: The express business is profitable?
Sir Henry TaorNTON: Oh, yes.
Hon. Mr. Benxert: One of the most profitable businesses in the world.

Mr. Hexry: Is it the cost of operation to which you are referring, Mr.
Bennett?

Hon. Mr. Benxerr: No. I do not want to take up too much of the com-
mittee’s time, but you have your express cars and express revenue. What I had
in mind was whether or not you charged the construction of each car separately
or in the general equipment.

Mr. Hexry: It is in the general equipment.

The Cuamrman: Item 108—“ Other Passenger Trains”, $29,592.66 as com-
pared with $125,183.91.

Sir Henry TuHorNTON: That is a decrease of about $100,000. The con-
tract with the Pullman company calls for a division with the railway of Pull-
man car earnings in excess of $7,500 per car per annum. In the 1925 account, it
included $28,901 for the year to June 30, 1925; the 1926 account included a
charge of $130,000 due to the new arrangement with the Pullman company
under which the $7,500 per car was raised to $9,000, and the arrangement was
made retroactive for the three years to June, 1923, 1924 and 1925. In 1916
the contract between the Grand Trunk Railway and the Pullman Company set
out and provided for an arrangement whereby the railroad would receive fifty
per cent of all gross earnings in excess of $7,500 per Pullman car per annum;
in 1920 the Pullman Company represented that owing to post-war conditions
the $7,500 per car year earnings was not sufficient to meet their expenses and
asked that the car earnings per annum, before participation by the railways,
be increased from $7,500 to $9,000. This was agreed to by the company on
June 18, 1926. I may say that that also was the general policy adopted by all
the railways represented in the American Railway Association using Pullman
cars.

The CuairmMaN: Item 109 “ Milk "—§781,320.90 as compared with
$753,552.10.

Sir Henry TuHorNTON: That represents an increase of about $27,700 due
to increased business, but we shall have trouble with that this year on account
of the embargo on milk going into the United States.

42324—3 [Sir Henry Thornton.]
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The CuARMAN: Item 110 “Switching "—$2,491,106.73 as compared with
$2,420.560.94.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: That is a general increase on the system of traffic
offered by industry.

The CuAlRMAN: Item 111 “Special Service Train "—$149,893.83 as com-
pared with $69,291.66.

Sir Hexry TuornTON: That was caused by the increased movements of
circus trains, which increased eighty-two per cent.

The Cmamman: Item 112 “ Other Freight Train ”—That is a very small
item. Item 114 “ Water Transfers-Passenger "—$9,406.80 as compared with
$3,992.20.

. Sir Henxry THorNroN: That was due to the increased number of passengers
on the Grand Haven-Milwaukee ferry.

The CuARMAN: They drink water on that, do they?
Sir Hexry TaornToN: They have to.

The CHAlRMAN: Item 115 “ Water Transfers—Vehicles and Live Stock ”
—$25,318.76 as compared with $16,367.67.

Sir HeEnry TrOrRNTON: That was due also to an increased number of auto-
mobiles carried between Grand Haven and Milwaukee.

The Crarmax: Item 131 “ Dining and Buffet ”—$1,506,207.20 as compared
with $1,436,527.16.

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: 1 suppose they operate still at a loss, Sir Henry?
Sir Hexry THorNTON: Oh, yes, Mr. Bennett.

The Cuamrman: Item 132 “ Restaurant ”—-$59,780.18 as compared with
$73,597.72.

Sir HENrRYy TaHorNTON: The decrease was due to the transfer of station
restaurants from the railway to the Canadian News Company for operation.

The Crmamrman: Item 133 “ Station, Train and Boat Privileges "—$181 -
732.64 as compared with $175,743.80.

Sir HEnry THorNTON: That is a small increase due to increased travel.
The Cramrman: Item 134 “ Parcel Room ” is practically the same thing.
Sir Henry THorNTON: Yes.

The CuARMAN: Item 135 ¢ Storage—Freight 7.

Sir Hexry THorRNTON: What item is that?

The CHAIRMAN: Item 135.

Sir Henry TrHORNTON: Practically the same; there is practically no vari-
ation. :

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: I move that the committee recommend that they be
given leave to sit while the House is in session.

Hon. Mr. Duxn~ixg: That is in case we need it.
The Caammmax: Yes, we may not need it, but if we do we want to be ready.
Sir EverNe Fiser: I second the motion.

Motion agreed to.
Discussion followed.
The Committee adjourned until Thursday, March 31, 1927, at 11 a.m.

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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CommItTEE Room 425,
House or CoMMONS,
TwurspAY, March 31st, 1927.

The Select Standing Committee on Railways and Shipping met at 3 p.m., the
Chairman, Mr. Goodison, presiding.

The CuarMAN: We left off the day before yesterday at Item No. 135 on
page 16 of the Report. The next Item is Storage-Baggage; 1926, $52,602.15;
1925, $51,654.41, an increase of $950. The next Item is Demurrage; 1926,
$833,738.70; 1925, $689,487.04; an increase of $144.,251.

Mr. Jevuirr: How did that increase come about?

Sir Hexry THORNTON: From increased business and a little closer collec-
tion of demurrage charges. The increased business carries with it more use of
cars.

Mr. JeLuirr: You enforced your demurrage rules more closely?

Sir HeNry THORNTON: Yes.

The CuAlRMAN: Item 138, Telegraph and Telephones; 1926, $2,507.28; 1925,
$2,559.40, a decrease of $52. Item 139, Grain Elevators; 1926, $391,408.87; 1925,
$502,988.19; a decrease of $11,579.

Mr. Jerurrr:  Will you explain that?

Sir Henry TrHorNTON: The decrease is not because there was less grain
handled but it is for storage and insurance due to the grain being held in the
elevators for a shorter period than in 1925.

The CuamrMAN: Power; an increase of $14,711.86. Item 142, Rents of
Buildings and other Property; 1926, $368,738.54; 1925, $336,153.21.

Mr. CanTLEY: What is the explanation of that Power item?

Sir HENrRY THORNTON: It is revenue from power sold to the Armour Grain
Company, and others, at Depot Harbour, and which in 1925 was credited to
Account No. 443; simply a change in accounting.

The CrAIRMAN: The rents of buildings and other property shows an increase
of $32,585.

Sir HEnry THORNTON: That was due to the difficulty experienced in segre-
gating expenses and maintenance of properties rented. It was considered advis-
able to segregate rentals from employees to this account in preference to Account
No. 510, as was done in 1925.

Mr. M~g: Is that for car rentals?

Sir Hexry THorRNTON: No, rentals for property.

The CualRMAN: Item 143, Miscellaneous; 1926, $1,546,898.93; 1925, $1,433,-
892.60; an increase of $113,006.

Sir HENrY THoRNTON: That increase is made up by a number of factors;
the principal ones are the operating of boarding cars, an increase in the Victoria
Bridge tolls, an increase in the International Bridge tolls, and an increase in
the sale of cinders, gravel and water, and an increase in heating and cleaning
cars.

The CuarmaN: Ttem No. 151, Joint Facility-Credit; 1926, $26,787.62; 1925,
$22,763.39; an increase of $4,024.

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Sir HENRY THORNTON : That is due to increased credit from the Canadian
Pacific Rallway as to the Quebec Joint Terminal; an increased credit from the
Wabash Section, that is, the section of our track which the Wabash uses.

The CHAIRMAN: Item 152, Joint Facility-Debit; 1926, $118,671.41; 1925,
$99,553.71; an increase of $19,117.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: The Wabash, being a portion of the joint revenue,
was formerly charged to accounts Nos. 101 and 102, but the Interstate Com-
merce Commission’s order of August 1st, 1926, instructed that this account
be used in the future; it is merely a change in accounting practice.

The CuamMAN: We had the statement from Sir Henry Thornton the day
before yesterday on the operating expenses, and you have that statement in the
Minutes of the meeting furnished to-day. If any of you wish any explanation
of any of those items we will be glad to take it up with you now, but if you
are satisfied with them we will go ahead with something else.

Sir Evcene Fiser: The details of that general statement are contained
in the Report.

Sir HenNry THORNTON: There is just the question of whether you would

like to take the special items of operating expenses and go through them
item by item, using that as the basis of discussion, or whether the Committee

want to confine their investigation to the general explanation set forth in the .
document which was furnished at the last meeting. We prepared that docu-
ment and it is in the Minutes of the last meeting. That was prepared for two
purposes; the first, to enable the members of the Committee to more easily grasp
the essential features of the expenses, and secondly, if they wished to use that
as a basis of discussion rather than the more detailed operating expenses as
shown in the Annual Report. It is for the Committee to decide which they
would like to do.

Mr. JeLLirr: We asked the day before yesterday if we could get a state-
ment as to the grain items. Were you able to segregate that?

Sir HeNry THorNTON: I suppose you refer to the question that was asked
at the last meeting, as to what revenue accrued from grain in the Western
Region. The answer to that question is: $24,500,000.

Mr. JeLuer:  That includes all grains?

Sir Henry THORNTON: That includes all grain; that is the earnings from
all grains accruing from the Western Region, that is to say, that part which
is west of the head of the Lakes.

Mr. Jerurrr: That is just the grain going east to Fort William?

Sir Henry THORNTON: It is all the grain, both east and west.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Have you decided, Mr. Chairman, which report you
are going to consider? Are you going to consider the general report?

The CHARMAN: You have the general statement there. It is for you
gentlemen to say whether you want those details all gone into, or wish to take
the general statement, as shown in the Minutes of the last meeting.

Sir Eveene Fiser: I think it would be quite sufficient to take the general
statement.

The CuamrMaN: Then we will go ahead.

Sir Hexry THORNTON: I suppose you had better take the general expenses
and have discussion on those.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Start at page 2 of the Minutes of the last meeting.

Sir HeEnry TaorNTON: The first of the special items of expense is, “ Main-
tenance of Way and Structures.” There is shown a number of increases and
decreases in the Maintenance of Way and Structures expenses. If you want to

[Sir Henry Thornton.1
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follow that, I will be happy to try to answer any question which you may ask.
You will observe that the Maintenance of Way and Structures expense increased
by $3,783,193. The principal increases are explained below; ties, ballast, track-
laying and surfacing, station and office buildings, and removing snow, sand and
ice. Against those there are certain decreases; there were decreases in roadway
maintenance, in bridges, trestles and culverts, and in shops and engine houses.
The difference between the increases and the decreases is a net increase of
$3,783,193.

At the bottom of page 3, you will see that Maintenance of Equipment Ex-
penses increased by $1,886,910. T he increases are given below and the principal
item is freight train car repairs. The decreases are shown immediately under-
neath that and the largest item is a decrease of $854,157 in steam locomotive
retirements. The difference between the increases and the decreases is an in- -
crease of $1,886,910.

The CuarMAN: The next item is, Traffic.

Sir Hexry THornTON: The traffic expenses, at the top of page 4, shows an
increase of $123,503. That is made up of an increase of $83,986 in superintend-
ence; $68,830 in outside agencies; and $75,099 in advertising. The decreases
were, other expenses, $72,710; and the British Empire Exhibition, $60,100. The
difference between the increases and the decreases leaves a net increase of
$123,503.

Sir Evcene Fiser: Does that advertising include press advertising also?

Sir Henry THorNToN: That includes all advertising of all sorts whatso-
ever.

Mr. Jeruirr: An increase in superintendence indicates an increase in
salaries?

Sir Henry THornTON: Yes; I will give vou the details of that. The in-
crease on account of superintendence was in round figures $84.000. That is made
up of an increase in existing staff and for new offices $60,000; in rentals for offices
$3,300, and in general expenses $17,000. Those are the principal items of in-
crease which practically make up the $84,000.

Mr. Jeruirr:  Did you increase the heads of the staffs or just the personnel?

Sir Hexry THornTon: No. When I say “increases to existing staff ” it
means the salaries which would be paid to outside soliciting forces and local
agents off the line, and posts of that character. There has been no increase in
the more important officers of the department; this amount is spread over the
smaller officers. For example, there is just one item which may be of interest
to the committee. The year before last—in the autumn—we opened an office in
New York on Fifth avenue on the street level just above 42nd street, on the east
side of the street. The rental we pay for that office is $55,000 a year. In the
months of June, July and August, the cash taken in in that office in ticket sales
ran from $50,000 a month to $75,000 a month; in other words, the cash sales for
tickets in any one of those months more than met the rent of the office for the
vear. One might say “ Perhaps you would have had that anyway ”; our judg-
ment is we would not have had it anyway. We are pursuing the policy
where we think it justified, of opening offices for the sale of our transportation,
and these offices are not only for the sale of tickets and the solicitation of freight,
but also for immigration and. colonization purposes, and for propaganda relating
to Canada as a whole, and apart from the railway itself.

Mr. JeLLirr: Do you still maintain all your downtown offices?

Sir Hexry THORNTON: We maintain a downtown office for freight purposes,
but we changed our uptown ticket office to this particular location.
[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Mr. CantLEY: I think the New York office to which you refer was a good
move; I was in that office several times immediately after you opened it. You
have a pretty good man in there.

Sir HENrY THORNTON: Yes, he is a pretty good man. Very often people
come in to see Mr. Young, our agent, not with respect to transportation but
with respect to opportunities in Canada, starting a new factory, or something of
that sort. We have an engineer there who is able to answer questions of that
sort, and while I have not the figures at hand, as a result of those facilities, we
have attracted a good deal of investment to Canada for industrial purposes.

Mr. CantrEY: I was speaking more in reference to travel to the Maritime
Provinces during the summer months.

Sir HeNry THorNTON: That is quite right, Colonel.

Sir EveeNE Fiser: In your charges for superintendence in your General
Report, you have divided them under three headings, Maintenance and Equip-
ment, Charges, and Transportation. Does that include your charges for super-
‘intendence of headquarters staff?

Sir Hexry TuornTON: No, that simply relates to superintendence as
related solely to maintenance of way—

Sir EueNe Fiser: Does that appear in your general report under a special
heading?

Sir Henry THoOrNTON: You will find general superintendence under the
heading of “ General Officers ”; for instance, a train-master’s salary is super-
intendence, but it is transportation superintendence.

The CuHAmRMAN: The next item “Transportation”—$111,393,758 as com-
pared with $110,386,975, an increase of $1,006,783.

Sir Hexry THorRNTON: Transportation expenses, of course, on all railroads,
represent the largest single item of expenses, and you will note that there was
an increase of $1,000,000 in what might be described as the cost of moving the
company’s business, but there was an increase in the total business of $21,000,000
—in round figures—so that to have handled an increased business—and there
were no increased rates, by the way—to have handled an increase in the volume
of business of $21,000,000 at a cost of $1,000,000, I think is something with
which we may be satisfied. The increase itself of that $1,000,000 is divided, and,
as you might suppose, is mostly absorbed in wages. Below you will see an
increase of train engine men, yard masters, yard clerks, yard conductors and
brakemen, yard engine men, and train men, and train supplies and expenses.
There was a decrease in fuel for yard locomotives and fuel for train locomotives;
that decrease for train locomotives is partly due to decreased price of coal, and
partly due to improved consumption. There is also a similar decrease in engine-
house expenses, and what is especially gratifying, a substantial decrease due to
loss and damage, so that practically all of the expenses, or by far the greater
part of the increase in transportation expenses was absorbed in wages which
grew out of a larger movement of traffic.

Sir EveeNE Fiser: What was the sum involved in your last settlement on
account, of the proposed strike?

Sir Hexry THORNTON: We settled with the conductors and trainmen—I
cannot give you offhand the exact amount of that increase, but we estimated that
including that increase, as well as other increases which must of necessity follow
in its train, because you cannot increase one class without doing something for
the others, the total increased expenses growing out of increased wages, will,
for this year, amount to somewhere between five and a half and six million
dollars.

Sir EveeNe Fiser: That is for 100,000 employees?

‘[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Sir Henry THorNTON: It runs from 80,000 to 100,000.
Mr. JeLuirr:  When did that take effect, Sir Henry?

Sir Henry THorNTON: The increase took effect last December—the
increase to the conductors and trainmen. We are in negotiation now with
respect to other increases. I do not know when they will take effect; they will
probably take effect when the negotiations are completed.

Sir Eueene Fiser: Was the same settlement made with the C.P.R.?

Sir Henry THorNTON: We worked entirely in consultation with the Cana-
dian Pacific; in fact, the settlement which we made with the conductors and
trainmen was the result of the conference which Mr. Beatty and myself, accom-
panied by our proper officers, had with the leaders of the men. In general, the
wage position on both roads is identical; in fact, it could not well be otherwise.

Sir Eveene Fiser: And, of course, all these settlements are included in
those increases under the different headings which you are mentioning—under
Superintendence.

Sir Henry TuorNTON: You are dealing with last year. These increases
were not effective except over a very, very small proportion of last year, so that
in comparing last year with the year before, the increases of which we are
speaking are not a factor.

Mr. Durr: When did they commence—what time?

Sir Henry THORNTON: December 1st, was it not, Mr. Hungerford?

Mr. Hungerrorp: Some of them were.

Sir Henxry THorNTON: The settlement with the conductors and train-
men, which represents the largest item, was effective December 1st last year.
There were some smaller items which were effective last year, running from
March 1st to December 8th, but they were not of great importance. By far
the largest item, which was the increase to conductors and trainmen, was effec-
tive December 1st.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Is the proportion of increase the same for everybody?

Sir Henry THORNTON: Substantially so; as nearly as circumstances will
permit it to be worked out in that fashion.

Mr. Jeruer:  What other classes are you considering now? :

Sir Hexry TriorNToN: All other classes, Mr. Jelliff—practically all other
classes.

Mr. Miu~e: That is as a result of those increases to the train-men and
conductors?

Sir Hexry THOrNTON: Yes. You see what happened—and perhaps this
might be interesting to the committee to hear; the American railways were in
nogotiation—in fact, were in arbitration with their men—with respect to a general
wage increase which had been asked. Toward the latter part of these arbitra-
tion proceedings, the increase to our conductors and train-men became a subject
acute in Canada, and we made a settlement with our men, although at that
time we were paying, as I recall the figures, about five and a half per cent lower
wages than were paid in the United States. The Canadian railways took the
position that the wages paid in the United States had, in themselves, no bearing
on what should be paid in Canada; that is to say, living conditions in Canada,
the cost of living, and other things, should be given due weight, and we refused
to recognize the principle that we were in any way bound to pay a similar scale
of wages in Canada as compared with the wages paid in the United States.
However, you cannot entirely escape from the effect of certain scales of wages
across the border. Our men had really been quite patient in the matter of
increases, and had finally got to the point where they felt something ought to be
done for them, and in consultation with the Canadian Pacific, and the two

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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railways in consultation with the Unions, we agreed to increase the wages of
our men by something like five per cent, but almost immediately upon that
settlement, the Board of Arbitration in the United States handed down a
decision increasing the wages of the men in the United States by seven and a
half per cent, so that, as it now stands, the general scale of wages as applied
to train crews in this country, is seven and a half per cent below the more or less
prevailing scale of wages in the United States.

Now, when we agreed to this increase for the conductors and train-men, it
necessarily carried with it an obligation to do something for other classes of
labour who, if the conductors and train-men were entitled to an increase, were
probably equally entitled to an increase. Then, after the settlement with the
conductors and train-men, there followed negotiations and the opening of the
schedules with all of our Trade Union people, to reach an adjustment respecting
an increase in wages.

Mr. McLean (Melfort) : Have you completed negotiations with any class
excepting the train-men and conductors since that day, or are vou still nego-
tiating? :

Sir HeNry TrorNTON: I will ask Mr. Hungerford to answer that.

Mr. Hungerrorn: The shop men and the maintenance of way men,

Mr. McLrax ( Melfort): You are making fairly fast progress then with
your negotiations?

Mr. HUNGERFORDI.WE think so.

Mr. Jerrirr: Do the earnings since the first of the vear indicate that you
will be able to take care of that increase, and make a reasonably good showing?

Sir HeENry THornTON: That is a difficult question to answer, Mr. Jelliff.
Mr. JeLrirr: 1 know it is.

Sir HENrRY THORNTON: Of course, a good deal depends on what increase
there is going to be in the company’s business; also very much depends on what
is done to us in the way of freight rates for the year. I would say—and it is
only conjecture—that ‘if our business continues in its present state, and if we
suffer no material depreciation of revenue on account of reduced freight rates,
with the improved zeal and loyalty and spirit which will be excited in our men as
the result of this increase, we shall be able to show at the end of the year a
satisfactory increase in our net earnings.

Now, it is a very difficult thing for a railway company such as the Canadian
National, to increase its net earnings from three million dollars in 1922, to over
forty-eight million dollars, including the Central Vermont, in 1926—in four
years. This is a very considerable increase, a large part of which has been due
to the very fine services we have had from all of our men—and you who use the
railway and travel on it know what the spirit of the men is better than I. It
is very difficult to do that and refuse any recognition at all to those who have
participated in bringing that about. It constitutes an extremely difficult argu-
ment for me, as the president of the company, to meet, and quite frankly I do
not begrudge at all the increase which we have agreed to, and which I think we
will negotiate very shortly with the rest of the men. However, someone once
said that “politics do not succeed by prayer alone”, and in a measure, the same
thing applies to the railway business; you get eventually to the point where
prayers fail to “bring home the bacon”, and you have to do a little actual work.

Mr. JpLurr: Sir Henry, you spoke about the wage situation, as to the
increase of wages. I suppose you do not care to suggest what might be the
result of the decrease in rates.on the Maritime section of the road?

Sir Eveene Fiser: Amounting to $2,000,000.

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Sir Hexry THoOrRNTON: It is already set forth, I believe in the Bill that is
before the House. And the effect of that is to be set up as a separate item,
which will appear for the consideration of the House, and the House will be able
to precisely say what it will cost.

Mr. Durr: The Railway will not suffer.

Sir HeENRY THORNTON: That seems to be the intent of the Bill.

Mr. JeLuirr: You anticipate larger business in natural produ~cts owing to
the decrease of rates in the Maritimes?

Sir HeNry THoOrRNTON: I think one must say that if as a result of this
decrease in the freight rate that has been given to the Maritimes, and the
general relief which it will bring to the Maritimes, if that does not increase
business in the Maritimes, then everybody is wrong; and we are proceeding upon
premises that cannot be defended from any point of view.

Mr. Jevuirr: If the rates fixed be too low, the loss would be all the greater.

Sir Henry THorNTON: It becomes a question of whether the law of increas-
ing returns will compensate for the increased cost.

Hon. Mr. Dun~ina: That can be better discussed when the Bill is before
the House.

Mr. Durr: The Railway is very much interested.

Hon. Mr. Du~n~inG: The Railway is not at all interested. If you will
carefully read that Bill, you will find the Railway is not very much interested;
it is the Dominion of Canada that is interested.

The CuarMAN: The next item is “Miscellaneous $2,336,041.37, as compared
with $2,272917.98.”

Sir Hexry THorNTON: Those are small amounts which are chiefly due to
increased expenses in connection with the dining and buffet and restaurant
service.

The CuAmRMAN: The next item is “General Expenses: $7,881,495.87 as
compared with $7,520,303.27.” That is an increase of $361,000.

Sir HENry THORNTON: As I understand, it is practically all due to increased
pension allowance. There was, in fact, no increase, but a substantial decrease
in the salaries and expenses in connection with the general offices. The entire
expense is due, as explained, to the pensions. That is something which is engaging
our best attention at this time, to find out what we are eventually going to do
with the pension situation.

Sir EuGeNE FiseT: At the present time, how are you dealing with the pensions
in connection with the Intercolonial Railway and Prince Edward Island Railway?
Have you adopted the same system as you have in connection with the Canadian
National proper?

Sir Henry TuorNTON: We are following the same procedure, until such
time as we can have a definite understanding as to what the pension policy will
be. We are protecting the Intercolonial and Prince Edward Island employees
by adopting the same system that is extended to the rest of the system. The
pension system is more or less in vogue on the Grand Trunk. There will be,
eventually, a Bill brought before the House, I take it, which will correct and
simplify the whole of our pension system. It has been a very long and contentious
problem. In the first place, we required to have a great deal of actuarial data,
before we could decide for ourselves as to what we wanted to do. Then, we had
a number of friendly discussions with the men to see if we could hit upon some
pension scheme which would be acceptable to them. That arrangement fs
progressing as rapidly as possible. In the meantime, we are protecting the
pensioners, although they are not on the pension roll.

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Sir Eveene Fiser: Do you say that the Canadian National are treating
men as pensioners, who were before employees of the Intercolonial and Prince
Edward Island Railways?

Sir Henry THORNTON: On page 5 the statement is made that the Canadian
National Railways found it necessary to have a fund of $308,000 to meet current
obligations, in 1926, as gainst $46,000 in 1925; involving an increase of $262,000.

Mr. CantLeY: Sir Henry, will you be good enough to let us know what is
the policy in reference to insurance? On page 17 Insurance is referred to.

Sir Henry THorNTON: The policy of the company is to do its own insuring.
We began in 1923 to contribute to our insurance fund an amount which was
represented by the premiums which were paid in the previous year, and out of
that money we paid our fire losses. Now, as the result of that policy, we have
built up our insurance fund of $8,049,000.

Mr. Caxtrey: What did the fund start with?

Sir Hexry THOrNTON: I am speaking from memory, but I think it was
about $3,000,000. We took into that fund the surplus which I believe the old
Grand Trunk had, of about $1,000,000. We built that up, in the manner I
have mentioned to $8,049,000. That represents money which is invested in
Victory bonds, and it is held in trust for that fund.

Mr. CantLEY: You actually have the money in liquid form?

Sir Hexry THoOrRNTON: We have it invested in Victory bonds.

Hon. Mr. Dun~ing: The total shown on page 12 of the Balance Sheet
is shown as “Insurance and other funds—Railway and C.G.M.M.” That is
item 721.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: We get four and a half per cent on the Victory
bonds, and four per cent on the bonds of the Detroit and Shore line. $400,000
is invested in Pontiac, Oxford and Northern, six per cent bonds. I may say
that practically all of it is in Victory bonds, which are held in trust, and are not
hypotheticated. I should think it would be a wise policy to continue to build
up this one until it reaches somewhere between $10,000,000 and $15,000,000.

Sir Eveene Fiser: At the present time, the fund is not paying its way?

Sir HeNrY THORNTON: It is pretty close to it. Interest of four and a half
per cent on $8,000,000 would be around $350,000 a year. Our losses last year,
including railway and Canadian Government Merchant Marine, were repre-
sented by $793,000. So we are getting on towards it being half self-sustaining.

Mr. Durr: Why do you include the C.G.M.M. fund in the Canadian
National Railway account? It is a separate company.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: Yes, it is a separate company, but our fund insures
them because we are an insurance company with respect to the Canadian Gov-
ernment Merchant Marine.

Mr. Durr: Would it not be better to keep them separate? 'Why should
it be put in the Canadian National Railway fund.

Sir Eveene Fiser: It is a general insurance fund.

Mr. Durr:  They are two different companies. Would not it be better
to have two separate accounts?

Sir Hexry THOrNTON: I do not see any particular advantage in it.

Mr. Durr: It is the only item I see in the whole statement that covers
Canadian Government Merchant Marine.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: Of course, the Canadian Government Merchant
Marine report will come before this Committee.

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Mr. Durr: It is a separate company, and I should think there should be
a separate statement. The answer is, 1t is because the Canadian National Rail-
way insures the Canadian Government Merchant Marine.

Sir HeNry THORNTON: We carry the insurance for the Canadian Govern-
ment Merchant Marine.

Mr. Jenkins: If you kept the accounts separate, it would cost more for
administration?

Sir HENry THORNTON: We save one staff by doing it this way.

Mr. McLeax (Melfort): $400,000 is a contribution from the railway alone.

Sir HeNry THoOrRNTON: That is only the part chargeable to maintenance
of way and structures. You will find that item in all the large sub-divisions
of our expenditures; Maintenance of Way contributes something, and Trans-
portation contributes something.

l‘\?/lr. McLeax (Melfort): It does not include the contribution from steam-
ships?

Sir Hexry THOorNTON: No, that will appear as a separate item in the
Merchant Marine Report.

Mr. Durr: But the details of the gross amount will be included in that
report?

Sir Hexry TrorNTON: There will be found in the annual report of the
Government Merchant Marine a charge for insurance. I am not sure that Mr.
Duff and I understand each other.

Mr. CanTLEY: What is your policy? Do you insure them at their replace-
ment value? -

Sir Henry THorNTON: That is a question I cannot answer at the moment.

Hon. Mr. Dun~ing: We will have that in the Merchant Marine account.

Sir Henry THORNTON: It is so much a ton, Colonel, but just how much I
cannot tell you at present.

Mr. Durr: You and I were going to try to agree on this item.

Sir Henry THoOrRNTON: I will let Mr. Henry explain it.

Mr. Hexry: I think you had the idea that the railway accounts were
charged with the cost of insuring the ships. That is not so.

Sir Henry TaHorNTON: Then I think we do not understand each other.

Mr. Durr: The total amount shown here on this page is over $9,000,000.
It might be better if, instead of putting in there the C.G.M.M. account—let us
say for the sake of argument that it is $2,000,000, that this should be $7,200,000,
and then in the C.G.M.M. account there would be $2,000,000.

Sir HENRY THORNTON: Are you referring to Number 721?

Hon. Mr. Du~xnNiNG: There is a nice question of accounts in there. It is
not really a practical question, but one of accounting theory.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Practically speaking, this insurance scheme is a separate
company from both the C.G.M.M. and the C.N.R. It is an insurance company
that insures both services, under one heading, the same as if you had two separate
items in the C.G.M.M. statement; they will show the proportion they are con-
tributing to that fund.

Mr. Durr: You would not need the accountants to deal with it. As Mr,
Ruel said a moment ago it is a matter of accounting; the same officials have
two accounts, one for the Canadian National Railways and one for the C.G.M.M.,
and both amounts would show in different statements. That is all right.

Sir EveeNE Fiser: I think the way it is done is good business.

Mr. Durr: I will defer to your opinion.
[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Hon. Mr. DuxNING: Suppose we: agree that when the Merchant Marine
accounts come up, that will be cleared up, Mr. Chairman?

The CHARMAN: I think that is the best way, to thresh it out when we come
to that.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Will the same criticism apply to your insurance fund,
and also to your pension fund? You are obliged to contribute a certain portion
every year to supplement your pension fund, and I suppose the amount that
comes from the employeees goes to the general fund, and the balance is spread
over the railways.

Sir Hexry THOorNTON: Do you mean that we distribute our pension charges
to the different departments?

Sir Eveene Fiser: Yes.

Mr. Cooper: That is operating. There is no pension fund. There is not
a surplus set aside in a fund for pensions.

. d%ir Eveene Fisgr: The amount of your contribution goes to a central
und?

Sir HENry THORNTON: That contribution, General, only exists with respect
to the Intercolonial Railway.

Sir EveeNE Fiser: That is what I wanted to ascertain.

Sir HeNry THorNTON: And that is balanced against the deficit.

Mr. Cooper: That goes to reduce the amount that the railway is required
to contribute.

Sir EvGeNE Fiser: In the future scheme of pensions, it entails contribu-
tions by the employees, does it not?

Sir Henry THorNTON: No, we do not think it will, but that is a question

~ that we are still discussing, and the present drift of the thing is that it will not.

The CrHATRMAN: So far as any misunderstanding in regard to this $9,000,000
is concerned, I think when we have the statement from the Merchant Marine
we can compare the two and thresh that part out. Have you any further
questions to ask on this statement?

Mr. McLean (Melfort) : In the Miscellaneous items that we have passed,
would you mind telling me whether the dining service is breaking even?

Sir HeNry TrorNTON: That is the dining and sleeping car service?

Mr. McLean (Melfort): Yes; I do not want exact figures at all.

Sir Hexry TuHorNTON: The revenue was $1,506,000. The expense was
$2,026,000; a difference of rather less than half a million dollars; a deficit of
about that.

Mr. McLean (Melfort): Has that been reduced?

Sir Hexry TuHorNTON: Yes. Of course, as your business increases, you
reduce your deficit, and without going into figures, I should say it was less last
year than the year before.

Mr. McLean (Melfort): That is what I meant.

The CHAIRMAN: Are we all through with the operating expenses?

Sir Eveene Fiser: Before taking up the Merchant Marine, should we
not accept this report as it stands?

Mr. Durr: Mr. Chairman, if there is no further question, I would move
that the annual report of the Canadian National Railways for the year 1926 be
received and adopted.

The CHalRMAN: You have heard the motion, gentlemen. I declare the

motion carried.
[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Mr. Durr: I might say, there are one or two members who are not here.
I presume, as a matter of courtesy, if they come another day, they may be
permitted to ask a question?

~Sir HENrY THORNTON: We will have all the data here, and if any member
wishes to reopen anything, we will be only too glad to explain it.

Hon. Mr. Dun~iNGg: As a matter of fact, any member would have an
opportunity on the estimates. I suggest that we take up the estimates inasmuch
as the Merchant Marine statement is not yet tabled in the House. We cannot,
therefore, go on with something that has not been referred to. The estimates
for the Canadian National Railway, we can go on with.

Mr. Durr: There is an increase of $8,500,000 in the estimates.

Hon. Mr. Dun~inGg: Oh no, a decrease. '

Mr. Durr: Yes, I beg pardon. Will you explain that, Sir Henry?

Sir HENRYy THoOrRNTON: I want to use the same figures that Mr. Duff is
using. May I ask where Mr. Duff is reading from? There is a decrease of
$8,500,000. In detail, there is a decrease of $8,748,900.48 in interest on funded
and other debt. There is a decrease of $554,040 in Grand Trunk Pacific guar-
anteed interest. There is an increase of $662,585.06 in sinking fund payments.
There is a decrease of $1,153,400 in equipment principal payment. There is
no change in the dividend on Grand Trunk Railway four per cent guaranteed
stock. There is a decrease of $788,000 in retirement of capital obligations.
Those items added, and subtracting the increase to which I referred, leave a
net increasé in total financial requirements of $10,581,755.32.

Hon. Mr. Du~nNING: A net decrease?

Sir HENRY THORNTONS A net decrease. There are less resources. There
is to be subtracted from that, resources of $4,732,621, leaving a decrease in net
financial requirements of $6,257,134.32. There is a decrease on account of new
equipment of $5,000,000; an increase of $3,107,134.32 on account of general
additions and betterments; a decrease on account of additions to the Chateau
Laurier Hotel at Ottawa, of $2,000,000; an increase on account of discounts on
securities to be issued of $1,650,000, making, in the last analysis, a total net
decrease of $8,500,000. In other words, the budget for the nine months ending
December 31st, 1927, is $22,500,000, as compared with the same period last
year, for the twelve months, of $31,000,000. ;

Mr. JeLvirr: How much of last year’s estimated $31,000,000 did you use?

Sir Henry THORNTON: We cannot tell until March 31st, Mr. Jelliff. That
closes the fiscal year on which this is based.

Mr. Jeruirr: Do you think you are using it all?

Sir HeNry THoRNTON: Mr. Henry can answer that better than I can.

Mn, Hexry: I think perhaps we will not use the whole of it, but that
we will not be able to tell precisely until probably the first of April, when all
the accounts will be in,

Hon. Mr. Dux~iNg: Sir Henry, I think there is something you said there
that might be a little confusing, when you referred to nine months and twelve
months. Is it the fact that the comparison here made is between the two
governmental fiscal years, twelve months each?

Mr. Hexgry: No, this is made for the nine months ending December 31st,
1927; with the twelve months ending March 31st, 1927.

Hon. Mr. DunNINnG: This estimate before Parliament contains the amount
which was voted for the fiscal year 1926-27; the whole fiscal year.

Mr. Henry: That is correct.

Hon. Mr. DunNiNG: And the twenty-two and a half millions is for the

whole fiscal year 1927-28 so far as Parliament is concerned.
[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Mr. HENRY: So far as Parliament is concerned that is correct, yes.

Hon. Mr. DunNixg: These are Parliamentary figures we are dealing with.
This raises again the awkward question of the railway year ending with the
calendar year, and the fiscal year of the country ending on March 31st.

Sir HeENry TaOorNTON: That is a very awkward fact.

Hon. Mr. Dun~NiNG: But the aggregate figures here are for the twelve
months.

Sir EueeNE Fiser: No, not quite, sir. I think this is the means of the
railway for the next twelve months; but for the first three months of the fiscal
year they do not spend any of it. They spend it in nine months. Is not that
what it means?

Hon. Mr. Dun~Ning: No. Sir Henry, did the Canadian National draw upon
that $31,000,000 until the 31st of March, 1927. If we vote this $22,500,000 they
can draw on it until the 31st of March, 1928, but in figuring their own require-
ments, they necessarily must figure upon the twelve months ending in Decem-
ber in each year.

Sir Hexry TrOorRNTON: That is correct.

Hon. Mr. Dux~NinG: The point I want to clear up is that the information
which Sir Henry has given to the Committee, is his own forecast based upon
his own calendar year; it cannot be otherwise.

Sir Hexry THor~NTON: That is right.

Sir EveeENE Fiser: But the bulk of his estimates is for betterment and new
equipment; $80,000,000 goes into that, and the purchase of that equipment cannot
possibly take place during the first three months of the fiscal year.

The CuHAmrMAN: We are dealing with $22,000,000 as compared with
$31,000,000.

Hon. Mr. DunnNiNGg: In estimating the amount of resources to contribute
towards this result, what basis did you use in' comparison with 1926? Your
estimate of resources, of course, is based upon the estimate of earnings for 1927,
is it not?

Sir HExRY THORNTON: Yes.

Hon. Mr. Dux~inGg: Do you allow for increased earnings in 1927 over
1926 in arriving at your contribution from resources?

Sir HENrRY THORNTON: Yes.

Hon. Mr. Du~x~inG: Tell the Committee what that was.

Sir HeNry THORNTON: I do not know whether we can quite answer it in
that way. We estimate on about the same resources. That was due partially
to two indeterminate factors; and an anticipation of wage increases of which we
could not estimate the effect; and some possible effect with respect to rates.
In other words this is a conservative figure; it must necessarily be so.

Hon. Mr. Dun~iNG: It means that you will not require this money from
Parliament if your earnings are better in 1927 than they were in 19267

Sir HENrY THorNTON: Yes. Of course, in a thing of that kind you have got
to be absolutely safe.

Hon. Mr. Dux~inGg: The point I want to make is that you are not asking
for $8,500,000 less based upon some fancy picture of earnings?

Sir HENrRY THORNTON: No.

Hon. Mr. Dunx~ine: The earnings calculation is approximately the same
as the results of last year would indicate as being possible.

Sir EveENE Fiser: I move the adoption of these estimates.
[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Mr. MacLagren: I was going to ask Sir Henry if he would tell the Com-
mittee what the regulations are regarding the issuing of passes to railway
employees.

Sir HExrY TrHorNTON: We have certain regulations. For example, any
employee who has been in the service of the company continuously for over 50
years receives an annual pass, good over the system, for himself and his wife.
Then' certain other employees, who have been in the service of the company for
a certain number of years, receive annual passes over a certain section of the
railway, usually for that part of the railway on which they are employed.

Mr. MacLagrex: Occasionally, frequently, or at any time?

Sir Hexry THORNTON: They are given annual passes over that part of the
railway on which they are employed.

Mr. MacLarex: Do those passes include their families?

Sir HeNry THORNTON: No, just the individual himself. Then employees who
have been in the service of the company a lesser number of years may have, on
request, trip passes for themselves and their families; a certain number for a
certain period of service. I can give you a brief to-morrow which will show
just what the regulations are. I am only stating now in a general way what is
done.

Mr. MacLagrex: Could we have a return of the number of passes issued, say,
in Moncton, over the Atlantic Division?

Sir HENRY THORNTON: I think we could get that.

Mr. MacLaren: I have a communication from a very reputable merchant,
who states that passes are issued to railway employees and their families over
a large area, and that they do their shopping at Moncton, where there is a large
departmental store. This practice covers a large area, from Campbellton,
perhaps to Truro, and it is interfering with the local merchants in other portions
of the community.

Sir HeNrY THORNTON: That is not an unusual complaint; you hear it pretty
much everywhere. To-morrow we can give you a statement, of the practice of
the company in regard to free transportation. That practice, I might say, is
substantially the same as the practice on pretty nearly all the railroads on the
North American Continent. It may vary slightly in detail here or there, but
it is pretty much the practice that is followed everywhere. We can give you
that precisely in a comparatively short, time.

In regard to the question of passes generally, it is the practice of all rail-
way companies, under certain regulations, to give passes to certain of their em-
ployees, depending upon their years of service. That practice has grown up pretty
much all over the North American Continent and has come to be, in a measure,
part of the compensation of railway employees. It is not actually a compensa-
tion but it has become so established that any revision of it, or its withdrawal,
would immediately attract the attention of the Trade Unions. I am not arguing
for or against the practice; I am just trying to tell you what it is.

Hon. Mr. Duxxineg: Is it the intention, when issuing these passes, that the
families of employees should be ahle to travel a considerable distance to do their
shopping?

Sie Hexry TrHorNTON: That is not the object of issuing the passes, but it
is probably the result. If you give passes to your employees as a reward of good
-service and long service, of course they will use that pass in whatever way that
contributes to the economy of life.

Hon. Mr. Dunw~ing: Or the enjoyment of it?
[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Sir HENRY THORNTON: Or its enjoyment. Passes are not issued for the pur-
pose of enabling the employees to go to some other place to buy their goods, but
that is what happens, and that is the complaint. : :
~ Mr. MacLArex: I can understand that, if it is an occasional pass, but if it
is given very frequently, every week, or two or three times a week, then it is
rather a different thing. :

Sir Henry THOrRNTON: The point you have raised is a point which I sup-
pose is raised now and then pretty much all over the North American Continent;
it is not peculiar to Canada or the Canadian National Railways. I will ask Mr.
Henry to make a note of that and we will get it as quickly as we can.

Hon. Mr. Dux~ing: Will you include in that statement your pass policy
with reference to servants of the company who are not full-time employees, such
as lawyers and doctors? You know what I mean; there is certain transportation
granted to men who are not permanent employees, such as land agents?

Sir Hexry THORNTON: Very often transportation is given to a doctor who
looks after our interests, and all he gets out of it is his pass.

Mr. MacLaren: He is a medical officer of the company, very often?

Sir Hexry THorxTON: I suppose that most of the time he uses that pass in
the interests of the company.

Sir Eveexe Fiser: Would you also include in your statement the passes
issued to the press?

Sir Henry THorNToN: That is on the basis of publiecity.

Qir Eveene Fiser: If you put it in writing I think it will solve a great many

difficulties.

Qir Hexry THornToN: We do not issue transportation in return for
advertising.

Sir Eugene Fiser: 1 think if this could be stated in writing it would save
a lot of trouble.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: We will have that done.

Hon. Mr. DuxniNg: What about the other department, Sir Henry, such
as the Natural Resources Department and the Industrial Department; are passes
issued to any of them who are not employees themselves?

Sir Hexry THorNTON: No, not unless it is in the service of the company.

Hon. Mr. Duxning: If a man is agent for the sale of land or for the
reception of immigrants, and so forth, do you give him transportation?
Sir Henry THOorNTON: We do, in connection with certain societies.

Hon. Mr. Dux~ing: I mean a business man who may be operating his
own business in a town but who is an agent for Canadian National lands, or
has to do with immigration; does the pass system extend to such?

Sir Hexry THorxTON: Can you answer that question, Mr. Robb?

Mr. Rop: We give certain passes to men who do work for us, such as
colonization, and so on.

Hon. Mr. DunnING: ~ Are those annual passes?

Mr. Ross: No, trip passes. We only give annual passes to such as the
Hudson Bay people, who are in the same business as we are; we give annual
passes to their agents, but all the rest receive trip passes.

[Sir Henry Thornton.]
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Mr. Jeuuirr: There is a gratifying decrease in the amount asked for for
the Canadian Merchant Marine. Perhaps you will give us a statement on that?

Hon. Mr. Dux~Ning: We are not taking that up yet, because we have not
got the accounts.

Mr. CaNTLEY: I second that motion of Sir Eugene Fiset.

Motion agreed to.

Sir Evegene Fiser: Then is there only the Merchant Marine left?

Hon. Mr. Dux~Ning: That is all.

Sir EveenE Fiser: When will that be ready?

Sir Henry THorNTON: That will be in your hands, printed, on Monday.

Sir EveeNE F1ser: Then the next meeting will be on Tuesday?

The CrammaN: We will be governed by the meetings of the other Rail-
way Committee. You will be given ample notice.

Sir EveeNE Fiser: I move the adjournment of the Committee.

Mr. Durr: I second the motion.

Motion agreed to.

The Committee adjourned.

ComwmitTeE Roam 425,
House or CommoNs,
WebpNEspay, April 6, 1927.

The Select Standing Committee on Railways and Shipping met at 3 p.m.,
Mr. Goodison, Chairman, presiding.

The Crammax: The first thing this afternoon is, I think, that Mr. Jenkins
has a few questions he wants to ask of Sir Henry Thornton.

Mr. Jenxkins: Yes, I understand this meeting was called for a further
discussion of railway matters, and I understand that to-day you are going to
discuss the eighth annual report of the Merchant Marine. I wanted to ask a
few questions, in order to get some information, because in our province, trans-
portation offers a very vital problem. We are cut off from the mainland, and
naturally, we have a great many problems. I want to ask these questions for
two reasons; first, because it will save discussion in the House, and we are all
anxious to expedite business, and secondly, because Sir Henry Thornton is here
to answer them. The questions are as follows:—

No. 1. What capital expenditures are to be made on the Prince
Edward Island division in 1927?

2. On terminals?

3. Will the work of standardization of the Murray Harbour branch
be proceeded with?

4. A report is current in our province that the Hillshoro bridge is
not safe for spreading the heavy rails. Has this any foundation in fact?
A prominent member of the legislature of our province the other day
stated that he had made inquiries from an en@ineer, and this engineer
told him the bridge was quite safe for heavy traffic, and I am anxious to
find out in an authoritative way whether or not this is correct.

5. The Eastern Section was spread last year. Is it to be ballasted
and, if so, what portion? ;

6. Are new rails required? If so, what expenditure will be made
in 19277
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7. Several applications for new sidings at different points on the
Prince Edward Island Division have been presented to the government.
Has the management given consideration to such requests?

8. Several branch lines are required, viz.:—

(a) Birt’s crossing to Mount Herbert or Mount Albion.

(b) Hunter River to Rustico.

(¢) Emerald to New London.

(d) Charlottetown by South Shore to Victoria.

(e) O’Leary to West Cape, and Kensington to Malpeque and
others which are very important to aid the development
of the potato growing industry. It is necessary to encourage
this business in every possible way.

9. What action has been taken up to date re second car ferry? This
steamer is an absolute necessity.

We are more intensely interested in transportation in our province, than in any
other question, and I would like Sir Henry, in a general way, to give the
answers to these questions.

Sir HeNry THOrRNTON: I cannot answer all the questions which have been
asked offhand, but answers to these questions can be supplied in a day or two,
aund incorporated in the minutes, if that is the wish of the Committee. Such
answers as can be given to-day offhand, I will undertake to give now.

The answers to the first and second questions will have to be deferred.

The answer to the third question, “ Will the work of standardization of
the Murray Harbour branch be proceeded with ”, is “ No, not this year.”

- The answer to question Number 4, “ A report is current in our province
that the Hillsboro bridge is not safe for spreading the heavy rails. Has this any
foundation in fact?” in that, it has a considerable foundation in fact, and the
Hillsboro bridge is not safe for heavy traffic. I do not care what any outside
engineer may have said, or what opinion he may have expressed; our engineers
have gone into it carefully and have said it is unsafe.

Question Number 5, “ The eastern section was spread last year. Is it to
"be ballasted, and if so, what portion?” I cannot answer that question, nor
can 1 answer question Number 6.

Question Numkber 7, “ Several applications for new sidings at different points
on the Prince Edward Island Division have been presented to the government.
Has the management given consideration to such requests?” Well, I cannot
remember offhand just what sidings may have been asked for in Prince Edward
Island, but I can answer in a general way, and also that any applications for
sidings always receive careful and sympathetic consideration, and if there is
anywhere near enough traffic to justify the expense, the siding is generally put in.

The answer to question Number 8 in regard to several branch lines being
requested is, that they are not included in this year’s branch line program.

Question Number 9 “What action has been taken up to date re second car
ferry. This steamer is an absolute necessity.” I understand that that is one
of the things which is included in the Duncan report, and I suppose that is in
the hands of the government for the time being, and I would not care to express
a definite opinion about it. I am sorry, Mr. Jenkins, but that is the best I can
do at the moment.

Mr. Jenkins: Thank you, Sir Henry, and I understand the balance of
the information will be forthcoming, and will be included in the minutes.

The CuaRMAN: Has any member any question to ask befere we start in

" with the report of the Merchant Marine?

Sir EveenE Fiser: We have dealt with the Canadian National Railways.

Hon. Mr. Dun~iNg: It was understood that any member who desired to
raise any question in respect to the railway should be free to do so.
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The CuairMAN: Then we shall be pleased to have the report from Sir Henry
on the Merchant Marine.

Sir HeNnrY THORNTON: A member of my staff will shortly circulate among
the members and pass around a little synopsis for examination.

There is being handed to you a synopsis of the report relating to the
Canadian Government Merchant Marine, and if it is the wish of the Committee,
I will run over it hastily, touching on the essential points.

You will observe that operating revenues increased by $1,115,000—I am
now giving round figures—and operating expenses increased by $257,000, the
increases being 11.3 per cent, and 2.4 per cent respectively. You will note that
an increase of $1,115,000 only occasioned an increase of $257,000 in expenses;
the result is that the operating loss this year is $90,000 as compared with $948,000
last year, or an improvement of $858,000.

There has been an improvement in the earnings on the business handled in
the case of practically all the routes operated, and while it is true that the coal
strike in the United Kingdom caused a demand for full cargo tonnage at
abnormal freight rates, particularly for the transportation of coal overseas from
United States ports, our steamers operating regular transatlantic services to and
from Canadian ports were precluded from participating in outside trade routes,
although we did benefit in some degree from increases in grain and other rates
from Canadian ports.

What happened, briefly, was this. We could have materially increased- our
earnings if we had withdrawn our ships from standard and established trade
routes, and turned them into the carrying of coal. To do that, however, would
have worked an injury to Canadian shipping, and we thought it was preferable
to maintain our established trade routes, rather than temporarily to embark upon
the carriage of coal. Likewise, the coal strike in England increased our expenses
because we were required to bunker at our Atlantic ports for the round trip,
thereby using up valuable cargo space. There was no particular difference in
the actual tonnage handled; the export and import tons were pretty much the
same. In 1926, we handled 821,000 tons of export as compared with 820,000
tons in the previous year, and we handled imports of 398,000 tons as compared
with 319,000 tons in 1925, an increase of about 79,000. You will notice a remark-
able decrease in the cattle handled. The total number handled was 6,007 in
1925 and 1,522 in 1926. That is due entirely to trade conditions in England.
Trish cattle apparently came into the English market at a lower rate than it was
possible for our producers to meet. Furthermore, our producers found the United
States field more attractive than the foreign.field.

The grain handled involves no material change.

The increase in operating expenses is entirely due to the additional expense
incurred by handling increased business. .

Insurance. Generally speaking, the policy of the National Railways in
connection with the handling of insurance of the boats of the Canadian Gov-
ernment Merchant Marine is to adopt the same rules and principles as are fol-
lowed by insurance companies in the setting up of premiums and in the adjust-
ment of losses. There follows a statement of the losses. You will notice that
the total credit balance on account of insurance to the account of the fleet
insurance account in the Canadian National Railways insurance fund, is
$1,840,500. That, represents entirely a sum which has been built up in the course
of the last four years, by charging to the fleet the insurance premiums which
were in vogue prior to our doing our own insuring, and charging against that
fund such losses as there were. The net result has been to build up, on account
of the fleet, a reserve fund of $1,800,000.

Sir Eveene Fiser: That is included in the $10,000,000 reserve fund for
the Canadian National?

52324—43



34 SELECT STANDING COMMITTEE

Sir HeNry THorNTON: That is held really in trust by that fund for the
account of the Merchant Marine.

Mr. Durr: How do you make up your partial claim losses? Suppose a
vessel gets on the rocks and they haul it off and it is not a total loss?

Sir HeNry THorNTON: We settle that, I take it, in the same way as we
wotld settle with underwriters. :

Mr. Durr: Do you send it to an adjuster and then charge it up against
the fund?

Sir Hexry THOrRNTON: I do not think there is any question of an adjuster.
bec(ziluse it is our own fund and we determine what proper charge should be
made.

Mr. Durr: I was wondering if you would charge the total amount of the
cost of repairs, or the same proportion as an insurance company would?

Sir Henry TuornToN: We would follow precisely the practice of insur-
ance companies in that case.

Mr. CantLEy: Was there any sum voted to the creation of this fund?

_ Sir Henry THorxTON: That started with nothing and has been built up
in the manner I describe. Of course, that is built up out of operating expenses.

Mr. CANTLEY: As in the case of the million dollars taken over from the
Grand Trunk insurance fund?

Sir Henry TaOrRNTON: We did not have any start of that sort with
respect to the Merchant Marine. .

Mr. Durr: It was just from premiums charged?

Sir Henxry TuornTON: It started from nothing and built up from
premiums charged.

Mr. Power: Up to four years ago you insured with outside companies?

Sir HeNry THORNTON: That is right.

The other items are, Depreciation on Vessels. This is practically the same
for each year.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Is that four per cent?

Sir Henry THOrRNTON: Four per cent.

Interest on Government Advances; practically no change.

There is a small item, Adjustment—Department of Marine and Fisheries’
Account; and a credit for Reserves Written Back. There is nothing there that
is particularly different from the previous year.

During the year three vessels were sold; two to the Canada Atlantic Tran-
sit Company, a subsidiary of the Canadian National Railways, and one to the
Arbor Ship Building Company. The two boats transferred to the Canada
Atlantic Transit Company were the “Canadian Gunner” and the “Canadian
Harvester,” of approximately 4,000 dead weight tonnage, and were transferred
at a lump sum of $50,000 each. The “Canadian Settler” was sold to the Arbor
Ship Building Company of London, England, for £17,750, or $17.50 a dead-
weight ton.

Sir EveeNE Fiser: Were the others sold by deadweight?

Sir HExrYy THorTON: I do not think they were. As far as the Canadian
Atlantic Transit Company is concerned, that was merely a transfer from one
subsidiary of the Government to another. As far as the ‘“ Canadian Settler ”
was concerned, we were offered this price and it looked to be a good one, in fact
a better one than we expected to get, and we took it.

Sir Eveene Fiser: You were advertising all over the world, practically
speaking, trying to sell those boats? f

Sir Hexry THorRNTON: We used a scatter gun and advertised everywhere.
We got some answers, and then subsequently sold by negotiation.
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Mr. JeLuirr: Can you give us the original cost of those vessels?

Mr. Durr: They averaged about $200 a ton, did they not?

Sir HENrRY THORNTON: It is about that, Mr. Duff. The original cost of the
“ Canadian Settler ” was $985,273.34.

Mr. Durr: How many tons was it?

Sir HeENry THOrRNTON: 4,900 tons.

Mr. Jernirr: Can you give us the others?

Sir Henry THorNTON: The original cost of the “ Canadian Gunner” was
$859,162.65. The original cost of the “ Canadian Harvester ” was $730,914.63.
They were both transferred at $50,000 each to the Canada Transit Company.

Hon. Mr. Dux~ing: Our friend Colonel Mullins is not here in body this
year, but he is here in spirit; tell us something about the cattle rates.

Sir HENrY THORNTON: Perhaps Mr. Teakle had better answer that question
and give us a general statement on the cattle rate position.

Mr. TeakLe: Up to about eight weeks ago we were charging $20 a head,
and the rate was then changed to $15 a head. Does that answer the Minister’s
question? ;

Mr. Power: At that rate, what profit would you make on a voyage from
Montreal to European ports?

Mr. TeakrLe: We would lose just about $1,200 on the voyage. With a full
complement of 233 head at the $20 rate, the figures as submitted last year—I
am speaking from memory—showed a total loss of $42. If you multiply 233
by five, we are up to about $1,275 which ‘would be the loss.

Mr. Power: At the $15 rate?

Mr. TeakLE: At the $15 rate.

Mr. Power: And the $20 rate?

Mr. TeakLe: We lost $42.

Mr. Power: From Montreal or Quebec?

Mr. Teaxre: Or St. John, or any place.

Hon. Mr. Dux~iNG: Are you looking for cattle business this year on that
basis, Mr. Teakle?

Mr. TeaxLe: Well, we hope to get cattle, sir, but so far we have no inquiries
for cattle.

Sir Henry TrorxTON: We would be looking for cattle business, Mr. Dun-
ning, in the sense that it would be of assistance to our Canadian farmers. So
far as the Merchant Marine itself is concerned we would be losing money, but
what we lost we concluded we would gain in helping our western farmer friends,
or our farmer friends generally.

Mr. McLeax (Melfort) : Is that loss due to the fact that your ships are too
small to take a fair cargo?

Sir Hexry THorNTON: Well, of course, the ships are not designed as cattle
carriers. In the second place, they are a small size. 1 do not know whether I
could answer off-hand, whether with a large ship especially designed for cattle
we could make money at $15 a head or not; I do not know that we could.

Mr. Power: Your difficulty would be to have the cattle moving all the
time?

Sir HeENry THORNTON: Precisely.

Mr. Power: If you designed a ship for cattle carrying you would not know
just where she was going?

Sir Henry THORNTON: You might find a ship all dressed up and nowherv
to go.
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Mr. JENkINS: Was the rate reduced in order to get increased business?

Sir Hexry THorNTON: Noj; I think that rate reduction was voluntarily put
on by the North Atlantic carriers.

Hon. Mr. DunninGg: It was to test out the market.

Mr. CanTLEY: What has been the general trend of freight rates in the last
few years?

Mr. Dongrry: If anythmg, the tendency’ has been downward. I am talk-
ing about all our general services.

Mr. CantLEY: They did not change that way last year.

Mr. Douerry: With the exception of the trans-Atlantic rates.

Mr. McLean (Melfort): On account of the coal strike?

Mr. Dourrry: Yes.

Mr. CantLey: The grain rates went up enormously in the fall.

Mr. Dourrry: That is a transatlantic grain movement. I was speaking
of our other services.

Mr. CantLEY: I am taking the average transatlantic business from this
side to the other.

Sir Henry THorNTON: You will have to revise the question.

Mr. CantLey: Was not the average for the year higher, and your operating
expenses also?

Sir Henry THORNTON: Yes.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Are your relations with the Atlantic Combine still
friendly ?

Sir Henry THORNTON: They are what you might call amicably competitive.

Mr. JeLuirr: Your statement of 1926 shows that you handled for export
and import 1,290,000 tons as against 1,253,000 tons for 19257

Sir Hexry T'HORNTON: Yes.

Mr. JeLLirrF: So you made a gain of 47,000 tons, round figures? You

show an increase in expenses of $256,000. That would represent $5 per ton on
the increase. Do you not think that is a pretty high increase?

Mr. Teakre: You will also notice that we had an increase in earnings and
an increase in operating of course necessarily follows.

Sir Hexry TrorxToN: I do not think you got Mr. Jelliff’s question.

Mr. Jernirr: You show an increase in tonnage hauled in and hauled out,
from all sources, of 37,000 odd tons, and an increase in expenses of $256,000.
That would make an increase in expenses of about $7 a ton?

Mr. TeakLe: That would be accounted for in many ways. You see, our
voyages are fairly long voyages, and we do the larger amount of additional
moving on the longer voyages.

Mr. Jeriirr: I do not know that I get that.
Mr. Power: That is to say, the more business you get the more it costs you.

Mr. TeakiLe: Naturally, it depends upon the places where you are operat-
ing, the cost of handling freight, and so on.

Sir Hexry THornTON: On account of the coal strike, there was a material
additional expense, because of the fact that we were obhged to bunker for the
round trip voyage.

Mr. Durr: Did you have more voyages?

Mr. TeakLE: Just about the same.

Hon. Mr. Dux~ina: That will come out in the report‘,

Mr. TeakLe: And the length of the voyages as well.

Mr. MiL~e: Have you any difficuity in getting cargo?
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Sir Henry TuornTON: We are always short, as has been pointed out in
previous years, on westbound cargo. We do not do so badly eastbound, but
our principal difficulty is to get westbound cargo.

Mr. Durr: That is the imports are about half as much as the exports.

Sir Henry THorRNTON: Yes, that is shown in the tonnage.

Mr. MinNE: You have no difficulty in getting tonnage going out?

Sir Hexry TuaorNTOoN: Well, we have to fight for it of course, but we do
not do badly outbound.

Mr. Minxe: The point T want to get is, are the vessels tied up sometimes
when they should be operating, on account of the dearth of the tonnage.

Sir Henry THornTON: The vessels that run on schedule, on regular trade
routes, of course, sail on the advertised times. I should not say the vessels are
tied up much on account of insufficient cargo. Pretty nearly all of this tonnage
moves on advertised schedules and advertised freight routes.

Mr. MiLNE: Sometimes they may be completely full and at other times
there may be a scarcity of cargo, and they might go with 80 or 90 per cent
of cargo? .

Sir Henry THorNTON: That is right.

Mr. CantLeEY: Sir Henry, we used to have at one time a detailed report
on each individual ship so that we were able to form a conclusion as to all
the ships, and as to which ship and what trade was desirable and what should
be encouraged, and what should be discontinued. That, I think, is the crux of
the whole question.

Sir Henry THoOrNTON: We have a $tatement showing the profits or losses
as the case may be, of each trade route. That was discussed at the meeting
last year, and I would not care to put that in the report. My recollection is
that last year, that information was at the disposal of any member of the
Committee who desired to see it.

Hon. Mr. Dun~ing: That is right. That is what was done last year.

Sir Henry THorNTON: That is at your disposal.

Mr. Caxtrey: That is the most enlightening information we can have,
I think.

Hon. Mr. DuxniNg: Last year, I think, Mr. Chairman, we agreed that,
while the members of the Committee may have access to the information, it was

rather that class of competitive information that should not be made a matter
of record. :

Mr. CaxtLey: All right. One other question. There was a ship disposed
of, T do not remember when, perhaps two years ago. I think she was taken back
last year. Can you state the arrangements that were made in regard to that,
and how the transaction was completed?

Sir Henry THOrNTON: Mr. Teakle can explain that. That was the
Canadian “Settler.” She was sold at a price of $140,000, and the purchaser paid
us so much down but could not pay the balance, and we had to take the ship back.
She is the one that has been mentioned as sold again.

Mr. CantLEY: I am aware of that, but what I am asking is at what price
you took her back, and how the transaction turned out for the company?

Sir Henry THOrRNTON: I have a general recollection—and Mr. Teakle can
add the details—that the party who bought the ship, whose name has escaped
me at the moment, failed. We had to make the best of it, and we took the ship
back. The details Mr. Teakle can supply.

Mr. TeakLe: Yes. They paid a deposit of $25,000, which the Government
has kept. We took over his charter which was good to some time in May, and
the net result was that we were out about $3,000 or $4,000.
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Mr. Cantrey: What did it cost to recondition the ship.

Mr. TeakLE: ‘About $30,000.

Mr. CantLEY: And $25,000 was the original payment made on account?

Mr. TeagLE: Yes.

Sir HENRY THORNTON: Then there were some credits which made the net
loss about $3,000.

- Mr. Durr: You reconditioned her, after you took her back?

Mr. TeakLE: Yes, there were certain repairs necessary to be made on her,
the details of which I have not with me, to put her in shipshape and to take
over and continue the charter.

Mr. DurFr: I heard something about- the owners when they purchased her
making some repairs, and their story is that the company promised to make good
those.

Mr. TeakLe: No, as I remember the details, the ship was sold as she stood,
in Halifax harbour, for a price. ,

Sir HeNry THORNTON: We did not obligate ourselves as I recall the trans-
action, to make any repairs. All the repairs and reconditioning was done at
their expense.

Mr. McLeax (Melfort): What price was she sold at originally ?

Mr. TeaRLE: $140,000.

Mr. McLeax (Melfort): You gave us some figures of actual freight, and of
costs.

Mr. Teakie: That is the actual catriage one way.

Mr. McLeax (Melfort): Then those figures you gave us would show the
cost of taking the ship with her cargo from this side to the other side.

Mr. Dorerty: It was the actual out-of-pocket costs that we have because
of the fact that we are carrying cattle instead of general cargo; the space, plus
the space taken for feed and bedding that the ship is deprived of, for carrying
water and so on; the cost of the supplies, or rather the carrying charges for the
original cost of the supplies and the various other details involved, particularly
as to the cattle. That has nothing to do with the operation of the steamer.

Mr. Durr: It is not part of the cost of operating the steamer from the time
she leaves Quebec.

Mr. Douerty: No, that is not taken into consideration.

Mr. Durr: Why not? You should charge up your portion of the cost of
the voyage.

Mr. TeakLE: It would be as broad as it is long, whether you carry cattle or -
general cargo.

Mr. Durr: No, for instance you might carry deals on deck instead of cattle,
or you might carry flour, where you are carrying feed.

Mr. Donerry: We are taking credit for that in the figures which we have
set up.

Mr. Durr: What I am asking is this: In this cost which you say it takes
to get those cattle across, do you include a portion of your wages, coal, oil and
engine supplies? :

Mr. DonEerry: No.

Hon. Mr. Duxnine: I think there is a misunderstanding as to your loss
figures. Your figures were not on the loss in actually carrying the cattle, but the
difference between carrying cattle and carrying other cargo in the same space.

Mr. DonERTY: Yes, that was part of the consideration, because we carry
cattle where we do not carry cargo on the fore and after deck. The place where
we carry cargo is in the bridge deck space.
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Hon. Mr. Dun~iNg: When you state that it was at a fifteen dollar rate,
you would lose so much. You mean lose it by comparison with carrying cargo
in the same space?

IMr. Dongrry: And provided the ship was not fitted with stalls to carry
cattle.

Hon. Mr. Dun~ing: That is not very conclusive as to the actual trade done.

Mr. McLeax (Melfort) : He would not have the other proviso in mind, that
the ship would be loaded to capacity with other freight.

Mr. DonErTY: Quite so.

Mr. McLeax (Melfort) : Could you tell us this: supposing you took a ship
with cattle to the other side, could you tell us what it cost to take that shipload
of cattle to the other side, either per head or per shipload, and what you got out
of it, and make a comparison of it in that way?

Sir HENRY THORNTON: In other words, what does it cost to move a cargo of
cattle from Canada to the United Kingdom?

Mr. Teakre: I am not in a position to answer that question, because our
experience is with our own steamers.

Mr. McLean (Melfort): I mean with our own steamers; the cattle is one
particular cargo.

Hon. Mr. Dux~iNGg: You have no ships exclusively in the cattle business?

Mr. CantrEY: Two ships were fitted up last year about which we heard a
good deal. We have heard nothing about them this year.

Mr. McLean: Perhaps we could have the same gentleman here to tell us
about them. -

Mr. Donerry: As far as I can gather, they were not a success. They were
withdrawn even before the movement diminished last Spring.

Mr. McLean (Melfort) : Those special steamers were withdrawn?

‘Mr. DonEerry: Yes, those steamers that were specially fitted to carry a full
cargo of cattle carried cattle in the holds as well as on deck. They were specially
constructed for the purpose.

Mr. CanTLEY: What became of them?

Sir Hexry TrHOrRNTON: Mr. Teakle can tell what happened to the ships.

Mr. TeakiLe: There were two ships. One was turned over to a man named
Olsen, and he got a company formed to go into this particular cattle trade.

Sir Henry THORNTON: I remember now. What happened was this: those
ships were fitted for carrying cattle on all decks.

Mr. CantreY: Fitted with elevators.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: And it was a complete failure. And those who were
engaged in this business, I think, lost what they put into it.

Hon. Mr. Dux~inG: Did you sell the ships to them, Sir Henry or what
happened to the ships?

Sir Hexry THorNTON: Were not the ships rented?

Mr. TEARLE: As I remember, they were Norwegian ships, an outside com-
pany. They were not our ships.

Sir Henry THorNTON: He got these ships and fixed them up, and he started
in the business, and the result was—I do not remember all the details of it—that
he failed. :

Mr. CantLEY: One of the ships was tied up at St. John.

Sir Hexry TuHorNTON: He came to me for relief, and he wanted us to
guarantee him at the bank.
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Hon. Mr. Dux~NiNGg: It was Jansen. I thought you were talking about the
C.G.M.M. ships.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: No, these were outside ships.
Mr. Durr: In that table of totals of freights export and import and inter-
coastal, what do you mean by “inter-coastal”?

Sir Henry THoOrRNTON: From maritime ports to British Columbia ports
through the Panama Canal.

Mr. Durr: How much foreign tonnage is in this?

Mr. Hexry: The balance takes care of all our other trade.

Sir Hexry TwHorNTON: The inter-coastal is between the two points in
Canada.

Mr. Durr: The reason I asked about “inter-coastal ” was that this speaks
about your export and import, and that would seem as if it might be all Cana-
dian trade.

Sir HEnry THORNTON: No, that is from Canada to foreign ports. The inter-
coastal, as I say, is between Canadian ports.

Mr. JenkiNs: On page 12 it would show you.

Sir EveenEe Fiser: Have you any boats on the Great Lakes now?

Sir Hexry THORNTON: No, we have not.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Are we considering the general report or the annual
report?

The CramrmaN: We are taking the general report of Sir Henry first.

Sir Hexry TaorNTON: I thought perhaps we might take a short cut, and
that if you went through this, by the time you got through it you would find
that you had pretty well cleaned up the annual report.

The CuarMAN: This report by Sir Henry Thornton, I understand, covers
practically the whole thing in a concise form.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Will you explain what you mean by “Reserve for
Depreciation,” $15,000,000—how is that reserve made up, is it cash or what
is it?

Sir Hexry THorNTON: That is a book-keeping entry and there is no cash
involved.

The CrHAmMAN: Have you any further questions to ask on this state-
ment? :

Mr. JeLuirr: I thought, Mr. Chairman, I was going to get a little further
information from the gentleman who is here as to the increase in business over
the expense. He had not quite finished with me.

Mr. Davipson: Yes, I can give Mr. Jelliff some more information. For
instance, in 1925 we had twenty voyages to Australia and New Zealand; and
in this last year we had twenty-seven voyages to Australia and New Zealand.
The longer voyages necessitate the extra cost in handling. We had two hun-
dred and forty-seven voyages against two hundred and forty-four voyages;
we had three more voyages in this statement for 1926 as compared with 1925;
and in the longer voyages, to Australia and New Zealand, we had seven more
voyages.

Mr. Jenkins: Did any of your normal voyages, for instance, take more
time, which would involve larger wages and more expense?

Mr. CoopEr: Some of them would. Some ships meet delays, and others
make their time right along. You cannot always depend upon them every day.

Mr. Durr: On page 8 in your assets, you have an amount here—you
have it every year in fact—"“Accounts Receivable,” $1,328,000, in round figures.
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Then against that, on the liability or debit side, there is an item, “Balances of
Uncompleted Voyages” $709,000. Why do you put that in?

Mr. Coorer: The “ Uncompleted Voyages” are carried forward into the
next year,—the balance on uncompleted voyages is carried forward into the
next, year.

Sir Henry THorNTON: That is, if a voyage runs into the following year,
you carry that cost into the following year.
" Mr. Durr: Is that the whole cost or the partial cost?
Mr. Cooper: That is the cost up to the end of the year.

Sir HEnNrY THORNTON: The reason is that it is generally a credit. Speak-
ing of the $709,000, we have received the revenue but have not met the entire
cost.

Mr. Durr: If you have the total revenue, why should you not charge
the cost of the voyage?

Mr. Coorer: Because the voyage is not yet completed.

Mr. Durr: Then should not the credit of the receipts be made on the
voyage?

Sir Henry THOrRNTON: This is the usual accounting practice in such cases.

Mr. Durr: If you have all your freight credited, you should have a charge
against that freight of the total cost of the voyages.

Mr. Coorer: In the voyages to Australia, most of the freight is prepaid;
but the boat is on its way; and the costs are not paid and will not be paid until
the voyage is completed.

Sir Henry THorNTON: I suppose that balances from year to year any-
way, does it not?

Mr. Cooper: This does not go into the Income Account.

Mr. Durr: But it makes your assets that much higher.

Mr. Cooprer: This is a credit balance. I am speaking of this item of
$928,000.

Mr. Durr: Then that is all right, but what about the accounts receivable?

Mr. Cooper: Those are freight charges which are not collected.

Mr. Durr: Is that on completed voyages.

Mr. Power: Is there any relationship between the Accounts Receivable
and the Balances of Uncompleted Voyages?

‘Mr. Cooper: To the extent that it is not paid, that is what the item of
$1,328,000 is,—all accounts due to the company.

Mr. Power: Whether Uncompleted Voyages or any other thing?

Mr. Cooper: Yes.

Mr. Power: There is no real relation between the two at all.

Sir Henxry TrHornTON: That is all.

Mr.. Power: Your usual conduct is to ask payment of freight in advance?

Mr. Coorer: I think the bulk of the freight is in advance.

Mr. Power: But sometimes you have allowed people credit, and those
accounts have not been paid, and those are receivable during the whole year.

Mr. Cooper: They are offset more by the Accounts Payable than by the
Balance of Uncompleted Voyages.

Mr. CanTLEY: The general practice is frelght payable in advance. Until
the war broke out there was practically no such thing, but it was payable on
delivery of the Bill of Lading.
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Hon. Mr. Dun~NinG: The Accounts Receivable are $1,300,000. Your total
revenue is $10,900,000. Is it not a large proportion to have in the form of
Accounts Receivable?

Sir Hexry TrORNTON: I will ask the Auditor to answer that.

Mr. Davipson: Part of that money is due from agents on the other side. It
might be in Australia, England, or any other foreign part. Accounts Receivable
$476,000; Outstanding Freight $402,000; Agents $407,000.

Hon. Mr. DuxnNiNG: That is three amounts of approximately $400,000
each?

Mr. Davipson: Yes.

Hon. Mr. Dun~NinG: Do you make any provision for bad debts?

Mr. Davipson: No, sir, the charter is always operating; there are very few
bad debts.

Hon. Mr. Dun~ing: You hold the goods, in practice?

Mr. Davipson: Yes, sir.

Sir EveeNE Fiser: Are all your freights payable in advance or at the time
of delivery?

Mr. Davipson: Excepting for a week or so, where we give a credit to
shippers.

Sir Hexry THOrRNTON: To a large firm doing a considerable business, we
might give a line of credit; it would not be a large amount,

Sir EveeNe Fiser: What goes against that balance of $709,000? Is that a
debit balance?

Mr. Davipson: No, it is a credit balance; that will be the disbursements,
when they are received from foreign parts. For instance, on a voyage to Australia
in December, that is not received until February or March; and we charge up
that voyage with the disbursements and transfer the balance to closed—voyages
which will go into 1927 profit and loss. :

Hon. Mr. DuxninG: Now will you take up the Operating Account.

The CrHarrMaN: Yes, if you will turn to Page 10 of the accounts, we will
go through this. First are the capital Operating Revenues. Vessels with closed
voyages, for the year 1926 $10,955,000; for 1925, $9,839,000; showing a gain of
$1,115,000. Now, Operating Expenses. Vessels having closed voyages, for
1926, $10,395,000, as compared with $10,177,000 for 1925; a difference of
$218,135.

Sir HeNry THORNTON: That is an increase in Operating Expenses, which
have been more or less dealt with before.

The CuARMAN: Miscellaneous Wharf Expenses, $12,000 for 1926 as com-
pared with $20,000, a decrease of $8,000. Operation of Agencies, $167,000 for
1926 as compared with $136,000 for 1925.

Sir HeNry THOrRNTON: What is the explanation of that increase of $31,000?

Mr. Davipson: That is partly due to expenses for 1925 which were not
charged up the first year, pending settlement as to the division of the expenses;
so that we have two years’ expenses charged in 1926.

Sir HeNky TrHORNTON: That is our own office, you understand.

Sir EveeNE Fiser: Were there any new agencies?

Mr. Davipson: The Brisbane Office was opened in October 1925; of course
three months’ expenses were charged in 1925 as against one year in 1926,

Mr. TeakLe: The opening of that office means a saving in operating.

: The CHarMAN: Management and Office Salaries, for 1926, $352,111; for
1925, $335,376; an increase of $16,735.
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Mr. TeagrE: Those are salary increases which have been meted out to
the staff deserving of them.

Sir HENrY THOrRNTON: Those are simply increases to clerks, stenographers,
and so on.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Did it include superintendence?

Sir Henry THOrNTON: There was no increase to superintendence.

The Cuarman: Rent, Taxes and Insurance $13,188, for 1926, as com-
pared with $13,642 for 1925, a decrease of $454. Travelling Expenses in 1926,
$22,948, as against $24,355 for 1925, a decrease of $1,387. Printing and
Stationery, $16,479 for 1926, as compared with $6,000 for 1925. That is an
increase of $10,464.

Mr. Davipson: That was largely due to the practice being changed.
Previous to 1925, it was the practice to charge up all the stationery expenses
to Operating. At the end of 1925 we took stock of all the stationery on hand
and credited the Stock Account; debiting that Stock Account with the value of
the stationery, ete. used and carried it back to Operating, which accounts for
the low charge in 1925.

Sir Hexry THORNTON: In other words, that was a revision of accounting
practice.

Mr. Davipson: Yes.

The CHAmRMAN: Advertising, $25,000 as compared with $32,000, a decrease
of $7,000; postages, cables and telegrams, $35.000 as compared with $32,000,
an increase of about $2,500.

Mr. Davipson: That was due to increased business.
The Cuamrman: Office supplies and expenses, an increase of about $2,500.
Mr. TeakLe: That is the same thing.

The CuamrMaN: Miscellaneous expenses, a decrease of about $7,000. Other
charges: Depreciation on vessels, a decrease of about $76,000.

Mr. Davioson: That was at the same rate, four per cent.
Mr. CantrLey: What rate of depreciation are you charging off?
Sir HENRY THORNTON: Four per cent.

The CuAlRMAN: Interest on government advances, a decrease of about
$75,000.

Sir HENRY THORNTON: That is occasioned by fewer vessels.

The CualRMAN: Adjustment—Department of Marine and Fisheries Account.

Hon. Mr. Dunx~inGg: That is an old account.

The Cuamrman: Reserves written back.

Hon. Mr. De~~ing: That does not apply to 1926, either.

Mr. Davipson: That was accumulated in 1925, and written back.

The Cuamman: The total loss as compared with the previous years is
$982,291 less. 2

Sir EveenNe Fiser: A good showing.

Hon. Mr. Dun~ine: Sir Henry, I would like to go into the deficit account
a little, and the statement of interest due the Dominion Government, as at the
31st December, 1926. I think the Committee should see what is involved in
that. I do not think we touched upon that last year. The financial operation
is a somewhat involved one, between the government and the Merchant Marine.
That first item, $39,000,000, balance of deficit account at December 31, 1925,
is the aggregate deficit from the beginning of the Merchant Marine?

Sir HENrRY THORNTON: Yes.
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Hon. Mr. DunNiNG: And you deduct the interest cancelled on notes due
the Dominion Government? That means, the Dominion Government writes off
the interest?

Sir Hexry THorNTON: That is right.

Hon. Mr. Dux~inNG: And the cancellation of the amount set up for deprecia-
tion of certain vessels—what happened to that?

Mr. Davipson: Those vessels were sold, and we wrote off the depreciation;
it is credited back to the deficit account.

Hon. Mr. DuxniNg: It reduces your deficit account to that extent?

Mr. Davipson: Yes, sir.

Hon. Mr. DunNiNG: So the total deficit account up to date, including the
loss of last year, is $45,516,000; that is, in addition to any amount which the
Government has written off from time to time in the form of interest?

Mr. Davipson: Yes, sir, on vessels sold.

Hon. Mr. DuxNiNG: There has been no writing off of interest on any
vessel which is still owned by the Merchant Marine?

Mr. Davmson: No, sir.

Hon. Mr. Dunning: The interest charge is still set up?

Mr. DavipsoN: Yes.

Hon. Mr. DunxNiNG: The total interest written off by the Government is
$20,636,109.51.

Mr. Davipson: No; that is what is due the Government.

Hon. Mr. DUNNING The amounts cancelled are those defined by an
asterisk before the figures in the third column, $335,000, $724,000, $1,788,000,
and $478,000.

Mr. Davipson: A little over $3,000,000.

Hon. Mr. DuxNing: What happens when you sell a vessel? What do you
do with the money?

Mr. Davipson: Turn it over to the Government.

Sir Hexry THorNTON: We turn over the principal sum to the Government,
to go along with the loss already incurred on that particular vessel.

Sir Eveene Fiser: Does it go to the Receiver General?

Sir Henry THorNTON: I think it does, General.

Sir EveeNe Fiser: 1 thought you were going to change that system last
year, but I suppose the amount involved was not worth it.
' Hon. Mr. DunxNiNG: The Finance Minister said he could not see it that
way. He said it was bad enough to write off the 'Lnterest, and he should at
least receive the principal.

Mr. Jeruirr: Was the “ Settler ” sold for cash?
Mr. Davipson: Yes.

Mr. Power: Is there any way of telling how much this whole fleet now
actually stands the government?

Sir Hexry TuornTON: Oh, yes.

Hon. Mr. Dunn~ing: $45,000,000 and $3,000,000 interest on notes can-
celled totals $48,000,000, and in addition to that, there is the original cost.

Mr. Powsr: That is the total amount due the government from all sources?

Mr. Davipsox: The total amount due the government is found on the
balance sheet at pages eight and nine, $20,636,000; interest accrued on advances,
$1,940,000; that would be about $22,500,000.

Hon. Mr. Dun~inGg: Then there is the cost of the vessels.
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Mr. Davipson: That is interest on the cost of the vessels, plus the interest
on advances.

Hon. Mr. Dux~NiNg: And in addition you would have to take the amount
written off by the government, which is $3,000,000.

Mr. Davipson: Yes, that would have to be included.

Hon. Mr. Dunx~inGg: And the original capital cost.

Mr. DavipsoN: Yes.

Hon. Mr. Du~x~iNGg: Then that last item in the first column represents
the grincipal amount of the notes—that is, the principal up to date for each
year?

Mr. Davipson: Yes.

Hon. Mr. Dux~iNG: There is no interest added to it, no compounding it?

Mr. Davipsox: No.

Hon. Mr. Dux~inG: Just the principal sum?

Mr. Davipson: Straight interest.

Hon. Mr. Dux~iNGg: And so the amount the Merchant Marine stands the
government to-day is $63,000,000 plus $45.000,000 plus $3,000,000 less deprecia-
tion reserve—that would be about correct?

Mr. Hexry: That is right. ‘

Mr. CantLey: Where do you get the $3,000,000?

Hon. Mr. Du~n~inGg: Written off by the government; it does not appear
here at all.

Sir Henry THorNTON: About $100,000,000.

Mr. Durr: I move the adoption of the report.

Mr. CanTLEY: I second the motion.

Motion agreed to.

The Cuamrman: Now, what about the estimates?

Sir Eveene Fiser: I move the adoption of the estimates as they stand.

Mr. Jeruirr: I second the motion,

Motion agreed to.

The CramrMaN: That concludes our business, gentlemen.

Sir HEnry THOrNTON: I congratulate the committee on the businesslike
way in which its affairs have been conducted.

Mr. Durr: And I congratulate you, sir, upon the frank manner your
officials have answered our questions.

The Committee adjourned until the céll of the Chair.

Note.—For following meeting, see Minutes of Proceedings of 7th April,
p. xvil



46 SELECT STANDING COMMITTEE

APPENDIX

MEMORANDUM PREPARED BY SIR HENRY THORNTON IN REPLY
TO QUESTIONS ASKED BY MR. JENKINS

Q. What capital expenditures are to be made on the Prince Edward Island
Division in 1927?—A. $209,000.

Q. On terminals?—A. $50,000.

Q. The Eastern Section was spread last year. Is it to be ballasted and if
so what portion?—A. It is intended to do some ditching, widening cuts and
surfacing during 1927.

Q. Are new rails required? If so, what expenditure will be made in 1927?
—A. It is intended to install 32 miles of relay rail

Q. Several applications for new sidings at different points on the P.E.
Island Division have been presented to the Management. Has the Manage-
ment given consideration to such requests?—A. All applications for sidings are
given careful consideration by the Management. (See also p. 31.)



INDEX OF EVIDENCE

WITNESSES

Cooper, T. H., General Auditor, C.N.R.:

Describes accounting rules of the Interstate ‘Commerce Commission re depreciation for
rolling stock equipment, 6-7.

Cost of haulage in connection with sleeping car charges, 4.
Equipment charges for express, 15.
There is no pension fund and no surplus is set aside in a fund for pensions, 26.
‘Cannot always depend upon all ships to make voyages within a given time, 40.
Uncompleted voyages account, how dealt with, 41.

Davidson, F., Auditor, C.G.M.M., Lad.:

Statement re voyages to Australia and New Zealand, 40.

Three items which make up Accounts Receivable, $1,300,000, 42.

Explains practice re freight charges account, 42.

Explains as to increase of $31,000 in Operation of Agencies account—New Agency, the
Brisbane office, 42.

Explains increases of $10,464 in Printing and Stationery account—Also decrease on
Depreciation Charges account, 43, 44.

Deficit Account—Interest written off by the Government—Total amount due the Gov-
ernment, ete., 44, 45. !

Doherty, J. P., Traffic Manager, C.G.M.M., Lid.:
Freight rates, general services—Grain rates, 36.
What is meant by out-of-pocket costs when cattle are carried instead of general cargo,
38-39.
Steamers specially fitted to carry a full cargo of cattle, 39.

Henry, R. A. C., Director, Bureau of Economics, C.N.R.:
Freight rates on grain shipments originating in the West and moving eastward break
at the head of the lakes, 11.
‘Cost of construction of express cars is chargeable to the ‘General Equipment account, 15.
Statement re expenditure of balance of estimates of 1926, 27, 28.

Hungerford, S. J., Vice-President, C.N.R, Operation and Censtruction Department:
Statement re certain increases when considering Transportation Expenses account, 21.
Negotiations with shop men and maintenance-of-way men progressing in respect to

wage increases, 22.

Robb, W. D., Vice-President, C.N.R., Departments of Land, Colonization, Insurance, Etc.:
Statement re practice followed regarding the issue of Passes, 30.

Teakle, R. B., General Manager, C.G.M.M.:

Transportation rates on cattle shipments—Loss on voyage from Montreal to European
ports—Total loss last year—Outlock for cattle transportation this year, 35.

Increase in expenses naturally follows increase in earnings—How an increase of about
$7 per ton, in expenses, is accounted for, 36.

Statement re the sale of the Canadian Settler and cost of reconditioning same—Price
of Settler sold at, 37-38.

Cost of voyage when carrying cattle and general cargo and relative proportion of cost
for ecach, considered, 38-39.

Two ships specially fitted to carry full cargo of cattle—Sale of one to a Mir. Olsen, 39.

Brisbane office opened in October 1920—Open1nz of same means a saving in operation
expenses, 42.

Salary increases to the staff deserving of same account for an increase of $16,735, in
“\Management and Office Salaries” account, 42-43.

Increased business accounts for an increase of about $2,500 in “ Office Supplies and
Expenses ” account, 43.

Thornton, (K.B.E.), Sir Henry W., President, C.N.R. & C.G.M.M., and Chairman of
the Boards:

Proceeds to give a résumé of an analysis showing the operating expenses of the C.N.R.
System including the Central Vermont Railway, for 1926, as compared with the
expenses for 1925, which are divided into 140 primary accounts, grouped under
7 main heads, 1-5. 4
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States that said operating expenses are classified in accordance with the accounting

rules of the Canadian Bureau of Statisties, 1.

omparison of expenses, 1926, 1925, under 7 main heads, 2-5.

efers in general terms to details set forth in the 140 primary items as shown in the
Annual Report—Consideration of same, 5-26.

Explains requirements of the Interstate Commerce Commission re accounting rules in
connection with American lines—Points out difference in “ Depreciation ” account-
ing forms in respect to Canadian and American lines systems, 6-8.

Gives a synopsis of the revenues for 1926 as compared with those for 1925, 8-11.

Allocation of expenses as between freight and passenger service is not precise—Explains
practice in railway world, 11.

Would say that losses are greater on transcontinental service than on local and suburban
—Explains advantages of the last named, 11-12.

Electrification of railways, where profitable, 12.

Diesel electric engine: describes merits and faults of same—Still in experimental stage
—Engineers of all railroads working and studying it, 12-13.

Various revenue accounts explained re increases and decreases as for 1926, 1925, 13-18.

Explains policy of the company re transportation and opening of offices therefor—New
York office, 19-20.

Maintenance of way and structures expenses and maintenance of equipment expenses,
18-19.

Superintendence and increases to existing staff—Transportation expenses, 20.

Impending strike and settlement re demands of conductors and trainmen—Settlement
with other classes of men being considered—Explains what happened, and position
taken re men on Canadian railways, after conference with Mr. Beatty, 20-22.

Maritime situation and possible result of decrease in freight rates—Employees’ pensions
and policy of the company respecting same, 22-26.

Policy of the company in respect to insurance, explained, 24, 25.

Explains investments in Victory Bonds and certain other bonds, 24.

Examination of Annual Report, C.N.R., concluded—Report adopted, 26.

Estimates, C.N.R., considered—Explains various items showing increases and decreases
in same—Total net decrease—Estimates adopted, 27-28.

Explains regulations governing the issue of passes, in reply to questions put by Mr.
MacLaren. M.P—Particular reference to passes issued at Moncton, over the
Atlantic Division—Practice of all railway companies, under certain regulations—
Specified complaint re frequency of passes issued to a person, 29-30.

Annual and trip passes, to whom given, 30.

Evidence of, in reply to Questionnaire of Mr. Jenkins, M.P., re Transportation problem
in Prince Edward Island—Nine principal questions dealt with in statement given,
31-32.

Canadian Government Merchant Marine—Synopsis of Annual Report showing operating
revenues and operating expenses; improvement in earnings; tonnage of exports and
imports—References to cattle and grain shipments. and insurance, 33.

Explains how insurance reserve fund of $1,800,000 held in trust for the account of the
Merchant Marine has been built up in the course of the last four years, 33-34.
Accounts re Depreciation on Vessels, Interest on Government Advances, Adjustment
—Department of Marine and Fisheries, Reserves Written Back, dealt with, 34.

Relations with Atlantic Combine are amicably competitive, 36.

Sale of three vessels: Canadian Gunner, Canadian Harvester and Canadian Settler
during the year, 34-35, 37-38.

Explains “ Inter-coastal ” and “ Uncompleted Voyages,” 40-41.

Rate of “Depreciation on Vessels” chargeable at four per cent, 43.

Deficit Account and Statement of Interest due the Dominion Government, as at 3lst
December, 1926, 43-45.

Annual Report and Estimates, C.G.M.M., adopted, 45.

GENERAL SUBJECTS

Accounts re Operating Expenses of C.N.R. System:

Divided into 140 primary, these being grouped under 7 main heads—Analysis of sub-
mitted by the President, Sir Henry Thornton, 1-5.

Advertising :

Expenses on account of C.N.R. traffic, 4, 19.
Advertised everywhere re sale of the Canadian Gunner, Canadian Harvester and Cana-
dian Settler, 34.

Agencies, Outside:

Expenses on account of C.N.R. traffic, 4, 19.
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American Lines, C.N.R. System: See United States Business, Revenue and Expenses.

Atlantic Combine:
Relations with, are amicably competitive, 36.

Ballast:
Amount of increase for, in Operating Expenses account, 2.

Bridges, Trestles and Culverts:
Amount of decrease for, in Operating Expenses account, 2.

Brisbane Office, C.G.M.M.: ;
Office opened in October, 1925—It means a saving, 42.

British Empire Exhibition: ]
Reference to, in evidence relating to traffic expenses, 19.

Canadian Government Merchant Marine, Limited:

Insurance ‘C.G.M.M. fund entered in the Canadian National Railways account, Item
721, and reascn therefor, considered, 24-26.

Policy of insurance—Premiums chargeable to the fleet—Reserve fund built up within
the course of the last four years, 33-34.

Annual Report, 1926, re expenditures and revenues considered, 33-45. Adopted, 45.

Estimates, considered and adopted, 45.

Vessels sold, three, during the year, 34.

Canadian National Railways System:
Anal}}{iisl of 1926 operating expenses accounts, including those of the Central Vermont
ilway, 1-5.

Annual Repont comprising expenses accounts, considered, 5-7, 18-26—Comprising
revenues accounts, considered, 8-18.

Annual Report of C.N.R., on motion, received and adovted, 26.

Estimates considered and adopted, 27-28.

Prince Edward Island, Division of—Questionnaire of Mr. Jenkins, M.P., and evidence
in reply thereto, 31-32.

“Canadian Settler”, “Canadian Gunner” and “Canadian Harvester”:
Sale of vessels—Price sold at—Purchasers, 34.
Particulars of the sale of the Canadian Settler—Cost of reconditioning her, 37-38, 44,

Cattle Shipments:
Number of, handled in 1925 and 1926, 33.
Freight charges per head—Operating at a loss, 35.
Cause of extra cost when carrying cattle instead of general cargo, 38-39.

Central Vermont Railway:
Accounts of, included with those of the CN.R., in 1926, 1, 8.
Freight, revenue of, 10.

Coal: 0 !
Owing to strike in Great Britain, C.G.M.M. had to bunker for round trip voyages at
Atlantic ports, thereby using up valuable cargo space, 33, 36

Decreases, Principal:
Principal decreases in operating expenses, analysis of, 2, 3, 4.

Deficit Account, C.G.M.M.:
Particulars of, re interest due the Government—Balance of deficit at 3lst December,
1925—Aggregate deficit—Deductions—Total amount due the Government, 43-45.

Depreciation Account:
System of accounting in respect to depreciation conforms with one exception with that
of the Interstate Commerce Commission, particulars of which are considered, 6-7.
Amount written off for depreciation last year in connection with American lines, 6.
Depreciation on vessels account, showing a decrease, 43.
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Diesel Locomotive:
g Intensive study given to the development of the Diesel electric engine—Two large
units of same have been examined—Now in use in Germany and in Russia, 12.
Merits of, and faults pointed out, 13. :

Dining and Buffet: See Revenues, C.N.R. Company.

Electrification of Railways:
Greatly misunderstood—Profitable only where denqty of traffic exceeds the capacity
of a steam operated railway—Extremely expensive, 12.

Estimates (1927) Canadian Government Merchant Marine:
Considered and adopted, 45.

Estimates (1927) Canadian National Railways System:

Considered, 27-28.

Decrease in interest on funded and other debt—Decrease in G.T.P. guaranteed interest
—Increase in sinking fund payments—Decrease in equipment payment of principal
—Grand Trunk Railway guaranteed four per cent, no change—Decrease on new
equipment—Increase on account of general additions and betterments—Decrease
on account of Chateau Laurier—Increase on aeccount of discounts on securities, 27.

How estimates of resources are arrived at, 28.

Estimates adopted, 28.

Excess Baggage: See Revenues, C.N.R. Company.

Expenses (1926) of C.G.M.M., Operating:

Increase of, entirely due to additional expense imcurred by handling increased business
—Insurance and net result, 33-34.

Depreciation on vessels—Adjustment re Account of Marine and Fisheries Department
—Reserves Written Back account, credit—Advertising for sale of three vessels—
Amount of increase in expenses, $256,000 accounted for in many ways, 34-37.

Expenses in connection with the Canadian Settler, 37-38.

Material additional expense caused on aceount of coal strike when vessels were obliged
to bunker for round trip voyages, 36.

Out-of-pocket costs when carrying cattle, 38-39.

Total operating expenses for 1926, as compared with those of 1925, 42.

Miscellaneous wharf expenses—Operation of agencies—New office at Brisbane—Man-
agement and office salaries—Rent, taxes and insurance, travelling, printing and
stationery, advertising, postages, cables and telegrams, -miscellaneous, 42-43.

Expenses (1926) of C.N.R. Company, Operating?

Tabulated statement of, grouped under seven main heads showing ecomparison of
expenses’ ag for 1926 and 1925, 2.

Details of, as shown in Annual Report, pages 17 to 20, and set out to show respective
increases and decreases under each main head, viz.,, Maintenance of Way and
Structures, ete., 2-5.

Further de-taxls of expenses for purposes of comparison, into Employees’ Compensation
and Wages item, and Material and Miscellaneous item, 1926 and 1925, 2.

Expenses of purely United States business was eighty-two and a fraction per cent of
the gross proceeds, 8

Further consideration of expenses under the following headings: Maintenance of Way
and Structures—Maintenance of Equipment—Traffic, including superintendence,
outside agencies, advertising, salaries, 18-19.

Transportation, including wages, fuel, engine house, 20-23.

Miscellaneous—General, including pension allowances—Insuranece—Dining' and Sleeping
Car Service, 23-26.

Freight €ars:
Percentage of, serviceable, 1926, 1925, showing improvement, 3.
Repairs of, showing amount of increase in expenses account, 3.
Retirements of, showing decrease of amount, 3.

Freight Rates:
Rates charged for cattle, from Montreal, Quebec or St. John, 35.
Rate reduction voluntarily put on—Tendeney of freight rates has been downward, 36.
Decrq,gse gf 2f§eight rates on the Maritime division as per intent of legislation, con-
sidered, 23.
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Freight Receipts:
Ttem No. 101 showing totals for 1926 and 1925, 9.
Amount of revenue accrued on freight traffic originating west of the Lakes or Western
Region—American business—Central Region—Atlantic Region—Grand Trunk
Western Line—Duluth and Winnipeg—Central Vermont, 9-10, 18.

Freight Revenue, Payments, Etc., C.G.M.M.:
Bulk of freight charges is payable in advance—Total revenue—Total accounts Receiv-
able comprising Outstanding Freight, and Agents’ accounts—Might give a line of
credit to a large firm doing considerable business, 41-42.

Fuel: :
For yard and train loccmotives, decreases in operating expenses, 4.

Grain Elevators: | .
Item 139, showing revenues, 1926, 1925—Explanation given regarding revenue in

1926, 17.

Grain Traffic Revenue:
Revenue accrued from shipments of grain east and west bound, originating in the
Western Region, 18.
Increase of grain, and other rates in shipments from Canadian ports, 33.

Grand Trunk Western Division, C.N.R.:
Amount of revenue accrued including also amount of the D.W. & P., 10.

Increases and Decreases, Principal:
Various increases and decreases set forth in analysis of Operating Expenses accounts,

2, 3,4,5.

Insurance:
Policy of the C.N.R. Company regarding insurance, 24.
How Insurance fund of $8,049.,000 was built up, 24, 25.
Item including C.G.M.M. insurance fund in the Canadian National Railways fund,
explained, 24-26, 33-34.

Inter-Coastal Freights:
Explanation of, as between two points in Canada, also via Panama canal from Mari-

time ports to British Columbia ports, 40.

Interstate Commerce Commission:
Its system of accounting deseribed, requiring more detail in connection with deprecia-
tion for rolling stock equipment entries in Primary Aceount, 6.
Order from, in August, 1926, re revenue from the Wabash, 18.

Investments:
Insurance fund invested in Victory Bonds, Detroit and Shore Line Bonds, and Pontiac,

Oxford and Northern Bonds—Amount invested; 24._

Jenkins (M.P.), R. H.: 2
Questions relating to the Prince Edward Island division of the C.NR. and Sir Henry
Thornton’s answers thereto, 31-82. See also Appendix to Evidence, p. 45.

Leeomotives: :
Percentage of, serviceable in 1926, 1925, showing improvement—Steam Locomotive

Retirements account, showing amount of decrease, 3.

MacLaren (M.P.), M.:
Questions relating to the issuing of passes, and Sir Henry Thornton’s answers thereto,

29-30.

Maintenance of Way and Structures:
Primary accounts, number of, 1. g
Comparison of expenses, 1926, 1925, under this head as set out in the Analysis, 2-3.
Amount of increase for 1926 over that of 1925 due to ties, ballast, tracklaying and
surfacing, station and office buildings, and removing snow, sand and ice, 3, 18-19.
Decreases noted in roadway maintenance, bridges, trestles and culverts, shops and
engine houses, 3, 19.
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Maintenance of Equipment:
Primary accounts, number of, 1.
Comparison of expenses, 1926, 1925, under this head as set out in the Analysis, 2-3.
Increases and decreases of, set forth under primary accounts headings, 3.
Factors affecting maintenance of equipment expenses, 4, 19.

Maritime Division (Atlantic Region), C.N.R.:
Amount of revenue from traffic, ete., 10, 11.
Decrease in the freight rate that has been given to, 22-23.
How protection in respect to pensions is given to Intercolonial and Prince Edward
Island employees, 23-24.

‘Miscellaneous:
Primary accounts, number of, 1.
Comparison of expenses, 1926, 1925, 2-3, 5, 23.

New York Office, C.N.R.:
New office opened in 1925 on Fifth avenue—Amount of rental—What the object was
in opening this office in respect to transportation, immigration and colonization,
19-20.

Passenger Account:
Item 102, showing revenue, 1926, 1925, increase of about $1.400,000, 11.
Loss estimated on passenger traffic—No precise formula in allocating the expenses
charged against passenger traffic, 11. 2
Profitable, and unprofitable business in passenger service, considered, as between
suburban, local and transcontinental traffic, 11-12.

Passenger Rates:
It is admitted that passenger rates are now higher than they were before the war—

Quite irrespective of what passenger rates should be there is a limit beyond which
one cannot go, 13.

Passes:
Regulations governing the issuing of passes explained, 29-30.

Pensions and Pensioners:

Increase set out under main heading “ General ” practically entirely due to an increase
in Account No. 457—Pensions, 5.

Number of pensioners, 1925, 1926—Provident Fund of the Intercolonial and Prince
Edward Island Railway insufficient to meet current obligations—Amounts imple-
mented by company in 1926, 1925, 5.

Procedure followed in respect to pensions—A Bill will eventually be brought before
the House which will correct and simplify the whole of the Pension system—Pen-
sioners are protected although they are not on the pension roll, 23-24.

Prince Edward Island Railway:

Series of questions put by Mr. Jenkins, M.P., and answers thereto by Sir Henry Thorn-
ton, 31-32. See also appendix to the evidence at page 45.

Provident Fund, I.C.R. & P.E.I. Railways: Sec “Pensions and Pensioners.”

Pullman Cars:

Operated when running into the United States—Expect to take them off by the middle
of summer or early autumn—Procedure followed in keeping Pullman car accounts, 14.

Pullman Company Contract:
How earnings are divided in accordance with contract entered into—The 1916 contract
between the Grand Trunk Railway and the Pullman Company, 15.

Rails:

A larger program of rail relaying in 1926 was one of the factors which increased the
maintenance-of-way and structures expenses, 3.

Regions. Atlantic. Central and Western, C.N.R.: ‘ 5
Revenues of C.N.R. operations according to Atlantic, Central and Western Regions, 10.
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Repairs and Retirements:
Principal increases and decreases for repairs and retirements set forth in respect to freight
train cars, passenger cars, motor car equipment, steam locomotives and work equip-
ment, 3, 19.

Report of C.N.R. Company, Annual:
An analysis of the Annual Report of the Canadian National Railways Company, 1926,
comprising 140 primary expense accounts; also Revenue accounts, considered, 1-26.
Report adopted, 26.

Report of C.G.M.M., Limited, Annual:
A synopsis of the Annual Report of the Canadian Government Merchant Marine,
Limited, showing operating revenues and expenses for the year 1926, considered,
33-45.
Report adopted, 45.

Reports of the Committee:
First report recommending that leave be given the Committee to print their minutes
of proceedings and the evidence taken by them, xii.
Second report recommending that leave be given the Committee to sit while the House
is in session, Xil.
Third and Final report comprising list of names of persons who gave evidence, also
findings and recommendations of the Committee, xii—xiii.

Revenues, C.N.R. System:

Gross revenues for 1926, 1925, showing increase—Revenue of purely United States
business—Revenue of business that crosses the border, either from the United States
to Canada or from Canada to the United States, 8-9.

Freight receipts. 9-11.

Passenger receipts, 11-12.

Excess baggage receipts, 13.

Sleeping car receipts, 14. .

\Mail, express, other passenger trains, milk, receipts, 15.

Switching, Special service train, Other freight train. Water transfers—Passengers, Water
transfers—Vehicles and live stock, Dining and buffet, restaurant, station, Train and
boat privileges, parcel room, storage-freight, receipts, 16.

Storage-baggage, demurrage, telegraph and telephones, grain elevators, power, rents of
buildings and other property, miscellaneous ineluding Victoria bridge and Inter-
national bridge tolls, Joint facility—eredit, 17.

Joint facility—debit, 18.

Revenues, C.G.M.M., Limited:
Operating revenues increased by $1,115,000, 33.
Various factors given showing improvements, 33-41,
Total revenues, 1926, 1925, 42.
Proceeds from the sale of three vessels, 34.

Roadway Maintenance:
Decrease in expenses, 1926, $100,337, 2.
Expense involved in 1925 not recurring in 1926, 3.

Shops and Engine Houses:
Decrease in expense, 1926, $49.855.

Sleeping Cars: ;
Revenue of in 1828 as compared with that of 1925, showing increase—Present situation
of company re ownership of sleeping cars, 14, 15.

Snow, Sand and Ice, Removing:
Increase of expense for 1926, 2.
Weather conditions in the early months of 1926 on the Atlantic Region, cause of
increase, 3.

Station and Office Buildings:
Amount of increase in expense account, 2.
The increase in station and office building exnenses was caused by the necessity of
heavy repairs at Halifax, Winnipeg and Prince Rupert, 3.
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Strike, Impending: : :
Settled with the conductors and trainmen re wage increase which took effect on 1st
December, 1926—Negotiations now on in respect to all other classes, 20-22.

Strike in Great Britain, Coal Mines:
Obliged to bunker coal for round trip voyages, hence material additional expense, 33, 36.

Superintendence:
Amount of increase of expense, 3. -
Explanation of increase of expense re superintendence given, 19.

Telegraph and Telephones:
Amount of revenue, 1926, 1925, 17.

 Ties:
Amount of increase in expense for ties, 2.
Over one million more ties installed in 1926 than in 1925, 3.
Amount of increase also due to changes in price of materials, as well as quantity used, 3.

Tolls:
Increase of revenue under “ Miscellaneous” for 1926, partly due to an inecrease in the

Victoria bridge and International bridge tolls, 17,

Tonnage:
Number of tons of freight handled by the C.G.M.M. for export and import in 1926,

1925, 36.

Traffic:
Traffic expenses, 1926, 1925, 2, 4.
Ttems of expense in connection with traffic further considered, 19.
Traffic receipts considered, 9-12.

Tracklaying and Surfacing:
Amount of increase in expense for, 2. |
Increase of expense was due to installation of additional ties, 3, 19.

Transportation:
Number of primary accounts relating to, 1.
Expenses for 1926, 1925 shown in analysis, 2.
Statement of increases and decreases for various accounts under main head, 4.
Expenses further considered in evidence given, 20-23.

United States Business:
Gross revenue accrued from purely American business, 8.
Revenue accrued from international business having to cross the border, 9.
Estimated profit, 8.
Further details of American business considered, 9-10.

Vessels, Sale of :
P»art;iscul%rs of the sale of the Canadian Gunner, Canadian Harvester and Canadian
ettler, 34. :
Further particulars re sale of the Canadian Settler, 37-38.

Victory Bonds, Investments in: See “Investments”, 24.

Voyages, Uncompleted:
Item “ Balances of Uncompleted Voyages” explained, 41.

Wabash Section:
Change of accounting practice relative to this joint revenue account to conform with
order of the Interstate Commerce Commission. See pages 17-18 at Items 151, 152.

Wages, Employees’ Compensation:
Ttems set forth showing decrease or increase, 1926, 1925, 2, 4.

Wages re Transportation Expenses:
Increase $1,006,783 under item “Transportation” mostly absorbed in wages to train
enginemen, yardmasters and yard clerks, vard conductors and brakemen, yard

enginemen and trainmen, 20.

Wage Situation re Impending Strike: See “Strike, Impending”, 20-22.



17 GEGRGE V APPENDIX No. 2 A+ 1926-27

HOUSE OF COMMONS

SPECIAL COMMITTEES

OF THE

SENATE AND HOUSE OF COMMONS

MEETING IN JOINT SESSION

TO INQUIRE INTO THE CLAIMS OF THE ALLIED INDIAN TRIBES
OF BRITISH COLUMBIA, AS SET FORTH IN THEIR PETITION
SUBMITTED TO PARLIAMENT IN JUNE 1926

SESSION 1926-27

PROCEEDINGS, REPORTS AND THE EVIDENCE

Printed by Order of Parliament

OTTAWA
F. A. ACLAND
PRINTER TO THE KING'S MOST EXCELLENT MAJESTY
1927



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pace
Members of the Committee.............. e ST Tl R U iv
Ordirrol - Relerente o0 cnl S dioc san o s Rt s o slela ke S G v
Reports of the Committee. .......o.ovneiiiniiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiians, \4
Petition to Parliameht, dnne 928 e Bi et v e Xix
Minutes Off Proceediiia & it s Su s o el b v odnsiois oo o s XXV
Minutes of Evidence including papers and records submitteé in relation
FHETORD o i o e e e e 1-244

10 ooy 0 DaTa e 1o T s i ol e e v e e 245

42325 A}
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MEMBERS OF COMMITTEE FOR HOUSE OF COMMONS

Hay, Mr. F. WeLLINGTON, Chairman

and Messieurs

St‘ewa‘,rt, Hon. Charles (Edmon- Morin, L. S. R. (St. Hyacinthe-
ton West), Rouwille),

McPherson, E. A, Stevens, Hon. H. H.,

Bennett, Hon. R. B, Boys, W. A.

WALTER HILL,
Clerk of the Committee for the Commons.
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Hon. ITewrrr Bostock, Chairman
(Speaker of the Senate)

and Hon. Senators:
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Barnard, G. H., Taylor, J. D.,
Green, R. F., McLennan, J. S
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ORDER OF REFERENCE

House or COMMONS,
Otrawa, March 8, 1927.

Resolved,—That a Special Committee of this House consisting of Messrs.
Stewart (Edmonton West), Hay, McPherson, Morin (St. Hyacinthe-Rouville),
Stevens, Bennett, and Boys, be appointed to meet with a similar Special Com-
mittee of the Senate, if such Committee be appointed, to inquire into the claims
of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia as set forth in their petition sub-
mitted to Parliament in June, 1926; and that such Committee have power to
send for persons, papers and records, and to report from time to time by bill
or otherwise.

Attest.
ARTHUR BEAUCHESNE,

Clerk of the House.

TwaUrspAY, March 24, 1927.

Ordered,—That 500 copies in English and 200 copies in French of evidence
to be taken by the said Committee, and of papers and records to be incorpor-
ated with such evidence, be printed, and that Rule 74 be suspended in relation
thereto.

Attest.
ARTHUR BEAUCHESNE,

Clerk of the House.

TrurspAY, March 31, 1927.
Ordered,—That the said Committee have leave to sit while the House is
sitting.
Attest.
ARTHUR BEAUCHESNE,
Clerk of the House.

REPORTS OF THE COMMITTEES
FIRST REPORT
Tugespay, March 22, 1927.

The Special Committee appointed to inquire into the claims of the Allied
Indian tribes of British Columbia, beg leave to present the following as their
First. Report:—

Your Committee recommend that 500 copies in English and 200 copies in
French of evidence to be taken, and of papers and records to be incorporated
with such evidence, be printed, and that Rule 74 be suspended in relation
thereto.

All which is respectfully submitted.

B W, HAY,

Chairman.
Note—This Report was concurred in on 24th March. See Journals, p. 393.



vi SPECIAL COMMITTEE
SECOND AND FINAL REPORT

Monbpay, April 11, 1927.

The Special Committees of the Senate and House of Commons appointed
to inquire into the claims of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia, as
set forth in their Petition presented to Parliament in June, 1926, beg to submit
their Second and Final Report:—

The Committees convened on March 22nd, 1927, and held prolonged sittings
on March 30th, 1927, March 31st, 1927, April 4th, 1927, April 5th, 1927, and
April 6th, 1927, at which the following witnesses were examined:—

Mr. Duncan C. Scott, Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs;

W. E. Ditchburn, Indian Commissioner for British Columbia;

Mr. W. A. Found, Director of Fisheries;

Mr. John Chisholm, Assistant Deputy Minister of Justice;

Andrew Paull, Secretary of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia;

Chief John Chillihitza, of the Nicola Valley Indian Tribes of British
Columbia;

Rev. P. R. Kelly, Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Allied Indian
Tribes of British Columbia;

Chief Basil David, of the Bonaparte Indian Tribe of British Columbia.

In addition to the foregoing witnesses, there also appeared the following
Counsel who addressed the Committee on behalf of their respective clients,
viz:—

A. E. O'Meara, Counsel for the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia;

A. D. Mclntyre, Counsel for the Indian Tribes of the Interior of British
Columbia.

As Interpreters for Chief John Chillihitza and Chief Basil David, there were
also present:—
Mrs. Julian Williams and Mr. William Pierrish.

The evidence of the witnesses and the arguments of Counsel were taken
down in shorthand and printed from day to day. The printed reports of such
evidence and arguments also contain the documents and other material in writ-
ing that were submitted to your Committee by the witnesses and the Counsel
who appeared before it.

It is thought proper to refer to the manner in which the evidence given by
the Rev. P. R. Kelly, Mr. Andrew Paull, Chief Chillihitza and Chief Basil David,
the Indian witnesses was presented. The Chiefs spoke through their inter-
preters, who translated the Indian language into English in a competent way.
The evidence of Messrs. Kelly and Paull was given in idiomatic English, clearly
and forcibly expressed, and both the matter of their evidence and the manner
of presentation were highly acceptable to your Committee. Due praise should
be accorded them, and the Indian members of their organization can be assured
of the competent and thorough fashion in which they dealt with the case.

It may be informative to include here a brief historical retrospect which
will summarize the facts regarding the occupation of the country now known as
British Columbia.

On March 29th, 1778, the famous explorer Captain Cook with two ships
(the Resolution and the Discovery) arrived at Hope Bay near Nootka, which
place he made his headquarters and made repairs, and from which point he
explored the coast northward until he struck the Arctic ice. The next year
Captain Clerke who had accompanied Captain Cook returned to the coast from
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the Sandwich Islands where the vessels had wintered and continued the
explorations, again making Nootka his headquarters. During the next ten years
many ships visited the coast exploring and trading. In 1788 Captain John
Meares formed an extensive establishment at Nootka, and in 1799 two Spanish.
warships under Don Stephen Joseph Martinez appeared at Nootka and seized
Captain Meares’ buildings and settlement and ships, one of which named the
Northwest American was the first boat to be built on the Pacific Coast. As a
result of this action on the part of the Spaniards the British Government
demanded of Spain restitution of Nootka and the territory tributary thereto,
together with an indemnity for losses sustained. For a time Spain resisted this
demand and it appeared that war would be the result, but finally a settlement was
made by Articles of Convention of October 28th, 1790. The Articles of Convention
were to be given effect to at Nootka, and Spain despatched Don Juan Francisco
de la Bodega y Quadra while Britain entrusted her interest to Captain George
Vancouver with instructions that he should explore the coast and then go to
Nootka “to be put in possession of the buildings, districts or parcels of land
which were occupied by His Majesty’s subjects in the month of April, 1789,
agreeable to the first article of the late Convention.”. These two parties met
finally at Nootka but failed to agree as to the area that was to be delivered. Cap-
tain Vancouver insisted upon all of that area in which trading and exploration
had been carried on by the British, while the Spaniards desired to restrict the
area ceded to Nootka. During the following year Captain Vancouver continued
his explorations to Alaska and the following year concluded his survey of the
whole coast. Finally on March 28, 1795, the actual surrendering of the country
was made to.Lieut. Thomas Pierce of the Royal Marines by Brig.-General Alva
and Lieut. Cosme Bertodano. The whole area claimed by Captain Vancouver
was included in the transfer; which area included that territory later known as
the State of Washington and the whole coast of British Columbia northward to
the Alaskan boundary.

Two other explorers Simon Fraser and Alexander Mackenzie explored por-
tions of interior British Columbia approaching from east of the Rocky Moun-
tains. In each case these well known explorers mistook what was later called
the Fraser River for the upper reaches of the Columbia River, indicating that
it was considered at that early time that the British territory east of the moun-
tains extended through to the mouth of the Columbia River.

In 1846, the boundary line between Canada and the United States was fixed
at the 49th parallel by Great Britain and the United States after a period of
warm dispute. Prior to this the British had claimed the territory now known
as the States of Washington and Oregon, and it will be noted that these two
Governments at that time recognized that one or the other were in possession
of this area and by Treaty between the two countries fixed the boundary line.

Later a dispute arose as to whether or not San Juan Island was in British
territory or American. The British Government maintained their right to this
Island as evidenced by a despatch from Tord Russell to Lord Lyon, British
Minister at Washington, dated August 24th, 1859, in which he said:

Her Majesty’s Government must therefore under any circumstances
maintain the right of the British Crown to the Island of San Juan.

Again indicating that the land was viewed as belonging to the Crown. This
dispute was finally settled by reference to the Emperor of Germany for arbitra-
tion in favour of the United States on October 21st, 1872.

In 1858 Lord Lytton wrote Governor Douglas instructions regarding the
attitude of the British Government towards the Colony, and used the following
language:

You will keep steadily in view that it is the desire of this country
that representative institutions and self-government should prevail in
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British Columbia: . . . A party of Royal Engineers will be despatched
to the Colony immediately. It will devolve upon them to survey those
parts of the country which may be considered most suitable for settle-
ment, to mark out allotments of land for public purposes, ete.

Here again is evidence of the recognition of the lands as belonging to the Crown.
And the record shows that the land was surveyed and lots were later put on
sale.

It is claimed that no conquest had ever been made of the territory of
British Columbia. The historic records would seem to indicate that this is not
accurate. All the posts of the Hudson’s Bay Company were fortified and the
officers and servants of the Company were prepared to resist hostile attacks.
When a fort was established at Victoria a band of Cowichan Indians under
Chief Tzouhalen seized and slaughtered several animals belonging to the whites.
The official in charge, Roderick Finlayson, demanded payment for the animals,
which was peremptorily refused. In this action Chief Tzouhalen was upheld
by Chief Tsilatchach of the Songhees and the Indians attacked the fort, but
were easily over-awed by artillery and later approached the fort to sue for
peace. The historic records contain numerous other like references. The fort
just mentioned was established at Vietoria in 1848, and in 1849 Vancouver was
made a Crown Colony. British Columbia (the mainland and Queen Charlotte
Islands) was made a Crown Colony in 1858, and the two colonies were united
in 1866. British Columbia entered Confederation on the 20th July, 1871.

The Report of your Committee on the proceedings may now be resumed.

At the outset it was made evident that the Indians were not in agreement
as to the nature of their claims. For instance, the representatives of the Indian
Tribes in the interior of British Columbia did not make any claim to any land
of the Province based on an oboriginal title. The representatives of the Allied
Indian tribes, on the other hand, practically rested their whole case upon an
alleged aboriginal title through which they claimed about 251,000 square miles
out of a total area of approximately 355,855 square miles in the Province of
British Columbia. This latter point, for the sake of convenience, should be
first dealt with, as its elimination will leave for consideration only matters in
regard to which the Indians of British Columbia may be said to have a common
interest.

Early in the proceedings it developed that the aboriginal title claimed was
first presented as a legal claim against the Crown about fifteen years ago. The
claim then began to take form as one which should be satisfied by a treaty or
agreement, with the Indians in which conditions and terms put forward by them
or on their behalf must be considered and agreed upon before a cession of the
alleged title would be granted. Tradition forms so large a part of Indian men-
tality that if in pre-Confederation days the Indians considered they had an
aboriginal title to the lands of the Province, there would have been tribal records
of such being transmitted from father to son, either by word of mouth or in
some other customary way. But nothing of the kind was shown to exist. On
the contrary the evidence of Mr. Kelly goes to confirm the view that the Indians
were consenting parties to the whole policy of the government both as to reserves
and other benefits which they accepted for years without demur. (See page
224 for Mr. Kelly’s evidence, also the dispatch of Mr. Pearse at page 227 to be
found in full in a dispatch dated 21st October, 1868,.from B. W. Pearse to the
Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works in the Sessional paper of British
Columbia 1876, 39 Vic. page 212-13). The fact was admitted that it was not
until about fifteen years ago that aboriginal title was first put forward as a
formal legal claim by those who ever since have made it a bone of contention
and by some a source of livelihood as well.

The Committee note with regret the existence of agitation, not only in
British Columbia, but with Indians in other parts of the Dominion, which
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agitation may be called mischievous, by which the Indians are deceived and led
to expect benefits from claims more or less fictitious. Such agitation, often carried
on by designing white men, is to be deplored, and should be discountenanced, as
the Government of the country is at all times ready to protect the interests of
the Indians and to redress real grievances where such are shown to exist.
Counsel representing the Allied Indian Tribes continued to press the
aboriginal title claim upon the attention of successive Governments, and although
the Government was willing to litigate the claim, Counsel for the Indians sought
permission to take the matter direct to the Imperial Privy Council, instead of
first submitting it for judicial decision to the Courts of Canada. This the Gov-
ernment very properly declined to do; but at the same time it made a generous
offer to the Indians, the details of which are embodied in an Order in Council
passed on June 20th, 1914. The full text of this Order in Council was as
follows:—
P.C. /751

Privy Council

Canada

Certified Copy of a Report of the Committee of the Privy Council, approved
by His Royal Highness the Governor General on the 20th June, 1914.

The Committee of the Privy Council have had before them a Report from
the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, dated 11th March, 1914, sub-
mitting the accompanying memorandum from the Deputy Superintendent
General of Indian Affairs upon the Indian claim to the lands of the Province of
British Columbia, in which he concurs.

The Committee, on the recommendation of the Superintendent General of
Indian Affairs, advise that the claim be referred to the Exchequer Court of Canada
with the right of appeal to the Privy Council under the following conditions:—

1. The Indians of British Columbia shall, by their Chiefs or representatives,
in a binding way, agree, if the Court, or on appeal, the Privy Council,
decides that they have a title to lands of the Province to surrender such
title receiving from the Dominion benefits to be granted for extinguish-
ment of title in accordance with past usage of the Crown in satisfying
the Indian claim to unsurrendered territories, and to accept the finding
of the Royal Commission on Indian Affairs in British Columbia as
approved by the Governments of the Dominion and the Province as
a full allotment of Reserve lands to be administered for their benefit
as part of the compensation.

2. That the Province of British Columbia by granting the said reserves as
appreved shall be held to have satisfied all claims of the Indians against
the Province. That the remaining considerations shall be provided
?Jnd tile cost thereof borne by the Government of the Dominion of

anada.

3. That the Government of British Columbia shall be represented by
counsel, that the Indians shall’be represented by counsel nominated
and paid by the Dominion.

4. That, in the event of the Court or the Privy Council deciding that the
Indians have no title in the lands of the Province of British Columbia,
the policy of the Dominion towards the Indians shall be governed by
consideration of their interests and future development.

All which is respectfully submitted for approval.

RODOLPHE BOUDREATU,
Clerk of the Privy Council.
The Honourable

The Superintendent General
of Indian Affairs.
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Instead of accepting the offer thus made by the Government, it was rejected
and Counsel for the Indians kept up a correspondence on irrelevant issues with
the then Minister of Justice until the latter gentleman ended the controversy
with the following letter:

Ortawa, 14th November, 1914.

The Reverend ArrHUR E. O'MEARA, BAA,,
Prince George Hotel,
Toronto, Ont.

Sir: It is in my view unnecessary to correct the narrative of your
letter of the 26th ultimo, because except in the two points which I am
going to mention it is immaterial to any question now under considera-
tion.

As to your remark that it has always been the view of those advising
the Nishgas that the only feasible method of securing a judicial deter-
mination of the rights of the Indians of British Columbia is that of bring-
ing their claims directly before His Majesty’s Privy Council, I wish you
would realize and endeavour to convince those whom you describe as
advising the Nishgas that this Government has no power or authority
to refer a question directly to His Majesty’s Privy Council; that the
only constitutional method of obtaining the judicial view of His Majesty
in Council relating to a question limited to the internal affairs of Canada
is by appeal from the local tribunals, and that His Royal Highness’
Government is determined for these reasons, which have been so often
explained to you and those whom you profess to represent, not to advise
or concur in any proceedings looking to a decision in which the courts
of the Dominion shall not have an opportunity to express their views.
If, therefore, it be possible for me to make any statement here which
can consistently with the amenities of official correspondence, impress
you with the futility of urging upon this government a reference direct
to the Judicial Committee, I beg of you to consider that statement
incorporated in this letter.

The policy of the Government with regard to the British Columbia
Indian question is very clearly stated in the Order in Council of 20th
June last, and you should, I think, be able to perceive that one of the
conditions upon which further progress may be made is that the Indians
shall come under the obligation defined by the first enumeration of the
Order in Council. You state that the Order in Council has been brought
before the Nishgas Indians, and that they will, as soon as possible, place
their answer before the Government. So far it is well, but when you
say that it is clearly necessary that before the Nishgas answer they
should be advised regarding the procedure of the courts, and demand
to be informed under the authority of what enactment and for what
reasons a reference to the ExdhequerCourt is proposed, I may I trust
be permitted to observe that the essential question for consideration of
the Nishgas is as to whether, if their alleged title be upheld by the
ultimate tribunal, they are willing to surrender that title in consideration
of benefits to be granted in extinguishment according to the ancient
usage of the Crown. I think it would be a pity that this question should
be obscured or involved in the difficulties which you have encountered
about the procedure, and whick the Indians presumably would be no
better able to understand. Therefore, without making any further
attempt to explain the procedure which perhaps could not succeed within
the compass of an ordinary letter, I suggest that the Indians should be
permitted to consider the question in which they are really interested
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as submitted by the Order in Council. It is unlikely I should think that
the Indians would concern themselves with procedure. They have I
imagine sufficient discernment to perceive, if their deliberations be not
influenced to the contrary, that a question of procedure is at present
quite irrelevant; but if necessary you may unhesitatingly assure them
that no point of procedure will be permitted to prejudice a decision upon
the merits of the case, and that the Government will see to it that the
procecdings are brought and conducted in such a manner as to provide
fdr the admission of all the facts and arguments which are material to
the controversy.

May I be allowed to add that in view of what I have stated I do
ngt propose to consider the procedure until it is ascertained that the
Idﬁians have acquiesced in the conditions of the Order in Council which

| are preliminary to any procedure.

} I have the honour to be,
! Sir,
Your obedient servant,

(Sed.) C. J. DoHFERTY,
Minister of Justice.

The Indians did not acquiesce in the conditions of the Order in Council as
the Right Honourable C. J. Doherty informed their Counsel in the above letter
they would have to do before he would move farther in the matter. Con-
sequently, there was no further action on the part of the Dominion Government.

A change of tactics was adopted in June, 1926. In that month a Petition
embodying the Indian claims, based on aboriginal title, was presented to Parlia-
ment. he session then in progress terminated abruptly and action on the
Petition was not taken until the present session, when the Petition in question
was referred to your Committee for enquiry and report.

Having given full and careful consideration to all that was adduced before
your Committee, it is the unanimous opinion of the members thereof that the
petitioners have not established any claim to the lands of British Columbia
based on aboriginal or other title, and that the position taken by the Government
in Vi914,,as evidenced by the Order in Council and Mr. Doherty’s letter above
quoted, afforded the Indians full opportunity to put their claim to the test. As
they have declined to do so, it is the further opinion of your Committee that
the matter should now be regarded as finally closed.

While making this declaration the Committee wish to state that they are
impressed by the fact that the Indians of British Columbia receive benefits
which are in excess of those granted by Treaty to Indians in other parts of
Canada. Comparison of these expenditures will be found in the statements
made by the Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs at pages 15-17
of the printed evidence. It is clear that they are not discriminated against;
that reserves have been set aside for them sufficient for their needs, and that
the obligation for Indians assumed by the Dominion when British Columbia
entered Confederation has been generously fulfilled. In considering the extent
of this bounty the Committee could not fail to notice from facts submitted that
it had exceeded the benefits which appertain to Indian treaties, and that if a
treaty had been made, the compensation would have been in comparison much
less than the generous expenditures now made on behalf of the Indians in British
Columbia, which amounted to $690,683 in 1925-26.

As it was the desire of your Committee to give the very fullest and most
sympathetic consideration to all the claims of the Indians and to' give them
every opportunity te state any existing hardships or disabilities under which
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they suffered as residents of the province owing to their native blood, all
branches of the subject were dealt with, and by questioning the witnesses and
eliciting information from departmental officers, the Committee came into pos-
session of a mass of interesting facts in connection with the various'subjects
under review. The Indians, in claiming aboriginal title, had given to the pro-
vincial government under date of November 12th, 1919, an exhaustive statement
of the case, and set forth “ conditions proposed as a basis of settlement.” It is
thought to be highly desirable that your Committee should review these claims
and inform Parliament of the extent to which the conditions are at present
being met, and to make recommendations that would tend to meet the conditions
proposed, where they are not already provided for.. It is thought well to deal
with these conditions under each sub-head in sequence as shown at page 36 of the
Proceedings, and to make such remarks as are relevant:

(1) That the Proclamation issued by King George III in the year
1763 and the Report presented by the Minister of Justice in the year
1875 be accepted by the two Governments and established as the main
basis of all dealings and all adjustments of Indian land rights and other
rights which shall be made.

The subject matter of the foregoing paragraph has already been dealt
with by your Committee in their Finding contained in the recommendation
hereinbefore made, and further comment thereon is, therefore, unnecessary.

(2) That it be conceded that each Tribe for whose use and benefit
land is set aside (under Article 13 of the ‘Terms of Union’) acquires there-
by a full, permanent and beneficial title to the land so set aside together
with all natural resources pertaining thereto; and that Section 127 of the
Land Act of British Columbia be amended accordingly.

(6) That adequate additional lands be set aside and that to this end
a per capita standard of 160 acres of average agricultural land having in
case of lands situated within the dry belt a supply of water sufficient for
irrigation, be established. By the word “standard,” we mean not a hard
and fast rule, but a general estimate to be used as a guide, and to be
applied in a reasonable way to the actual requirements of each tribe.

(6) That in sections of the Province in case of which the character
of available land and the conditions prevailing make it impossible or
undesirable to carry out fully or at all that standard, the Indian Tribes
concerned be compensated for such deficiency by grazing lands, by
timber lands, by hunting lands or otherwise, as the particular character
and conditions of each such section may require.

(7) That all existing inequalities in respect to both acreage and
value between lands set aside for the various Tribes be adjusted.

(8) That for the purpose of enabling the two Governments to set
aside adequate additional lands and. adjust all inequalities there be
established a system of obtaining lands including compulsory purchase,
similar to that which is being carried out by the Land Settlement Board
of British Columbia.

It may be stated at once that the reserves as set apart under Article 13 of
the “Terms of Union” and allotted in the report of the Royval Commission on
Indian Affairs for the Province of British Columbia, and confirmed by both gov-
ernments, are held by the Dominion in trust for the full and permanent beneficial
interest of the Indians, and all such natural resources pertaining thereto as are
the property of the Indians. Tt is interesting to note the progressive steps which
have been taken by the two interested governments in the settlement of the claims
of the Indians for reserve lands. Such reserves as were set apart before Con-
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federation were granted by the Colonial Government. After Confederation, the
lands reserved were set apart by a Joint Reserve Commission, and later by a
single ‘Commissioner, and the reserves so set apart were scheduled by the prov-
ince and appropriated as Indian reserves. As it was desirable to further and
complete this work, and to allot reserves in territories which were becoming
settled and in which it might be difficult later to get suitable lands for Indians,
the two governments made an agreement known as the McKenna-MecBride
agreement, and later formed a Royal Commission on Indian Affairs for the
Province of British Columbia; the duty of the Commission being to review and
revise the whole reserve situation, to provicde new reserves, and to have the power
of disallowing reserve lands not required for Indian use, but in such cases pre-
serving one moiety of the Indian interests. By this arrangement when final con-
firmation of the reserves was made, any provincial interests would disappear and
the Dominion, in trust for the Indians, would have the full use and benefit of
these reserves. The Commissioners visited all parts of the Province, and every-
where and at all times the Indians gave evidence as to their requirements, and
it is clear that the Commissioners endeavoured to meet the wishes of the Indians
wherever it was possible to do so and to give them adequate reserves.

After the report had been received by both governments, two competent
officers of the governments were delegated to make a further examination into
the needs of the Indians, and representative Indians were appointed to confer
with these officers and to make further representations. This action was com-
pleted and the report of the Commission and a schedule of reserves was adopted
and confirmed by both governments under the statutory provisions of Chap. 51,
1920. It is apparent that the average of agricultural land set up by the proposed
conditions of settlement is not applicable te British Columbia, where the Indians
generally cannot derive their subsistence from agriculture. The allotment of
reserves, of which there are 1,573 in the province, preserves to the Indians in a
remarkable degree their old fishing stations and camping grounds, and the action
of the Commissioners was evidently extended to preserving Indian rights in
traditional locations which the Indians had enjoyed in the early days.

»
(3) That all existing reserves not now as parts of the Railway Belt
or otherwise held by Canada be conveyed to Canada for the use and
benefit of the various Tribes. .

This work is now in progress, and without delay the reserves confirmed by
both Governments will be conveyed by the province to the Dominion.

(4) That all foreshores whether tidal or inland be included in the
reserves with which they are connected, so that the various Tribes shall
have full permanent and beneficial title to such foreshores.

The Indians have riparian rights on all reserves on tidal waters. The owner-
ship of the foreshore being in the province, the Superintendent General of Indian
Affairs endeavoured to obtain some concessions on behalf of the Indians in this
regard. The Prime Minister of British Columbia under date of April 23, 1924,
stated as follows:

The Honourable
The Superintendent General of Indian Affairs,
Ottawa.

Dear Sir,—Referring to our conversation of yesterday and having
reference to the fears expressed by the Indians that where their reserves
fronted on the water, access to their lands might be interfered with by
construction of wharfs, docks, booms or other obstructions erected or
placed along any foreshore on account of ownership of such foreshore
being in the Province, as I expressed myself yesterday, I would favour a
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policy treating the Indians on exactly the same footing as I would treat
the whites, and would if necessary advise the Government of the Province
to give the Indian Department a written assurance to that effect. *I am,
however, of the opinion that no such assurance is necessary, as I think
the principle of Riparian Rights would apply to any Indian reserves
having water frontage to the same extent as Riparian Rights would apply
to the same lands were such lands subject to the private ownership of any
person other than an Indian. In other words, Riparian Rights would
accrue to the Indians (through the Indian Department) to the same extent
as they would apply to a white owner. I should be pleased if you would
obtain the advice of your legal Department on this phase of the situation.
I am,
Yours faithfully,

(Signed) JOHN OLIVER.

(9) That if the Governments and the Allied Tribes should not be
able to agree upon a standard of lands to be reserved that matter and all
other matters relating to lands to be reserved which cannot be adjusted in
pursuance of the preceding conditions and by conference between the two
governments and the Allied Tribes be referred to the Secretary of State
for the Colonies to be finally decided by that Minister in view of our
land rights conceded by the two Governments in accordance with our
first condition and in pursuance of the provisions of Article 13 of the
“Terms of Union” by such method of procedure as shall be decided by
the Parliament of Canada.

It would appear to be a sufficient answer to this condition to state that
under the provisions of Article 13 of the “ Terms of Union” a reference to the
Secretary of State for the Colonies was only to be resorted to if the two govern-
ments failed to agree. They have agreed under statutory authority and the
allotment of reserves is therefore concluded.

(10) That the beneficial ownership %f all reserves shall belong to
the Tribe for whose use and benefit they are set aside.

When the reserves are conveyed by the Province to the Dominion, which
procedure is now in progress, they shall belong to the Indian Bands for which
they are set apart. Tribal ownership is not recognized unless by desire of the
Bands comprising the Tribe. If any such case arises due consideration will
be given to all the surrounding circumstances.

(11) That a system of individual title to occupation of particular
parts of reserved lands be established and brought into operation and
administered by each Tribe.

Provision is already made in the Indian Act for the issue of location tickets
which are equivalent to a title in fee simple. Indians of British Columbia are
at liberty to take advantage of this provision at any time.

(12) That all sales, leases andother dispositions of land or timber
or other natural resources be made by the Government of Canada as
trustee for the Tribe with the consent of the Tribe and that of all who
may have rights of occupation affected, and that the proceeds be disposed
of in such a way and used from time to time for such particular purposes
as shall be agreed upon between the Government of Canada and the
Tribe together with all those having rights of occupation.

Apart from the emphasis which seems to be placed upon tribal ownership
in this paragraph, it merely contains a statement of what 1s now the procedure
of the Department as provided by statute.
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(13) That the fishing rights, hunting rights and water rights of the
Indian Tribes be fully adjusted. Cur land rights having first been
established by concession or decision we are willing that our general
rights shall after full conference between the two Governments and the
Tribes be adjusted by enactment of the Parliament of Canada.

Your Committee heard evidence on the disabilities of the Indians of
British Columbia arising from restrictive regulations regarding fishing, hunt-
ing and the use of water for irrigation purposes. The Indian Commissioner
for British Columbia and the Director of Fisheries, of the Department of
Marine and Fisheries, were heard on this subject. The fishing industry is a
most important one in the life of the Indians, and at least one-third of the
fishermen engaged in the commercial fisheries are Indians and a large number
of Indian women are employed in the canneries. The chief complaint was
against the restriction to take fish for food purposes, and in this matter the
sympathies of the Committee are with the Indians; at the same time the neces-
sity of preserving by adequate regulations the fisheries is paramount. By
co-operation between the Department of Indian Affairs and the Department of
Marine and Fisheries grievances have gradually disappeared and we would
commend to the Government the desirability of having as close co-operation as
possible not only between these two Departments, but between all the Depart-
ments of the Dominion Public Service that have to deal with problems affecting
Indians or Indian reserves, and that in all cases an extremely sympathetic
and liberal view of the Indian situation should influence regulations and their
enforcement as against Indians. The amelioration of local difficulties must
be worked out by local officers, and we are convinced of the importance of
leniency in the enforcement of the regulations that might, if rigidly enforced,
work hardship and even suffering upon Indians.

It must be recognized that Indians have had from the earliest times, special
interest in hunting, and that in those regions where their subsistence is obtained
from the hunt they should receive every consideration. It is clearly to the
benefit of the Indians that there should be strict regulations to conserve the
fur-bearing animals, and the Provincial regulations appear to have that in
view. It is the duty of the Department of Indian Affairs to see that any privi-
leges or rights which the Indians have under these regulations are taken advan-
tage of to the fullest degree. In this connection it is noted that the Provineial
authorities do not exact any license fee from Indians for hunting or trapping,
and like exemption of Indians in so far as commercial fishing licenses is con-
cerned might be considered favourably by the Department of Marine and
Fisheries.

Water for irrigation, where this is a necessity for successful agriculture, is
a matter of the utmost importance in certain districts of British Columbia.
These affairs are regulated by the Province, and the Indians are on the same
footing as ordinary citizens in the allotment of the available water. In the
endeavour to obtain water records, the Department of Indian Affairs has been
insistent in advocating the claims of thé! Indians to sufficient water for their
reserve lands, and .where success has not followed, it has been owing to the
insufficiency of water for all claimants or from some inherent flaw in the original
records. The number of cases of the latter class is, however, very small. We
would recommend that the Department of Indian Affairs continue to give the
most careful attention to the development of irrigation systems on the reserves
so that the water may be utilized to the fullest extent, and we commend co-
operation between the Department and the Water Powers Branch of the De-
partment of the Interior.

(14) That in connection with the adjustment of our fishing rights
the matter of the international treaty recently entered into which very
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seriously conflicts with those rights, be adjusted. We do not at present
discuss the matter of fishing for commercial purposes. However, that
matter may stand. We claim that we have a clear aboriginal right to
take salmon for food. That right the Indian Tribes have continuously
exercised from time immemorial. Long before the Dominion of Canada
came into existence that right was guaranteed by Imperial enactment, the
Royal Proclamation issued in the year 1763. We claim that under that
Proclamation and another Imperial enactment, Section 109 of the British
North America Act, the meaning and effect of which were explained by
the Minister of Justice in the words set out above, all power held by the
Parliament of Canada for regulating the fisheries of British Columbia
is subject to our right of fishing. We therefore claim that the regulations
contained in the treaty cannot be made applicable to the Indian Tribes,
and that any attempt to enforce those regulations against the Indian
Tribes is unlawful, being a breach of the two Imperial enactments men-
tioned.

The privilege of taking salmon for food purpeses has been dealt with under
heading No. 13. As there is no international treaty in existence between the
Dominion and the United States, further reply to this clause seems unnecessary.

(15) That compensation be made in respect of the following par-
ticular matters.

1. Inequalities of acreage or value or both that may be agreed
to by any Tribe.

2. Inferior quality of reserved lands that may be agreed to by
any Tribe.

3. Location of reserved lands other than that required agreed
to by any Tribe.

4. Damages caused to the timber or other natural resources of
any reserved lands as for example by mining or smelting operations.

5. All moneys expended by any Tribe in any way in connection
with the Indian land controversy and the adjustment of all matters
outstanding.

Of the sub-heads of this section, Nos. 1, 2 and 3 have been dealt with.
No. 4, re damages to timber and other natural resources: Claims have been
made and compensation received in such cases, and as other cases arise, they
should be dealt with in a like manner. No. 5: As the expenditure of moneys
by Indians in connection with their alleged land claims have been undertaken
without the authority or control of the government, the request should not
be complied with.

(16) That general compensation for land to be surrendered be
made:

1. By establishing and maintaining an adequate system of
education, including both' day ! schools and residential industrial
schools, ete. : ;

2. By establishing and maintaining an adequate system of
medical aid and hospitals.

Regarding Sub-head No. 1: There is already in existence throughout the
province a system of education for Indians. There are at present 16 resi-
dential schools and 42 day schools in operation in the province. The enrol-
ment in residential schools is 1,506 and in day schools 1,309. The residential
schools are conducted under an arrangement with the Churches interested in
Indian education. They are financed by payment of a Government per capita
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grant. The Department reserves the privilege of approving the more im-
portant appointments to the staffs of these institutions and has in effect a
thorough and efficient system of inspection. Tuition is academic and voca-
tional. In addition to the scholastic studies girls are taught domestic science
and boys are given manual and technical education that will fit them to meet
the conditions of life in the respective sections of the province to which they
belong. In the opinion of the Committee it is desirable that this system should
be maintained and extended and that residential and day schools be gradually
established in districts not already provided for; that the tuition should tend
to emphasize the industrial side; and that individual Indians should be given
opportunities to develop natural aptitudes. Arrangements should also be made
to enable Indians of pronounced ability, who wish to qualify for the professions
or fit themselves for positions in the industrial fields, to pursue the necessary
studies in institutions of higher learning, each case to be considered on its
merits.

Regarding Sub-head No. 2: There is already a system of medical aid and
hospitals throughout the province, and we note that one large item of expendi-
ture made on behalf of the Indians is for this very purpose, the expenditure for
the last fiscal year being $102,000. It seems to your Committee that this item of
expenditure might be developed and that as Parliament provides funds for the
purpose, hospitals should be established, particularly for the treatment of tuber-
cular Indians or for the fullest use of such hospitals established for the citizens
of the province. Special efforts should at all times be made—and it is as much
in the interest of the white citizens as of the Indians,—to diminish the incidence
of tuberculosis and other diseases that are communicable. Where necessary,
hospitals for the treatment of general diseases should be established, and by the
employment of nurses and field matrons, the Indian women should be instructed
in the care of children, and as required, the medical staff should be enlarged.

(17) That all compensations provided for by the two preceding
paragraphs and all other compensation claimed by any Tribe so far as
may be found necessary, be dealt with by enactment of the Parliament of
Canada and be determined and administered in accordance with such
enactment.

The Parliament of Canada has power to legislate for Indians and Indian
reserves, and no doubt will, as occasion requires, exercise that power.

(18) That all restrictions contained in the Land Act and other
Statutes of the Province be removed.

By the confirmation of the Report of the Royal Commission on Indian
Affairs the restrictions of the Land Act have been removed, and as it was not
shown that other statutes of the Province of British Columbia were oppressive or
had not been enacted in the interests of the Indians, your Committee does not
consider it proper to make any reference in this regard.

(19) That the Indian Act be revised and that all amendments of
that Act required for carrying into full effect these conditions of settle-
ment dealing with the matter of citizenship, and adjusting all outstand-
ing matters relating to the administration of Indian Affairs in British
Columbia be made.

Parliament will no doubt revise and amend the Indian Act from time to
time in the interests of the Indians as often as found necessary.
42325—B | ‘
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(20) That all moneys already expended and to be expended by the
Allied Tribes in connection with the Indian land controversy and the
adjustment of all matters ontstanding be provided by the Governments.

Your Committee cannot recommend the appropriation of any public funds
for this purpose, but rather that parliamentary appropriations, if and when made,
should be to further the progress and civilization of the Indians themselves.

In addition to the paragraphs already dealt with, the Indians had made
certain additional claims before the Deputy Superintendent General in Victoria
in 1923, and these may now be dealt with seriatim:—

MOTHERS AND WwIDOWS' PENSIONS WERE ASKED FOR AS EFFECTIVE IN BRITISH
COLUMBIA FOR WHITE WOMEN

Parliament provides funds for sustaining indigent or destitute Indians in
British Columbia and applications from Indians who require assistance in this
way should be made through the Indian Agents to the Department.

CASH COMPENSATION FOR ANNTUITIES SIMILAR TO TREATY ANNUITIES

It may be remarked with reference to the payment of annuities that the
policy for the payment of annual sums to individual Indians was inaugurated
in the early days, having in view the then condition of the Indians, and that the
annuity might be a source of revenue for their support, but conditions have
changed so materially that the need and usefulness of such a per capita payment
to Indians of British Columbia is negligible. In lieu of an annuity your Com-
miltee would recommend that a sum of $100,000 should be expended annually
for the purposes already recommended, that is, technical education, provision of
hospitals and medical attendance, and in the promotion of agriculture, stock-
raising and fruit culture, and in the development of irrigation projects. An
annual expenditure of this amount for these purposes would seem to be far more
applicable to the Indians in their present condition than the payment of any
per capita amount.

In concluding this Report your Committee would recommend that the
decision arrived at should be made known as completely as possible to the
Indians of British Columbia by direction of the Superintendent General of
Indian Affairs in order that they may become aware of the finality of the
findings and advised that no funds should be contributed by them to continue
further presentation of a claim which has now been disallowed. Furthermore,
the Committee recommend that this report together with the evidence, be printed
as an appendix to the journals of the House, and also in blue book form to the
number of one thousand (1,000) copies and that Rule 74 relating thereto be
suspended.

All which is respectfully submitted.

HEWITT BOSTOCK,
Chairman, Senate Committee.

E. A. McPHERSON,
Acting Chairman, Commons Committee.

Nore—This Report was concurred in on April 12. See Journals, p. 527.
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ADDENDA

Your Committee begs to report that after all evidence had been received,
the expected letter referred to by Mr. Andrew Paull at pages 96 and 97 of the
printed evidence was laid before the Committee. The text of the letter follows,
and it will be observed that the diary of Father Fouquet, while it mentions the
meeting referred to, does not disclose that any promises were made by the

Governor:—
St. MARrY’s Mission, Jan. 3, 1923.

DEar Pavrn,—FExcuse me of my delay on answering to your letter of
Nov. the 16th. 1 looked over our old papers. 1 am sorry to say that I
could not find anything that would help the Indian cause. Rev. Father
Fouquet mentioned an Indian meeting on the 24th of May, 1864, when
several Indian chiefs made some speeches to the new Governor at New
Westminster. The Governor answered to them. DBut unfortunately
Father never mentioned what has been said in that circumstance, when
4,000 Indians were gathered headed by 60 Indian chiefs. Look please in
New Westminster archives of 1864. You may find some information; if
those papers have not been destroyed by the big fire.

I hope Dear Paul that the year 1923 will successfully terminate that
long struggle about the Indian rights. 1 enclose here an almanack and
wish to you and your family a good and happy year.

PETITION TO PARLIAMENT, JUNE, 1926

The Petition of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia humbly
showeth as follows:

1. This Petition is presented on behalf of the Allied Indian Tribes of
British Columbia by Peter R. Kelly, Chairman duly authorized by resolution
unanimously adopted by the Executive Committee of allied Tribes on 19th
December, 1925.

2. When British Columbia entered Confederation Section 109 of the British
North America Act was made applicable to all public lands with certain specific
exceptions. By virtue of the application of this Section it was enacted that
public lands belonging to the Colony of British Columbia should belong to the
new Province. By virtue of the application of the same Section as explained
by the Minister of Justice in January, 1875, all territorial land rights claimed
by the Indian Tribes of the Province were preserved and it was enacted that
such rights should be an “interest” in the public lands of the Province. The
Indian Tribes of British Columbia claim actual beneficial ownership of their
territories, but do not claim absclute ownership in the sense of ownership
excluding any title of the Crown. It is recognized by the allied Tribes that
there is in respect of all the public lands of the Province an underlying title
of the Crown, which title at least for present purposes it is not thought necessary
to define.

3. In order to make clear what is meant by an “interest” the Petitioners
quote the following words of Lord Watson to be found in the Indian Claims
Case—L. R. 1897 A. C. at page 210:— An interest other than that of the
Province in the same appears to them to denote some right or interest in a
third party independent of and capable of being vindicated in competition with
the beneficial interest of the old Province.”

4. The position taken by the allied Tribes was placed before Parliament
by means of Petition presented to the House of Commons on 23rd March, 1920,
and read in the House of Commons and recorded on 26th March, 1920 (Hansard
p. 825) and Petition presented to the Senate on 9th June, 1920, to all contents
of which two Petitions the Petitioners beg leave to refer.
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5. In the month of August, 1910, Sir Wilfrid Laurier, having been advised
by the Department of Justice that the Indian land controversy should be
judicially decided, met the Indian Tribes of Northern British Columbia at
Prince Rupert and speaking on behalf of Canada said—“I think the only way
to settle this question that you have agitated for years is by a decision of the
Judicial Committee, and I will take steps to help you.”

6. By agreement which was entered into by the late Mr. J. A. J. McKenna,
Special Commissioner on behalf of the Dominion of Canada and the late
Premier Sir Richard McBride on behalf of the Province of British Columbia
in the month of September, 1912, and before the end of that year was adopted
by both Governments, it was stipulated that by means of a Joint Commission
to be appointed, lands should be added to Indian Reserves and lands should
be cut off from Indian Reserves. By that agreement it was provided that the
carrying out of its stipulations should be a “final adjustment of all matters
relating to Indian affairs in the Province of British Columbia.”

7. On the 30th day of June, 1916, the Royal Commission on Indian Affairs
for the Province of British Columbia appointed in pursuance of the agreement
above mentioned issued Report which was placed in the hands of both Gov-
ernments.

8. In the month of September, 1916, the Duke of Connaught, acting as
His Majesty’s Representative in Canada and in response to letter which had
been addressed to him on behalf of the Nishga Tribes and the Interior Tribes,
gave assurances communicated by His Secretary to the General Counsel of
allied Tribes in the following words:—

“His Royal Highness has interviewed the Honourable Dr. Roche with
reference to your letter of the 29th May and your interview with me and I
am commanded by His Royal Highness to state that he considers it is the duty
of the Nishga Tribe of Indians to await the decision of the Commission, after
which, if they do not agree to the conditions set forth by that Commission, they
can appeal to the Privy Council in England, when their case will have every
consideration. As their contentions will be duly considered by the Privy
Council in the event of the Indians being dissatisfied with the decision of the
Commission, His Royal Highness is not prepared to interfere in the matter
at present and he hopes that you will advise the Indians to await the decision
of this Commission.” :

9. The allied Tribes have always been and still are unwilling to be bound
by the agreement above mentioned and have always been and still are unwilling
to accept as final settlement the findings contained in the Report of the Royal
Commission.

10. In the year 1920 the Parliament of Canada enacted the law known as
Bill 13 being Chapter 51 of the Statutes of that year authorizing the Governor-
General in Council to carry out the agreement above mentioned by adopting the
Report of the Royal Commission. From the preamble and the enacting words
the professed purpose of the Bill appeared to be that of effecting settlement by
actually adjusting all matters.

11. In course of debate regarding Bill 13 had in the Senate on 2nd June, 1920,
Sir James Lougheed, leader of the then Government in the Senate, answering
remarks of Senator Bostock by which was expressed the fear that if the Bill
should become law the Indians might “ be entirely put out of Court and be unable
to proceed on any question of title,” gave the following assurance (Debates of
Senate—1920 p. 475 col. 2) :—

“I might say further, honourable gentlemen, that we do not propose to
exclude the claims of Indians. It will be manifest to every honourable gentle-
man that if the Indians have claims anterior to Confederation or anterior to the
creation of the two Crown Colonies in the Province of British Columbia they
could be adjusted or settled by the Imperial Authorities. Those claims are still
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valid. If the claim be a valid one which is being advanced by this gentleman
and those associated with him as to the Indian Tribes of British Columbia being
entitled to the whole of the lands in British Columbia this Government cannot
disturb that claim. That dlaim can still be asserted in the future.”

12. Upon occasion of interview had with the Executive Committee and the
General Counsel of allied Tribes at Vancouver on 27th July, 1923, the Minister
of Interior speaking on behalf of the (Government of Canada conceded that the
allied Tribes are entitled to secure judicial decision of the Indian land controversy
and gave assurance that the Dominion of Canada would help them in securing
such decision.

13. By Order in Council passed in the month of August, 1923, the Govern-
ment of the Province of British Columbia adopted the Report of the Royal
Commission.

14. By Memorandum which was presented to the Government of Canada
on 29th February, 1924, the allied Tribes opposed the passing of Order in Council
of the Government of Canada adopting the Report of the Royal Commission
upon the ground, among other grounds, that, no matter whatever relating to
Indian affairs in British Columbia having been fully adjusted and important
matters such as foreshore rights, fishing rights and water rights not having been
to any extent adjusted, the professed purpose of the Agreement and the Act had
not, been accomplished.

15. By Order in Council passed on 19th July, 1924, the Government of
Canada, acting under Chapter 51 of the Statutes of the year 1920 and upon
recommendation of the Minister of Interior adopted the Report of the Royal
Commission.

16. From the Memorandum issued by the Deputy Minister of Justice on
29th February, 1924, answering questions which had been submitted by the
allied Tribes to the Government of Canada, the Order-in-Council passed on
19th July 1914 and the Memorandum issued by the Deputy Minister of Indian
Affairs on 9th August, 1924, it clearly appears as is submitted that both the
Department of Justice and the Department of Indian Affairs regard the Statute
Chapter 51 of the year 1920 as intended, not for bringing about an actual adjust-
ment of all matters relating to Indian affairs, but for the purpose of bringing
about a legislative adjustment of all such matters and thus effecting final settle-
ment under the laws of Canada without the concurrence or consent of the Indian
Tribes of British Columbia.

17. The allied Tribes submit that, so far as Section 2 being the main enact-
ment of Chapter 51 may be interpreted as being intended for accomplishing the
purpose above mentioned and thus bringing to an end all the aboriginal rights
claimed by the Indian Tribes of British Columbia, that enactment is in conflict
with the provisions of the British North America Act.

18. On the 15th January 1925 the Executive Committee of the allied Tribes
unanimously adopted the following resolution:

“In view of the fact that the two Governments have passed Orders-in-
Council confirming the Report of the Royal Commission on Indian Affairs, we
the Executive Committee of the allied Tribes of British Columbia are more than
ever determined to take such action as may be necessary in order that the
Indian Tribes of British Columbia may receive justice and are furthermore
determined to establish the rights claimed by them by a judicial decision of His
Majesty’s Privy Council.”

19. In the course of debate had in the House of Commons on the 26th June
1925 the Minister of Interior speaking on behalf of the Government of Canada
in answer to the representations which had been made on behalf of the allied
Tribes recognized that the allied Tribes are entitled to obtain from His Majesty’s
Privy Council decision of the Indian land controversy and agreed that the Gov-
ernment would give authoritative sanction for doing so.
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20. With regard to the remark then made by the Minister that the Govern-
ment would not be justified in providing funds unless “ something very concrete ”
should be presented, the allied Tribes submit that they have already presented
“ something very concrete ”, namely their own conditions proposed for equitabie
settlement by their Statement presented te the Government of British Columbia
in response to request of that Government in the month of December 1919, and
subsequently presented to the Government, of Canada.

21. With regard to the general subject of the funds which as the allied Tribes
claim the Dominion of Canada is under the obligation of providing, the allied
Tribes have placed in the hands of the Superintendent-General of Indian Affairs
the following Memorial:

Tue Avviep Inpian TriBes oF BritisH COLUMBIA TO THE SUPERINTENDENT
GENERAL OF INDIAN AFFAIRS

By this Memorial of the allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia it is
respectfully submitted as follows:

The allied Tribes submit that the Dominion of Canada is under obligation
for providing all funds already expended and all funds requiring hereafter to be
expended by the allied Tribes in dealing with the Indian land controversy, in
establishing the rights of the allied Tribes, and in bringing about final adjust-
ment of all matters relating to Indian affairs in British Columbia.

The allied Tribes so submit upon grounds briefly stated as follows:

1. Well established precedent relating to judicial proceedings intended for
establishing the rights of Indian Tribes and in particular that of the Oka case,
which was carried independently to the Judicial Committee of His Majesty’s
Privy Council by the Indians interested and of which the total cost was pro-
vided by the Parliament of Canada.

2. The fact that the Dominion of Canada being by virtue of the British
North America Act and the “Terms of Union” Trustee for the Indian Tribes of
British Columbia and under all obligations arising from such trusteeship has
by entering into the compact with British Columbia above mentioned rendered
itself incompetent for taking effective action establishing the rights of the
Indian Tribes of British Columbia, as is clearly shown by the Opinion of the
Minister of Justice issued in the month of December 1913, and moreover has
put itself in the position of a party in the case upholding the contentions of the
Province of British Columbia, and by the acts so stated has placed upon the
Indian Tribes the absolute necessity of proceeding independently for establish-
ing their rights. .

3. The principle of compensation in respect of all aboriginal land and other
rights of the Indian Tribes of British Columbia, responsibility for which has
already been conceded by the Dominion of Canada, and of which as the allied
Tribes submit the first item consists of the full expenditure required for
establishing such rights of the Indian Tribes and bringing about adjustment
of all matters now requiring to be adjusted.

4. The assurances which on behalf of the Dominion of Canada have from
time to time been given to the Indian Tribes of British Columbia and in
particular that of Sir Wilfrid Laurier and those of the present Minister of
Interior.

5. The lands and funds held by the Dominion of Canada in trust for the
allied Tribes and being the full beneficial property of the allied Tribes.

Therefore the Allied Tribes now formally demand from the Dominion of
Canada payment of the sum of one hundred thousand dollars, being the total
amount of such expenditure already incurred, and further demand from the
Dominion of Canada that full provision be made for paying all additional
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funds which hereafter shall be required for such expenditure, as shall be agreed
upon between the allied Tribes and the Dominion of Canada or if necessary
shall be determined by the Judicial Committee of His Majesty’s Privy Council.

Dated at the City of Ottawa the June, 1926.

Chairman of Executive Committee of Allied Tribes.

To Honourable CHARLES STEWART,
Superintendent-General of Indian Affairs,
Ottawa.

22. The government of Canada having definitely agreed as is above shown
that the Dominion of Canada will facilitate securing from the Judicial Com-
mittee of His Majesty’s Privy Council decision of the Indians land controversy,
the General Counsel of allied Tribes entered upon discussion with the Minister
of Justice regarding the particular method by which the securing of such
decision will be facilitated, and offered to suggest for consideration of the
Minister of Justice common ground which might be reached by the Government
of Canada and the allied Tribes in connection with the carrying forward of
the independent judicial proceedings of the allied Tribes.

23. In presenting this Petition to the Parliament of Canada as the
Supreme Body representing the Dominion of Canada the allied Tribes declare
that, while it is necessary for them to demand what they consider to be their
rights from both the Province of British Columbia and the Dominion of Canada
and even to contest the validity of an Act of the Parliament of Canada, they
desire and intend to act towards all Ministers of the Crown, all Members 01 both
Houses of Parliament and all others concerned in a thoroughly reasonable and
conciliatory way and that their one central objective is, by securing judicial
decision of all issues involved, to open the way for bringing about an equitable
and moderate settlement satisfactory to the Governments as well as to them-
selves.

Therefore the Petitioners humbly pray:—

1. That by amendment of Chapter 51 of the Statutes of the year 1920
or otherwise the assurance set ouf in paragraph 11 of this Petition be made
effective and the aboriginal rights of the Indian Tribes of British Columbia
be safeguarded.

2. That steps be taken for defining and settling between the allied Indian
Tribes and the Dominion of Canada all issues requiring to be decided between
the Indian Tribes of British Columbia on the one hand and the Government of
British Columbia and the Government of Canada on the other hand.

3. That immediate steps be taken for facilitating the independent proceed-
ings of the allied Tribes and enabling them by securing reference ‘of the Petition
now in His Majesty’s Privy Council and such other independent judicial action
as shall be found necessary to secure judgment of the Judicial Committee of
His Majesty’s Privy Council deciding all issues involved.

4. That this Petition and all related matters be referred to a Special
Committee for full consideration.

Dated at the City of Ottawa, the 10th day of June, 1926.

Peter R. Kelly,
Chairman of Executive Committee of Allied Tribes.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

Turspay, March 22, 1927.
The Committee met at 11 a.m.
Present—Messrs. Hon. Mr. Stewart (Edmonton West), Hay, McPherson,
Morin (St. Hyacinthe-Rouville).
On motion of Hon. Mr. Stewart:
Resolved.—That Mr. Hay he Chairman of the Committee.
The Order of Reference upon being read was considered.

On motion of Mr. McPherson:

Resolved.-—That the committee do report and recommend that 500 copies in
English and 200 copies in French of evidence to be taken, and of papers and
records to be incorporated with such evidence be printed, and that Rule 74 be
suspended in relation thereto.

On motion of Mr. McPherson:

Ordered.—That Messrs. Andrew Paull, A. E. O’'Meara, Rev. P. R. Kelly,
W. E. Ditchburn and Chief Chillihitza be summoned to appear at next meeting
of Committee.

In attendance.—Duncan C. Scott, Deputy Superintendent of Indian Affairs.
Committee adjourned to call of Chair,

WEDNESDAY, 30th March, 1927.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Special Committee appointed to
inquire into the claims of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia as set
forth in their petition to Parliament in June, 1926, met this day at 11 a.m. in joint
session with a like Committee of the Senate.

Present:

Senate—The Hopourable Mr. Bostock, Chairman; the Honourable Mes-
sieurs Barnard, Belcourt, Green, McLennan, Murphy and Taylor, 7.

House of Commons.—The Honourable Charles Stewart, Messieurs McPher-
son, Morin (St. Iyacinthe-Rouville), the Honourable H. H. Stevens and the
Honourable R. B. Bennett, 5.

The question of procedure and future meetings was discussed behind closed
doors.

The Committee having come to order, Mr. D. C. Scott, Deputy Superin-
tendent General of Indian Affairs, was called as a witness.

Mr. Andrew Paull, secretary, executive committee of the Allied Indian
Tribes of British Columbia, was sworn.

Mr. Warwick Beament, Barrister-at-law, Ottawa, Ontario, Indian counsel
for the petitioners, was heard.

At 1 p.m. the committee adjourned until to-morrow at 10 a.m.
42325-C 8
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TaURrspAY, 31st March, 1927.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Special Committee appointed to
inquire into the claims of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia as set
forth in their petition to Parliament in June, 1926, met this day at 10 o’clock,
a.m. in joint session with a like Committee of the Senate.

Present:

Senate—The Honourable Mr. Bostock, Chairman. The Honourable
Messieurs: Barnard, Belcourt, Green, McLennan, Murphy and Taylor, 7.

House of Commons—The Honourable Charles Stewart, Messieurs: Hay,
McPherson, Morin (St. Hyacinthe-Rouville), The Honourable H. H. Stevens
and the Honourable R. B. Bennett, 6.

The question of the witnesses to be examined was discussed behind closed
doors.

The doors being opened, Mr. Warwick Beament, Barrister-at-law, Ottawa,
Ontario, appeared as counsel for the petitioners, and filed two documents
(Exhibits 1 and 2) as to the authority of Mr. A. E. O’Meara to represent the
Allied Indian Tribes.

Mr. A. D. MclIntyre informed the Committee that he was appearing on
behalf of certain Indian Tribes located in the interior of British Columbia.

Mr. O’'Meara and Mr. McIntyre were requested to file a list of the Indian
Tribes they represent.

Mr. Andrew Paull, a witness already sworn, was recalled.

Mr. A. E. O'Meara, counsel for the petitioners, read a statement, which
was filed (Exhibit 3).

Mr. Andrew Paull, was again recalled.

At 1.00 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until Monday, the 4th April,
1927, at 10.00 o’clock a.m.

Monpay, 4th April, 1927.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Special Committee appointed to
inquire into the claims of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia as set
forth in their petition to Parliament in June, 1926, met this day at 10 o’clock
a.m. in joint session with a like Committee of the Senate.

Present:

Senate: The Honourable Mr. Bostock, Chairman, The Honourable Messieurs:
Barnard, McLennan, Murphy and Taylor, 5.

House of Commons: The Honourable Charles Stewart, Messieurs: Hay,
MecPherson, and the Honourable H. H. Stevens, 4.

Mr. Andrew Paull was again recalled. (Exhibit No. 4. list of Indian Tribes,
filed). :

Mr. A. D. Maclntyre, representing interior tribes of British Columbia, was
heard. (Exhibit No. 5, list of Indian Tribes, filed).

Mrs. Julian Williams, a member of the Tompson tribe of Indians, was
sworn as an interpreter.



CLAIMS OF THE ALLIED INDIAN TRIBES, B.C. XXVil

Chief Johnny Chillihitza, of the Tompson Tribe, Nicola Valley, British
Columbia, was sworn and was heard through an interpreter.

Chief Basil David, of the Cariboo Tribe, Brltleh Columbia, was sworn and
was heard through an 1nterpreter

William Pierrish, of the Schuswap Tribe, was sworn as interpreter.
At 1 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until 8.30 o’clock p.m.
At 3.45 o’clock p.m. the Committee resumed.

Rev. P. R. Kelly, Chairman of the Executive Committee of Allied Tribes
of British Columbia, was sworn and was heard.

Mr. Andrew Paull was again heard.

At 6.10 o’clock p.m. the Committee adjourned until 10 o’clock a.m. to-morrow.

Turspay, April 5th, 1927.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Special Committee appointed to
inquire into the claims of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia as set
forth in their petition to-Parliament in June, 1926, met this day at 10 o'clock,
a.n., in joint session with a like Committee of the Senate.

Present of the Senate:—

Hon. Senator Bostock, Chairman,
The Honourable Messieurs Green, Murphy, Taylor, McLennan—5.

Of the House of Commons:—

Hon. Chas. Stewart, Hon. H. H. Stevens, Messieurs F. W. Hay, A. E.
MecPherson, L. S. R. Morin (St. Hyacinthe-Rouville)—5.

Rev. P. R. Kelly, recalled. Filed copy of the Hudson Bay Company’s
Treaty with certain Indians in British Columbia. (Retired) (Exhibit No. 6.)

Mr. A. E. Ditechburn, Commissioner of Indian Affairs in British Columbia,
called, sworn and examined. (Retired.)

Mr. Found, Department of Marine and Fisheries, called sworn and
examined. (Retired.)

On motion of Mr. A. E. McPherson, it was ordered that Chief Basil David,
William Pierrish, and Mrs. Williams be paid their expenses for attendance before
the Committee, at 12.45 p.m.

The Committee adjourned until to-morrow, Wednesday, April 6th, 1927.

WEeEDNESDAY, April 6, 1927.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Special Committee appointed to
inquire into the claims of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia as set
forth in their petition to Parliament in June, 1926, met this day at 10 o’clock a.m,
in joint session with a like Committee of the Senate.

Present for the Senate: The Honourable Mr. Bostock, Chairman; the Hon-
ourable Messieurs Barnard, Green, Belcourt, McLennan, Murphy—®6.
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For the House of Commons: Hon. Chas. Stewart (Edmonton West), Hon.
H. H. Stevens, A. E. McPherson, L. S. K. Morin (St. Hyacinthe-Rouville), F. W.
Hay—5.

In attendance: Mr. Chisholm, Department of Justice.

Mr. A. E. O’Meara, counsel for the Allied Indian Tribes of B.C., was heard,
and produced a number of documents,

Mr. Kelly (Recalled) Filed Exhibits No. 7 and 8.

Mr. John Chisholm (Department of Justice) was heard.

Mr. A. D. MacIntyre filed exhibit No. 9.

The committee adjourned till 10 a.m., Thursday, April 7th, 1927.

Moxpay, April 11, 1927.

Pursuant to adjournment and notice the Special Committee appointed to
inquire into the claims of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia as set
forth in their petition to Parliament in June, 1926, met this day at 10 o’clock
aam. in joint session with a like Committee of the Senate, with closed doors.

Present.:

Senate:—The Honourable Mr. Bostock, Chairman; The Honourable
Messieurs: Barnard, McLennan, Green and Murphy.—(5).

House of Commons:—The Honourable Charles Stewart, The Honourable
H. H. Stevens and Mr. McPherson.—(3).

Mr. D. C. Scott and Mr. W. E. Ditchburn were in attendance.
A draft report was submitted, discussed and adopted with certain additions.

On motion of Mr. McPherson it was resolved to report recommending that
the evidence and report be printed as an appendix to the Journals, and also in
blue book form to the number of 1,000 copies.

(For Report, see Votes and Proceedings for'AApril 11, 1927).
The committee then adjourned.



MINUTES OF EVIDENCE

CommirteE Room 368,
WepNESpAY, March 30, 1927.

The Joint Special Committee appointed to inquire into the claims of the
Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia, as set forth in their petition submitted
to Parliament in June, 1926, met at 11 o’clock, a.m., Hon. Mr. Bostock, presiding.

The Caamman: Gentlemen, we have a quorum of the two Committees
present, and I propose that we get down to business. I am sorry that Mr. Hay,
the Chairman of the House of Commons Committee, is not able to be here.

I would suggest that before we actually commence the business of the Com-
mittees, we should hold a meeting with closed doors, to decide on the course of
procedure. ;

~ The Committee then met in camera.

The CuamrMAN: These two committees are sitting together, for the pur-
pose of hearing evidence, and making their report. I understand, the House of
Commons Committee have arranged for certain evidence to be presented this
morning. It is getting towards the end of the session, and it is a question of how
ve can arrange this meeting so as to put through the matter in question as
quickly as possible. Of course, I must remind the Hon. members of the Senate,
that the Senate meets now on Friday morning, at eleven o’clock. I do not know
just what to suggest.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourr: We are going to be very busy.

The Cramvan: We could probably meet at ter o’clock, if that will suit
the gentlemen of the Senate. Would it be possible for us to meet tomorrow
morning at ten o’clock.

Hon. Mr. STEwaRT: Yes, as far as we are concerned.

The CuamrmaN: The question comes up as to how we are to proceed in
this matter. We have present Mr. O’Meara, Dr. Scott, Rev. P. R. Kelly, Andrew
Paull, and several other gentlemen.

Hon. Mr. MurpHY: Are those witnesses summonsed for this morning?

The CuAmRMAN: I understand Mr. O’Meara is to appear as counsel. I
presume the right way would be to allow the Indians to present their case, first.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: I have a suggestion I should like to make in that
regard; I might say I have been fairly familiar with this controversy ever
since Mr. O’Meara took it up in 1910. I think the Committee would get a
better grasp of the situation if we had Dr. Scott before us, first, and let him
give us the background of the whole business. You will then get, in a short
time, a grasp of the general situation. Then, we can have Mr. O’Meara.

Hon. Mr. Bercourr: What authority has Mr. O'Meara to speak for any-
body? If he has no authority, I, for one, do not propose to listen to him.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: If we heard Dr. Scott, the Committee could then judge
how to narrow it down to a proper basis.

Hon. Mr. BenNerT: Dr. Scott has told me the story, and I agree with
what Mr. Stevens says.

Hon. Mr. Stewarr: We ask that the brief to be presented by Dr. Scott be
printed.

Hon. Mr. Murpry: What about Mr. Stevens’ suggestion? Are we not to

have Dr. Scott and get to work.
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The CHARMAN: I understand that is agreeable to the Committee. I
understand that Mr. Stevens proposes that Dr. Scott come now, without the other
witnesses being present.

Hon. Mr. StewaArT: May I say that Mr. O’Meara has been summonsed
as a witness. So far as the Department is concerned, there is no objection to
his acting as solicitor for the Allied Tribes. I think it is important that he
should also appear as a witness, so that he may be questioned.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourt: We cannot prevent him from being here; he will
insist upon being here.

0 Hon. Mr. Stewarr: It is a question of whether the Committee can question
im.

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: He cannot be asked to disclose any information he

has received as solicitor.

Hon. Mr. BELcourt: He can disclose his. authority.

Hon. Mr. MurpHY: If he is here as a witness, the Committee can examine
him, ;

Hon. Mr. Bex~erT: Let us get Dr. Scott in.

The CHAmRMAN: Is it your pleasure that Dr. Scott should be heard first?

Hon. MEmBERS: Agreed.

The Committee then resumed in open session.

The CralRMAN: We had better have the minutes of the last meeting.

Hon. Mr. Bennerr: It is agreed that the minutes be taken as read and
confirmed.

The Cuamrman: We have decided, Dr. Scott, that we would like to hear
what you have to say, first of all.

Mr. Axprew PaurL: Hon. Mr. Chairman, may I be allowed to say a
word before Dr. Scott proceeds? I am the Secretary of the Executive Com-
mittee of the Allied Tribes in British Columbia, and on their behalf, I take this
privilege of thanking the Government, and previous Governments, for having
arrived at this stage of this troublesome question. Now, the purpose of my
arising is to say that I have been instructed to ask that all proceedings before
this Committee be reported in book form, and that the Indians be supplied
with that record. I also wish to ask if this Committee has invited representa-
tives of the Province of British Columbia to appear before this Committee. If
they have refused, we wish to have their refusal recorded in the records.

The CHAIRMAN: At the present time, I understand the Committee has
decided to have a record taken of all the proceedings, and to have a certain
number of copies printed. These are for the use of the members of the House
of Commons, and the Senate. It will be for the Committee, later, to decide
whether the record can be used by others as well.

Copies of these telegrams have been handed to me. (Reading):

Victoria, B.C., Mar. 17, 1927.
Hon. CHARLES STEWART,

Minister of the Interior,
Ottawa, Ont.

Replying to your wire this date re Indian lands this Government
relies on Section 109 of B.N.A. Act and upon paragraphs ten and thirteen
of “Terms of Union” and will not be represented before Committee
named.

JoHN OLIVER,
Premier.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,

OTrawa, March 18, 1927.
Honourable Joun OLIVER,
Premier of British Columbia,
Victoria.

Your wire seventeenth. Note your province will not be represented
before Committee of House enquiring into Indian Lands petition.

CHARLES STEWART.
I think that answers Mr. Paull’s question.

We will now call on Dr. Scott.

Dr. Duncax C. Scorr: Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, I have prepared a
memorandum on the subject, and an historical sketch, giving the different steps
that have occurred since this matter eame up before the Government many
years ago; accompanied by appendices which I think will be of use to the
Committee, and informative.

During the course of the memorandum, I express my own views on the
subject, perhaps rather emphatically, once in a while.

Hon. Mr. Ben~err: Could you, for the use of the Committee, give us a
concise statement to enable us to know what the whole thing is about, in your
own words, and as short as possible. .

Dr. Scorr: I have made my memorandum as short as possible, and if I
may be permitted to read my memorandum I think it would be more succinct.
(Reading) :

“REPORT ON THE BRITISH COLUMBIA INDIAN QUESTION

Sir,—I have the honour to submit a memorandum on the relations between
the Dominion Government and the Indians of British Columbia. An aboriginal
title to the provineial lands has been since Confederation claimed for the Indians
of the province, and has been presented in different forms and by various methods
to His Majesty’s Privy Council, to the Dominion Parliament, and to the Domin-
ion and Provincial Governments. It is not my intention to deal with the legal
questions involved, but to present the facts as clearly as possible and to make
such recommendations as appear to be appropriate.

No cession of the aboriginal title claimed by the Indians over the lands of
the Province of British Columbia has ever been sought or obtained.  In this
respect, the position is the same as in Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, New
Brunswick, Quebec and the Yukon. The total area of the province is approxi-
mately 355,855 square miles. Of this area, 104,400 square miles lie within the
boundaries of a larger area of 329,400 square miles, covered by an Agreement
known as Treaty No. 8, whereby the aboriginal title was ceded to the Crown,
and 358 square miles, part of Vancouver Island was ceded by the Indians to
James Douglas, Governor of the Hudson’s Bay Company. Subtracting these
areas from the area of the province, 251,097 square miles remain. The Indians
have not ceded any aboriginal title to this part of the province; they claim that
the title is theirs, and that they should be compensated therefor.

The statement of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia made to the
Provincial Government’ on the 12th November, 1919, in the pamphlet hereto
attached, sets forth fully the claims and nature of the expected compensation
for the purchase.

The Proclamation of 1763, which is referred to by the advisers of the
British Columbia Indians as a basis of their aboriginal title to the lands of the
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province, was issued after the conquest of Canada, to establish His Majesty’s
government in the newly conquered territory. By subsequent Acts of the
Imperial Parliament, the Proclamation was repealed, the courts were set up,
and a system of government was gradually developed.

The Proclamation states that it is issued for the purpose of establishing a
government in the “extensive and valuable acquisitions in America” secured
by the Treaty of Paris. The French made no claim to any portion of the
present province of British Columbia. In 1793, thirty years after the date of
the Proclamation, Vancouver landed on the island now known by his name,
and in 1794 McKenzie made his overland journey to the coast. In 1843 the
Hudson’s Bay Company established a post on the site of the present city of
Victoria, and in 1849 Vancouver was made a Crown colony. British Columbia
(the mainland and Queen Charlotte Islands) was made a Crown colony in 1858,
and the two colonies were united in 1866. British Columbia entered Confedera-
tion on the 20th July, 1871.

The “ Terms of the Union ” between British Columbia and the Dominion are
set forth in the Imperial Order in Council of the 16th May, 1871. The 13th
clause of the terms establishes the relations between the two governments and
the Indians.

In order to understand the bearing of this clause, it is necessary to state a
few of the facts with reference to the entrance of British Columbia into Con-
federation. ' The 146th section of the British North America Act provides for the
inclusion in the Union of other North American colonies. Amongst those men-
toned is British Columbia. Mr. Anthony Musgrave had been appointed Governor
of British Columbia for the express purpose of conciliating the different factions
in the colony and of promoting its best interests. He was appointed on the
17th June, 1869, and on the 14th August, Earl Granville, the Secretary of State
for the Colonies, addressed to him a despatch, No. 84, in the latter part of which
he touched upon the Indian question as follows:—

It will not escape you that in acquainting you with the general
views of the Government, I have avoided all matters of detail, on which
the wishes of the people and the Legislature will of course be declared
in due time. I think it necessary however to observe that the Constitu-
tion of British Columbia will oblige the Governor to enter personally
upon many questions, as the condition of Indian tribes and the future
position of Government servants with which, in the case of a negotiation
between two responsible governments, he would not be bound to concern
himself.

Preliminaries to Union were actively taken up by both the Colony and the
Dominion, and in 1870 we find Governor Musgrave writing to the Governor
General of Canada as follows:—

GoVERNMENT HOUSE,
British Columbia, 20th February, 1870.

Sir,—I have the honour to forward to Your Excellency a copy of
the Message with which I caused the Legislative Council to be opened
on the 15th instant, and of a Resolution which the Government will
introduce, embodying the terms on which it is proposed to join the
Dominion of Canada.

9. In Lord Granville’s despatch, No. 84, of the 14th August, which
was communicated to Your Excellency, he mentioned the condition of
the Indian Tribes as among some questions upon which the Constitution
of British Columbia will oblige the Governor to enter personally. I have,
purposely, omitted any reference to this subject in the terms proposed
to the Legislative Council. Any arrangement which may be regarded

(Mr. Duncan C. Secott.]
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as proper by Her Majesty’s Government, can, I think best be settled
by the Secretatry of State, or by me, under his direction with the
Government of Canada. But ‘Indians’ and ¢Lands reserved for
Indians,” form the twenty-fourth of the classes of subjects named in the
71st Section of the Union, which are expressly reserved to the Legisla-
tive authority of the Parliament of the Dominion.

I have, ete,,
(Signed) A. MUSGRAVE.

His Excellency, Sir John Young, G.C.B., G.C.M.G., etc.

This explains why we do not find any reference tc Indians in the original
Union resolutions of the British Columbia Legislature.

The consideration which was given the Indian question resulted in the 13th
Clause of the “ Terms of Union ”;

13. The charge of the Indians and the trusteeship and management
of the lands reserved for their use and benefit, shall be assumed by the
Dominion Government, and a policy as liberal as that hitherto pursued
by the British Columbia Government, shall be continued by the
Dominion Government after the Union. Teo carry out such policy, tracts
-of land of such extent, as it has hitherto been the practice of the British
Columbia Government to appropriate for that purpose shall from time
to time be conveyed by the Local Government to the Dominion Govern-
ment in trust for the use and benefit of the Indians, on application of
the Dominion Government, and in case of disagreement between the
two Governments respecting the quantity of such tracts of land to be
so granted, the matter shall be referred for the decision of the Secretary
of State for the Colonies.

By the Dominion Parliament and the Government of British Columbia
this was considered a satisfactory division of responsibility for the Indians,
and the Imperial Government acquiesced. The “ Terms of the Union” were
approved by Order of Her Majesty in Council on the 16th May, 1871.

The Governor of the Colony, acting under the powers of His Commission,
the Dominion Government, and the Imperial authorities agreed on Clause 13
of the Terms of the Union, which embodied the Indian policy of the Govern-
ment. of the Colony. That policy was set forth by the Honourable J. W.
Trutch in a memorandum to Governor Musgrave, which was transmitted by
him to Earl Granville, the Secretary of State for the Colonies, under date of
the 29th January, 1870. Mr. Trutch’s memorandum, from which the follow-
ing words are an extract, was prepared to refute the allegations made against
the Indian administration of the Colonial Government by Mr. W. S. Green:—

The Indians have, in fact, been held to be the special wards of the
Crown, and in the exercise of this guardianship Government has, in all
cases where it has been desirable for the interests of the Indians, set
apart such portions of the Crown lands as were deemed proportionate
to, and amply sufficient for, the requirements of each tribe; and these
Indian Reserves are held by Government, in trust, for the exclusive
use and benefit of the Indians resident thereon.

But the title of the Indians in the fee of the public lands, or of
any portion thereof, has never been acknowledged by Government, but,
on the contrary, is distinctly denied. In no case has any special agree-
ment been made with any of the tribes of the Mainland for the extinction
of their claims of possession; but these claims have been held to have
been fully satisfied by securing to each tribe, as the progress of the
settlement of the country seemed to require, the use of sufficient tracts
of land for their wants for agricultural and pastoral purposes.
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The Indian policy of the Colonial Government was again referred to by
the Honourable Mr. Trutch, after his appointment as first Lieutenant Governor
of the Province, in a letter addressed to Sir John Macdonald on October 14,
1872, of which this is an extract:—

We have in British Columbia a population of Indians numbering
from 40,000 to 50,000, by far the larger portion of whom are utter
savages living along the coast, frequently committing murder and robbery
among themselves, one tribe upon another, and on white people who go
amongst them for purposes of trade, and only restrained from more out-
rageous crime by being always treated with firmness, and by the con-
sistent enforcement of the law amongst them to which end we have often
to call in aid the services of H.M. ships on the station. I cannot see
how the charge of these Indians can be entrusted to one having no
experience among them nor do I think it likely that the assistance of the
Navy would be willingly and effectively given to any subordinate officer
of the Government. Without further descanting on the matter however
I may tell you that I am of opinion, and that very strongly, that for some
time to come at least the general charge and direction of all Indian
affairs in B.C. should be vested in the Lt. Governor, if there is no con-
stitutional objection to such arrangement, and that instead of one there
should be three Indian Agents, one for Vancouver Island, one for the
Northwest Coast and the third for the interior of the mainland of the
province, which latter gentleman might very properly be a Roman
Catholic as the Indians in this section are for the most part under the
influence of missionaries of that persuasion. Then as to Indian policy
I am fully satisfied that for the present the wisest course would be to
continue the system which has prevailed hitherto only providing increased
means for educating the Indians and generally improving their condition
moral and physical.

The Canadian system as I understand it will hardly work here.
We have never bought out any Indian claims to lands, nor do they expect
we should, but we reserve for their use and benefit from time to time
tracts of sufficient extent to fulfill all their reasonable requirements for
cultivation or grazing. If you now commence to buy out Indian title
to the lands of B.C. you would go back of all that has been done here
for 30 years past and would be equitably bound to compensate the tribes
who inhabited the districts now settled farmed by white people equally
with those in the more remote and uncultivated portions. Our Indians
are sufficiently satisfied and had better be left alone as far as a new
system towards them is concerned only give us the means of educating
them by teachers employed directly by the Government as well as by
aiding the efforts of the missionaries now working among them.

I have given these extracts to prove the Colonial policy as to the general
treatment of the natives and particularly as to the aboriginal title. It should
be kept constantly in mind when one is considering this question, the point of
view was not altered when provincial status was reached, and it is now as
firmly fixed as it ever was.

The harmony between the Governments apparent from this definition of
responsibility for Indians was not shared by the Indians themselves. They
had complained constantly of the insufficiency of land allotments for reserves,
and rather indefinitely as to the necessity for an acknowledgment of the Indian
title. From the year 1875 until the present time there has been a definite claim,
growing in clearness as years went by, gradually developing into an organized
plan, to compel the Provincial and Dominion Governments, either or both, to
acknowledge an aboriginal title and to give compensation for it. The record of
these actions, which I shall attempt to trace as briefly as possible, will show
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the Provincial Government ever constant in the stand that there is no Indian
title in the Provincial lands, and the Dominion Government uncertain of its
position on that question, but as generous to the Indians of British ‘Columbia
as to other Indians, giving them protection and supervision, educating them,
relieving evitable suffering and providing for their advancement, extending to
them the same policy and system (with the single exception of annuity pay-
ments) as prevails in other parts of the country where the Indian title had been
ceded and where special treaty obligations required fulfilment.

After the admission of British Columbia into Confederation the Dominion
assumed the Indian administration, appointed officials and obtained appropria-
tions from Parliament for Indian purposes, and it was not until 1875 that any-
thing occurred to indicate that the provisions of Clause 13 of the “ Terms of
Union ” were inadequate as a settlement of the Indian question between the
interested Governments. The British Columbia Government had passed an
Act to amend and consolidate the laws affecting Crown Lands in British
Columbia, which was assented to on the 2nd of March, 1874. This Act was
recommended to be disallowed by Order of His Excellency in Council of 23rd
January, 1875, the main reason being the fact that no cession of the Indian
title had been obtained, and the Act was dissallowed by Order in Council of
16th March, 1875. It was amended by the Provincial Legislature, and after
consultation between the Governments and after a definite procedure had been
established to be followed in the selection and allotment of reserves, the Act
was allowed to go into operation. (Copies of the documents will be found in
Appendix B.)

Hon. Mr. BeLcourr: You speak of disallowance. Was that exercised
by the Home government?

Dr. Scorr:  No.
Hon. Mr. Bennerr: No, it is by the Dominion government.
Dr. Scorr: (Continuing reading) :

It will be observed that the Hon. Edward Blake, then Minister of
Justice, under date of 28th April, 1876, reported that:

I have copies of these documents and Orders-in-Council here; they may be
added afterwards. :

Although the undersigned cannot concur in the view that the
objections taken are entirely removed by the action referred to; and,
though he is of opinion that, according to the determination of council
upon the previous Crown Lands Act, there remains serious question as to
whether the Act now under consideration is within the competence of
the provincial legislature, yet since, according to the information of the
undersigned, the statute under consideration has been acted upon, and
is being acted upon largely in British Columbia, and great inconvenience
and confusion might result from its disallowance; and, considering that
the condition of the question at issue between the two governments is
very much improved since the date of his report, the undersigned is of
opinion that it would be the better course to leave the Act to its
operation. ;

It is to be observed that this procedure neither expresses nor
impliedly waives any right of the government of Canada to insist that
any of the provisions of the Act are beyond the competence of the Local
Legislature, and are consequently inoperative.

The action referred to is represented by the Orders in Council of
the Dominion and the Province providing for the appointment of a Joint
Commission to allot Indian reserves. (See Appendixz C).
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After the weighty language of the Memorandum to Council of 18th
January, 1875, the final action seems inconsequent. It would hardly be
possible to draft a stronger document in support of the claim for an
aboriginal title than this memorandum. Its force is somewhat lessened
by the remark ‘that the policy of obtaining surrenders at this lapse of
time and under the altered circumstances of the province, may be ques-
tionable, yet the undersigned feels it his duty to assert such legal or
equitable claim as may be found to exist on the part of the Indians. But
the antithesis is striking; cn the one hand a statement of great import:
¢ The undersigned feels that he cannot do otherwise than advise that the
Act in question is objectionable, as tending to deal with lands which are
assumed to be the absolute property of the province, an assumption
which completely ignores, as applicable to the Indians of British
Columbia, the honour and good faith with which the Crown has, in all
other cases, since its sovereignty of the territories in North America,
dealt with their various Indian tribes’ And on the other hand, the
virtual acceptance of the Thirteenth Clause of the “ Terms of Union” as
an adequate settlement of the Indian Claims.

I hope the committee finds all this useful, and that T am not going too much
intc; detail. This is the way the administration is carried on (Continuing read-
ing) :

In order to present a clear view of action subsequent to the agree-
ment between the Governments as to the best method of carrying out the
provisions of the Thirteenth Clause, it is, I think, necessary to separate
the facts into two main divisions: (1) the administration by the Dominion
Government of Indian Affairs in British Columbia; (2) the presentation
of the aboriginal claim of the Indians.

When once the governments had appointed the Commission to select
reserves, the action proceeded, and lands were set apart for the use of the
Indians, at first by a Joint Commission, and later by a single Dominion
Commissioner, the last being Mr. A. W. Powell who retired on 31st March,
1911.

In 1912 the Dominion Government decided to approach the govern-
ment of British Columbia and endeavour to obtain a settlement of the
Indian question, and by Order in Council of 24th May, 1912, Mr. J. A.
J. McKenna was appointed a Commissioner ‘to investigate claims put
forth by and on behalf of the Indians of British Columbia, as to lands
and rights, and all questions at issue between the Dominion and Provincial
governments and the Indians in respect thereto, and to represent the gov-
ernment of Canada in negotiating with the government of British
Columbia a settlement of such questions.’

The eclaim for aboriginal title came within the scope of his com-
mission, but the Prime Minister of British Columbia refused to discuss
the question.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: The provincial government refused to discuss the
aboriginal title?

Dr. Begen:. Yes.

Hon. Mr. SteveENs: But not the other?

Dr. Scorr: No, they went on, as I will show. Mr. McKenna made an
exhaustive memorandum to Sir Richard on that subject, and endeavoured to get

him to consent to that, but he would not. His report is as follows; under date
of 29th July, 1912:

Adverting to our conversations, let me say that I understand that the
claims made on behalf of the Indians are:— (1) That the various nations
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or tribes have aboriginal title to certain territories within the province,
which, to perfect the Crown title in the right of the province, should be
extinguished by treaty providing for compensation for such extinguish-
ment;

As to the first claim, I understand that you will not deviate from
the position which you have so clearly taken and frequently defined, i.e.,
that the province’s title to its land is unbyrdened by any Indian title,
and that your government will not be a party, directly or indirectly, to
a reference to the Courts of the claim set up. You take it that the
public interest, which must be regarded as paramount, would be in-
juriously affected by such reference in that it would throw doubt upon the
validity of titles to land in the province. As stated at our conversations,
I agree with you as to the seriousness of now raising the question, and,
as far as the present negotiations go, it is dropped.

Mr. McKenna then directed his efforts to negotiating for the abandonment
by the Province of the claim to a reversionary interest in the Indian Reserves.
In his interim report on his mission, dated 26th October, 1912, Mr. McKenna
states that:—

During intervals in the negotiations he visited different parts of the
province and met many representative Indians. His investigations con-
firmed the opinion, which he had formed from a study of the records,
that the great source of Indian disaffection was the provincial interest
in lands reserved for Indians, recognized by the joint agreement of 1875-6,
and, as the country developed and Indian reserves in certain districts
increased enormously in value, asserted more clearly and largely by the
province through legislative acts and otherwise. That agreement was the
outcome of discussion respecting Article Thirteen of the “ Terms of Union”,
which determines the respective obligations of the Dominion and the
province as to the Indians of British Columbia. The position taken by
the province was that the title of Indians to lands reserved for them was a
mere right of use and occupancy; that under said Article no beneficial
interest in such lands was to be taken by the Dominion as guardian of
the Indians; and that, whenever the Indian Right to any such lands or
to any portion or portions thereof became extinguished through surrender
or cessation of use or occupation, or diminishment of numbers, the land
reverted, unburdened, to the province. The Indians as they advanced in
knowledge, became aware that they were not regarded as having the same
right in reserved lands as Indians in other parts of Canada were recognized
as having in lands set apart for them; and without clearly understanding
the situation, became in the measure of their advancement disaffected by
the consequences of the unsatisfactory nature of the Dominion’s tenure
of their reserves. The undersigned, therefore, concentrated his efforts
to the extinction of the interest in reserves dlaimed by the province, and
to securing for the Indians of British Columbia lands by the same title
as that under which lands are held by the Dominion for Indians in the
other parts of Canada.

The result of the negotiations between Sir Richard McBride and Mr. Mec-
Kenna was the appointment of a Royal Commission to adjust the acreage of
Indian Reserves in British Columbia, and to set apart new lands for reserves.
The reserves finally fixed by the Commissioners were to be conveyed by the
province to the Dominion free of any provincial reversionary interest therein.
There were other provisions of the agreement, unimportant to this report. The
Commission was appointed on March 31, 1913, and dissolved on June 30, 1916,
having made a voluminous report. The governments obtained statutory authority
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to accept the report, and after a final revision by officers of both govern-
ments, assisted by representatives of the Indians, the report was confirmed by
Orders in Council of both governments, by British Columbia on July 26, 1923,
and by the Dominion on July 19, 1924. This is a final adjustment of all Indian
questions between the Dominion and the Province and therefore excludes the
possibility of reference to the Secretary of State for the Colonies.

Upon this point it might be well here to quote the answer given by the
Honourable Mr. Justice Newcombe, who was then Deputy Minister of Justice,
to a question asked the government by the Indians. The question was: “The
effect of the McKenna-McBride Agreement and in particular the words ‘final
adjustment of all matters relating to Indian affairs in the Province of British
Columbia.’” The answer was: “I am of opinion that as between the two
Governments the agreement and the action of the Commissioners thereunder, if
approved by both Governments, operate as a final adjustment of all matters
relating to Indian affairs in the Province of British Columbia. These are the
words of the agreement, and would I should think be interpreted to exclude
claims by either government for better or additional terms.”

During the years after British Columbia came into Confederation, and
while the Dominion Government was active in obtaining reserves for the
Indians, it was also extending to them the benefits of an Indian policy that
obtained generally east of the mountains in regions where there had been a
cession of the Indian title. The special mark of a treaty with Indians is the
payment of annuity. This has been absent in British Columbia, but in all other
respects like expenditures arising from similar motives will be found in all
the provinces. There has been no discrimination against the Indians of British
Columbia. As their needs became apparent, they have been satisfied and the
Dominion Parliamént has granted this Department funds to develop a pro-
gressive policy. (In Appendix D will be found a schedule of the expenditure
aggregating $10,800,300.37 since Confederation.) It is clear that the guardian-
ship of the Indians of British Columbia by the Dominion has been conducted
with the same care, governed by the same principles as the general trust, and
that the non-recognition of an aboriginal title has not prejudicially affected the
interests of these Indians.

Hon. Mr. BeNNErT: Is that ten million dollars without interest?

Dr. Scorr: Yes.

Hon. Mr. BexxNerr: The ordinary year to year expenditure?

Dr. Scorr: Yes, the ordinary grants. Nearly eleven million dollars.

Hon. Mr. Stevexs: In how long a period?

Dr. Scorr: Since Confederation.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourr: What is the proportion of that as compared with
the other provinces?

Dr. Scorr: I did not work that out, Senator Belcourt, but it might be
readily worked out.

Then I deal with the presentation of the aboriginal claim.

It is perhaps unimportant to note each incident of the many which have
led up to the present position of this question. However, it is well at the outset
to note the statement made by Lord Dufferin, when he was Governor General
of Canada, in a speech in the city of Victoria in September, 1876. His Excel-
lency strongly supported the advisability of recognition of an aboriginal title
in the provincial lands.

It was not until about ten years after that date that there was any active
discussion as between the Indians and the Government of British Columbia.
This agitation amongst the Indians led to the visit to England of three import-
ant Indian Chiefs in the year 1906, the purpose being to lay their grievances
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before His Majesty King HEdward VII. It was not until 1909 that an
onganization or society was formed for the purpose of promoting the claim. In
the spring of 1909 a petition was presented to His Majesty, which was after-
wards referred to the Government of Canada. Sir Wilfrid Laurier visited British
Columbia in the summer of 1910, and at Prince Rupert met a deputation of
Indians of the surrounding country, and he also met Indians at Kamloops, and
received communication of their claims and opinions on the subject of Indian
title. In December, 1910, a deputation from the Friends of the Indians waited
upon Sir Richard MecBride, the Prime Minister of British Columbia, and pre-
sented their claim, and in March of the next year a large number of Indians
again waited upon the British Columbia government, and upon both these
occasions Sir Richard McBride informed them that in the opinion of his Govern-
ment, the Indians had no title to the public lands of the province. Consideration
by the Dominion Government of the petition of 1909, referred to above, led to
a decision to prepare a stated case for the Courts, and a case was actually
framed containing ten questions, the first three of which related to the general
matter of Indian title, but when this plan was presented to the Government of
the Province, they objected to the preliminary clauses and would not consent to
the reference. ;

It is clear that the Dominion Government was sympathetic with the Indian
claim and with the desire of the Indians to have a judicial decision thereon.
This is evident from Sir Wilfrid Laurier’s remarks to a deputation which waited
on him at Ottawa on the 26th April, 1911:—

The matter for us to immediately consider is whether we can bring
the Government of British Columbia into Court with us. We think it is
our duty to have the matter enquired into. The Government of British
Columbia may be right or wrong in their assertion that the Indians have
no claim whatever. Courts of Law are just for that purpose—where a
man asserts a claim and it is denied by another. But we do not know if
we can force a Government into Court. If we can find a way I may say
we shall surely do so, because everybody will agree it is a matter of good
government to have no one resting under a grievance. The Indians will
continue to believe they have a grievance until it has been settled by the
Court that they have a claim, or that they have no claim.

In the previous year the Dominion Government, at the Session of 1910, had
passed legislation, Clause 37A of the Indian Act, to enable the Government to
bring the case before the Courts, and this first amendment to the statute having
been found to be not quite broad enough, the Act was further amended at the
Session of 1911, and all with the express purpose of having a judicial decision on
the case despite the refusal of British Columbia to consent to the stated case.
After this amendment became law, the Law Officers of the Crown gave further
consideration as to how the case might be dealt with, and it resulted in the
passage of an Order of His Excellency in Council of the 17th May, 1911, a copy
of which will be found in Appendix E. The policy of the Government as then
expressed was “to institute proceedings in the Exchequer Court of Canada on
behalf of the Indians against a provincial grantee, or licensee, in the hope of
obtaining a decision upon the questions involved as soon as a case arised in which
the main points in difference can be properly or conveniently tried.” Mr.
Newcombe drew the attention of the Department to this Order in Council on
the 18th April, 1912. It will be observed that the Memorandum to Council was
drafted by the Department of Justice and it would appear that this Department
was not advised of its passage, and was, therefore, ignorant of it until the above
date, namely 18th April, 1912, when a certified copy was obtained for our
papers.

Hon. Mr. Bexxerr: Do you say that is the Department of the Interior?
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Dr. Scorr: The Department of Justice.

Hon. Mr. Bexxerr: How do they say it was drafted by the Department of
Justice, and that their attention was not directed to it?

Dr. Scorr: That is the fact.
Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: Bu it is a reflection on their own Department.
Dr. Scorr: Well, I do not want to reflect on their Department.

Hon. Mr. Benxert: But they are themselves reflecting on their own Depart-
ment.

Dr. Scorr: At that time the Department of Justice had charge of the case,
and were really dealing with it. I cite these facts to show that the government
of that date at least was trying to get the case before the Courts.

It will be remembered that the Government changed in the autumn of 1911,
and Sir Robert Borden’s Government came into power. While the Order in
Council of the 17th May, 1911, was dormant, Mr. McKenna had recommended
that there should be discussions anew with the Provincial Government, and as
previously stated, he was appointed a special Commissioner on the 24th May,
1912, the appomtment of a Royal Commission followed, and subsequently the
confirmation of their Report by the Governments. These incidents have been
dealt with in the previous pages of this memorandum.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourr: All that preceded the Royal Commission of 1912
and really led up to the Royal Commission.

Dr. Scorr: Yes. It is claimed that Sir Wilfrid Laurier’s government was
willing to take the case to the Courts. They amended the Indian Act twice to
enable them to do it, and even then they found they had not succeeded, and
then they passed that Order in Council saying that when they could take a case
against a provincial grantee, that was perfectly clear, they would put the matter
into the Courts. (Continuing reading):

he undersigned was appointed Deputy Superintendent General on
October 11, 1913, and was almost immediately confronted with this ques-
tion. The government had accepted the agreement arrived at by Sir
Richard MecBride and Mr. McKenna by Order in Council of the 27th
November, 1912. The Royal Commision had been appointed and was in
the field, but the advisers of the Indians were still pressing for action
on the question of aboriginal title. The Nishga Tribe, inhabiting the
Nass River country, had presented a petition to His Majesty’s Privy
Council in May of 1913, which had been referred to the Dominion Gov-
ernment on the 19th June, 1913. In reviewing the previous action of the
Government, I could not discover—

I am speaking of myself as the then Deputy of the Department. (Con-
tinuing reading) :

—that the expenditure by the Dominion Government on behalf of
the British Columbia Indians, growing year by year since Confedera-
tion, had ever been compared with the probable value to the Crown of
the Indlan title in British Columbia estimated upon a comparison with
appraised values as shown by existing treaties in other provinces. A
few interviews with the advisers of the Indians convinced me that they
were in possession of erroneous ideas about the nature of the Indian
title and exaggerated views of the value of the title, and had in fact not
fully grasped the conditions under which the Crown had made treaties
with the Indians in other parts of the Dominion. I became convinced
that the expectation of receiving compensation of very large value either
in money or privileges was influencing to a great extent the strength of
the pressure being brought to bear on the Government, and I found the
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idea prevailing that the improvements made by white citizens to pro-
vineial lands, both in city and country, had enhanced the value of the
Indian title. As it is clear that this is not the case, and as I believed that
the Indians were already receiving in value what might be considered
adequate compensation for the title, it occurred to me to recommend to
the Government the proposal which was contained in my memorandum
of the 11th March, 1914. The points were carefully considered by the
Government. I had the privilege of consultation with the Honourable
Mr. Justice Newcombe, who was then Deputy Minister of Justice, and
with the Right Honourable the Prime Minister, Sir Robert Borden, and
my memorandum was approved of, and accepted by Order in Council of
20th June, 1914. (A copy of this Order in Council, with memorandum
attached, will be found in Appendix F.)

Hon. Mr. Bexxerr: How long would that be? Perhaps you might read it.

Dr. Scorr: I have a précis of it here. I think this will give the committee
what they require.
Hon. Mr. Bex~err: The substance of it?

Dr. Scorr: Yes. The proposal was to refer the claim to the Exchequer
Court of Canada when the Indians agreed to accept the findings of the Royal
Commission on the reserve question and to accept “benefits to be granted for
the extinguishment of title in accordance with the past usages of the Crown.”
That is, if they won this case in the Exchequer Court, they were to accept like
benefits to what had been accorded to Indians in other parts of the country.

. Hon. Mr. Bexxerr: Did the Indians claim that they had not received in
proportion to the other provinces?

Dr. Scorr: Oh, yes, that is the claim to-day. I do not know that they
say they have received nothing for the title, but they want a cession of this
title on their own terms, which you will find in one of their pamphlets. If and
when the matter is printed, the committee will read my argument in this mem-
orandum;—has been somewhat criticized and perhaps I might amend it a little
now at this date. At any rate, those are my views and I think they are per-
fectly sound on the subject of Indian title and of the compensation that has
been accorded in the past.

By this plan the arrangement between British Columbia and the Dominion,
established by ‘Clause Thirteen of the Terms of Union, was to be respected, and
the Dominion was to grant any additional compensation on the same scale as
had been adopted in the past. A form of agreement with the Indians was
prepared, but was never presented. The plan became generally known to their
advisers and to the chief members of their organization, but no definite action
was taken. Naturally, they never approved of it, as it was virtually a denial
of the extravagant expectations which had been aroused.

Early in the month of February, 1915, the undersigned had lengthy con-
versations with a deputation of the Nishga Indians (Nass River), who had
come to Ottawa to consult with the Government. The Nishga petition is fre-
quently referred to in the statements of the Indians, and the fiction is maintained
that this petition is still before the Privy Council, and only methods of procedure
remain undetermined. The fact is that the Canadian solicitor for the Nishga
Indians was advised that if the petition was to be considered by the Privy
Council, the matter must be litigated in the Canadian Courts. In Appendix G
will be found a letter from Sir Almeric Fitzroy and an extract from a letter
from the Honourable C. J. Doherty. In this Appendix will be also found a
letter from the Secretary of His Royal Highness the Duke of Connaught, to
which reference is frequently made, and also a letter from the Secretary of the
Duke of Devonshire, both Governor Generals of the Dominion. ,
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At the Session of Parliament of 1919-20 the Department had presented
legislation in the form of two bills: one to amend the Indian Act, and another
to enable the Dominion to deal with the Report of the Royal Commission. A
special committee of the House was formed to consider the first-mentioned bill,
and the solicitor for the British Columbia Indians appeared before the com-
mittee and presented their claims. When these bills were in the Senate, he
and a deputation of British Columbia Indians appeared before a Senate com-
mittee and again presented their claims.

The Government of the Right Honourable Mackenzie King came into
power in December, 1921, and soon after the appointment of the Honourable
Charles Stewart as Superintendent General of Indian Affairs he began to give
personal attention to this case. He visited Vancouver and met the Indians in
the summer of 1922, and he met them again in the same place in the summer
of the next year. This last meeting was preliminary to a conference which I
held with the executive of the Allied Tribes and their solicitor at Victoria. Mr.
Stewart had hoped that it would be possible to settle the claim for aboriginal
title out of Court, if the Indians would fix upon reasonable compensation which
the Dominion Government might supply without involving the Government of
the Provinces. The conference which I had with them in August of 1923 was
held with the hope of coming to some conclusion. I reported the result of the
conference on October 29, 1923. The Indians’ demands at that time were
practically the same as they are to-day, and were based on the claims advanced
in 1919. The only entirely new item was the plea for a cash payment, which
was, I understand, made on behalf of the Indians now living who as the Chair-
man, Mr. Kelly, stated “will not be in a position to profit by any of the future
benefits that we have claimed.” (In Appendix H will be found a copy of my
report to the Minister of October 29, 1923.)

The Executive of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia and their
solicitor are pressing the Government for a decision, and have requested that
they be allowed to litigate their claim in the Courts and appeal to the Privy
Council, the Government to bear all the expenses of the proceedings.

Now I have some general remarks which will not take long to read. Per-
haps the committee might like to hear them?

Hon. Mr. SteveENs: Yes.
.The CHATRMAN: Proceed.

Dr. Scorr (Reading): The undersigned is still of opinion that the Indians
are fairly compensated for the aboriginal title by the provision of reserves, and
by the extension to the Indians of British Columbia of the policy which obtains
in the other provinces of the Dominion. The Indians of British Columbia are
not suffering any greater disabilities nor restrictions in hunting and fishing,
and in the use of unoccupied territory than are other Indians of the Dominion.

If the Dominion decides to take the case to the Courts, and finds that it is
possible to do so in consideration of the Thirteenth Clause of the Terms of
Union and of the McKenna-McBride agreement and the statutes, the claim
will be against the British Columbia Government. If the Indians win, there
will be a cloud on all the land titles issued by the province, and this point has
always been an obstacle in the way of the reference. As early as the Order-
in-Council of 1875 the policy of obtaining a cession was held to be questionable.
During one conference between Sir Richard McBride and Mr. McKenna, the
Prime Minister held that the public interest was paramount, and the question
was dropped owing to the seriousness of then raising that question. The serious-
ness and importance of that aspect has not lessened, and it is now as much a
question of public policy as of Indian interest. It may be even more question-
able in view of the statute and the Orders-in-Council confirming the findings
of the Royal Commission. The Honourable Mr. Justice Newcombe has stated
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that this action constitutes a final settlement of all Indian questions as between
the Dominion and the province, and the Dominion Order in Council confirming
the McKenna-McBride agreement was passed with the knowledge of that
opinion.

3 It ‘will be interesting to analyze the terms of an existing treaty with the
Indians. An examination of our expenditure for Treaty No. 6, which covers
Saskatchewan, the terms of which are the same as those of Treaty No. 8,
which includes part of British Columbia (104,400 square miles) discloses the
fact that the Dominion is spending large sums annually in the erection and
maintenance of residential schools, in supervision and instruction in agricultural
operations and stock-raising, in medical attendance, medicines and hospitals,
in the care of insane Indians. These expenditures and others do not arise from
obligations imposed on the Dominion by the treaty with the Indians, but are
for the most part actuated by humane motives and by a desire to raise the
natives of the country to full citizenship. The law provides for their accept-
ance as citizens, and the policy is intended to fit them for that condition. A
strict fulfilment of the stipulations of the treaty alone would never advance
them to that state.

This I think is rather a valuable part of this memorandum, if I may say so.
An examination of treaties and surrenders arranged with Indians since the
eighteenth century would prove that the compensation for the title was regulated,
and that any demands bheyond those thought reasonable by the Crown were

refused. The consideration offered and accepted was fair, but it was settled by .
the Crown, and in fact was often fixed for the Crown’s officers before the negotia-
tions. The appraised value of the title in British Columbia is shown by the
fact that Sir James Douglas, when he was the Agent of the Hudson’s Bay
Company on Vancouver Island, paid the Indians at the rate of £2.10.0 per
family for the southern one hundred square miles of Vancouver Island. He
asked the Imperial authorities for a loan of £3,000 (say $15,000) to obtain a
cession of the remaining area of the Island at the rate of £3 per family. If
we allow an average of four in a family for the present population of British
Columbia (23,792), the cash value of the title to the whole of the unsurrendered
area is $89,175.00 If we take Sir James Douglas’ report for a loan of £3,000
and use the area of the Island, 16,000 square miles, as a factor, we find that he
was contemplating a complete surrender for less than $1.00 a square mile.
On this basis the cash value of the title would be $251,097.00 as the unsur-
rendered portion of the province is 251,097 square miles.

The following is an analysis of the mutual obligations arising from Treaty

No. 6. Area ceded: 128,800 square miles.

The Indians Promised:
(1) To observe treaty.
(2) To conduct and behave themselves as good and loyal subjects.
(3) To obey and abide by the law.
(4) To maintain peace and good order.
(5) Not to molest person or property of inhabitants or property of the
government or interfere with or trouble travellers.
Obligations Assumed by the Government:

Reserves not to exceed one square mile to each family of five.
Indians to have the right to hunt and fish throughout the tract surrendered.
Ezxpenditure Once for All:

Gratuity at time of Treaty:—$12 per head.

Miscellaneous expenditure in agriculture; tools, cattle, flags, medals, etc.,
including special provisions for the Indians at Fort Carlton and Fort
Pitt when adhering to the Treaty, $110,000.

[Mr. Duncan C. Scott.]
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Perpetual Expenditure:
Annuities: Chiefs, $25.
Headmen (Not to exceed four to each band), $15.
Indians, $5.

Total payment in 1924, $41290. Government to maintain schools on re-
serve. $1,500 to be expended annually for ammunition and twine. In the event
of pestilence or a general famine among the Indians such subsistence shall be
granted as the Chief Superintendent of Indian Affairs may deem necessary.

A medicine chest shall be kept at the house of each Indian Agent for the
use and benefit of the Indians, at the discretion of such Agent.

Each chief and headman receives a suitable suit of clothing triennially.

It will be seen that the perpetual expenditure in Treaty No. 6 amounts to
about $43,000 per annum under the terms of the treaty. That is all that the
government was obligated to spend.

Hon Mr. BenNETT: How many Indians were under Treaty Number six?

Dr. Scorr: I have not the number here, but I think it was about 4,000.

Hon. Mr. Ben~erT: That is in Saskatchewan.

Dr. Scorr: Yes. The cost of the medicine chest and the triennial clothing
is negligible, and the contingency regarding pestilence and famine has never
arisen, -

I want the committee to note this comparison. We find for the fiscal year
.1924-25, that over and above the Treaty obligations, our total expenditure for
general purposes has been $121,013.28 and for education $317,619.

Hon. Mr. SteveNs: That is for the whole locality ?

Dr. Scorr: No, for Treaty Number six alone.

Hon. Mr. MurpHY: There was no obligation to pay either of these sums.

Dr. Scorr: No, no obligation whatever. What we were obligated to pay was
$43,000 a year. What we did pay was that amount, and in addition to that,
$121,000 plus $317,000. That is, $439,000.

Hon. Mr. Bercourtr: Was there an actual cession of the land comprised
within Treaty Number six, within that area at the time?

Dr. Scorr: Yes.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourt: There was a surrender?

Dr. Scort: Yes, there was a cession.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: That takes in the northeast corner of about one-quarter
of British Columbia; that portion of British Columbia lying east of the main
range.

Hon. Mr. Bercourt: No, that is Number eight. Was Number six sur-
rendered at the time?

Dr. Scort: Yes.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourt: But they want the matter reopened. The question here
for us is whether we should allow them to reopen the matter so far as this area
is concerned, under Treaties Number six and eight.

Dr. Scorr: Oh, no, not six. I am simply using that as a comparison,
showing what the Crown appraise the value of this title to be. What I want
to make clear to the committee is that before a Commission went out to arrange
a treaty with the Indians, the Commissioners were given directions; that is, the
Crown decided what should be paid for this title. An Order in Council was
sometimes passed. But sometimes the instructions were merely written. When
I made what is called Treaty Number nine for the northern part of Ontario,
just before the transcontinental road went through there, it was by pre-arrange-
ment between the Ontario government and the Dominion government. An agree-
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ment was made and signed by both governments, and under these orders that
is all we were enabled to give the Indians.

We were to offer them reserves, and $4 a head annuity, and schools. I
could not have gone beyond my instructions.

The obligations assumed by the Government, were practically the same;
the Indians were to get 160 acres of land per head. The expenditure amounted
to $150,592, as being once for all. What I mean by “once for all,” is that
it was a cash payment, and the Indians were to be given a certain number of
axes, hoes and cattle—once for all.

The following is an analysis of the mutual obligations arising from Treaty
No. 8.

Area ceded: 324,900 square miles.

The Indians Promised:

To observe treaty.

To conduct themselves as loyal subjects.

To obey and abide by the law; maintain peace and assist Government
officers to bring Indian offenders to justice.

To agree to Government’s power of expropriation on reserves upon pay-
ment of just compensation and agree to Government’s right of dealing with
settlers who may be within limits of reserve and also agree to the Govern-
ment’s right to sell for the Indians’ benefit any reserves, provided the consent
of the Indians is first obtained.

Obligations Assumed by the Government:
Reserves or land in severalty; 160 acres per Indian.

Expenditure once for All:

Gratuity at time of treaty.. R Ry
Miscellaneous expenditure: tools, cattle, flags, medals,

PRI eI R . 106,632
Tobak 2 s igion: 15 o s o b it i JSLARBOD

Perpetual Expenditure:

Annuities: Chiefs, $25; Headmen, $15, Indians, $5. Total payment in
1924, $26,895.

Salaries of teachers as Government may deem advisable.

Chiefs and headmen get suitable suit of clothes triennially.

Families preferring to continue hunting and fishing receive ammunition
and twine to the value of $1 per head annually.

It will be seen that the perpetual expenditure in Treaty No. 8 amounts to
between $27,000 and $30,000 per annum under the terms of the treaty. We
find for the last fiscal year, 1924-25, over and above treaty obligations, our
total expenditure for general purposes has been $95,914, and for education
$63,574.

To emphasize the point of the comparative figures just given the matter

may be reduced to a statement:
Perpetual Expenditure

Square Miles Guaranteed by Treaty
Treaty Mo B3 &5 vi oo il wi oo LN $43,000 00
Trealy NO 8 olaiiana v b g bi o R 30,000 00

453,700 $73,000 00

Total Expenditure,
British Columbia
Indians, 1925-26

Britigh iColumbiarois i ol Lauiiisi g 251,097 $690,683 14
42325—2 Mr. Duncan C. Scott.]
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The Indian expenditure in the Province of British Columbia, where no
treaty exists, has been generous. The average expenditure for the fiscal years
from April 1, 1923, to March 31, 1926, has been $715,292.40, and the Main
Estimates for the current fiscal year allow $892,000 for Indian purposes in
British Columbia.

Hon. Mr. Bercourt: If this comparison which I have is taken from the
West, does it hold good throughout the rest of Canada, with regard to the
Indians?

Dr. Scorr: I do not think our expenditure is so large, per capita, east of
Lake Superior, because we had not to face the problem of supporting the
Indians. In Ontario the Indians are practically self-supporting. In the country
north of the Great Lakes, there are still Indians who can be classed as hunters
and fishers. After the buffalo disappeared in 1878-79 it was necessary for the
Government to interpose, and practically feed the Indians on the plains. They
were hunters, for a number of years, and then became agriculturists. I am sure
they are now practically self-supporting. The actual outlay to prevent desti-
tution or suffering in the central parts of the prairies is almost nil, but that
obligation begins to press very severely upon us in regard to the hunting Indians
because as the hunting disappears, and the competition of independent white
hunters takes place, with all sorts of restrictive regulations to prevent the
disappearance of game, the Indians are gradually being thrown on the govern-
ment, for support.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourt: That is outside the Province of British Columbia?
Dr. Scorr: Yes.

Hon. Mr. BerLcourt: Do you anticipate the same result, in the more or less
distant future, as far as British Columbia itself is’concerned? Is hunting going
to disappear?

Dr. Scorr: The hunting is disappearing, yes. The Indians who hunt, in
British Columbia, are under great disabilities owing to the hunting restrictions
by the provincial authorities, in regard to the settlement undertaken in respect
of the preservation of game, timber and fishing. We can have some valuable
information on the question of fishing, from Mr. Found, the Commissioner of
Fisheries. It is very striking, the part the Indians of British Columbia take in
the fishing industry of the province.

Hon. Mr. BENNETT: You see them at it in the canneries.

Dr. Scorr (Reading):

The important question to be decided by the Dominion Government,
guardian of the Indians, is whether the claim of aboriginal title is to be
referred to the Courts, and if not, what course is to be adopted in the future
treatment of the question, and what motive or policy is to prevail in our
future relationship with our wards. It is our duty to consider what
advantage is to be gained by the Indians from this reference. If success-
ful, will their position in British Columbia be improved, or will any
advantage follow, financial or otherwise? Or will all that is favourable
in their relations with the British Columbia government be jeopardized?
We must, I think, consider the effect of a reference to the Courts by the
Dominion Government upon the confirmed agreement between the Gov-
ernments. If that agreement is impaired or destroyed, the allotment of
the reserves now secured may depend upon favourable intervention at
some future time by the Secretary of State for the Colonies. Is the
Dominion Government debarred by the final settlement of all differences
between the Governments respecting Indian lands and Indisn affairs
generally in the province from referring the question to the Courts?

These are questiens which the Committee will have to consider. and the
[Mr. Duncan C. Scott.]
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undersigned has endeavoured to assist their deliberations by setting forth
the historical facts, by giving statistics to show the value of Indian title
as appraised by past agreements, and to make plain the policy of the
Government which leads to expenditure much larger than treaty obligations
would warrant, undertaken for the gradual civilization of the Indian and
his advancement to full citizenship. The consideration of the questions
above set out will naturally give rise to a review of the present Indian
policy of the Dominion Government in British Columbia. It will be found
not to differ in any respect from the general policy, and the British
Columbia Indians will appear as recipients of like benefits to other
Indians. The special mark of a treaty with Indians is the payment of
annuity. In British Columbia this is absent; it is a questionable benefit,
and was only resorted to as a method of giving individual Indians equal
compensation. If the Committee will make a comparison between the
character and condition of the British Columbia Indians as described
by Honourable Mr. Trutch in 1872 and the Indians who have appeared
before the Government urging their claims, the result will be striking.
Mr. Trutch states that “ by far the larger proportion of them are utter
savages”; the deputations of the present day have been headed by an
Indian who is a Minister of the United Church. His companions speak
and write English and are self-supporting members of society. These
representatives are no doubt in advance of the Indians generally, but
they speak for their people and supply them with ideas. This contrast
arises as a result of civilization working upon the natural intelligence of
the race; it can be employed most usefully in comparing the treaty terms
of the past with the claims set up by these progressive and educated
Indians. :

The value to the Crown of the Indian title has not been increased
by the settlement of the Province and the development of its natural
resources, or by the present needs of the natives, but the Indian, possessed
of the idea that he has aboriginal title, feeling the pressure of competition
and of disabilities which are not peculiar to his environment in British
Columbia, has magnified the value and has brought into the settlement
of the problem factors which are foreign to it. In other words the Gov-
ernment, is dealing with educated and progressive Indians instead of with a
primitive people.

As it is clear that the Dominion Government assumed certain respon-
sibilities under the Thirteenth Clause of the Terms of Union, and while
at that time the British Columbia Government had no very well developed
policy, yet they had established or were thinking of establishing schools
for the Indians and were looking forward to a time when they would
become self-supporting members of the community. It is fair to say that
the Dominion Government has carried on and developed that incipient
policy. This is apparent particularly in the item of Indian education,
and as that is placed by the Indians themselves in the forefront of their
requirements, it is interesting to note that the Department is gradually
developing a system of Indian schools which when completed may be found
to meet all the reasonable needs of the case. A complete building pro-
gram totalling $1,310,000 would suffice to establish all necessary Indian
schools within the province. When it is completed the annual mainten-
ance would cost $468,000, and 4,415 Indians will be under training. If,
in addition to this, a careful administration is maintained, and if in-
struction is provided in agriculture and fruit-growing in districts where
1t is applicable, and if the present medical supervision and hospital treat-
ment is gradually improved, it appears to the undersigned that the needs
of the British Columbia Indians will be provided for, and by such an
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expenditure not only would the supposed Indian title be amply satisfied,

but the obligation which the Dominion undertook at the time British

Columbia came into the Union will be met most fully and comprehensively.
All of which is respectfully submitted.

DUNCAN C. SCOTT,
Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs.

OtTawA, March 30, 1927.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: How many Indians are there in British Columbia?

Dr. Scorr: About 23,000.

Hon. Mr. Bercourt: I should like Dr. Scott to read to us that part, he
read g little while ago, which mentions the subjects which have been specifically
referred to us for investigation.

Dr. Scorr:

The important question to be decided by the Dominion Government,
guardian of the Indians, is whether the claim of aboriginal title is to be
referred to the courts, and if not, what course is to be adopted in the
future treatment of the question, and what motive or policy is to prevail
in our future relationship with our wards.

The petition asks for reference to the courts.

As far as my opinions of this question are concerned, which I expressed
rather freely, I have been expressing them to the Indians just as freely, for the
last ten years. As a matter of fact, there is nothing new in it; in giving those
opinions, they will not be new to the Indians.

Hon. Mr. Bexxerr: If the court were to decide in favour of their title,
do you believe that would be a settlement of the claims which would arise?

Dr. Scorr: 1If it were left to the Province of British Columbia to settle
the claims, we all know it is their opinion that there is no claim. And if the
courts said, “Yes, there is a claim, British Columbia ought to give you one
dollar an acre for the title,” we know what the reply of British Columbia would
be.

Hon. Mr. BeLcovrr: How can this committee recommend a course of
action that would bring about a settlement, if the Province of British Columbia,
which is a necessary party, refuses to deal with the subject at all? Are not our
hands tied?

Hon. Mr. Stevens: Did I correctly gather, from your memorandum, that
prior to Confederation, British Columbia, as a colony, had dealt with the Indian
question in a manner which they thought was satisfactory; what appeared to be
a definite settlement.

Dr. Scorr: I think so.

Hon. Mr. BexnerT: And then, when British Columbia entered Confedera-
tion, the Dominion Government’s duty consisted only in looking after the
interests of the Indians, under section 13, of the Terms of the Union?

Dr. Scorr: Their obligation went far beyond that.

Hon. Mr. Bexxerr: Later on, agitation and dispute having arisen, the
Dominion and Provincial Governments came to an agreement, and the Royal
Commission of 1912 ratified the agreement. In 1923-24, Parliament brought
about what the two governments assumed to be a final settlement of the question
in dispute.

Dr. Scort: Yes. And Mr. Newcombe gave it as his opinion that it was
a settlement.

[Mr. Duncan C. Scott.]
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Hon. Mr. Stevens: Through all those years, the Indians still persisted
in claiming aboriginal title to the land.

Dr. beorr: s Yeq.

Hon. Mr. Stevexs: That is really the main question that is outstanding,
as far as the Indians are concerned.

Dr. Scorr: I think so.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: But not as far as the Provincial and Dominion govern-
ments are concerned.

Dr. Scorr: No. The question between them was finally settled by this
allotment of the land.

Hon. Mr. SteveNs: As far as the Department of Indian Affairs is concerned,
the Superintendent-General and yourself as Assistant Superintendent-General,
are really guardians or trustees of the Indians’ rights.

Dr. Scorr: Yes, under the provisions of the Indian Act.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: We come back to the position as pointed out a moment
ago by Senator Belcourt; that any claims which we might now recognize would
be against the province, and not against the Dominion. 3

Dr. Scorr: That is clear, because the province has the lands.

Hon. Mr. Bercourt: Might I ask, on that point, what part, if any, the
Indians took in connection with the Royal Commission of 1912.

Dr. Scorr: They appeared before the Commissioners.

Hon. Mr. BerLcourt: Did they submit their rights?

Dr. Scorr: No, the Commission met with this question by saying to the
Indians they had no power to deal with it; the Commission said they were to
set apart reserves.

Hon. Mr. Bercourt: In 1914, the Dominion and Provincial governments
agreed upon a reference to the Exchequer Court.

Dr. Scorr: No, not the Provincial government.

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: The Provincial government refused to do it. That is
the difficulty. ‘

Dr. Scorr: May I say that I asked the government to pass that Order in
Council so that, for the first time, the nature of the title of the Indians would
be recognized. By that Order in Council, the Dominion and Provincial
governments stated they were willing to assume the responsibility of giving the
land, but they said the Indians must accept the land subject to control by that
Commission.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: The Indians never agreed to that.

Dr. Scort: No, the Indians never agreed to that.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourt: If that is the case, is there anything to show that the
Indians committed themselves at any time, in regard to these questions? They
have accepted money.

Dr. Scorr: They have accepted those benefits from the land.

Hon. Mr. Bencourt: Did the Indians commit themselves in respect of any
of the provisions of the agreement, in regard to title?

Dr. Scorr: With the exception of what is already stated in the Treaty;
104,000 miles on the southern point of Vancouver Island.

Hon. Mr. BerLcourt: Let us take it with regard to the province of British
Columbia; the Royal Commission of 1912 stated the amount of expenditure
which British Columbia was bound to make.

Dr. Scorr: They ratified that.
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Hon. Mr. Bercourt: All this committee can do now is to say to the Pro-
vineial government, you agreed to do so and so.

Dr. Scorr: That is all.

Hon. Mr. MurpHY: What did the Indians say with reference to the land
set aside by that Commission, did they occupy the land?

Dr. Scorr: Yes.

Hon. Mr. MurpHY: Did the Commission set apart new reserves for them,
and is that held by the government to be a fair settlement of the question of
reserves?

Dr. Scorr: Of course, the Indians are demanding 160 acres per head, in
the province of British Columbia. You will find that stated in the pamphlet;
that may be developed later on before the Committee, as to what the claim
actually is.

Hon. Mr. MureHY: Which would be in excess of the land set aside by
the Royal Commission? '

Dr. Scorr: Yes, tremendously in excess.

Hon. Mr. McLex~ax: Have any areas been selected for them?

Dr. Scorr: They were selected with great care by them, as lands being
occupied and used by the Indians, to which they had aboriginal title. There
are over 1,200 reserves in British Columbia.

Hon. Mr. MurpHY: They were not moved to other places?

Dr. Scorr: No, they were not evicted. Some hardship occurred on
account of land being pre-empted which had been occupied by Indians, but
this was through inadvertence. The British Columbia government has been
able, in some cases, to get back the land, and give it to the Indians. The British
Columbia government has acted throughout, reasonably and generously. We
were willing to do what we could, in regard to such allotment, but the Indians
are not satisfied with those reserves; in some instances, in regard to the quantity
of the land, and some places, as to location.

Hon. Mr. McLexNAN: Did they appear before the Royal Commission?

Dr. Scorr: In some cases they were represented.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourt: Did they ever put forward claims which have not
been adjudicated upon?

Hon. Mr. Murpuy: No, they refused to do so.

Mr. McPuErsoN: No compensation was made, outside of the compensa-
tion for land.

Dr. Scorr: Yes. You will find it in the pamphlet which was printed, and
presented to the British Columbia Government in 1919, and which contains the
conditions imposed as the basis of settlement.

Mr. McPuErson: That is in the printed report, filed.

Dr. Scorr: Yes, you will see it in one of the appendices of my report.

With reference to the 160 acres of land, in sections of the province where
the character of the available land made it undesirable to carry out the agree-
ment, it was proposed that the Indians should be compensated for such defici-
ency by being given hunting lands, or otherwise, according to the conditions of
each section. Any existing inequalities in respect of acreage, and value, were
to be adjusted. The claims with respect to land were enormous.

Hon. Mr. Bercourt: We cannot suggest anything to our parliament that
could be at all effective. If we were to decide on this question of law, British
Columbia would refuse to accept our jurisdiction. If British Columbia takes
the ground that they have an agreement, and that is the end of it, I do not
see what purpose this committee can serve by hearing all these people. It

seems to me that we are up against an insuperable difficulty.
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Hon. Mr. BenNerT: In the New England States, title was predicated upon
the same basis.
Hon. Mr. BeLcourt: It becomes a purely academic question.

The CuHamrMAN: The point is, do you want to ask Dr. Scott any more
questions.

Hon. Mr. MurerY: He will be at our disposal.

Hon. Mr. Bercourr: I seriously suggest that I think the work of this
Committee is finished; we cannot do anything more; we cannot make any kind
of suggestion, or report that will be effective. It is a question of law in which
one of the parties interested refused to come here and have anything to do
with it.

Hon. Mr. Stewarr: The adjustment between the two governments is
complete, as to what they agree is required for reserves, for the benefit of the
Indians.

Hon. Mr. Bercourr: That is not in dispute here.

Hon. Mr. Stewarr: It is, to this extent, the Indians, as our wards, have
never agreed to it as a definite settlement. However, it must be borne in mind
that even if they have not agreed, they have been occupying and accepting the
reserves. That situation is not uncommon in other provinces where they have
the same problem. I understand that British Columbia takes the ground that
the Indians will get nothing more, that the settlement arrived at was thought
to be a reasonable settlement. British Columbia may take the ground that
if we want more ground for the Indians, we will have to pay for it. The other
provinces will not always take that position, particularly if they have lands
that are Crown lands. They would not buy the lands, that is true, but it seems
to me that as-this is such a controversial question, we might as well hear these
people who have come here, It must not be said that the Government, after
hearing Dr. Scott, closed the case.

Hon. Mr. Bercourr: My observation had particular reference to the
question of title, which I understand is the main question that has been referred
to this Committee. You have separated that question from the one point of
which you have just spoken; it is a different question all together. As to the
question of acreage, that is a matter to be adjusted between the departments.
On the question of aboriginal title, I say it is utterly hopeless for us to proceed.

Hon. Mr. Ben~rrT: I think, to the extent of which it is possible for us to
make a declaration, it might be desirable for us to do so. I quite agree with
what Senator Belcourt has said. We could make a report and declaration that
our opinion is so and so, and Parliament might possibly implement that later,
by some form of legislation which would be of a declaratory character.

Hon. Mr. BerLcourr: I have no objection to hearing the witnesses, but
I thought I should point out that situation.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: I suggest that we hear the Indians, and their repre-
sentative, but that the case, in its presentation, should be divided into two
parts. Dr. Scott will correct me if I am wrong in my interpretation of the
situation when I say that the present claim in regard to the aboriginal title,
which is the thing that has been adjudicated, should be kept separate from the
other questions regarding administration, and whether there has been a full
settlement made by the province of British Columbia in accordance with the
findings of the Royal Commission of 1912. That is the question which I do not
think the Dominion Government will have very great difficulty in adjudicating.
As far as this Parliament is concerned, the question of aboriginal title should
be disposed of, and the other dealt with separately; otherwise, we will get
into an endless discussion.

[Mr. Duncan C. Scott.]
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Mr. McPuerson: All the information I have on this, Mr. Chairman, is a
copy of a petition filed in the Senate last year. 1 gather that the government
had practically decided what they thought was the correct settlement of this
question between the Dominion and the Provinces. but that that is not satis-
factory to the Indians and they want to submit their claims to the Privy Council.
It would look as if that was one of the main issues in their petition. If there
is a dispute and the Indians will not accept the provision made, then the com-
mittee will have to decide on that point, which might waive the necessity for us
going into detail.

Hon. Mr. MurpHY: Can we determine what is at issue unless we hear the
other side? Is it not all speculation in advance of that?

Hon. Mr. Stevens: Yes.

Hon. Mr. Bercourt: Do I understand that the Indians are asking to have
a stated case?

Mr. McPuErsoN: To be submitted to the Privy Council. “That immediate
steps be taken for facilitating an independent proceeding.” That is a reference
so that their petition might be brought before His Majesty’s Privy Council.
“Or such other judicial action as might be found necessary to secure the judg-
ment, of the judicial committee of the Privy Council,”

Hon. Mr. BeLcourt: Would that have to be submitted to our own Courts?

Mr. McPuErsoN: They ask for the Privy Council.

Hon. Mr. StewarT: Would it not be well now to hear argument from the
representative of the Allied Tribes as to their contention that they have an
aboriginal title, despite the fact that the claim is made, and acquiesced in;
apparently, that that was cancelled. Doctor Scott has submitted a memorandum
which will be printed for the benefit of the members of the committee. The
point as to the aboriginal title is one upon which they should be given an
opportunity to speak to the committee, and then we can decide how far we will
go later.

Hon. Mr. MurpaY: Who is to do that, Mr. Stewart?

Hon. Mr. StewarT: Who is to speak for you, Mr. Paull?

Mr. Pavinn: Dealing with the constitutional matters, Mr. Chairman? I
would like to ask Doctor Scott a question before he leaves.

The CrairmaN: Certainly.

Mr. PauLn: Doctor Scott has dealt with one phase only of the constitutional
matters included in this case. I would respectfully ask the hon. members of
the committee not to form any hurried conclusions before they have listened
to the constitutional matters involved in this question.

The Cuamman: Mr. Paull, before you start, I think for the information of
the members of the committee, you had better state why you are here, and your
standing. Whom do you represent?

Mr. PavLn: My name is Andrew Paull. I am a full-blooded Indian of-the
Squamish tribe, and I am secretary of the executive committee of the Allied
Indian Tribes of British Columbia. ‘

The CraRMAN: Mr. Paull, do the Allied Tribes include all of your people?
You are not speaking for every tribe in British Columbia?

Mr. PauLn: As far as the aboriginal title is concerned, I am speaking for
the organization of the Indians in British Columbia, dealing with this question.
Other Indians may come here and represent themselves, dealing with their own
particular reserves.

Hon. Mr. Bennprr: What tribes do you represent?

Mr. Pavry: I represent nearly all the tribes in British Columbia. I might
name some of them from memory. On the southern coast, the Squamish Indians;

"Mr. Duncan C. Scott.] :
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all the Indians on Vancouver Island, cast and west coasts; the Indians up the
coast of British Columbia, all along the coast.

Hon. Mr. StevENs: Do you represent the Indians in the interior? At
Kamloops and the Okanagan?

Mr. PavrL: The greater part of the Interior Indians, with the exception
of those Indians represented by Chief John Chillihitse. I do not know just the
proper name of his locality, but he is striving for the same thing.

Hon. Mr. McLen~AN: Could you tell us about the relative number of
Indians that you represent and that are not represented?

Mr. Pavir: 1 think we lack only about 200 of the Indians in British
Columbia.

Hon. Mr. Stevexs: Then there is a committee of white men associated
with you, is there not, Mr. Paull?

Mr. PavrL: In a sympathetic way; they are giving us their moral support;
the Society of Friends of the Indians of British Columbia, in British Columbia.
Then there is a society of white people in eastern Canada.

The CuARMAN: Before you give further evidence, Mr. Paull, you should
be sworn, to give evidence before the committee.

ANDREW PAULL sworn.

Hon. Mr. MurpHY: I understand Mr. Paull to say he wanted to ask
Doctor Scott a question or two before he gave his own evidence. It might be
more regular to do that, and then the witness could go on.

The Wrrness: I would like Doctor Scott to inform the committee if it is
not a fact that the major portions of the expenditures of the government
towards the Indians of British Columbia did not go in a large way for schools
and education? I wish Doctor Scott would make it clear that the Indians in
British Columbia did not receive any monetary compensation individually.

Dr. Scort: I stated that they received no annuity; which answers a portion
of the question. The financial statement is arranged in sub-heads. $5,422,870.05
has been spent on education.

Hon. Mr. Stevexs: That is boarding schools?

Dr. Scort: Yes, boarding and day schools. I might read all the headings:—

Relief, $601,787; aid to agriculture, $162,881; medical attendance,
$1,364,000 odd; schools, $5,442,000; travelling expenses, $50,000.

That is the travelling expenses of agents.

Miscellaneous, $578,150. .
That is dyking and irrigation and all sorts of miscellaneous expenditures.
Surveys and Irrigation, $314,385.

Hon. Mr. McLExNAN: Have you the total there?

Dr. Scorr: Yes, the total is $10,800,300.

Hon. Mr. McLEnNAN: About half for education then?

Dr. Scorr: Yes.

The Wrrness: Now I would like Doctor Scott to file a report with this
committee showing how much of the Indians’ own funds have been expended
for schools, education, hospitals, medicine, medical attendance, and for the
maintenance of law and order in British Columbia. It may be a bit of informa-

tion to the hon. members of this committee to know that the Indians themselves
have expended some money out of their own tribal funds in paying policemen

[Mr. Andrew Paull.]
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to maintain law and order in the province of British Columbia. I am sorry
the Honourable Mr. Oliver has left. That would have been a good piece of
information for him. I would ask Doctor Scott to file a report to show how
the Indians have spent money on those things.

Hon. Mr. Stewarr: Mr. Paull, we only have twenty minutes; will you
deal with that very important matter, the question of aboriginal title, first.

The Wirness: It is impossible to deal with it in its entirety in twenty
minutes, but I will endeavour to give the gist of it. I would like to ask Mr.
O’Meara to present the argument on our behalf on the constitutional matter.
Doctor Scott dealt with Article Thirteen of the Terms of Union. It would
appear from his memorandum that that article alone was the one which governs
this whole controversy. It is not. I am sorry to see that he did not deal with
Section 109 of the British North America Act, which, in my humble opinion,
concerns the aboriginal title. I notice the reply of the government of the
Province of British Columbia. They depend on Section 109.

By Hon. Mr. Belcourt:
Q. Have you the text of that?—A. I am sorry I did not come here this
morning prepared, but I am sure Mr. O’Meara has that.
Hon. Mr. Stewart: Here it is.
Hon. Mr. McLenNaN: Would you read it, please?
Hon. Mr. BercourT: (Reading):

All lands, mines, minerals, and royalties, belonging to the several
provinces of Canada, Nova Scotia, and New Brunswick at the union, and
all sums then due or payable for such lands, mines, minerals, or royalties,
shall be known to the several provinces of Ontario, Quebee, Nova Scotia,
and New Brunswick in which the same are situate or arise, subject to
any trusts existing in respect thereof, and to any interest other than
that of the province in the same.

By Hon. Mr. Belcourt:

Q. You are relying on the words “subject to any trusts existing in respect
thereof ?”—A. Yes. Now it may be hard for me to give an expression of opin-
ion as to the exact meaning of that, but we hope, during the course of our
representations to this committee, to construe it. We will quote decisions to
explain just exactly what that means, and we are relying on that section and
the decisions to substantiate our claim.

By Hon. Mr. Stevens:

Q. May I ask you there, Mr. Paull, so as to get your claim clearly stated,
under that section of the Act; do you claim that British Columbia, when, it
entered Confederation, held in trust for you all the lands, mines, minerals, and
so on, as set forth in that section?—A. The title of the lands in the province
of British Columbia rested in the Crown, to be held in trust for the British
Columbia government. But before that, there was another interest; it was
subject to another interest, and that interest was the Indian interest, which
was capable of being brought into competition with the interest of the province.

By Hon. Mr. Belcourt:
Q. Do you mean the Indian occupation interest? The claim derived from
occupation?
Hon. Mr. BeEn~NerT: No, they do not limit it to occupation.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: I should like to get precisely what they do claim.
The WrrNess: I have not got the decisions with me.
[Mr. Andrew Paull.]
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Hon. Mr. BerLcourt: We should know what is the nature of this interest.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: The committee would like to get your view, representing
the Indians, as to just what they claim.

By Hon. Mr. Belcourt:

Q. Would you rather leave that to someone else to deal with?—A. I would
rather be given an opportunity to quote from documents which I have prepared,
and which we have had prepared. I do not intend to limit my representations
to this committee, to this time only; I hope to have the privilege of appearing
again, and I would rather not be pressed in that matter for the time being.

Q. All right; go on with your statement—A. Our chairman, Mr. Kelly,
will be here this week, and I hope the committee will give him an opportunity
to make representations as well. There are other Indians here in the city now,
and we would like the committee to listen to them before we make our repre-
sentations. Mr. Kelly and myself realize the responsibility that we have to the
Indians in British Columbia. I would ask Mr. O’Meara to present our consti-
tutional argument before this committee, either now or at the pleasure of the
committee, before we, the Indians, make any further representations, so that the
committee may not hurriedly arrive at a decision upon the memorandum of
Dr. Scott. I would humbly pray that you listen to Mr. O’Meara’s argument
now. ;
The CrHamrMaN: We have hardly time for that this morning. Have the
members of the Committee any further questions they want to ask Mr. Paull
at the moment?

Hon. Mr. MurpHY: This witness says, Mr. Chairman, that their argument °
with reference to the constitutional phase of the matter is to be presented by
another gentleman. Then why not adjourn now and hear him next?

Hon. Mr. Stevens: I hope, Mr. Chairman, that the committee will try to
keep to the points T mentioned.

Hon. Mr. MurpaY: I must certainly object to hearing speeches from other
gentlemen who are said to be in the city. We want first representations of
fact.

Hon. Mr. Stewagrt: I think, Senator Murphy, that we have summoned these
witnesses, and the committee can decide whether they want to hear them or not
after we have heard the main argument. I take it that what the committee are
anxious about now is rebuttal evidence on the constitutional question,

The CuamrMaN: For the information of the committee, I may say that
Messrs. Andrew Paull, A. E. O’Meara, Rev. P. R. Kelly, W. E. Ditchburn, and
Chief Chillihitza have been summoned to appear before the committee.

Hon. Mr. Tayror: Then had we better not adjourn now until tomorrow
morning?

Hon. Mr. Stewarr: Let us be clear about this: shall Mr. O'Meara appear
at ter; o’clock tomorrow morning to present argument on this question, or on any
other?

Hon. Mr. Bercourr: Mr. Chairman, may I suggest that the proper way
for the committee to proceed would be to hear what is evidence, and when we
have heard the evidence, then hear an argument by whoever wants to make it.
We want the evidence first. If we have arguments submitted before we hear the
evidence, we will be here for a longer time than we are able to give.

Hon. Mr. Stewart: The evidence is in rebuttal of what is claimed.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourr: Let us distinguish between evidence and argument.
Mr. O’Meara is simply going to argue the question. Then let us hear him when
we have all the facts before us.

[Mr. Andrew Paull.]
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Hon. Mr. Greex: Is not Mr. O'Meara here to present the case for the
Indians?

Hon. Mr. Stevens: Mr. Pauli is asking that Mr. O’Meara, as counsel, argue
the constitutional point. T think before he does that, the Indians should present
to us their views of their claims to the degree that they want to show them.
Then Mr. O’Meara can make his argument as counsel, if we are going to recognize
him as counsel instead of as a witness.

Hon. Mr. McLexNAN: In other words, the Indians will present what they
have to say in criticism, or modification of Doctor Scott’s departmental state-
ment.

Hon. Mr. Murpry: Or in support of their own claim.

Hon. Mr. McLeExNAN: Yes, or in support of their own claim.

Hon. Mr. Bercourt: Mr. Paull was sworn. for the purpose of giving
_evidence. He has not yet given us a single fact. He has argued, and that is
all.

Hon. Mr. Barnarp: Is it not of importance.that we should know exactly
what they claim, and then we can to some extent confine the evidence and argu-
ment to the issue? -

Mr. McPrerson: Apparently Mr. Paull wants Mr. O’Meara to state his
claim.

The Wrrness: If it is the wish of the committee that I should give evidence
before the constitutional argument is made, I am prepared to do so. I would like
to be given the privilege of speaking after Chief Chillihitza.

Hon. Mr. Stevexs: We do not want to get into a squabble between different
parties here. Let them give their evidence as they are summoned before the
committee, and we will treat them all fairly.

Hon. Mr. Stewart: I am of the opinion that Mr. O’Meara should appear as
a witness, rather than as counsel. There is not any doubt that the claim of
the Indians will have to be presented by someone familiar with putting facts
before the committee. They apparently have selected Mr. O’Meara, and I think
he should give his statement before the witnesses are called.

McPuERsoN: The same as Mr. Paull.

Hon. Mr. Stewarr: He should present the case of the Indians with
respect to the aboriginal title. The argument will come later.

Hon. Mr. Bercourr: We will have both statements of fact and argument
from Mr. O’Meara.

The CuarMAN: Gentlemen, I understand there is a Mr. Beament here,
who wants to know whether the committee will allow him to appear as counsel
for the Indians. He is here now, and perhaps you will hear what he has to
say.
Hon. Mr. MurpHY: Mr. Chairman, with all respect, I think we should
decide one thing at a time. First let us settle our own procedure as a commit-
tee.

Mr. A. W. Beament (Barrister, Ottawa): Mr. Chairman, I wish to
appear as counsel for the petitioners. I was trying to get the ear of the com-
mittee with regard to the discussion which has taken place. I think Mr.
McPherson has touched the real point at issue. The petitioners should, I sub-
mit, be given an opportunity now to put in evidence proving the allegations
stated in the petition, and that all the evidence put in and the argument should
be directed towards the claims stated in the petition. That is, we should
satisfy this committee first of all that there are substantial legal questions at
issue between the Indians and the two governments. If we satisfy them that
there are substantial legal questions, we should not go on to argue the absolute

[Mr. Andrew Paull.]
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merits of those questions; we should then confine ourselves to proving our
right to have those substantial judicial questions adjudicated upon by a
competent tribunal. That is all we are asking this committee to do. We are
not asking the committee to adjudicate upon the merits of our substantive
claim. We are only asking them to facilitate and expedite a hearing by as
competent a tribunal as can be found, of these claims that we make.

With regard to Mr. O’Meara’s position, which the Hon. Mr. Stewart has
touched upon, I will submit to the committee that it is not inconsistent with
his appearing as counsel for the petitioners, and also giving evidence, as long
as professional opinions are not included in that. Certainly he has no objec-
tion to acting as I have stated.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: There is this difficulty, that I think we ought to
avoid; we are not putting the Department of Indian Affairs on trial before this
committee, as regards minor matters. As I understand it, we are here for
the purpose of hearing the Indians regarding this claim of aboriginal title
chiefly. There may be some other matters that they would like to bring before
us, but certainly we should not put the Department of Indian Affairs on trial
here before the committee.

Mr. McPuErson: May I suggest that when we finish that question we
will then be in the position of settling something that the government of British
Columbia is affected by only. I am rather puzzled as to what we can do if
we want to do anything here. ;

Hon. Mr. STEwART: There is just this one point, and that is that I would
like the evidence first, because there is no use wandering all over the map on
the question of what the Federal and Provincial governments should do with
the Indians. We would be very glad to hear that, but I agree with Mr. Stevens
that there has been so much said about the rights of the Indians and ‘their
right to consideration for their aboriginal title, and also statements have been
made definitely that by the right !of conquest the lands of British Columbia
became the property of the Crown, and that the Crown was willing to treat
the Indians and give to them similar rights that were enjoyed in other parts
of Canada, treating them exactly as other aborigines were treated in Canada.

Hon. Mr. BennerT: Perhaps a little better.

Hon. Mr. Stewart: If there is to be rebuttal evidence offered in respect
of the question of conquest, to show us that that was not the fact, and that
there is an Indian claim that was not extinguished, I think the committee should
have evidence to that effect.

Hon. Mr. BExnerT: But a speech will not do it.

Hon. Mr. StewarT: No, we want evidence.

Hon. Mr. BeLcourt: There is no objection to that. I do not want to be mis-
understood. I do not object to that at all, but I want to get the facts before I
pronounce upon the facts.

Hon. Mr. Stewart: That is the point. Let the witnesses understand that
they are to come prepared on these questions, and not to spread all over creation
on other matters. i

Hon. Mr. MurpHY: Then shall we meet to-morrow morning at ten o’clock,
Mr. Chairman, and hear the witnesses?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Hon. Mr. SteveNs: And all the witnesses will be called to-morrow morning.

The CuAlRMAN: Whoever they decide to call.

Mr. O'MEaga: I have not stated a sentence on behalf of the tribes yet, Mr.
Chairman.

[Mr. Andrew Paull?
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The CHAIRMAN: You will be given an opportunity at ten o’clock to-morrow
morning.

Mr. O’MEeara: To go into the whole matter?

Hon. Mr. Stewarr: The committee wants you to come prepared to argue
the points raised this morning.

Mr. O'MEeara: I understand perfectly well.

The Witness retired.
The committeq adjourned until 10 a.m., Thursday, March 31st, 1927.
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APPENDIX A

STATEMENT OF THE ALLIED INDIAN TRIBES OF BRITISH
COLUMBIA FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF
BRITISH COLUMBIA

ParT 1.—GENERAL INTRODUCTORY REMARKS

The Statement prepared by the Committee appointed by the Conference
held at Vancouver in June, 1916, and sent to the Government of Canada and
the Secretary of State for the Colonies, contained the following:

The Committee concludes this statement by asserting that, while
it is believed that all of the Indian tribes of the province will press
on to the Judicial Committee, refusing to consider any so-called settle-
ment made up under the McKenna Agreement, the Committee also feels
certain that the tribes allied for that purpose will always be ready to
consider any really equitable method of settlement out of court which
might be proposed by the Governments.

A resolution, passed by the Interior Tribes at a meeting at Spence’s Bridge
on the 6th December, 1917, contained the following:—

We are sure that the governments and a considerable number of
white men have for many years had in their minds a guite wrong idea
of the claims which we make, and the settlement which we desire. We
do not want anything extravagant, and we do not want anything hurtful
to the real interests of the white people. We want that our actual rights
be determined and recognized. We want a settlement based upon justice.
We want a full opportunity of making a future for ourselves. We want
all thiz done in such a way that in the future we shall be able to live
and work with the white people as our brothers and fellow citizens.

Now we have been informed by our Special Agent that the Government
of British Columbia desires to have from us a statement further explaining
our mind upon the subject of settlement, and in particular stating the grounds
upon which we refuse to accept as a settlement the findings of the Royal Com-
mission on Indian Affairs for the Province of British Columbia, and what we
regard as necessary conditions of equitable settlement.

In order that our mind regarding this whole subject may be understood,
we desire first to make clear what is the actual present position of the Indian
land controversy in this Province of British Columbia.

Throughout practically the whole of the rest of Canada, tribal ownership
of lands has been fully acknowledged, and all dealings with the various tribes
have been based upon the Indian title so acknowledged.

It was long ago conceded by Canada in the most authoritative way possible
that the Indian tribes of British Columbia have the same title. This is proved
beyond possibility of doubt by the report of the Minister of Justice, which was
presented on January 19, 1875, and was approved by the Governor General in
Council on January 23, 1875. We set out the following extract from that report:

Considering then these several features of the case, that no surrender
or cession of their territorial rights, whether the same be of a legal or
equitable nature, has been ever executed by the Indian Tribes of the
province—that they allege that the reservations of land made by the
Government for their use have been arbitrarily so made, and are totally
inadequate to their support and requirements and without their assent—
that they are not averse to hostilities in order to enforce rights which it
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is impossible to deny them, and that the Act under consideration not only
ignores those rights, but expressly prohibits the Indians from enjoying
the rights of recording or preémpting land, except by consent of the
Lieutenant-Governor, the undersigned feel that he cannot do otherwise
than advise that the Act in question is objectionable as tending to deal
with lands which are assumed to be the absolute property of the province,
an assumption which completely ignores as applicable to the Indians of
British Columbia, the honour and good faith with which the Crown has
in all other cases since its sovereignty of the territories in North America
dealt with their various Indian tribes.

The undersigned would also refer to the British North America
Act, 1867, section 109, applicable to British Columbia, which enacts in
effect that all lands belonging to the province, shall belong to the prov-
ince, ‘ subject to any trust existing in respect thereof, and to any interest
other than that of the province in the same.’

That which has been ordinarily spoken of as the ¢ Indian title ’ must
of necessity consist of some species of interest in the lands of British
Columbia.

If it is conceded that they have not a freehold in the soil, but that
they have an usufruct, a right of occupation or possession of the same for
their own use, then it would seem that these lands of British Columbia
are subject, if not to a ‘ trust existing in respect thereof,” at least ‘ to an
interest other than that of he Province herein.

Since the year 1875, however, notwithstanding the report of the Minister
of Justice then presented and approved, local governments have been unwilling
to recognize the land rights which were then recognized by Canada, and the two
governments that entered into the MecKenna-McBride Agreement failed to
recognize those land rights.

If now the two governments should be willing to accept the report and
Order in Council of the year 1875 as deciding the land controversy, they would
thereby provide what we regard as the only possible general basis of settlement
other than a judgment of the Judicial Committee of His Majesty’s Privy Council.

By means of the direct and independent petition of the Nishga Tribe, we
now have our case before His Majesty’s Privy Council. We claim that we have
a right to a hearing, a right which has now been made clear beyond any possi-
bility of doubt. Sir Wilfrid Laurier, when Prime Minister, on behalf of Canada,
met the Indian Tribes of Northern British Columbia, and promised without -any
condition whatever that the land controversy would be brought before the
Judicial Committee. Moreover, the Duke of Connaught, acting as His Majesty’s
representative in Canada, gave positive written assurances that if the Nishga
Tribe should not be willing to agree to the findings of the Royal Commission,
His Majesty’s Privy Council will consider the Nishga petition. In view of Sir
Wilfrid Laurier’s promise, and the Duke of Connaught’s assurances, both of
which confirm what we regard as our clear constitutional right, we confidently
expect an early hearing of our case.

Before concluding these introductory remarks, we wish to speak of one
other matter which we think very important. No settlement would, we are very
sure, be real and lasting unless it should be a complete settlement. The so-
called settlement which the two governments that entered into the McKenna-
McBride Agreement, have made up is very far indeed from being complete.
The report of the Royal Commission deals only with lands to be reserved. The
reversionary title claimed by the Province is not extinguished, as Special Com-
missioner McKenna said it would be. Foreshores have not been dealt with.
No attempt is made to adjust our general rights, such as fishing rights, hunting
rights and water rights. With regard to fishing rights and water rights, the
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Commissioners admit that they can make nothing sure. It is clear to us that
all our general rights, instead of being taken from us as the McKenna-McBride
Agreement attempts to do by describing the so-called settlement thereby arranged
as a “ final adjustment of all matters relating to Indian affairs in British Colum-
bia ” should be preserved and adjusted. Also we think that a complete settle-
ment should deal with the restrictions imposed upon Indians by Provinecial
Statutes and should include a revision of the Indian Act. .

Now, having as we hope made clear the position in which we stand, and from
which we look at the whole subject, we proceed to comply with the desire of the
government of British Columbia.

Part II—REPorT oF THE RovarL CoMMISSION

Introductory Remarks

The general view held by us with regard to the report of the Royal Com-
mission was correctly stated in the communication sent by the Agents of the
Nishga Tribe to the Lord President of His Majesty’s Privy Council on 27th
May, 1918.

We now have before us the report of the Royal Commission, and are fully
informed of its contents, so far as material for the purposes of this statement.
The report has been carefully considered by the Allied Tribes, upon occasion
of several meetings, and subsequently by the Executive Committee of the Allied
Tribes.

Two general features of the report which we consider very unsatisfactory
are the following:—

1. The additional lands set aside are to a large extent of inferior quality,
and their total value is much smaller than that of the lands which the Commis-
sioners recommend shall be cut off.

2. In recommending that reserves confirmed and additional lands set aside
be held for the benefit of bands, the Commissioners proceeded upon a principle
which we consider erroneous, as all reserved lands should be held for the benefit
of the Tribes.

Grounds of Refusal to Accept

In addition to the grounds shown by our general introductory remarks, we
mention the following as the principle grounds upon which we refuse to accept
as a settlement the findings of the Royal Commission:—

1. We think it clear that fundamental matters such as tribal ownership of
our territories require to be dealt with, either by concession of the governments,
or by decision of the Judicial Committee, before subsidiary matters such as the
findings of the Royal Commission can be equitably dealt with.

2. We are unwilling to be bound by the MecKenna-McBride Agreement,
under which the findings of the Royal Commission have been made.

3. The whole work of the Royal Commission has been based upon the
assumption that Article 13 of the Terms of Union contains all obligations of the
two governments towards the Indian Tribes of British Columbia, which assump-
tion we cannot admit to be correct.

4. The McKenna-McBride Agreement, and the report of the Royal Com-
mission ignore not only our land rights, but also the power conferred by Article
13 upon the Secretary of State for the Colonies.

5. The additional reserved lands recommended by the report of the Royal
Commission, we consider to be utterly inadequate for meeting the present and
future requirements of the Tribes.

6. The Commissioners have wholly failed to adjust the inequalities between
Tribes, in respect of both area and value of reserved lands, which Special Com-
missioner McKenna, in his report, pointed out and which the report of the Royal
Commission has proved to exist.

423253
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7. Notwithstanding the assurance contained in the report of Special Com-
missioner McKenna, that “such further lands as are required will be provided
by the Province, in so far as Crown lands are available.” The Province, by Act
passed in the spring of the year 1916, took back two million acres of land, no
part of which, as we understand, was set aside for the Indians by the Commis-
sioners, whose report was soon thereafter presented to the governments.

8. The Commissioners have failed to make any adjustment of water-rights,
which in the case of lands situated within the Dry Belt, is indispensable.

9. We regard as manifestly unfair and wholly unsatisfactory the provisions
of the McKenna-McBride Agreement relating to the cutting-off and reduction of
reserved lands, under which one-half of the proceeds of sale of any such lands
would go to the Province, and the other half of such proceeds, instead of going
into the hands or being held for the benefit of the Tribe, would be held by the
Government of Canada for the benefit of all the Indians of British Columbia.

Part I11.—NEcEssaRY CONDITIONS OF EQUITABLE SETTLEMENT
Introductory Remarks

1. In the year 1915, the Nishga Tribe and the Interior Tribes allied with
them, made proposals regarding settlement, suggesting that the matter of lands
to be reserved be finally dealt with by the Secretary of State for the Colonies,
and that all other matters requiring to be adjusted, including compensation for
lands to be surrendered, be dealt with by the Parliament of Canada. Those
proposals the Government of Canada rejected by Order in Council, passed in June,
1915, mainly upon the ground that the Government was precluded by the
MecKenna-McBride Agreement from accepting them. For particulars we refer
to “ Record of Interviews,” published in July, 1915, at pages 21 and 105. It will
be found that to some extent these proposals are incorporated in this statements.

2. Some facts and considerations which, in considering the matter of addi-
tional lands, it is, we think, specially important to take into account, are the
following:—

(1) In the three States of Washington, Idaho and Montana, all adjoining
British Columbia, Indian title has been recognized, and treaties have been made
with the Indian tribles of those States. Under those treaties, very large areas
of land have been set aside. The total lands set aside in those three States con-
siderably exceeds 10,000,000 acres, and the per capita area varies from about
200 acres to about 600 acres.

(2) Portions of the tribal territories of four tribes of the Interior of British
Columbia extend into the States above-mentioned, and thus portions of those
tribes hold lands in the Colville Reservation, situated in the State of Washing-
ton, and the Flathead Reservation, situated in the State of Montana.

(3) By treaties made with the Indian Tribes of the Provinces of Saskatche-
wan and Alberta, there has been set aside an average per capita area of about
180 acres.

(4) For the five Tribes of Alberta that entered into Treaty No. 7, whose
tribal territories all adjoin British Columbia having now a total Indian popu-
lation of about 3,500, there was set aside a total area of about 762,000 acres,
giving a per capita area of 212 acres.

(5) The facts regarding the Indian Tribes inhabiting that part of Northern
British Columbia lying to the East of the Rocky Mountains shown in Interim
Report No. 91 of the Royal 'Commission at pages 126, 127 and 128 of the Report
show that the Royal Commission approved and adopted as a standard for the
Indians of that part of the Province occupying Provincial lands the per capita
area of 160 acres of agricultural land per individual, or 640 acres per family
of five, set aside under Treaty No. 8.
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(6) As shown by the facts above stated, all the Tribes that are close
neighbours of the British Columbia Indians on the South and East have had
large areas per capita set aside for their use and benefit, and the Indians inhabit-
ing the Northeastern portion of British Columbia have also been fairly treated
in the matter of agricultural lands reserved for them. Notwithstanding that
state of affairs, the areas set aside for all the other British Columbia Tribes
average only thirty acres per capita, or from one-fifth to one-twentieth of the
acreage of Reserves set aside for their neighbours.

(7) It may also be pointed out that at one time even this small amount of
land was considered excessive for the needs of the Indian Tribes of British
Columbia, as is shown by the controversy which in the year 1873 arose between
the two Governments on the subject of acreage of lands to be reserved for the
Indians of British Columbia. (See Report of Royal Commission at pages 16
and 17.) At that time the Dominion Government contended for a basis of
80 acres per family or 16 acres per capita, and the British Columbia Govern-
ment contended for a basis of 20 acres per family or 4 acres per capita.

(8) It may further be pointed out that at that very time, while the Gov-
ernments were discussing the question whether each individual Indian required
16 acres or 4 acres, the Provincial Government was allowing individual white
men each to acquire by pre-emption 160 acres West of the Cascades and 320
acres East of that Range, each pre-emptor choosing his land how and where
he desired.

(9) All the facts which we have above stated when taken together prove
conclusively, as we think, that the per capita area of 30 acres recommended by
the Royal Commission is utterly inadequate, and that a per capita area of 160
acres would be an entirely reasonable standard. That conclusion is completely
confirmed by our knowledge of the actual land requirements of our Tribes.

(10) At the same time it is clear to us that, in applying that standard, the
widely differing conditions and requirements of various sections of the Province
should be taken into consideration.

(11) We proceed to state what are the conditions and requirements of each
of the sections to which we have referred.

(12) For that purpose we divide the Province into five sections as follows:

I. Southern 'Coast.

II. Northern Coast, together with the West Coast of Vancouver Island.

ITII. Southern Interior.

IV. Central Interior,

V. Northern Interior.

In the case of Section I all conditions are favourable for agriculture, and
the Indians require much more agricultural land.

In the case of Section II the conditions are such that the country is not
to any great extent agricultural. The Indians require some additional agricul-
tural land together with timber lands.

In the case of Section III the conditions are more favourable to stock
raising than to agriculture. Throughout the Dry Belt irrigation is an absolute
necessity for agriculture. The Indians require large additional areas of pasture
land.

In the case of Section IV there is abundance of good agricultural land,
but the climatic conditions are not favourable for stock raising and fruit grow-
ing. The Indians require additional areas of agricultural land.

In the case of Section V the conditions are wholly unfavourable to both
agriculture and stock raising. The main requirement of the Indians is that,
either by setting aside large hunting and trapping areas for their exclusive
use or otherwise, hunting and trapping, the main industry upon which of
necessity they rely, should be fully preserved for them.

3. It is quite clear to us that these conditions of settlement require to
be considered by the Government of Canada as well as the Government of”
British Columbia.

423253}



36 SPECIAL COMMITTEE

Conditions Proposed as Basis of Settlement

We beg to present for consideration of the two Governments the following
which we regard as necessary conditions of equitable settlement:

1. That the Proclamation issued by King George III in the year 1763 and
the Report presented by the Minister of Justice in the year 1875 be accepted
by the two Governments and established as the main basis of all dealings
and all adjustments of Indian land rights and other rights which shall be
made.

2. That is be conceded that each Tribe for whose use and benefit land
is set aside (under Article 13 of the “ Terms of Union”) acquires thereby a
full, permanent and beneficial title to the land so set aside together with all
natural resources pertaining thereto; and that Section 127 of the Land Act
of British Columbia be amended accordingly.

3. That all existing reserves not now as parts of the Railway Belt or
otherwise held by Canada be conveyed to Canada for the use and benefit of
the various Tribes.

4, That all foreshores whether tidal or inland be included in the reserves
with which they are connected, so that the various Tribes shall have full
permanent and beneficial title to such foreshores.

5. That adequate additional lands be set aside and that to this end a per
capita standard of 160 acres of average agricultural land having in case of
lands situated within the dry belt a supply of water sufficient for irrigation
be established. By the word “standard” we mean not a hard and fast rule,
but a general estimate to be used as a guide, and to be applied in a reasonable
way to the actual requirements of each tribe.

6. That in sections of the Province in case of which the character of avail-
able land and the conditions prevailing make it impossible or undesirable to
carry out fully or at all that standard the Indian Tribes concerned be com-
pensated for such deficiency by grazing lands, by timber lands, by hunting
lands or otherwise, as the particular character and conditions of each such
section may require.

7. That all existing inequalities in respect of both acreage and value
between lands set aside for the various Tribes be adjusted.

8. That for the purpose of emabling the two Governments to set aside
adequate additional lands and adjust all inequalities there be established a
system of obtaining lands including compulsory purchase, similar to that which
is being carried out by the Land Settlement Board of British Columbia.

9. That if the Governments and the Allied Tribes should not be able to
agree upon a standard of lands to be reserved that matter and all other
matters relating to lands to be reserved which cannot be adjusted in pursuance
of the preceding conditions and by conference between the two governments
and the Allied Tribes be referred to the Secretary of State for the Colonies
to be finally decided by that Minister in view of our land rights conceded by
the two Governments in accordance with our first condition and in pursuance
of the provisions of Article 13 of the “ Terms of Union” by such method of
procedure as shall be decided by the Parliament of Canada.

10. That the beneficial ownership of all reserves shall belong to the Tribe
for whose use and benefit they are set aside.

11. That a system of individual title to occupation of particular parts of
reserved lands be established and brought into operation and administered by
each Tribe.

12. That all sales, leases and other dispositions of land or timber or other
natural resources be made by the Government of Canada as trustee for the
Tribe with the consent of the Tribe and that of all who may have rights of
occupation affected, and that the proceeds be disposed of in such way and
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used from time to time for such particular purposes as shall be agreed upon
between the Government of Canada and the Tribe together with all those having
rights of occupation. .

13. That the fishing rights, hunting rights, and water rights of the Indian
Tribes be fully adjusted. Our land rights having first been established by con-
cession or decision we are willing that our general rights shall after full con-
ference between the two Governments and the Tribes be adjusted by enactment
of the Parliament of Canada.

14. That in connection with the adjustment of our fishing rights the matter
of the international treaty recently entered into which very seriously conflicts
with those rights be adjusted. We do not at present discuss the matter of fishing
for commercial purposes. However, that matter may stand. We claim that
we have a clear aboriginal right to take salmon for food. That right the Indian
Tribes have continuously exercised from time immemorial. Long before the
Dominion of Canada came into existence that right was guaranteed by Imperial
enactment, the Royal Proclamation issued in the year 1763. We claim that
under that Proclamation and another Imperial enactment, Section 109 of the
British North America Act, the meaning and effect of which were explained by the
Minister of Justice in the words set out above, all power held by the Parliament
of Canada for regulating the fisheries of British Columbia is subject to our right
of fishing. We therefore claim that the regulations contained in the treaty can-
not be made applicable to the Indian Tribes, and that any attempt to enforce
those regulations against the Indian Tribes is unlawful, being a breach of the
two Imperial enactments mentioned.

15. That compensation be made in respect of the following particular
matters:

(1) Inequalities of acreage or value or both that may be agreed to by any
Tribe.

(2) Inferior quality of reserved lands that may be agreed to by any
Tribe.

(3) Location of reserved lands other than that required agreed to by any
Tribe.

(4) Damages caused to the timber or other natural resources of any
reserved lands as for example by mining or smelting operations.

(5) All moneys expended by any Tribe in any way in connection with the
Indian land controversy and the adjustment of all matters outstanding.

16. That general compensation for lands to be surrendered be made.

(1) By establishing and maintaining an adequate system of education, in-
cluding both day schools and residential industrial schools, ete.

(2) By establishing and maintaining an adequate system of medical aid and
hospitals.

17. That all compensations provided for by the two preceding paragraphs
and all other compensation claimed by any Tribe so far as may be found
necessary be dealt with by enactment of the Parliament of Canada and be deter-
mined and administered in accordance with such enactment.

18. That all restrictions contained in the Land Act and other Statutes of
the Province be removed.

19. That the Indian Act be revised and that all amendments of that Act
required for carrying into full effect these conditions of settlement, dealing with
the matter of citizenship, and adjusting all outstanding matters relating to the
administration of Indian affairs in British Columbia be made.

20. That all moneys already expended and to be expended by the Allied
Tribes in connection with the Indian land controversy and the adjustment of all
matters outstanding be provided by the Governments.
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Parr IV.—ConcrubpiNg REMARKS

In conclusion we may remark that we have been fully informed on all
matters material to the preparation of this Statement, and have been advised
on all matters which we considered required advice. We have conducted a full
discussion of all points contained in the Statement, and have been careful to
obtain the mind of all the principal Allied Tribes on all the principal points.
These discussions have taken place at various large inter-tribal meetings held in
different parts of the Province, together with a meeting of the Executive
Committee. As result, we think we thoroughly understand the matters which
have been under consideration. Having discussed all very fully, we now
declare this Statement to be the well-settled mind of the Allied Tribes.

We have carefully limited our Statement of what we think should be
conditions of settlement to those we think are really necessary. We are not
pressing these conditions of settlement upon the Governments. If the Govern-
ments accept our basis and desire to enter into negotiations with us, we will be
ready to meet them at any time. In this connection, however, we desire to make
two things clear. Firstly, we are willing to accept any adjustment which may
be arranged in a really equitable way., but we are not prepared to accept a
settlement which will be a mere compromise. Secondly, we intend to continue
pressing our case in the Privy Council until such time as we shall obtain a
judgment, or until such time as the Governments shall have arrived at a basis
of settlement with us.

To what we have already said we may add that we are ready at any time
to give whatever additional information and explanation may be desired by the
Governments for the further elucidation of all matters embraced in our State-
ment.

We may further add that the Allied Tribes as a whole and the Executive
Committee are not professing to have the right and power to speak the complete
mind of every one of the Allied Tribes on all matters, particularly those matters
which specially affect them as Individual Tribes. Therefore, if the Govern-
ments should see fit to enter into negotiations with us, it might become necessary
also to enter into negotiations regarding some matters with individual tribes.

We certify that the Statement above set out was adopted at a full meeting
of the Executive Committee of the Allied Tribes of British Columbia held
at Vancouver on the 12th day of November, 1919, and by the Sub-Committee
of the Executive Committee on the 9th day of December in the same year.

PETER R. KELLY,

Charrman of Executiwe Committee and
member of Sub-Committee.

JoA. TEIT,

Secretary of Executive Committee and
member of Sub-Committee.
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APPENDIX B

EXCERPT FROM DOMINION AND PROVINCIAL LEGISLATION
1867-1895, PAGE 1024

REPORT OF THE HONOURABLE THE MINISTER OF JUSTICE, APPROVED By HIs
ExceLLENCY THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN ‘COUNCIL ON THE 23RD JANUARY, 1875.

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,
OrTawa, 19th January, 1875.

The undersigned has the honour to report:—

That the Act passed by the legislature of the province of British Columbia,
in the 37th year of Her Majesty’s reign, and assented to on the 2nd March,
1874, is the following:—No. 2, intituled: “An Act to amend and consolidate the
laws affecting Crown Lands in British Columbia.”

The title of the Act explains its object. It is a consolidation of the laws
relating to the recording and pre-emption of lands, the surveying and sale of
them; the regulation of miners’ rights, ete.

By its concluding section, the Act is not to come into force, until the
Lieutenant-Governor’s assent thereto has been proclaimed by notice in the
British Columbia Gazette.

The 2nd, or interpretation clause, defines that the words “Crown lands”
shall “mean all lands of this province held by th® Crown in free and common
soccage’. ‘

It is probably through inadvertence that this definition has been made,
and that the tenure of free and common soccage which is that of freehold
under grant from the Crown, is made applicable o lands of the Crown held
as such by the Crown as lord of the soil.

Were it an intentional definition, it could on y then mean a recognition of
the Indian sovereignty therein, and that Her Majesty is tenant by freehold.

Abandoning, therefore, this statutable definition, which is inapplicable,
the words “Crown lands,” may, for the purpose of this memorandum, be con-
sidered to mean all lands in the province vested in the Crown of which no grant
had been made.

A distinction is made between “unsurveyed land” and “surveyed land”.

As to “unsurveyed land,” it provides that any person qualified under that
section may record any tract of unoccupied, unsurveyed and unreserved Crown
lands (not being an Indian settlement) not exceeding the extent mentioned;

“Provided that such right shall not be held to extent to any of the aborigines
of this continent, except to such as shall have obtained permission in writing
to so record by a special order of the Lieutenant-Governor in Council.”

The record is done by stating and marking out the boundaries of claim,
and making a declaration in respect thereof.

As to “surveyed land,” it is defined by 23rd section.

A provision is made by the 24th section as to who may pre-empt any tract
of surveyed, unreserved, unoccupied and unrecorded land (not being an Indian
settlement), and a similar proviso to that above mentioned prohibits the abori-
gines of the continent the right of pre-emption, except as before mentioned.

Such persons are pre-empt are known as “home settlers”.

The undersigned deems it proper to notice that there is not in this Act any
reservation of lands in favour of the Indians or Indian tribes of British Colum-
bia; nor are the latter thereby accorded any rights or privileges in respect to
lands, or reserves, or settlements.
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On the contrary, the right to record unsurveyed land, or to pre-empt sur-
veyed land, is expressly enacted not to extend tc any of the aborigines, except
such as shall have obtained permission in writing of the Lieutenant-Governor
in Council.

Nor can the undersigned find that there is any legislation in force in British
Columbia which provides reservations of lands for the Indians, the only ordi-
naunce in that respect being one of the 15th March, 1869, which speaks of Crown
lands in the colony being Indian reserves or settlements.

The undersigned refers to the Order in Council, under which the province
of British Columbia was admitted into the Dominion, and particularly the 13th
section as to the Indians, which is as follows:—

“The charge of the Indians, and the trusteeship and management of the
lands reserved for their use and benefit, shall be assumed by the Dominion
government, and a policy as liberal as that hitherto pursued by, the British
Columbia government shall be continued by the Dominion government after the
union. To carry out such policy, tracts of land of such extent as it has hitherto
been the practice of the British Columbia government to appropriate for that
purpose, shall from time to time be conveyed by the local government to the
Dominion government in trust for the use and benefit of the Indians on applica-
tion of the Dominion government; and in case of disagreement| between two
governments respecting the quantity of such tracts of land to be so granted,
the matter shall be referred for the decision of the Secrgtary of State for the
Colonies.”

The question as to the provision which has been made of reserves for the
Indians, has been the subject of an Order of the Governor General in Council,
dated 4th November, 1874, and it is not necessary, therefore, to enter upon a
discussion of the merits of the case.

But having regard to the known, existing and increasing dissatisfaction of
the Indian tribes of British Columbia at the absence of adequate reservation
of lands for their use, and at the liberal appropriation for those in other parts
of Canada upon surrender by treaty of their territorial rights, and the difficulties,
which may arise from the not improbable assertion of that dissatisfaction by
hostilities on their part, the undersigned deems it right to call attention to the
legal position of the public lands of the province.

The undersigned believes that he is correct in stating, that with one slight
exception as to land in Vancouver Island surrendered to the Hudson Bay Com-
pany, which makes the absence of others the more remarkable, no surrender
of lands in that province has ever been obtained from the Indian tribes inhabit-
ing it, and that any reservations which have been made, have been arbitrary
on the part of the government, and without the assent of the Indians themselves,
and though the policy of obtaining surrenders at this lapse of time and under
the altered circumstances of the province, may be questionable, yet the under-
signed feels it his duty to assert such legal or equitable claim as may be found
to exist on the part of the Indians.

There is not a shadow of doubt, that from the earliest times, England has
always felt it imperative to meet the Indians in council, and to obtain surren-
ders of tracts of Canada, as from time to time such were required for the pur-
poses of settlements.

The 40th article of the treaty of capitulation of the city of Montreal,
dated 8th September, 1760, is to the effect that,

“The savages or Indian allies of His Most Christian Majesty shall be
maintained in the lands they inhabit if they chose to remain there.”

The proclamation of King George III, 1763, erecting within the countries
and islands ceded and confirmed to Great Britain by the treaty of the 10th
February, 1763, four distinct governments, styled Quebee, East Florida, West
Florida and Grenada, contains the following clauses:—



CLAIMS OF THE ALLIED INDIAN TRIBES, B.C. 41

“And whereas, it is just and reasonable and essential to our interests and
the security of our colonies, that the several nations or tribes of Indians with
whom we are connected, and who live under our protection, should not be
molested or disturbed in the possession of such parts of our dominions and
territories, as not having been ceded to us, are reserved to them, or any of them
as their hunting grounds; we do, therefore, with the advice of our Privy Council,
declare it to be our royal will and pleasure that no governor or commander-in-
chief, in any of our colonies of Quebec, East Florida or West Florida, do pre-
sume upon any pretense whatever to grant warrants of survey or pass any patents
for lands beyond the boundaries of their respective governments, as described in
their commissions; as also, that no governor or commander-in-chief of our other
colonies or plantations in America, do presume for the present and until our
future pleasure be known, to grant warrants of survey or pass any patents for
lands beyond the heads or sources of any of the rivers which fall into the
Atlantic Ocean from the west or north-west; or upon any lands whatever, which,
not having been ceded to or purchased by us, as aforesaid, are reserved to the
said Indians, or any of them; and we do further declare it to be our royal will
and pleasure, for the present, as aforesaid, to reserve under our sovereignty,
protection and dominion, for the use of the said Indians, all the land and terri-
tories not included within the limits, and territory granted to the Hudson Bay
Company; as also all the land and territories laying to the westward of the
sources of the rivers which fall into the sea from the west and northwest as
aforesaid; and we do hereby strictly forbid, on pain of our displeasure, all our
loving subjects from making any purchases or settlements, whatsoever, or taking
possession of any of the lands above reserved without our special leave and
license for that purpose first obtained. And we do further strictly enjoin and
require all persons whatsoever, who have either wilfully or inadvertently seated
themselves upon any land within the countries above described, or upon any
other lands, which not having been ceded to or purchased by us, are still reserved
to the said Indians as aforesaid, forthwith to remove themselves from such
settlements.

And whereas great frauds and abuses have been committed in the purchas-
ing lands of the Indians, to the great prejudice of our interests, and to the
great dissatisfaction of the said Indians; in order, therefore, to prevent such
irregularities for the future, and to the end that the Indians may be convinced
of our justice and determined resolution to remove all reasonable cause of
discontent, we do, with the advice of our Privy Council, strictly enjoin and
require that no private person do presume to make any purchase from the said
Indians of any lands reserved to the said Indians, within those parts of our
colonies where we had thought proper to allow settlements; but if at any time
any of the said Indians should be inclined to dispose of the said lands, the
same shall be purchased only for us, in our name, at some public meeting or
assembly of the said Indians, to be held for that purpose by the governor or
commander-in-chief of our colony, respectively, within which they shall be; and
in case they shall be within the limits of any proprietaries, conformable to
such directions and instructions as we or they shall think proper to give for
that purpose; and we do, by the advice of our Privy Council, declare and enjoin
that the trade with the said Indians shall be free and open to all our subjects
whatever; provided that every person who may incline to trade with the said
Indians do take out a license for carrying on such trade from the governor or
commander-in-chief of any of our colonies, respectively, where such person shall
reside, and also give security to observe such regulations as we shall at any
time think fit, by ourselves or commissaries to be appointed for this purpose,
to direct and appoint for the benefit of the said trade; and we do hereby author-
ize, enjoin and require the governors and commanders-in-chiefs of all our
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colonies, respectively, as well as those under our immediate government, as
those under the government and direction of proprietaries, to grant such licenses
without fee or reward, taking special care to insert therein a condition that
such license shall be void, and the security forfeited, in case the person to whom
the same is granted shall refuse or neglect to observe such regulations as we
shall think proper to prescribe as aforesaid.

And we do further expressly enjoin and require all officers whatever, as
well military as those employed in the management and direction of the Indian
affairs within the territories reserved, as aforesaid, for the use of the said
Indians, to seize and apprehend all persons whatever, who standing charged with
treason, misprision of treason, murder or other felonies or misdemeanors, shall
fly from justice and take refuge in the said territory, and to send them under
a- proper guard to the colony where the crime was committed, of which they
shall stand accused, in order to take their trial for the same.

It is not necessary now to inquire whether the lands to the west of the
Rocky Mountains and bordering on the Pacific Ocean, form part of the lands
claimed by France, and which, if such claims were correct, would have passed by
cession to England, under the Treaty of 1763, or whether the title of England
rests on any other ground, nor is it necessary to consider whether that proclama-
tion covered the land now known as British Columbia.

It is sufficient, for the present purposes, to ascertain the policy of England
in respect to the acquisition of the Indian territorial rights, and how entirely
that policy has been followed to the present time, except in the instance of
British Columbia.

It is true, also, that the proclamation of 1763, to which allusion has been
made, was repealed by the Imperial Statute 14 George III, chapter 83, known
as The Quebec Act; but that statute merely, so far as regards the present
case, annuls the proclamation, “so far as the same relates to the province of
Quebec, and the commission and the authority thereof, under the authority
whereof, the government of the said province is at present administered,” and
the Act was passed for the purpose of effecting a change in the mode of the
civil government of the administration of justice in the province of Quebec.

The Imperial Act, 1821, 1st and 2nd George IV., chapter 66, for regulating
the fur trade, and establishing a criminal and civil jurisdiction within certain
parts of North America, legislates expressly in respect to the portion of this con-
tinent which is therein spoken of as ¢ the Indian territories,” and by the Imperial
Act, 1849, 12 and 13 Victoria, chapter 48, “ An Act to provide for the admin-
istration in Vancouver’s Island.” The last-mentioned Act is recited, and it is
udded on recital that “for the purpose of the colonization of that part of the said
Indian territories called Vancouver’s Island, it is expedient that further provision
should be made for the administration of justice therein.”

The Imperial Act, 1858, 21 and 22 Victoria, chapter 98, “An Act to provide
for the government of British Columbia,” recites, “that divers of Her Majesty’s
subjects and others have by the license and consent of Her Majesty resorted to
and settled on certain wild and unoccupied territories on the North-west coast
of North America, now known as ‘New Caledonia,” from and after the passing
of the Act to be named British Columbia, and the islands adjacent,” etc.

The determination of England, as expressed in the proclamation of 1763,
that the Indians should not be molested in the possession of such parts of the
dominions and territories of England as, not having been ceded to the King, and
reserved to them, and which extended also to the prohibition of purchase of lands
from the Indians, except only to the Crown itseli—at a public meeting or as-
sembly of the said Indians to be held by the governor or commander-in-chief—
has, with slight alterations, been continued down to the present time, either as
the settled policy of Canada, or by legislative provision of Canada to that effect,
and it may be mentioned that in furtherance of that policy, so lately as in the
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vear 1874, treaties were made with various tribes of Indians in the North-west
Territories, and large tracts of lands lying between the province of Manitoba and
the Rocky Mountains were ceded and surrendered to the Crown upon conditions
of which the reservation of large tracts for the Indians, and the granting of
annuities and gifts annually, formed an important consideration; and in various
parts of Canada, from the Atlantic to the Rocky Mountains, large and valuable
tracts of land are now reserved for the Indians as part of their consideration of
their ceding and yielding to the Crown their territorial rights in other portions
of the Dominion.

Considering, then, these several features of the case, that no surrender or
cession of their territorial rights whether the same be of a legal or equitable
nature, has been ever executed by the Indian tribes of the province—that they
allege that the reservations of land made by the Government for their use,
have been arbitrarily so made, and are totally inadequate to their support and
requirements, and without their assent—that they are not averse to hostilities
in order to enforce rights which it is impossible to deny them, and that the Act
under consideration not only ignores those rights, but expressly prohibits the
Indians from enjoying the rights of recording or pre-empting lands, except by
consent of the Lieutenant-Governor;—the undersigned feels that he cannot do
otherwise than advise that the Act in question is objectionable, as tending to
deal with lands which are assumed to be the absolute property of the province,
an assumption which completely ignores, as applicable to the Indians of British
Columbia, the honour and good faith with which the Crown has, in all other
cases, since its sovereignity of the territories in North America, dealt with their
various Indian tribes.

The undersigned would also refer to the British North America Act, 1867,
section 109, applicable to British Columbia, which enacts in effect that all lands
belonging to the province shall belong to the province, “subject to any trust
existing in respect thereof, and to any interest, other than that of the province,
in the same.”

That which has been ordinarily spoken of as the “ Indian title ” must, of
necessity, consist of some species of interest in the lands of British Columbia.

If it is conceded that they have not a freehold in the soil, but that they have
an usufruct, a right of occupation or possession of the same for their own use,
then it would seem that these lands of British Columbia are subject, if not to
a “ trust existing in respect thereof,” at least “ to an interest other than that of
the province alone.”

The undersigned, therefore, feels it incumbent on him to recommend that
this Act should be disallowed, but suggests that such disallowance be postponed
until the last day at which such ecan take place, with a view of communication
on the subject with the Lieutenant-Governor of British Columbia.

It may be anticipated that no practical inconvenience can arise from its
digallowance should such be necessary, as the previously existing Crown land
Act will probably suffice to enable the province to continue, in the meantime,
disposal of lands.

The undersigned, whilst commenting on this Act, deems it also expedient to
call attention to that provision of the Order in Council under which the province
of British Columbia entered confederation, which refers to the conveyance by
the province to the Dominion government, in trust, of public lands along the
line of the Pacific Railway, throughout the entire length of British Columbia.
It may, of course, be argued that there has been no actual commencement, with-
in two years of the date of the Union, of the Canadian Pacific Railway; but
having regard to the practical commencement of that work in the surveys which
have been made along different portions of the contemplated route, the under-
signed deems it his duty to note that no reservations are made in the Act now
under consideration, and that without them, the recording and pre-emption
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of lands under this Act might be the subject of great embarrassment to the gov-
ernment of Canada, in the construction of the line or in the granting of any con-
tracts for construction of portions of it.

He suggests, therefore, that this is a further subject on which it is desirable
that communication should be had with the Lieutenant-Governor of British
Columbia.

I concur,

T. FOURNIER, H. BERNARD,

Mrinister of Justice, Deputy Minister of Justice.

EXCERPT FROM DOMINION AND PROVINCIAL LEGISLATION,
1867-1895, Page 1038 '

Rerorr oF THE HoN. THE MINISTER OF JUSTICE, APPROVED BY His EXCELLENCY
THE GOVERNOR GENERAL IN ‘COUNCIL ON THE 6TH May, 1876.

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,
Orrawa, 28th April, 1876.

With reference to the Acts of British Columbia assented to on the 22nd
April, 1875, the time for action upon which will expire on the 8th May next the
undersigned begs to report as follows:

1. By minute in council of the 16th October, 1875, the report of the
undersigned upon the Act chapter 5, intituled: “ An Act to make provision for
the better Administration of Justice,” was approved.

A copy of that minute was transmitted to the Lieutenant-Governor of
British Columbia.

The views of the government of British Columbia not having been com-
municated to His Excellency, the Secretary of State recently asked for a tele-
graphic communication upon the subject.

By telegraph, dated 27th April from the Lieutenant-Governor to the
Secretary of State, he is informed that the government of British Columbia
concurs in the disallowance of the Act for the better Administration of Justice;
that the general question involved therein is now under consideration, and a bill
reorganizing the system will, if time admit, be submitted to the legislature.

The report of the undersigned proposed that it should be suggested to the
government of British Columbia to repeal the Act, and to effect the division
of the province into districts, &c., by legislation, instead of by the machinery
proposed by the Act.

As the provincial government suggests the exercise of the power of dis-
allowance, and it is not certain whether amendatory legislation will be held
this session, the undersigned recommends that the said Act be disallowed.

2. By minute in council of the 10th November, 1875, the report of the
undersigned upon the Act, intituled: “ An Act to amend and consolidate the
laws respecting Crown Lands in British Columbia,” was approved.

The same steps were subsequently taken upon this subject, as those detailed
with reference to the subject treated of in the first paragraph.

The Lieutenant-Governor’s communication upon this Act states that the
objections taken by council to it are considered to be removed by the agreement
for a settlement of the Indian land question by commissioners.

Although the undersigned cannot concur in the view that the objections
taken are entirely removed by the action referred to; and, though he is of
opinion that, according to the determination of council upon the previous
Crown Lands Act, there remains serious question as to whether the Act now
under consideration is within the competence of the provinecial legislature, yet
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since according to the information of the undersigned, the statute under con-
sideration has been acted upon, and is bheing acted upon largely in British
Columbia, and great inconvenience and confusion might result from its dis-
allowance; and considering that the condition of the question at issue between
the two governments is very much improved since the date of his report, the
undersigned is of opinion that it would be the better course to leave the Act
to its operation.

It is to be observed that this procedure neither expresses nor impliedly
waives any right of the government of Canada to insist that any of the pro-
visions of the Act are beyond the competence of the Local Legislature, and are
consequently inoperative.

The undersigned recommends that the Act be left to its operation.

3. By minute in council of the 7th January, 1876, the report of the under-
signed respecting an Act, intituled: “ An Act to make Powers of Attorney valid
in certain cases,” was approved.

The same steps were subsequently taken upon this subject as those detailed
with reference to the subjects treated of in the first paragraph.

The Lieutenant-Governor’s communiaction upon this Act states that it
will be .immediately amended, to remove the objections taken to section 7,
which was the only clause objected to. Upon this assurance of the government
of British Columbia, the undersigned recommends that the Act be left to its
operation.

EDWARD BLAKE,

Minister of Justice.
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APPENDIX C

EXCERPT FROM BRITISH COLUMBIA PAPERS RELATING TO THE
INDIAN LANDS QUESTION 1875-1878. Page 160

Copy of a Report of a Committee of the Honourable the Privy Council, approved .
by His Excellency the Governor General in Council, on the 10th November,
1875,

The Committee of Council have had under consideration the Minute in
Council of the Government of British Columbia of the 18th August last, adopt-
ing the recommendations contained in a Memorandum of the local Attorney-
General, as the expression of the views of that Government as to the best method
of bringing about a settlement of the Indian Land question, and submitting
those recommendations for the consideration and assent of the Government of
the Dominion.

They have also had before them the Memorandum herewith annexed, from
the Honourable Mr. Scott, acting in the absence of the Honourable the Minister
of the Interior, to whom, the above-mentioned documents were referred, and
they respectfully report their concurrence in the recommendations therein sub-
mitted, and advise that a copy thereof and of this Minute be transmitted for
the consideration of the Government of British Columbia.

Certified.
: (Signed) W. A. HIMSWORTH,
- Clerk, Privy Council, Canada.
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
Orrawa, 5th November, 1875.
Memorandum:

The undersigned has had under consideration the Report of the Executive
Council of the 18th of August last, adopting the recommendations contained in
Memorandum of the local Attorney-General, the Honourable George A. Walkem,
as the expression of the views of that Government as to the best method of
bringing about a settlement of the Indian Land question, and submitting those
recommendations for the consideration and assent of the Government of the
Dominion.

The action of the British Columbia Government in this matter was no
doubt brought about by the Order of Your Excellency in Council of the 4th
November, 1874, on the subject of the Indian Reserves of British Columbia,
which was communicated officially to the British Columbia Government by the
Secretary of State.

The suggestions contained in Mr. Walkem’s Memorandum, and adopted
by the Order in Council of the British Columbia Government, are as follows:—

1. That no basis of acreage for Indian Reserves be fixed for the Province
as a whole, but that each nation (and not tribe) of Indians of the same language
be dealt with separately.

2. That for the proper adjustment of Indian claims the Dominion Govern-
ment do appoint an agent to reside with each nation.

3. That Reserves of land be set aside for each nationality of Indians; such
Reserve to contain, in addition to agricultural land, a large proportion of wild
and forest land. Every application for a Reserve shall be accompanied by a
Report from the agent having charge of the nation for whom the Reserve is
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intended; and such Report shall contain a census and give a description of the
habits and pursuits of each nation and also of the nature and quantity of the
land required for the use of such nation.

4. That each Reserve shall be held in trust for the use and benefit of the
nation of Indians to which it has been allotted, and, in the event of any material
increase or decrease hereafter of the members of a nation oceupying a Reserve,
such Reserve shall be enlarged or diminished as the case may be, so that it shall
bear a fair proportion to the numbers of the nation occupying it. The extra
land required for any Reserve shall be allotted from vacant Crown Lands, and
any land taken off a Reserve shall revert to the Province.

5. That the present local Reserves be surrendered by the Dominion to the
Province as soon as may be convenient, the Province agreeing to give fair
compensation for any improvements or clearings made upon any Reserve which
may be surrendered by the Dominion and accepted by the Province.

The suggestions in question are stated by Mr. Walkem as having been madc
by Mr. Duncan, in a letter which is appended to the Order in Council.

The undersigned would remark that the suggestions, as given by Mr.
Duncan in the letter in question, do not correspond precisely with the propositions
formulated by Mr. Walkem.

Mr. Duncan’s suggestions are as follows:—

1. That no basis of acreage for Reserves be fixed for the Province as a
whole, but rather that each nation of Indians be dealt with separately on their
respective claims.

2. That for the proper adjustment of such claims let the Dominion and the
Provincial Governments each provide an agent to visit the Indians and report
fully as to the number and pursuits of each nation and the kind of country they
severally occupy.

3. That the Provincial Government deal as liberally with the Indians as
other Provincial Governments in the Dominion.

My opinion is that a liberal policy will prove the cheapest in the end, but
I hold it will not be necessary in the interests of the Indians to grant them
only cultivable lands; rather I would recommend that a large portion of their
Reserves should be wild and forest lands, and hence may be very extensive
without impoverishing the Province, and at the same time so satisfactory to
the Indians as to allay all irritation and jealously towards the whites.

4. I think the Provincial Government might reasonably insist upon this
with the Dominion Government: That no Indian shall be allowed to alienate
any part of a Reserve, and in case of any Reserve being abandoned, or the
Indians on it decreasing, so that its extent is disproportioned to the number
of cccupants, that such Reserve or part of a Reserve might revert to the
Provincial Government.

Mr. Duncan adds: “The existing Reserves are shown to be, by the
correspondence, both irregular in quantity and misplaced as to the locality,
by following tribal divisions, which is no doubt a mistake and fraught with
bad consequences.

My advice would be, in the meantime simply to ignore them, as it certainly
would not be wise to regard them as a precedent, and it would be impolitic
to have two systems of Reserves in the Province, one tribal and the other
national.”

It will be observed that Mr. Walkem speaks of the appointment of an
agent by the Dominion Government whereas Mr. Duncan proposes that the
Dominion and Provincial Governments shall each provide an agent to visit
the Indians and report upon the question of Reserves.

While the undersigned is of opinion that in view of the very large experience
Mr. Duncan has had amongst the Indians of British Columbia, and the marvel-
lous success which has attended his labours amongst them, that gentleman’s
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suggestions on matters of Indian policy are entitled to the greatest weight,
and, while he concurs entirely in the general principles enunciated by Mr.
Duncan yet he thinks that both the suggestions of Mr. Duncan and the pro-
positions of Mr. Walkem, adopted by the Government of Birtish Columbia in
their Minute of 8th August last, fail to provide a prompt and final settlement
of this long-pending controversy.

Mr. Walkem provides merely that the agent shall make an application
for a Reserve and report upon the subject, and Mr. Duncan recommends that
the Dominion and Provincial agents shall report merely as to the number and
pursuits of the Indians. Looking to Mr. Walkem’s admission “ that the Indians
have undoubtedly become discontented, and that they are restless and uneasy
as to their future,” and to his further statement “that the Local Government
have been keenly alive not only to the advantage but to the absolute necessity
and urgent importance of a speedy settlement of all the questions connected
with their Reserves,” and again to Mr. Duncan’s expression of opinion as to
“the urgency and importance of the land question and its vital bearing on
the peace and prosperity of the Province,” the undersigned submits that no
scheme for the settlement of this question can be held to be satisfactory which
does not provide for its prompt and final adjustment.

In lieu, therefore, of the propositions submitted by Mr. Walkem and
sanctioned by the Order in Council of the British Columbia Government, the
undersigned would respectfully propose the following:

1. That with the view to the speedy and final adjustment of the Indian
Reserve question in British Columbia on a satisfactory basis, the whole matter
be referred to three Commissioners, one to be appointed by the Government
of the Dominion, one by the Government of British Columbia, and the third
to be named by the Dominion and the Local Governments jointly.

2. That the said Commissioners shall, as soon as practicable after their
appointment, meet at Victoria, and make arrangements to visit, with all
convenient speed, in such order as may be found desirable, each Indian nation,
(meaning by nation all Indian tribes speaking the same language) in British
Columbia, and, after full enquiry on the spot into all matters affecting the
question to fix and determine for each nation, separately, the number, extent,
and locality of the Reserve or Reserves to be allowed to it.

3. That in determining the extent of the Reserves to be granted to the
Indians of British Columbia, no basis of acreage be fixed for the Indians of that
Province as a whole, but that each nation of Indians of the same language be
dealt with separately.

4. That the Commissioners shall be guided generally by the spirit of the
Terms of Union between the Dominion and the Local Governments, which
contemplates a “liberal policy ” being pursued towards the Indians, and, in
the case of each particular nation, regard shall be had to the habits, wants
and pursuits of such nation, to the amount of territory available in the region
occupied by them, and to the claims of the white settlers.

5. That each Reserve shall be held in trust for the use and benefit of the
nation of Indians to which it has been allotted, and, in the event of any material
increase or decrease hereafter of the numbers of a nation occupying a Reserve,
such Reserve shall be enlarged or diminished, as the case may be, so that it
shall bear a fair proportion to the members of the nation occupying it. The
extra land required for any Reserve shall be allotted from Crown Lands, and
any land taken off a Reserve shall revert to the Province.

6. That so soon as the Reserve or Reserves for any Indian nation shall
have been fixed and determined by the Commissioners as aforesaid, the existing
Reserves belonging to such nation, so far as they are not in whole or in part
included in such new Reserve or Reserves so determined by the Commissioners,
shall be surrendered by the Dominin to the Local Government so soon as may
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be convenient, on the latter paying to the former for the benefit of the Indians,
such compensation for any clearings or improvements made on any Reserve
so surrendered by the Dominion and accepted by the Province, as may be
thought reasonable by the Commissioners aforesaid.

It will be observed that the preceding paragraphs, Nos. 3,4, 5 and 6, are
substantially the same as those submitted in the Memorandum of Mr. Walkem,
approved by the Order in Council of the British Columbia Government.

The undersigned would further recommend that each Commissioner be
paid by the Government appointing him, and that the third Commissioner
be allowed ten dollars per day while acting, and that his pay and other expenses
be borne equally by the Dominion and the Local Governments; and the under-
signed would further recommend that if this Memorandum be approved by
Your Excellency, a copy thereof and of the Minute of Council passed thereon
be communicated to His Honour the Lieutenant-Governor of British Columbia
for the consideration of His Government, and that another copy be placed in
Your Excellency’s hands for transmission to the Right Honourable the Secretary
of State for the Colonies.

The whole respectfully submitted.

(Signed) R. W. SCOTT,
Acting Minister of the Interior.
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APPENDIX E

P. C. 1081

Certified Copy of a Report of the Committee of the Privy Council, approved
by His Excellency the Governor General on the 17th May, 1911.
Privy Council, Canada.

The Committee of the Privy Council have had before them a report, dated
11th May, 1911, from the Minister of Justice, stating, with reference to Lord
Crewe’s despatch of the 31st March, 1909, and the subsequent correspondence with
regard to the claims of the British Columbia Indians, that no settlement of these
claims has yet been reached, and that Your Excellency’s Government and the
Government, of British Columbia in the negotiations which have subsequently
taken place have failed to conclude any arrangement for the determination
of the question involved.

The Minister further states that it is now proposed, therefore, on the part
of Your Excellency’s Government, to institute proceedings in the Exchequer
Court of Canada on behalf of the Indians against a provincial grantee, or
licensee, in the hope of obtaining a decision upon the questions involved as soon
as a case arises in which the main points in difference can be properly or con-
veniently tried.

That meantime the Indians and their friends are pressing the Government
to make representations on the subject to the Colonial Office, and recently a
memorial has been handed in, signed by the Rev. A. E. O'Meara, on behalf
of the Conference of the Friends of the Indians of British Columbia, copy of
which together with copies of the documents therein referred to, are herewith
submitted.

That the statement of facts contained in Mr. O’Meara’s memorandum
is, so far as it is within the knowledge of the Minister, substantially correct.

The Committee, on the recommendation of the Minister of Justice, advise
that Your Excellency may be pleased to transmit a copy hereof, together with
the several documents referred to herein, to the Right Honourable the Principal
Secretary of State for the Colonies.

All which is respectfully submitted for approval.

(Sgd.) F. K. BENNETT,
Asst. Clerk of the Privy Council.
Copy 59335-2

Privy Council
Canada '

(Annex to P.C. 1081, Order in Council, dated 17th May, 1911.)
BRITISH COLUMBIA INDIAN LAND SITUATION
MEMORANDUM FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA
Statement of Facts

1. By a petition which in March, 1909, was presented to His Majesty and
the Colonial Office and in April, 1909, was forwarded to His Excellency the
Governor General with request that he secure a report thereon from his Min-
isters, and by a resolution adopted at a general meeting held at the City of
Vancouver in September, 1909, the Indian Tribes of the Province of British
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Columbia asked the Imperial Government to submit their claim directly to the
Judicial Committee of His Majesty’s Privy Council and asked the Government
of Canada to facilitate the securing of such submission.

2. In January, 1910, the Indian Tribes placed in the hands of the Depart-
ment of Justice a “Statement of Facts and Claims.”

3. It is understood that, after full consideration of the above mentioned
documents, the Department of Justice came to the conclusion that existing con-
ditions render necessary the securing of the judicial decision desired by the
Indians and so advised.

4. It is understood that, the advice so given having been approved and
adopted, it was and is the desire of the Government of Canada that such decision
should be secured by means of a reference to the Supreme Court of Canada and
with the consent and concurrence of the Government of British Columbia.

5. It is understood that the Government of Canada entered into negotiations
with the Government of British Columbia, for the purpose of obtaining such
consent and concurrence, and in May, 1910, the Deputy Minister of Justice and
the Deputy Attorney General of the Province of British Columbia met at the
City of Ottawa and prepared ten questions for submission to the Supreme Court
of Canada with a view to their being carried to the judicial Committee of the
Privy Council. Of these the first three related to the general matter of Indian
title and the remaining seven related to matters connected with lands reserved
for the Indians. The said ten questions as finally drawn by the Deputy Minister
of Justice were approved by the Deputy Attorney General and by Counsel for
the Province of British Columbia and were subsequently submitted to and
approved by Counsel for the Indian tribes.

6. It is understood that, when the said ten questions were submitted to the
Government of British Columbia for final action, that Government objected to
the first three of the said questions and expressed unwillingness to proceed with
the proposed reference unless those three questions were omitted.

7. In the month of August, 1910, at the City of Victoria “The Conference
of Friends of the Indians of British Columbia,” an organization formed in the
month of March, 1910, presented a memorial to the Prime Minister of Canada.

8. On 23rd September, 1910, the Moral and Social Reform Council of Can-
ada assembled in annual meeting at the City of Toronto passed the following
resolution:—

In view of the national importance of securing full justice for the
native race in all parts of Canada, this Council, while not expressing an
opinion upon the merits of the claims now being made by the Indian
Tribes of British Columbia, expressed its sympathy with the aims of the
Conference of Friends of the Indians of British Columbia in seeking to
bring about as rapidly as possible a just and advantageous solution of the
problems presented by existing conditions in that Province, and its sense
of the great importance of accomplishing that object. This Council
expresses the hope that the Governments concerned will facilitate a prompt
and final settlement of the whole question of the Indian title. It is further
resolved that the members of the delegation already appointed be author-
ized to present this resolution to the Prime Minister of Canada and the
Superintendent-General of Indian Affairs.

9. On 6th October, 1910, in pursuance of the Memorial and Resolution above
mentioned, a delegation representing both the Friends of the Indians of British
Columbia and the Moral and Social Reform Council of Canada waited upon the-
Prime Minister of Canada and the Superintendent-General of Indian Affairs,.
who were accompanied by the Deputy Minister of Justice. A copy of the report.
of that interview prepared by the delegation is in the hands of the Government.

10. In pursuance of the recommendation of the Prime Minister set cut in
the above mentioned report, a delegation from the Friends of the Indians of
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British Columbia on 14th December, 1910, at the City of Victoria waited upon
the Government of British Columbia. A copy of the stenographic report of
the Interview prepared under instructions of the Premier of British Columbia is
in the hands of the Government.

11. On 23rd December, 1910, the Premier of British Columbia addressed to
the Chairman of the Friends of the Indians of British Columbia the formal
answer, copy of which is in the hands of the Government.

12. On 20th February last the Chairman of the Friends of the Indians of
British Columbia addressed to the Premier of British Columbia the reply,
copy of which is in the hands of the Government.

13. On the 1st, 2nd and 3rd of March last, ninety-six Indians delegates
representing a large number of the tribes of British Columbia assembled at the
City of Victoria and on the 3rd of March waited in a body upon the Government
of British Columbia and presented to that Government the statement, copy of
which is in the hands of the Government.

14. A copy of the stenographic report. of the interview had upon that
occasion prepared under the instruction of the Premier of British Columbia is
in the hands of the Government.

15. On the 26th April last a delegation representing both the Friends of the
Indians of British Columbia and the Moral and Social Reform Council of
Canada waited upon the Prime Minister of Canada, the Superintendent-General
of Indian Affairs, and the Minister of Justice.

A copy of the stenographic report of the interview is in the hands of the
Government.

Statement of Request

1. That as soon as conveniently possible there be sent to the Imperial
Government a full report of the whole matter including the facts above stated.

2. That with such report there be sent copies of the documents mentioned in
the above statement. .

3. That all matters contained and views expressed in those documents be
submitted for the consideration of His Majesty and the Colonial Office and for
such action as may be deemed wise.

4. That together with the foregoing there be sent a report of the Govern-
ment of Canada regarding the Petition of the Indians as requested by the
Imperial Government, in April, 1909.

All of which is respectfully submitted on behalf of the “Conference of
Friends of the Indians of British Columbia”.

(Sgd.) A. E. OMEARA.
Orrawa, 3rd May, 1911.
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APPENDIX F

Privy Council
Canada
. « A ”

P.C.751.

Certified Copy of a Report of the Committee of the Privy Council, approved by
His Royal Highness the Governor General on the 20th June, 1914.

The Committee of the Privy Council have had before them a Report from
the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, dated 11th March, 1914, sub-
mitting the accompanying memorandum from the Deputy Superintendent
Gieneral of Indian Affairs upon the Indian claim to the lands of the Province
of British Columbia, in which he concurs.

The Committee, on the recommendation of the Superintendent General
of Indian Affairs, advise that the claim be referred to the Exchequer Court of
Canada with the right of appeal to the Privy Council under the following con-
ditions:—

1. The Indians of British Columbia shall, by their Chiefs or representatives,
in a binding way, agree, if the Court, or on appeal, the Privy Council,
decides that they have a title to lands of the Province, to surrender
such title, receiving from the Dominion benefits to be granted for
extinguishment of title in accordance with past usage of the Crown
in satisfying the Indian claim to unsurrendered territories, and to accept
the finding of the Royal Commission on Indian Affairs in British
Columbia as approved by the Governments of the Dominion and the
Province as a full allotment of Reserve lands to be administered for
their benefit as part of the compensation.

2. That the Province of British Columbia by granting the said reserves
as approved shall be held to have satisfied all claims of the Indians
against the Province.

That the remaining considerations shall be provided and the cost
thereof borne by the Government of the Dominion of Canada.

3. That the Government of British Columbia shall be represented by
counsel, that the Indians shall be represented by counsel nominated
and paid by the Dominion.

4, That, in the event of the Court or the Privy Council deciding that the
Indians have no title in the lands of the Province of British Columbia,
the policy of the Dominion towards the Indians shall be governed by
consideration of their interests and future development.

All which is respectfully submitted for approval.

RODOLPHE BOUDREATU,
Clerk of the Privy Council.

The Honourable
The Superintendent General of Indian Affairs.
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DEPARTMENT OF INDIAN AFFATRS, CANADA,

Orrawa, March 11, 1914.
The Honourable .
The Superintendent General of Indians Affairs.

The undersigned has given consideration to the petition of the Nishga
Indians to the Privy Council, with reference to the alleged claim of those Indians
to title in the lands of British Columbia and to a like claim on the part of the
other Indians of the Province. I find indications in the papers that the Govern-
ment is not unwilling to submit this claim to the courts, but the difficulties which
are inherent in the claim and which may have prevented its submission have so
far not been overcome; the two main difficulties would appear to be:—

1. The refusal of British Columbia to consent to a stated case which would
include any reference to the lndian title.

2. Uncertainty as to the extent of compensation which might be demanded
by the Indians if they were successful before the courts, and if the Crown found
it good policy to extinguish the title of the Indians.

With reference to the first difficulty I would propose that it be held that
British Columbia has fully discharged its obligation to the natives by granting
from the public domain of the Province reserve lands to be administered
exclusively for their benefit, and that, if the Indian claim is found valid by the
Court or the Privy Counecil, and, if it is thought advisable to offer anything
further for extinguishment of title, the Dominion should assume the burden and
compensate the Indians according to the past usage in such arrangements as
have been made by the good-will of the Crown with the aborigines. The
Dominion has interest in the lands in the Railway belt, and, to this extent, would
benefit by extinguishment of the Indian title.

There are two Indian treaties which might be taken as prototypes for this
divided responsibility, namely, the Treaty known as the Northwest Angle Treaty
No. 3, and Treaty No. 9; both of these treaties are within the Province of Ontario.
The first was negotiated when the Dominion Government thought the territory
covered belonged to the Dominion. When by settlement of the boundary
question it was discovered that most of the territory lay in Ontario, the Dominion
claimed from Ontario for past expenditure and for the discharge of future liabili-
ties. The case went to the courts and was decided in favour of Ontario. Ontario
thereupon expressed her willingness to grant the reserves, and the Dominion
bears the financial outlay for annuities and the other considerations.

Treaty No. 9 formed the subject of an agreement between the Governments
of the Dominion and the Province of Ontario. Ontario agreed to furnish reserves
and pay the annuities; the Dominion was to bear the cost of administration,
education and the other provisions of the treaty.

Dealing with the second difficuity,—it would be a serious matter if the
Dominion were to assume the undetermined liability which might arise if the
Indians’ claim were upheld by the courts. The erroneous view of the Indians as
regards the nature of the aboriginal title is shown by a memorandum from the
Nishga Nation, of which I attach a copy. I may quote here the sentences bearing
on this point:—

“Some of the advantages to be derived from establishing our aboriginal
rights are:—

1. That it will place us in a position to reserve for our own use and benefit
such portions of our territory as are required for the future well-being of our
people.

2. That it will enable us to a much greater extent and in a free and indepen-
dent manner to make use of the fisheries and other natural resources pertaining

to our territory.”
* * * * *
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“We cannot prevent the Province from persisting in this attempt, but we
ean and do respectfully declare that we intend to persist in making our claim
against the Province of British Columbia for the following among other reasons.”

* * * * *

“4. While we claim the right to be compensated for those portions of our
territory which we may agree to surrender, we claim as even more important
the right to reserve other portions permanently for our own use and benefit,
and beyond doubt the portions which we would desire so to reserve would
include much of the land which has been sold by the Province.

We are not opposed to the coming of the white people into our territory,
provided this be carried out justly and in accordance with the British principles
embodied in the Royal Proclamation. 1If, therefore, as we expect, the aboriginal
rights which we claim should be established by the decision of His Majesty’s
Privy Council, we would be prepared to take a moderate and reasonable position.
In that event, while claiming the right to decide for ourselves the terms upon
which we would deal with our territory, we would be willing that all matters
outstanding between the Province and ourselves should be finally adjusted
by some equitable method to be agreed upon which should include representa-
tion of the Indian Tribes upon any Commission which might then be appointed.”

From these words it will become apparent what fancies occupy the minds
of the Indians when they think of the aboriginal title and its purchase.

The Privy Council, to which the Nishga Nation desire to appeal, has
already pronounced upon the nature of the Indian title, describing it as “a
personal and usufructuary right dependent upon the good-will of the Sovereign.”

It follows that the Indian title, when acknowledged by the Crown, cannot be
separated from what the Crown elects to grant. In appraising the Indian title
we should go back to the time when the lands were a wilderness, when we find
a wild people upon an unimproved estate. The Indian title cannot increase
in value with civilized development; cession of Indian territory has always
preceded the settlement of the country and whatever has been granted for the
transfer has represented the good-will of the Crown, not the intrinsic value of the
land at the time of the cession, and assuredly not the value enhanced by the
activities of a white population. From the earliest times this beneficial interest
has ever been appraised by the Crown, the Indians accepting what was offered,
with, upon occasion, slight alterations in terms previously fixed by the Crown.
It is optional when, if at all, the Crown may proceed to extinguish the Indian
title, and, therefore, if it is decided that the Indians of British Columbia have
a title of this nature, there can be no claim for deferred benefit from the Crown.

I would, therefore, propose that the claim be referred to the Exchequer
Court, with right of appeal to the Privy Council upon the following con-
ditions:—

1. That the Indians of British Columbia shall, by their Chiefs or repre-
sentatives, in a binding way, agree, if the Court, or, on appeal, the Privy Council,
decides that they have a title to lands of the Province, to surrender such
title, receiving from the Dominion benefits to be granted for extinguishment
of title in accordance with past usage of the Crown in satisfying the Indian
claim to unsurrendered territories, and to accept the finding of the Royal Com-
mission on Indian Affairs in British Columbia, as approved by the Governments
of the Dominion and the Province, as a full allotment of Reserve lands to be
administered for their benefit as part of the compensation.

2. That the Province of British Columbia by granting the said reserves
as approved shall be held to have satisfied all claims of the Indians against the
Province.

That the remaining considerations shall be provided and the cost thereof
borne by the Government of the Dominion of Canada.
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3. That the Government of British Columbia shall be represented by
counsel, that the Indians shall be represented by counsel nominated and paid by®
the Dominion.

4. That in the event of the Court or the Privy Council deciding that the
Indians have no title in the lands of the Province of British Columbia, the
policy of the Dominion towards the Indians shall be governed by consideration
of their interests and future development.

DUNCAN C. SCOTT,
Deputy Superintendent General.

STATEMENT OF THE NISHGA NATION OR TRIBE OF INDIANS.

From time immemorial the Nishga Nation or Tribe of Indians possessed,
occupied and used the territory generally known as the Valley of the Naas
River, the boundaries of which are well defined.

The claims which we make in respect of this territory are clear and simple,
We lay claim to the rights of men. We claim to be aboriginal inhabitants of
this country and to have rights as such. We claim that our aboriginal rights
have been guaranteed by Proclamation of King George Third and recognized
by Acts of the Parliament of Great Britain. We claim that holding under the
words of that Proclamation a tribal ownership of the territory, we should be
dealt with in accordance with its provision, and that no part of our lands should
be taken from us or in any way disposed of until the same has been purchased
by the Crown.

By reason of our aboriginal rights above stated, we claim tribal ownership
of all fisheries and other natural resources pertaining to the territory above-
mentioned.

For more than twenty-five years, being convinced that the recognition of
our aboriginal rights would be of very great material advantage to us and would
open the way for the intellectual, social and industrial advance of our people,
we have in common with other tribes of British Columbia, actively pressed our
claims upon the Governments concerned. In recent years, being more than
ever convinced of the advantages to be derived from such recognition and fearing
that without such the advance of settlement would endanger our whole future,
we have pressed these claims with greatly increased earnestness.

Some of the advantages to be derived from establishing our aboriginal rights
are:—

1. That it will place us in a position to reserve for own use and benefit
such portions of our territory as are required for the future well-being of our

eople.

: p2. That it will enable us to a much greater extent and in a free and
independent manner to make use of the fisheries and other natural resources
pertaining to our territory.

3. That it will open the way for bringing to an end as rapidly as possible
the system of Reserves and substituting a system of individual ownership.

4. That it will open the way for putting an end to all uncertainty and
unrest, bringing about a permanent and satisfactory settlement between the
white people and ourselves, and thus removing the danger of serious trouble
which now undoubtedly exists.

5. That it will open the way for our taking our place as not only loyal
British subjects but also Canadian citizens, as for many years we have desired
to do.
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In thus seeking to realize what is highest and best for our people, we have
encountered a very serious difficulty in the attitude which has been assumed
by the Government of British Columbia. That Government has neglected
and refused to recognize our claims, and for many years has been selling over
our heads large tracts of our lands. We claim that every such transaction
entered into in respect of any part of these lands under the assumed authority
of the Provincial Land Act has been entered into in violation of the Procla-
mation above mentioned. These transactions have been entered into notwith-
standing our protests, oral and written, presented to the Government of British
Columbia, surveyors employed by that Government and intending purchasers.

The request of the Indian Tribes of British Columbia made through their
Provincial Organization, that the matter of Indian title be submitted to the
Judicial Committee of His Majesty’s Privy Counecil, having been before the
Imperial Government and the Canadian Government for three years, and
grave constitutional difficulties arising from the refusal of British Columbia
to consent to a reference, having been encountered in dealing with that request,
we resolved independently and directly to place a petition before His Majesty’s
Privy Counecil.

In following that course we desire to act to the fullest possible extent in
harmony both with other tribes of British Columbia and with the Government
of Canada.

We are informed that Mr. J. A. J. McKenna sent out by the Government
of Canada has made a report in which he does not mention the claims which the
Indians of the Province have been making for so many years, and assigns as the
cause of all the trouble, the reversionary claim of the Province. Whatever other
things Mr. McKenna found out during his stay, we are sure that he did not find
out our mind or the real cause of the trouble.

We are also informed of the agreement, relating only to the so-called reserves
which was entered into by Mr. McKenna and Premier McBride. We are glad
from its provisions to know that the Province has expressed willingness to
abandon to a large extent the reversionary claim which has been made. We
cannot, however, regard that agreement as forming a possible basis for settling
the land question. We cannot concede that the two Governments have power
by the agreement in question or any other agreement to dispose of the so-called
Reserves or any other lands of British Columbia, until the territory of each
nation or tribe has been purchased by the Crown as required by the Procla-
mation of King George Third.

We are also informed that in the course of recent negotiations, the Govern-
ment, of British Columbia has contended that under the terms of Union the
Dominion of Canada is responsible for making treaties with the Indian Tribes
in settlement of their claims. - This attempt to shift responsibility to Canada
and by doing so render it more difficult for us to establish our rights, seems to
us utterly unfair and unjustifiable. We cannot prevent the Province from
persisting in this attempt, but we can and do respectfully declare that we intend
to persist in making our claim against the Province of British Columbia for the
following among other reasons:—

1. We are advised that at the time of Confederation all lands embraced
within our territory became the property of the province subject to any interest
other than that of the province therein.

2. We have for a long time known that in 1875 the Department of Justice
of Canada reported that the Indian Tribes of British Columbia are entitled to
an interest in the lands of the province.

3. Notwithstanding the report then made and the position in accordance
with that report consistently taken by every representative of Canada from the
time of Lord Dufferin’s speeches until the spring of the present year, and in
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defiance of our frequent protests, the Province has sold a large proportion of the
best lands of our territory and has by means of such wrongful sales received a
large amount of money.

4. While we claim the right to be compensated for those portions of our
territory which we may agree to surrender, we claim as even more important the
right to reserve other portions permanently for our own use and benefit, and
beyond doubt the portions which we would desire so to reserve would include
much of the land which has been sold by the Province.

We are not opposed to the coming of the white people into our territory
provided this be carried out justly and in accordance with the British prineciples
embodied in the Royal Proclamation. If, therefore, as we expect, the aboriginal
rights which we claim should be established by the decision of His Majesty’s
Privy Council, we would be prepared to take a moderate and reasonable
position. In that event, while claiming the right to decide for ourselves the
terms upon which we would deal with our territory, we would be willing that
all matters outstanding between the Province and ourselves should be finally
adjusted by some equitable method to be agreed upon which should include rep-
resentation of the Indian Tribes upon any Commission which then might be
appointed.

The above statement was unanimously adopted at a meeting of the Nishga
Nation or Tribe of Indians held at Kincolith on the 22nd day of January, 1913,
and it was resolved that a copy of same be placed in the hands of each of the
following:—

The Secretary of State for the Colonies, the Prime Minister of Canada, the
Minister of Indian Affairs, the Minister of Justice, Mr. J. M. Clark, K.C.,
Counsel for the Indian Rights Association of British Columbia, and the Chair-
man of the “ Friends of the Indians of British Columbia.”

W. J. LINCOLN,
Chairman of Meeting.
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APPENDIX G
Copy 59,335-4A

16 December, 1918.

GENTLEMEN,—Referring to your letter of the 27th May last, on the sub-
ject of gertain claims of the Nishga Tribe of Indians in British Columbia, I am
directed by the Lord President of the Council to state as follows:—

1. One of the matters in dispute is set out in the Petition lodged
by you on the 21st May, 1913, as “the nature and extent of the rights of
the said Nishga Nation or Tribe in respect of the said Territory”. The
other is the question whether the Land Act of British Columbia is wltra
vires of the T.egislature of that Province.

2. If the contention of the Nishga Indians is, as it appears to be,
that they have suffered an invasion of some legal right, the proper course
would, in His Lordship’s opinion, be for them to take such steps as may
be open to them to litigate the matter in the Canadian Courts, from
whose decision an appeal in the ordinary way can come to the Judicial
Committee. It would seem that any intervention by the 'Crown by
referring the matter specially direct to the said Committee would be an
unconstitutional interference with the local jurisdiction.

3. If however the claim of the Indians does not rest on any legal
basis, but is, in effect, a complaint of the executive action of the Provin-
cial or the Dominion Government, it would appear that, in accordance
with constitutional principles governing relations between the Crown
and the Colonial Governments a special reference to the Judicial Com-
mittee to consider the action of the Dominion or Provincial Government
could only be ordered on the recommendation of the Secretary of State
for the Colonies, and that he would only advise such a reference after

consulting, and in accordance with the advice received from the Domin-
ion Government.

In these circumstances His Lordship cannot see his way to take any further
action on the Petition.

I am, etc.,
(Sgd.) ALMERIC FITZROY,
Messrs. SmiTHS, FOX AND SEDGWICK, :
26 Lincoln’s Inn Fields,
Ww.C. 2

Copy.
Ortawa, 14th November, 1914.

The Reverend ArtHUR E. O’MEARA, B.A.,
Prince George Hotel,
Toronto, Ont.

Sir: It is in my view unnecessary to correct the narrative of your letter
of 26th ultimo, because except in the two points which I am going to mention
it is immaterial to any question now under consideration. ;

As to your remark that it has always been the view of those advising the
Nishgas that the only feasible method of securing a judicial determination of
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the rights of the Indians of British Columbia is that of bringing their claims
directly before His Majesty’s Privy Council, I wish you would realize and
endeavour to convince those whom you describe as advising the Nishgas that
this Government, has no power or authority to refer a question directly to His
Majesty’s Privy Council; that the only constitutional method of obtaining the
judicial view of His Majesty in Council relating to a question limited to the
internal affairs of Canada is by appeal from the local tribunals, and that His
Royal Highness’ Government is determined for these reasons, which have been
so often explained to you and those whom you profess to represent, not to
advise or concur in any proceedings looking to a decision in which the courts
of the Dominion shall not have an opportunity to express their views. 1,
therefore, it be possible for me to make any statement here which can, consist-
ently with the amenities of official correspondence, impress you with the futility
of urging upon this Government a reference direct to the Judicial Committee,
I beg of you to consider that statement incorporated in this letter.

The policy of the Government with regard to the British Columbia Indian
question is very clearly stated in the Order-in-Council of 20th June last, and
you should, I think, be able to perceive, that one of the conditions upon which
further progress may be made is that the Indians shall come under the obligation
defined by the first anumeration of the Order in Council. You state that the
Order in Council has been brought before the Nishgas Indians, and that they
will, as soon as possible, place their answer before the Government. So far
it is well, but when you say that it is clearly necessary that before the Nishgas
answer they should be advised regarding the procedure of the courts, and-
demand to be informed under the authority of what enactment and for what
reasons a reference to the Exchequer Court is proposed, I may I trust be
permitted to observe that the essential question for’ consideration of the Nishgas
1s as to whether, if their alleged title be upheld by the ultimate tribunal, they
are willing to surrender that title in consideration of benefits to be granted
in extinguishment according to the ancient usage of the Crown. I think it
would be a pity that this question should be obscured or involved in the diffi-
culties which you have encountered about the procedure, and which the Indians
presumably would be no better able to understand. Therefore, without making
any further attempt to explain the procedure which perhaps could not succeed
within the compass of an ordinary letter, I suggest that the Indians should
be permitted to consider the question in which they are really interested as
submitted by the Order in Council. It is unlikely I should think that the
Indians would concern themselves with procedure. They have I imagine
sufficient discernment to perceive, if their deliberations be not influenced to
the contrary, that a question of procedure is at present quite irrelevant; but if
necessary you may unhesitatingly assure them that no point of procedure will
be permitted to prejudice a decision upon the merits of the case, and that the
Government will see to it that the proceedings are brought and conducted in
such a manner as to provide for the admission of all the facts and arguments
which are material to the controversy.

May I be allowed to add that in view of what I have stated I do not
propose to consider the procedure until it is ascertained that the Indians have
acquiesced in the conditions of the Order in Council which are preliminary
to any procedure

I have the honour to be,
Sir,
Your obedient servant,

(Sgd.) C. J. DoHERTY,
Minister of Justice.
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Copy 59,335-4. :
Orrawa, 25th September, 1916.
Rev. ARTHUR E. O’'MEARA,
1621 Hutchison Street,
Montreal.

Drar Mg. O’MEara,—His Royal Highness has interviewed the Honourable
Dr. Roche with reference to your letter of the 29th May and your interview
with me and I am commanded by His Royal Highness to state that he considers
it is the duty of the Nishga Tribe of Indians to await the decision of the Com-
mission, after which, if they do not agree to the conditions set forth by the Com-
mission, they can appeal to the Privy Council in England, when their case will
have every consideration. As their contentions will be duly considered by the
Privy Council in the event of the Indians being dissatisfied with the decision of
the Commission, His Royal Highness is not prepared to interfere in the matter
at present and he hopes that you will advise the Indians to await the decision
of this Commission.

Yours sincerely,

Lieut.-Col. ED. S. STANTON.
Governor General’'s Secretary.

Copy 59335-4A.
Otrawa, 17th March, 1920.

Rev. A. E. O'MEARA,
Chateau Laurier,
Ottawa,

Sir,—I am commanded by His Ixcellency the Governor General to acknowl-
edge the receipt of your letter of the 20th ultimo with regard to the Nishga
Indians. You are probably aware that the claims of the Nishga Tribe of Indians
in British Columbia have already been considered by the Privy Council. In
May, 1913, a petition to His Majesty in Council was lodged on behalf of the
Nishga Tribe of Indians praying that certain claims of theirs to land in British
Columbia might be referred to the Judicial or other Committee of the Privy
Council and Their Lordships, having given the petition their careful consideration,
were of the opinion that no action on their part was required in the matter.
The Lord President of the Council directed Sir Almeric Fitzroy to state as
follows:—

1. One of the matters in dispute is set out in the Petition lodged by
you on the 21st May, 1913, as “ the nature and extent of the rights of the
said Nishga Nation or Tribe in respect of the said Territory ”. The other
is the question whether the Land Act of British Columbia is ultra vires of
the Legislature of that Province.

2. If the contention of the Nishga Indians is, as it appears to be, that
they have suffered an invasion of some legal right, the proper course
would, in the opinion of the Lord President of the Council, be for them
to take such steps as may be open to them to litigate the matter in the
Canadian Courts from whose decision an appeal in the ordinary way can
come to the Judicial Committee. It would seem that any intervention by
the Crown by referring the matter specially direct to the said Committee
would be an unconstitutional interference with the local jurisdiction.

3. If however the claim of the Indians does not rest on any legal
basis, but is, in effect, a complaint of the executive action of the Provincial
or the Dominion Government, it would appear that, in accordance with
constitutional principles governing relations between the Crown and the
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Colonial Governments a special reference to the Judicial Committee to
consider the action of the Dominion or Provincial Government could
only be ordered on the recommendation of the Secretary of State for the
Colonies, and that the latter could only advise such a reference after
consulting, and in accordance with the advice received from the Dominion
Government.

You have already been informed on several occasions of the attitude of the
Dominion Government, towards this claim and there does not appear to be any-
thing further for me to add except that the Governor General takes no action,
nor does he desire to take any action, except upon the advice of his constitu-
tional advisers. Under these circumstances, I must ask you to consider this letter
as final.

I have, etc.,

(Sgd.) Lieut.-Col. H. G. HENDERSON,
Governor General’s Secretary.
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APPENDIX H

DEPARTMENT OF INDIAN AFFAIRS,
CANADA

OFFICE OF THE DEPUTY SUPERINTENDENT GENERAL,

OrTawa, October 29, 1923.
Memorandum: |

Honourable CHARLES STEWART.

I have the honour to transmit herewith the stenographic report of the meet-
ings with the Executive Council of the Allied Tribes of British Columbia in
Vancouver and Victoria. As you are aware the meetings at Vancouver were
preliminary to the more detailed discussion which took place in Victoria.

As you thought it advisable that some representative of the British Colum-
bia Government should be present at the round table conference with the Indians,
I wrote to the Hon. Mr. Oliver as follows:—

“New WestMmInNsTER, B.C., July 27th, 1923.

The Honourable JouN OLIVER,
Prime Minister of British Columbia,
Victoria, B.C.

Dear Mr. OLivEr,—You were kind enough to promise me an appointment
on Monday morning next, and I shall expect to be in Victoria and call upon you
then.

We propose to have some further conferences with the Indians on general
matters pertaining to their claims, and T expect to be able to arrange a time for
these meetings in Victoria by Tuesday or Wednesday.

The Honourable Mr. Stewart would urge upon you the advisability of the
Government of British Columbia being represented by one of your Ministers at
these meetings. I have, therefore, on his behalf to ask that you will give that
matter your careful consideration.

Yours very truly,

(Signed) DUNCAN C. SCOTT,
Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs.
OrTAWA, ONTARIO.

As I knew that the Prime Minister intended to leave Victoria and be absent
three or four weeks, I thought it well to make a special trip to the capital in .
order to urge upon him the consideration of what is known as the Supplementary
List of Reserves. I interviewed him on the morning of July 30th. The Hon. Mr.
Patullo was present during part of the interview. In discussing the matter 1
went into it rather fully and urged very strongly that the Supplementary List
should be favourably considered. Mr. Patullo promised on behalf of his Govern-
ment to have it carefully examined by Mr. MacKenzie, Grazing Commissioner,
and Chief Inspector Ditchburn, but he did not give any assurance that any of
the additional applications would be granted. Mr. Oliver expressed the opinion
that there could be no finality of the Indian reserve question taking into con-
sideration the Thirteenth Article of the Terms of Union, as under this section
the Province was bound to give lands for Indian reserves from time to time
whenever such were really required. This appeared to me to be Mr. Oliver’s
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personal opinion. I referred to my letter dated at New Westminster July 27th,
and asked him to consider appointing a representative to be present at our meet-
ings with the Indians. He said that he would consider that in Council that
afternoon, and Mr. Ditchburn received later a note dated the 31st July, signed
by Mr. Oliver’s Private Secretary, as follows:—

Prime MinisTER'S OFFICE,
Vicroria, B.C,, 31st July, 1923.

Mr. W. E. DiTcHBURN,
Indian Agent,
- City.

Dgar Sir,—In reference to the conference held yesterday between your-
self and the Superintendent of Indian Affairs with the Premier and Hon.
Mr. Patullo, I am directed by the Premier to say that the question of a
representative of the Province attending any conference held between
representatives of the Government of Canada and the Indians of British
Columbia, was considered by the Executive Council this morning, and
it was the opinion of the Council that whereas the charge of the Indians
and their trusteeship and management of the lands reserved for thex
use is a function of the Dominion Government, therefore, any conference
with the Indians should be solely with the representatives of that Govern-
ment.

Any questions arising in respect of the Indians of B.C., involving any
responsibility on the part of the Province, should be adjusted as between
the Province and the Dominion, and therefore it is not necessary or advis-
able that the Province should be represented at any conference between
the Indians and the Government of Canada.

Yours truly,
(Signed) J. MORTON,
Secretary.

The meetings in Victoria opened on Tuesday morning, August 7th. The
Executive Committee of the Allied Tribes was present and Mr. O’Meara, their
counsel. There was some preliminary discussion as to what procedure should
be followed and I made clear to them the purpose of the meeting and the extent
of my powers; also that it was your wish that we should have a full and frank
presentation of the Indians’ case and that they should be prepared to state what
they would accept as compengation for the Indian title in the Provincial lands.
They requested me to allow Mr. O’Meara to make a general statement of their
case and I thought it proper to allow this. This statement will be found on
pages 34 to 56 of the typewritten report. Mr. Kelly, the Chairman of the
Executive Committee asked me to explain the true meaning and intent of the
statute which was passed to enable us to confirm the report of the Royal Com-
mission, and the effect of the passage of Orders in Council under that statute,
and similar legislation by the Province of British Columbia. This I attempted
to do and probably succeeded. There is lack of distinctness in the stenographic
report of this passage, but I believe the Committee finally understood the
matter.

After Mr. O’Meara made his statement we entered into a discussion of the
report of the Royal Commission, and at first an attempt was made to deal with
it somewhat in detail. Although the members of the Committee had been in
possession of this report for some time, they were not familiar with its contents.
After some waste of time in dealing with certain agencies, it became evident
that no progress would be made if we were to attempt to consider with minute-
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ness the allotted reserves, the reduced reserves, and the new reserves. (See
pages 85-87-88.) I expressed willingness to go on with the discussion, but the
Chairman of the Committee said that the task would be “endless”.

The Committee then fell back on a statement which had been made in a
pamphlet prepared for the British Columbia Government in 1920, and as the
discussion developed, it became clear that the Indians intended to rely on the
claims made by that pamphlet, and in the end it will be found that all the
claims made there, with one important addition, are now made conditions for
the cession of the Indian title. I think it well, therefore, to place with the report
a copy of this pamphlet.

The Indians expressed unwillingness to accept the report of the Royal Com-
mission, giving their reasons and stating what in their opinion would be an ade-
quate reserve allotment. These statements will be found on pages 87 to 101.
The Indians demand that all foreshores, whether tidal or inland, be included in
the reserves, and that a per capita standard of 160 acres of average agricultural
land should be adopted in the allotment of reserves. While the demands and
their reasons are set forth in the typewritten report of proceedings, it will prob-
ably be more convenient for you to read them in the printed pamphlet; they
run from page 8 to 15.

The questions of grazing lands and irrigation were dealt with and the full-
est information was given on these questions, which are of such great moment
to the Indians in the central section of the Province.

The other conditions put forward by the Committee as a basis of settle-
ment are set forth and argued in the remaining pages of the report and are as
follows:—

Fishing Rights

There was an extended discussion on the question of fishing rights, which
will be found between pages 135 and 172. At page 166 and for a few pages fol-
lowing the Chairman of the Committee made certain definite proposals in con-
nection with the fishing question.

The Indians wish to claim the right to catch fish in all rivers, lakes and
tidal waters of the Province without permit and without any limit, with the
explicit understanding that the fish will be used by the Indians for food only.

They wish to be allowed to fish or troll for salmon without license in all
tidal waters of the Province, and to be allowed seining licenses (both drag seine
and purse seine) at half the prevailing fees.

They desire that the Indians only should be granted seining licenses to
catch fish at the mouths of streams or rivers which flow through Indian reserves.

They desire that in all fishing districts certain waters be reserved for the
exclusive use of Indian bands or tribes in those localities.

You will observe that on page 172 I got the Chairman of the Committee to
state that thcy considered the favourable consideration of these requirements
as absolutely essential to the surrender of the Indian title.

I am informed by the Chief Inspector for the Province of British Columbia
under date of October 17th, that Mr. J. A. Motherwell, Chief Inspector of Fish-
eries for the Province, has stated that salmon and herring seining licenses similar
to those which in the past have been issued to resident whites will in the
future be available to Canadian Indians in their own names.

These are matters which will have to be discussed with the Department of
Fisheries. I am in sympathy with the desire of the Indians to take fish for food
and I do not think they should suffer any disabilities whatever in the prosecu-
tion of the fisheries. They should be on the same footing as any citizen of the
Province when it comes to the prosecution of this industry.

The Fisheries Department, had instructed their Chief Inspector, Mr. Mother-
well, to give sympathetic attention to any representations that were made and
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I had two interviews with Mr. Motherwell in Vancouver. I found him to be
entirely willing to consider any questions relating to fisheries that were brought
before him; and the intimation conveyed by the Chief Inspector of this Depart-
‘ment that the Indians were now able to obtain seining licenses, would appear
to me to be clearly the result of our interviews and the sympathetic attitude
taken by the officers of this Department. I intend to have an extract made
from the report of the proceedings of the discussion on the fisheries question
and forward it to the Deputy Minister of Fisheries.

Hunting

The Indians desire that areas should be set aside for -hunting, which only
Indians should be allowed to use; that they should be allowed to hunt un-
restrictedly for food purposes and that the restrictions imposed by the British
Columbia Game Act, which limits trapping privileges to those regularly em-
ployed in that occupation, should be removed.

Timber

The Indians request that they should be secured the perpetual privilege
of cutting timber outside the reserves for fuel or for the manufacture of canoes
and baskets.

Funded Moneys

The Indians request that an amendment to the Indian Act be passed
whereby they will have freer use of their Capital Funds. They urge that there
is a strong feeling among the people that the moneys funded for their benefit
could be more usefully employed than at present.

Pelagic Sealing

They request that an amendment should be obtained to the pelagic sealing
treaty of 1911 to allow towage of canoes by gasoline launches to the scene of
the deep-sea hunting. They state that while they were given the privilege
under the treaty of hunting in their canoes, it is dangerous to venture into the
deep sea without the use of some larger auxiliary vessels.

Education

The Committee urged the establishment of an educational system which
would reach all the Indian children of the Province; that the education should
be technical and specially designed to fit the children for their after life, and
that there should be provision for higher education in special cases.

Medical Attendance and Hospitals

The Committee urged the establishment of free medical and hospital
service which will meet the special needs of the case. This would involve the
establishment of sanataria for the treatment of tuberculosis.

Mothers’ and Widows’ pensions, as effective in British Columbia for white
women.

Cash compensation for Annuities similar to Treaty Annuities.

To explain this item it is only necessary to quote Mr. Kelly’s words given
at the morning session on August 11th. (Pages 251-253) :—

We have come to a time when we are within sight of the closing
of our series of meetings. And before summing up in a very brief
general way, the subject matters which we discussed here during this
conference, I would like to mention two matters of great importance.
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The first one is this: It may be referred to as a monetary compen-
sation. Now I am not unconscious of the position that we have taken
when we met the Minister and yourself in Vancouver last year—that is
July of 1922. At that time, although the words are not on record, I
think we all have a very clear memory of what we have said. We
deprecated the idea of putting on the same basis as the Indians in the
territory and eastern provinces. That is to say, we deprecate the idea
of receiving a few dollars annually. This sort of a thing we realize
in the long run amounts to a great deal; for I understand that on this
system the treaties guarantee that those annuities would continue until
the Indians became extinct, or even absorbed into the larger body of
citizenship. Generally speaking, Indians in this province have not
looked upon that with any great favour. They think it does not really
bring them anything worth while. Therefore we have taken the position
that we did.

But we have learned several things since that time; and the general
consensus of opinion among the Indians is this, that all that we have
been claiming as necessary conditions for an equitable basis of settlement,
plan more for the future rather than the present. When I say that, I do
not for the moment forget the statement made by the Chief Inspector of
Indian Agencies in Vancouver on the 27th of July last; but during the
years since Union took place, since the Province entered Confederation,
when this matter should have been adjusted, should have been dealt
with and settled for all time, as was done in the other Provinces, the
matter of course was left over; not because it was not known, but it was
ignored—deliberately ignored. We all know the history of that. We
all know the report made by the Chief Justice of the Dominion in 1875
on that very matter.

Now I need not try and make out a case there; but because of that
position taken, we think that a monetary compensation running over a
given period is nothing more than fair. Now we do not say that there
should be an eternal annuity; but perhaps because of the brunt of the
battle borne by the present generation, and also the last generation to
some extent, in trying to get this matter up for real consideration by
the Governments from time to time, we take it it would be a fair proposal
to make, that monetary payments, perhaps covering a given period—
I do not know how long,—that is open to negotiation—perhaps twenty
years more or less; so that the people who are now living, and who will
not be in a position to profit by any of the future benefits that we have
claimed, would receive direct benefit from the question that is now being
brought we hope to a position where we are in sight of a settlement.

Based on the present population of the Province, 24,744, for a twenty-year
period and at the usual annuity of $5 per capita, this would mean a payment
of $2,474,400.

Reimbursement of about $100,000 spent endeavouring to secure settlement
of land title question.

To explain this item I would quote further from Mr. Kelly’s speech on
August 11th. (Pages 253-254) :—

And the second point that I want to deal with this morning, is
what we might term the cost of the case. That is contained in paragraph
20, p. 15, of our statement. I will just read these words once again:
“ That all moneys already expended and to be expended by the Allied
Tribes in connection with the Indian Land controversy, and the adjust-
ment of all matters outstanding be provided by the Government.” We
have always insisted on this. And since the Minister has recognized
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our aboriginal title, and has assured us that we are in a position as of
having won our case in Court, we take the ground that we are entitled
to the cost of the case. We have been put under heavy expense during
these years past, when this matter has been pressed; not only in our
particular organization known as the Allied Indian Tribes, but different
organizations, we have pressed the matter before that. We think of the
Indian Rights Organization, we think of the independent efforts that
have been made by the different bands from time to time sending dele-
gates to Ottawa.

It is true that those delegations looked only to adjustments in
their own particular localities, but, nevertheless, it was part of the one
large question. We are not putting any specific sum in at this particu-
lar time; we say that is open to negotiation, but I am inclined to think
looking over accounts, the cost up to the present time has been some-
thing like a hundred thousand dollars, in a round sum. This we con-
sider one of the necessary conditions to be seriously considered in the
final settlement of this question.

Mr. DircuaBurN: Has that money all. come from the Indians?

Mr. KerLy: Mostly from the Indians; some of it from other people,
who have given it as loans. We must pay that back. Now it is not
necessary for me to dwell on that any longer, I think. I think that is
sufficiently covered.

This ends the transeript of the terms and conditions thought by the Indians
to be essential for an equitable settlement of the Indian title in the Provincial
lands of British Columbia. At the beginning of the meeting I drew the atten-
tion of the Committee to statements they had made at Vancouver a few days
before. You will find the words on page 27 of the report, but I think it well to
repeat it here.

We see, Sir, that the Government has not got any magic powers to
bring forth funds, their funds must come from the good-will of the people
of Canada; and we recognize this, that to take an unreasonable stand,
to make our demands unreasonable, would be antagonizing the citizens
of Canada generally, and we are not prepared to go that far. We recog-
nize the danger of taking such a stand. Therefore, we are always open
to reason, and I can assure you, any demands—claims, not demands, that
we make, will always be within reason.

It must be taken then that the claims which are made are considered by
the Committee at least within reason.

I had expected that the discussion would take a different course but it was
apparent from the moment the Indians referred to their pamphlet prepared for
the Government of British Columbia that they intended to take their stand upon
the demands therein made. They saw fit to add to these claims a plea for a cash
payment which would amount, at the twenty year period which was suggested,
to nearly two and a half millions. That, so far as I can discern, is the only
new item which appears in the schedule, as they had previously claimed a return
of the money they had expended in the prosecution of this claim. I cannot re-
frain from expressing the opinion that far from being reasonable claims, they
are exacting and extravagant. Favourable consideration would lead to the ex-
penditure of such very large sums of money on the Indians of British Columbia
that an envious feeling would be created in the minds of other Indians in the
Dominion.

As the matter of most pressing importance was the acceptance by His Ex-
cellency in Council of the report of the Royal Commission, which action has
already been taken by the Lieutenant Governor of British Columbia in Council,
I directed the particular attention of the Indians to it., A short discussion on this
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point will be found on pages 250-251. It had become clear that they did not
think the report of the Royal Commission was a satisfactory settlement of the
Indian reserve question, but I pointed out that they had not stated definitely
that they would recommend that the report be not confirmed by the Dominion
Government. The other point that I pressed home was our desire to obtain an
expression of their wish as to a judicial decision on the general question of title.
This brought forth a very emphatic declaration from the Chairman; he said:
“We launch an emphatic negative to the passing of any Order in Council, if that
Order in Council is going to be the final adjustment of all matters relating to
Indian affairs in this Province. We claim that Indian lands and Indian rights
generally are just part of one big question, and, therefore, we refuse to have
Orders in Council dealing with just one matter when that matter cuts away from
under our feet, as it were, our constitutional stand.”

With reference to the question of litigation, they wish to be considered as
willing to have a settlement out of court, but if it seems impossible to get a
fair and equitable settlement they wish to “ press on to the Judicial Committee
of the Privy Council.”

In spite of this vigorous protest from the Indians as to the acceptance of
the report of the Royal Commission, I cannot, with a due sense of responsibility
and having the best interests of these people at heart, recommend any other
action but the adoption of the report. The Indians will receive in the aggregate
a large acreage of reserve lands free from any vexatious claims of the Province,
such as the so-called “ reversionary interest ” has been in the past. While it is
true that in some districts it would have been more satisfactory if larger
reserves could have been set aside for them, conditions peculiar to British
Columbia rendered that almost impossible, but the report of the Royal Com-
mission provides reserves for these Indians which can be developed and utilized
by them. Over against their complaint that they have not sufficient lands, we
must set the statement, often well founded on fact, that they are not making
good use of the lands provided for them. - -

If our Government refuses to further consider the report of the Royal Com-
mission and fails to use the statutory power to confirm the report, I am afraid
the future welfare of the British Columbia Indians will be jeopardized. The
report is the outcome of long negotiations between the Governments, of an
examination into the needs of the Indians on the ground, during which the
evidence of Indians was taken and their advice and cooperation sought, and
finally, there was a resurvey of the whole report by officers of the Governments
and representatives of the Indians. T would recommend that the “ cut offs”
in the Railway Belt be cancelled and the reserves as originally set apart in the
Railway Belt be confirmed. With the reserve question finally disposed of I
had expected that the Indians would realize that their aboriginal title was
in part already annually compensated for by the generous grants that the
Dominion Parliament is making on their behalf, and would wish to add to those
obligations of the Dominion an extension of the educational system and some
better provision for hospitals and medical attendance. Such is not the case,
and I have to submit the facts for your consideration.

DUNCAN C. SCOTT,
Deputy Superintendent General.
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ComMITTEE Room 368,

TuurspAY, March 31st, 1927.

The Joint Special Committee appointed to inquire into the claims of the
Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia, as set forth in their petition submitted
to Parliament in June, 1926, met at 10 o’clock, am., Hon. Mr. Bostock, presiding.

The CraRMAN: Mr. O’Meara, we would like to know exactly whom you
represent?

Mr. O'MEARA: Mr. Beament will deal with that very matter.
The CHAIRMAN: Cannot you state yourself whom you represent here?

Mr. O'MEaRrA: Mr. Beament is ready to state that very matter; he has the
papers and he is with me in this case.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Beament, will you just make a statement?

Mr. BeamenT: Mr. O'Meara, with whom I appear, is appearing as General
Counsel for the Association of Indian Tribes of British Columbia, which are
known as the Allied Tribes, and who are the petitioners before these Houses.
The Secretary of that Association, Mr. Paull, is here at the present time, and the
Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Association is, I understand, on
his way here. Is it desired that I should go into the details of who are the
Allied Tribes?

The CHARMAN: 1 do not think there is any necessity to do that.

Mr. BeamenT: Shortly, Mr. O’Meara’s position is as I have stated. If it is
the desire of this Committee, I can file Mr. O’Meara’s written authority signed by
the Chairman and the Secretary.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: What is the date of that, Mr. Beament?

Mr. McIntyrRE: May I intrude? T represent the Chiefs from the Interior.
I heard the Chairman inquire of this gentleman as to whom he represented, and
I understood him to say that he represented the Allied Tribes of British Columbia.
There is no such entity as that from the lawyers’ point of view, and it is my
duty to interrupt and to point out to the Chairman that my friend can only
be representing the Indians known as the Coast Indians, although they are
under the name of the Allied Tribes. I apologize for interrupting, but it was
absolutely necessary. As I remarked to you this morning, Mr. Chairman, I was
not present yesterday, nor were the Chiefs present, because we were misled by
the instructions of the Deputy Superintendent General on Indian Affairs, from
whom we understood that nothing was to be done yesterday. It was only in
. the afternoon that I learned for the first time that very important matters had
come up and that a Chief from the Coast had spoken, named Andrew Paull
Later on I learned, not from Dr. Scott, but from another party, that he had also
made a statement. I pointed out to Dr. Scott that these Indians from the Interior
all should have been present at the meeting of the Committee yesterday. They
are all here this morning and they profess to represent the whole of the Interior
Tribes, specifically twenty-eight. Authority to that effect was sent in to you,
Mr. Minister, about a year ago, subscribed by twenty-eight chiefs.

Hon. Mr. Bexxerr: Do your clients make any claims with respect to
aboriginal title?

Mr. McINTYRE: Yes.
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Hon. Mr. BExneTrT: That is all I want to know.

The Caamrman: Mr. Mcelntyre, would you file a list of the names of the
tribes you represent in the Interior, and we will ask this gentleman to do the
same thing?

Mr. BeameENT: Hon. Mr. Stevens asked the date of the authority to which
I referred; it is 1922. I have in addition a circular letter signed by the same
Chairman and Secretary to all the Tribes comprising that alliance.

Mr. McInTyre: What is the date, may I ask?

Mr. Beament: Dated 2nd December, 1926, in which the authority of the
General Counsel of their Alliance is specifically confirmed, especially with a view
to this particular matter.

Hon. Mr. Bexnert: Is it signed by the various tribes?

Mr. BeameNT: No, it is signed by the Chairman and the Secretary of that
Alliance.

Hon. Mr. BexnerT: Is the Chairman here?

Mr. BeamenT: The Chairman is.

Hon. Mr. BExnNerT: Let us find out from him who Mr. O’Meara represents.

AxprEw PavuLy, re-called.

The CramrmaN: Mr. Paull, you are already sworn?

Mr. Pavrr: Yes, your Honour. I truthfully say that the Allied Indian
Tribes of British Columbia are composed of an organization which was formu-
lated in the year 1922, when all these Chiefs, whom Mr. McIntyre is now rep-
resenting, were a party to this Alliance. A meeting was held in North Vancouver
and we discussed the formation of this Alliance for three days before we agreed
to form an organization to represent the Indians of British Columbia in making
representation to the different Governments. Again I say that every one of these
Chiefs whom Mr. Mclntyre represents attended that meeting and they were
parties to the formation of the Allied Indian Tribes of British Columbia.

Hon. Mr. Bex~ert: Have you had a meeting since?

Mr. Pavin: Yes.

Hon. Mr. Bexxerr: When was the last meeting?

Mer. Patvrn: Last October.

Hon. Mr. Bex~nerT: And what tribes are now represented by Mr. O’Meara?

Mr. Pavrn: All of the Coast tribes; the Okanagan Tribes, the Lillooet
Indians, and some of the Chileottens; all the Indians of Vancouver Island. Some
of the Northeastern Interior Indians and a few of the Indians actually residing
in Kamloops; a member from the Kamloops Reservation is a member of our
Executive Council.

Hon. Mr. BarNarp: You say all the Indians of Vancouver Island?

Mr. Pavrn: Yes.

Hon. Mr. BarNarp: I understand, from a statement that was made yester-
day, that the lands on the Southern part of Vancouver Island were obtained by
Treaty with the Hudson Bay Company. For instance the Songhees, are they
represented in these proceedings; are they making any claim?

Mr. Pavrn: 1 must correct my statement. With the exception of the
Songhees Indians and the Sooke Indians of Vancouver Island, all the rest are
In our organization. The Saanich Indians made a Treaty with the Hudson Bay
Company; the Nanaimo Indians also made a Treaty with the Hudson Bay
Company. They are included in our organization. It was contended by the

[Andrew Paull.]
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officials of the Indian Department, up to the year 1923, that these Indians that
had made a Treaty with the Hudson Bay Company could not be recognized
as having any claims fof aboriginal title.

The Cuammax: I do not think we are getting any further with this
evidence. The best way is for Mr. O'Meara to make a full statement of what
tribes he represents.

Hon. Mr. Stevexs: And his authority to represent them. There ought
to be some minutes of their meetings. This question of whom Mr. O’Meara
represents has been a hone of contention for years. Sometimes he seems to
represent the Allied Tribes and other times he does not, and there ought to be
some definite minutes of their meetings showing that Mr. O’Meara has an
appointment. After all, we have got to respect the word of these other Chiefs;
we cannot ignore that.

Mr. Pavrn: If the Committee will allow me, I will go to my hotel and get
my Minute Book and I can read from the Minutes of our organization when
Mr. O’Meara was appointed.

Hon. Mr. Benxerr: That was in 1922?

Mr. Pavin: 1922, yes, sir.

Hon. Mr. Stewarr: There is evidently conflict here. If the two Counsels
would give the names of the Tribes they are representing that will be sufficient
for our purpose.

Hon. Mr. McLex~nan: And the Tribes that are not represented at all.

Mr. O'Meara: We represent here, officially and professionally, these very
tribes, as well as other tribes, and that can be proved to you hon. gentlemen.

Hon. Mr. BexNerr: Mr. Mclntyre says they are his clients.

Mr. Beamext: Ts it desired that I should file this authority? I submit
it is a continuing authority unless there is something shown to the contrary.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. O'Meara, are you ready to go on?

Mr. BeamexT: In addition, I would call your attention to the fact that
the petition is the petition of the Allied Tribes. Mr. Mclntyre says there is no
such petitioner.

Hon. Mr. StewarT: We are going to listen to any evidence about that.

Mr. BeamenT: Before proceeding further, might I ask this Committee
just exactly what they want; whether they want us to stick to these allega-
tions contained in the petition or not. We take a very narrow position, and if
we confine ourselves exclusively to the petition, the matter, I think, may be
dealt with very shortly. What we say is this; we are advised, whether rightly
or wrongly, that we have in law a right by a petition to His Majesty in Council
to have a judicial determination of the substantive question that rises out of
the merits of our claim. We may be wrong in that, but we only ask these
Touses to facilitate the hearing of that claim. This whole question of abor-
iginal title is admittably a most vexed one. I think it is also admitted that
there are specific questions to be decided on their merits. To date, apparently,
it has been impossible to reach an agreement with the Indian Tribes. These
Tribes now come forward and consent to be bound by the decision of the Privy
Council. We are not asking for an expression of opinion from this Committee
or from Parliament on the substantive questions involved in our claims, but we
are simply asking that you will recommend the facilitation of the hearing of
these claims without waiving any defence which the Government of Canada may
have to our substantive allegations.

In 1913, the Nishga Tribe which is one of the Allied Tribes, filed a petition
with His Majesty in Council. Our suggestion is that a further petition be

prepared.
[Andrew Paull.]
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Hon. Mr. Stevens: What happened to that petition?

Mr. BeamenT: It is still standing, I understand.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: Were not material charges referred back to this
Government,?

Mr. BeameENT: That I do not know.

Mr. O’'MEeara: That is a matter to be placed before the Committee.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: Was it or was it not? Surely you must know?

Mr. O’MEeara: That will be fully dealt with.

Hon. Mr. Stevexs: Was it or was it not referred back to this Govern-
ment?

Mr. O’MEara: There were communications on the subject, several dis-
patches between the Imperial Government and the Canadian Government; the
full facts will be laid before the Committee.

Mr. BeamenT: What we are really asking is that this Committee recom-
mend that the petitioning Tribes be permitted to file with His Majesty in
Council, for decision, a petition in the terms extended to include all the Tribes
who are now petitioning, but in the terms, or similar terms, of that petition
which was filed in 1913. I was reading a copy of Hansard and saw that Mr.
Stewart, has taken the position that our claims are not sufficiently definite. I
think the claim as stated in the petition would be sufficiently definite to place,
without any particular degree of doubt, the question at issue before the Com-
mittee of the Privy Council.

The CrAlRMAN: This Committee wants you to produce evidence on what
you base that claim of aboriginal title. Now, are you prepared to do that?

: Mr. BeamenT: Yes, we are prepared to do that, if this Committee thinks
it is necessary. We want it clearly understood we are not asking this Commit-
tee to decide the merits of the question of our title.

Hon. Mr. StewarT: But you are asking us to decide the merits as to
whether we should give you the privilege of going to the Privy Council?

Mr. BeamenT: Exactly. It seems to be admitted by Dr. Scott’s mem-
orandum that there are specific questions for determination.

Hon. Mr. BeEn~NETT: As I understand it, a petition was presented to His
Majesty in Council at London, and His Majesty’s Ministers referred it to
Canada, and this Committee is now sitting to determine the matter as a Com-
mittee of the High Court of Parliament in joint session; is that right?

The CHAIRMAN: Quite right.

Hon. Mr. Bexnerr: This Committee of the High Court of Parliament is
going to settle this matter as I understand. it, or make a recommendation to
Parliament.

Hon. Mr. Stewart: That is set out in the preamble.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: May I ask Mr. Beament this: The claim of your
clients, as set forth in this petition to Parliament is: “The Indian Tribes of
British Columbia claim actual beneficial ownership of their territory, but do
not claim absolute ownership in the sense of ownership existing in the title of
the Crown. It is recognized by the Allied Tribes that there is, in respect of
all public lands of the province, an underlying title of the Crown, which title,
at least for the present purposes, it is not thought necessary to define.” The
point is, do you claim an underlying title on behalf of your clients?

Mr. BeamenT: We claim a beneficial title.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: I think we had better let them produce what evidence
they have to support that and give us an opportunity to get to the root of this
matter.

[Andrew Paull.]
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Mr. BeamenT: I take it that it is the desire of this Committee that this
petition should not be treated in the terms of the petition but should be treated
as a petition for the determination of the substantive rights of the Tribes, which
it is most certainly not, according to its terms.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: Have you read the terms? It is about 90 per cent
historical.

Mr. BeamenT: I was referring particularly to the relief asked.

The CuamrMAN: What petition are you referring to?

Mr. Beament: The petition this Committee is considering.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: If you limited it to the last of that, our problem is very
simple. All we have to do is to sit in camera and consider whether we shall do
a certain thing or not. There is no call for evidence on the latter part of the
thing at all.

- Mr. Ben~nerr: Mr. Chairman, we are carrying out paragraph No. 4 of the
prayer; that this petition be referred to a special committee for full considera-
tion. - That is what we are now doing. The other three paragraphs of the prayer
involve certain references to aboriginal rights and the third paragraph is the
one dealing with the facilitation of a reference to the Judicial Committee of the. .
Privy Council. This Committee is carrying out now the terms of the reference,
and I do not suppose Parliament is going to provide money for a reference to
the Judicial Committee. Are we not to settle it ourselves?

Mr. MoPuERrsoN: I think, Mr. Chairman, that is the whole petition really;
the right to submit it to the Privy Counecil.

Hon. Mr. Stevens: Th